

FUTURE FORWARD

2024 Letter to Shareholders



A Message from the CEO

Dear Shareholders.

This past year has been one of exceptional progress and momentum for Celestica. We have strengthened our position in high-value markets, delivered strong financial performance, and laid a solid foundation for future growth.

Our 2024 financial performance was the strongest in our history with \$9.65 billion in revenue. We achieved solid operating margin and earnings per share (EPS) under GAAP, and adjusted operating margin and adjusted EPS under non-GAAP. These achievements are a testament to the dedication of our talented teams, disciplined execution, strategic investments and unwavering commitment to innovation.

Well-Positioned Across our Segments

We continue to make excellent progress on our long-term strategy, as our mix increasingly shifts to higher value business, including our Hardware Platform Solutions (HPS) portfolio and services offerings. Our depth of capabilities allows us to deliver innovative solutions that enable our customers' success.

Connectivity and Cloud Solutions (CCS)

The growth in our CCS segment, which consists of our Communications (networking) and Enterprise (servers and storage) end markets, is fueled by strong demand from Hyperscaler customers, as they scale their data center infrastructure in support of the demand for artificial intelligence (AI), machine learning, and cloud computing services.

Our comprehensive design and engineering capabilities within our HPS business have positioned us as a trusted partner

on engagements to build highly customized, leading-edge platform solutions for the data center.

Recently announced key wins that we expect to ramp in the coming years help to position us as a leading provider of data center platform solutions. We're confident that our current footprint and planned capex investments can accommodate the increased volume from these new opportunities.

With an extensive Circular Services offering, we also enable our customers to extend product life and quality, while realizing the maximum lifetime value of their products through sustainable IT Asset Management and Disposition.

The innovation and growth of our Al data center platforms, combined with the exceptional execution of our entire team, continue to drive our strong performance. We believe we are well positioned to maintain this momentum in the years ahead.

Advanced Technology

Solutions (ATS)

We believe our ATS segment, which consists of Aerospace and Defense, Capital Equipment, HealthTech and Industrial end markets, offers strategic advantages and synergies with the rest of our business. Among these are diversification, exposure to markets with powerful, long-term market trends, and a competitive environment that is limited by strict regulatory hurdles and capability requirements.

We strive to reinforce our customers' trust by investing in key capabilities and delivering custom solutions, focusing on engineering with the potential for high-value manufacturing, and managing the dynamic macroeconomic environment.

Resilient and Strategic Global Network

In a world marked by geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainty, resilience and focus have never been more important. Our ability to navigate complexity has reinforced our position as a trusted partner, helping customers stay ahead by anticipating their evolving needs. Our purpose-built, global network of sites, engineering centers of excellence, and multinode design capabilities for HPS provide the flexibility and resilience they can rely on.

This past year, we continued to invest in our global network to support customer demand in key geographies and we will continue to do so in 2025.

Looking Ahead

We remain committed to executing our strategic roadmaps, which

include investing to grow our presence in key markets and with strategic customers, as well as enhancing our engineering and operational capabilities. At the same time, we are committed to prudent financial management by maintaining a strong balance sheet, managing cash flow effectively, and allocating our capital with discipline.

Our goal remains clear: to deliver value for our customers by working together to realize a future of enormous possibility. Our success is made possible by the entire Celestica team and I would like to thank them for their dedication and commitment to excellence. To our shareholders, I appreciate your continued support and investment in our company and look forward to keeping you updated on our progress throughout the year.

Sincerely,

Rob Mionis

President and CEO, Celestica

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20540

Washington, I	D.C. 20549
---------------	------------

	FORM 10-K	
☑ Annual report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 or	the Securities Exchange Act of 1934	1
☐ Transition report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of For the transition period from to	of the Securities Exchange Act of 19	34
	Commission file number: 1-148	332
(E.	CELESTICA INC. xact name of registrant as specified in its c	harter)
Ontario, Canada		98-0185558
(State of other jurisdiction of incorporatio	n or organization)	(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
5140 Yonge Street, Suite 1	900	
Toronto, Ontario, Canac	la	M2N 6L7
(Address of principal executive	offices)	(Zip Code)
	elephone number, including area co s registered pursuant to Section 12(
Title of each class Common Shares	Trading Symbol CLS	Name of each exchange on which registered New York Stock Exchange
Securitie	s registered pursuant to Section 12(N/A	g) of the Act:
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasone	ed issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Sec	
•	eports required to be filed by Section 13 of	e Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Yes □ No ☒ r 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding een subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large acceled	or such shorter period that the registrant war erated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-acc	required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T as required to submit such files). Yes \boxtimes No \square relevant filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Large accelerated filer ⊠ Non-accelerated filer □		lerated filer □ ler reporting company □
Emerging growth company If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the		ed transition period for complying with any new or revised financial
reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U	J.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public acct, indicate by check mark whether the fin	assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial counting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. ancial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes \square No \boxtimes

registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to \$240.10D-1(b) \square

The aggregate market value of the voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant based on the closing sale price of the Common Shares as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on June 28, 2024, was approximately \$6.7 billion. For purposes of this calculation, the registrant has assumed that its directors and executive officers are affiliates.

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the

The number of the registrant's Common Shares outstanding as of the close of business on February 20, 2025 was 115,959,118. The registrant does not have any non-voting stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain information called for by Part III is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for the Company's 2025 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders (the "2025 Proxy Statement") where indicated, which will be filed not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal period covered by this report.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
	Part I.	
Item 1.	Business	4
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	19
Item 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments	44
Item 1C.	Cybersecurity	45
Item 2.	Properties	48
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings	49
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosure	49
	Part II.	
Item 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	49
Item 6.	[Reserved]	51
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	52
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	94
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	97
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	97
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures	97
Item 9B.	Other Information	98
Item 9C.	Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections	98
Item 10.	Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance	99
Item 11.	Executive Compensation	99
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	99
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence	99
Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	99
1.5111 1 11	Part IV.	,,
Item 15.	Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules	99
Item 16.	Form 10-K Summary	104

Part I.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (referred to herein as "this Annual Report"), "Celestica," the "Corporation," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Celestica Inc. and its subsidiaries.

In this Annual Report, the United States is referred to as the "U.S." Unless we indicate otherwise: (i) all dollar amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars; (ii) all references to "U.S.\$" or "\$" are to U.S. dollars and all references to "C\$" are to Canadian dollars; and (iii) any references to a conversion between U.S.\$ and C\$ is a conversion at the average of the exchange rates in effect for the year ended December 31, 2024. During that period, based on the relevant noon buying rates in New York City for cable transfers in Canadian dollars, as certified for customs purposes by the Board of Governors of the U.S. Federal Reserve System, the average daily exchange rate was U.S.\$1.00 = C\$1.3699. Note that use of the word "including" in this Annual Report means "including, without limitation."

Unless we indicate otherwise, all information in this Annual Report is stated as of February 28, 2025.

Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factor Summary

This Annual Report contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (U.S. Securities Act) and Section 21E of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (U.S. Exchange Act), and "forward-looking information" within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities laws (collectively, forward-looking statements), including, without limitation, statements related to: our priorities, intended areas of focus, targets, objectives and goals; trends in the electronics manufacturing services (EMS) industry and our segments (and/or their constituent businesses) and their anticipated impact; the anticipated impact of current market conditions and customerspecific factors on each of our segments (and/or their constituent businesses) and near term expectations; potential restructuring and divestiture actions; our anticipated financial and/or operating results and outlook, including expected revenue increases and decreases (or remaining flat), as well as growth in certain businesses and end markets; our strategies; our credit risk; the potential impact of acquisitions, or program wins, transfers, losses or disengagements; materials, component and supply chain constraints; anticipated expenses, capital expenditures and other working capital requirements and contractual obligations (and intended methods of funding such items); the potential impact of trade policies between countries in which we conduct business (including the potential tariffs implemented by U.S. government); the impact of our price reductions and longer payment terms; our intended repatriation of certain undistributed earnings from non-Canadian subsidiaries (and amounts we do not intend to repatriate in the foreseeable future); the potential impact of tax and litigation outcomes; investor dissatisfaction with inclusion, employee engagement, and other environmental, social and governance (ESG) matters; our intention to settle employee share unit awards in common shares (Common Shares); our ability to use certain tax losses; intended investments in our business; the potential impact of the pace of technological changes, customer outsourcing, program transfers, and the global economic environment; the intended method of funding Common Share repurchases; the impact of our outstanding indebtedness; liquidity and the sufficiency of our capital resources; our intention to settle outstanding equity awards with Common Shares; our financial statement estimates and assumptions; recently-issued accounting pronouncements and amendments; the potential adverse impacts of events outside of our control (including those described under "External Factors that May Impact our Business" in Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) (External Events)); mandatory prepayments under our credit facility; pension plan funding requirements and obligations, and the impact of annuity purchases; our compliance with covenants under our credit facility; refinancing debt at maturity; interest rates and expense; income tax incentives; accounts payable cash flow levels; accounts receivable sales; expectations with respect to reporting units with goodwill; our future warranty obligations; cybersecurity threats and incidents; our intentions with respect to environmental assessments for newly-leased or acquired properties; our expectations with respect to expiring leases; our intention to retain earnings for general corporate purposes; costs in connection with our pursuit of acquisitions and strategic transactions; and expectations regarding the acceptance of offers to sell accounts receivable (A/R) under our A/R sales programs and supplier financing programs.

Forward-looking statements appear throughout this Annual Report, including, without limitation, in the following sections: Part I, Item 1, "Business," Part I, Item 1A, "Risk Factors," and Part II, Item 7, MD&A. Such forward-looking statements may, without limitation, be preceded by, followed by, or include words such as "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "estimates," "intends," "plans," "continues," "project," "target," "objective," "goal," "potential," "possible," "contemplate," "seek," or similar expressions, or may employ such future or conditional verbs as "may," "might," "will," "could," "should" or "would," or may otherwise be indicated as forward-looking statements by grammatical construction, phrasing or context. For

those statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, where applicable, and applicable Canadian securities laws.

Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report are based on various assumptions, many of which involve factors that are beyond our control. Our material assumptions include: growth in manufacturing outsourcing from customers in diversified markets; our ability to retain programs and customers, including no unexpected customer or program transfers, losses or disengagements; no unforeseen adverse changes in our mix of businesses; no undue negative impact on our customers' ability to compete and succeed using products we manufacture and services we provide; continued growth in our end markets; our ability to successfully diversify our customer base and develop new capabilities; anticipated demand levels across our businesses; continued growth in the advancement and commercialization of artificial intelligence (AI) technologies and cloud computing; supporting sustained high levels of capital expenditure investments by leading hyperscaler, AI and data center customers; no significant unforeseen negative impacts to our operations; no unforeseen materials price increases, margin pressures, or other competitive factors affecting the EMS or original design manufacturer (ODM) industries in general or our segments in particular; compliance by third parties with their contractual obligations; that our customers will retain liability for product/component tariffs and countermeasures; our ability to keep pace with rapidly changing technological developments; the successful resolution of quality issues that arise from time to time; fluctuation of production schedules from our customers in terms of volume and mix of products or services; the timing and execution of, and investments associated with, ramping new business; supplier performance and quality, pricing and terms; the costs and availability of components, materials, services, equipment, labor, energy and transportation; no significant decline in the global economy or in economic activity in our end markets due to a major recession or otherwise; no unforeseen disruptions due to geopolitical factors (including war) causing significant negative impacts to economic activity, global or regional supply chains or normal business operations; that global inflation will not have a material impact on our revenues or expenses; the impact of anticipated market conditions on our businesses; the stability of currency exchange rates; the availability of capital resources for, and the permissibility under our credit facility of, repurchases of outstanding Common Shares under our current normal course issuer bid (NCIB), and compliance with applicable laws and regulations pertaining to NCIBs; compliance with applicable credit facility covenants and the components of our leverage ratios (as defined in our credit facility); our maintenance of sufficient financial resources to fund currently anticipated financial actions and obligations and to pursue desirable business opportunities; global tax legislation changes; the timing, execution and effect of restructuring actions; and no unforeseen adverse changes in the regulatory environment.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and the Company's actual results may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Achievement of anticipated results is subject to substantial risks, uncertainties and inaccurate assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from past results and those anticipated, estimated or projected. You should bear this in mind as you consider forward-looking statements, and you are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law or by the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects. Factors that might cause such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the Risk Factor Summary below and in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report under the heading "Risk Factors," which are incorporated herein by reference, and subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and other documents filed with the SEC, and as applicable, the Canadian Securities Administrators.

Risk Factor Summary

Forward-looking statements are provided to assist readers in understanding management's current expectations and plans relating to the future. Readers are cautioned that such information may not be appropriate for other purposes. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements, including, among others, as is described in more detail in Item 1A, "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Annual Report:

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

- dependence on a limited number of customers and end markets;
- challenges in managing changes in customer demand;

- dependence on our customers' ability to compete and succeed in the marketplace using products we manufacture and services we provide;
- dependence on third parties to supply certain materials;
- our products and services involve inventory risk;
- change in the mix of customers and/or the types of products or services we provide;
- challenges associated with new customers or programs, or the provision of new services;
- customer relationships with emerging companies;
- recruitment and retention of skilled talent;
- variability of revenue and operating results;
- difficulties expanding or consolidating our operations or introducing new competencies or new offerings;
- integration and other challenges with respect to our acquisitions and strategic transactions;
- quality and execution issues;
- disruptions to operations by events outside our control;
- disruptions to our information technology (IT) systems and IT infrastructure;
- dependence on winning competitive bid selection processes;
- changes to our operating model;
- issues in the development and use of AI;
- actions by activist shareholders;
- impact of climate change;

Risk Related to Our Industry

- cyclical and volatile semiconductor industry;
- competitive industry and aggressive pricing dynamics;
- rapidly evolving technology;

Risks Related to the International Nature of our Business

- global economic and political uncertainty;
- A decline in the U.S. and other government budgets, changes in spending or budgetary priorities, or delays in contract awards;
- geopolitical uncertainty;
- foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;
- global operations and supply chain risks;
- regulation of AI/Machine Learning (AI/ML) technology;

Financial Risks

- interest rate fluctuations;
- volatility in commodity prices;
- rising labor costs;
- deterioration in financial markets or the macro-economic environment;
- non-performance by counterparties;
- debt and equity financing;
- substantial third-party debt to fund acquisitions;
- tax risks;
- restructuring charges;
- impairment charges and operating losses;
- ability to prevent or detect all errors or fraud;
- pensions and other benefit plan contributions;
- changes in judgments, estimates and assumptions;

- compliance with credit facility covenants;
- total return swap agreement (TRS Agreement);
- refinancing risks;
- credit rating;

Legal/Regulatory Risks

- protection of intellectual property (IP);
- U.S. policies or legislation;
- product liability/warranty claims;
- compliance with customer-driven policies and standards, and third-party certification requirements;
- compliance with governmental laws, regulations, and obligations;
- compliance with employment laws and regulations;
- litigation and proceedings;
- changes in accounting standards;
- potential unenforceability of judgments;
- ESG initiatives;
- costs related to reporting requirements applicable to U.S. domestic issuers;

Risks Related to our Common Shares

- volatility in market price;
- determination not to repurchase Common Shares for cancellation;
- vulnerability to take-over or tender offer; and

General Risk Factors

negative publicity.

All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified by the cautionary statements included in this Annual Report.

Item 1. Business

Background

We were incorporated in Ontario, Canada on September 27, 1996. We are a corporation domiciled in the Province of Ontario, Canada and operate under the *Business Corporations Act* (Ontario) (OBCA). Our principal executive offices are located at 5140 Yonge Street, Suite 1900, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M2N 6L7. Our telephone number is (416) 448-5800, and our internet address is www.celestica.com. Information on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.

Prior to our incorporation, we were an IBM manufacturing unit that provided manufacturing services to IBM for more than 75 years. In 1993, we began providing electronics manufacturing services to non-IBM customers. In October 1996, we were purchased from IBM by an investor group led by Onex Corporation (Onex), and in 1998, we completed our initial public offering. In June 2023 and August 2023, Onex (our then-controlling shareholder), completed underwritten secondary public offerings of an aggregate of approximately 18.8 million of our Subordinate Voting Shares (now designated Common Shares). In connection with such offerings, we converted all of our outstanding multiple voting shares (MVS) into Subordinate Voting Shares (now designated Common Shares). Subsequent to the August 2023 secondary offering, we have no MVS outstanding and Onex is no longer our controlling shareholder.

See "Overview — *Celestica's business*" and "Recent Developments" in Item 7, MD&A for a discussion of recent trends impacting our businesses.

Business Overview

General

We deliver innovative supply chain solutions globally to customers in two operating and reporting segments: Advanced Technology Solutions (ATS) and Connectivity and Cloud Solutions (CCS).

Our ATS segment consists of our ATS end market, and is comprised of our aerospace and defense (A&D), Industrial, HealthTech, and Capital Equipment businesses. Our Capital Equipment business is comprised of our semiconductor and display businesses. Our CCS segment consists of our Communications and Enterprise end markets. Our Enterprise end market is comprised of our servers and storage businesses. All period percentages and financial information in this Annual Report reflect the current presentation. See note 22 to the 2024 consolidated annual financial statements (2024 AFS) included herein.

Our customers include original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), cloud-based and other service providers, including hyperscalers, and other companies in a wide range of industries. Our global headquarters is located in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. We operate a network of sites and centers of excellence (discussed below) strategically located in North America, Europe and Asia, with specialized end-to-end supply chain capabilities tailored to meet specific market and customer product lifecycle requirements.

We offer a comprehensive range of product manufacturing and related supply chain services to customers in both of our segments, including design and development, new product introduction, engineering services, component sourcing, electronics manufacturing and assembly, testing, complex mechanical assembly, systems integration, precision machining, order fulfillment, logistics, product licensing, and after-market repair and return and IT asset management and disposition (ITAM/ITAD) services. Our Hardware Platform Solutions (HPS) offering, within our CCS segment, includes the development of infrastructure platforms, hardware and software design solutions, including open-source software that complements our hardware offerings, and services that can be used as-is, or customized for specific applications in collaboration with our customers, and management of program design and aspects of the supply chain, manufacturing, and after-market support, including ITAM/ITAD.

We believe our services and solutions create value for our customers by enabling their strategies, while accelerating their time-to-market, and by providing higher quality, lower cost, and reduced cycle times (as compared to insourcing) in our customers' supply chains. We believe this results in lower total cost of ownership, greater flexibility, higher returns on invested capital and improved competitive advantage for our customers in their respective markets.

We depend on a small number of customers for a substantial portion of our revenue. In the aggregate, our top 10 customers represented 73% of total revenue for 2024, 64% for 2023 and 66% for 2022. In 2024, two customers (each in our CCS segment) individually represented 10% or more of total revenue in 2024 (28% and 11%, respectively). In 2023, one customer (in our CCS segment) individually represented 10% or more of total revenue (22%). In 2022, two customers (each in our CCS segment) individually represented 10% or more of total revenue (11% for each customer). Significant reductions in, or the loss of, revenue from these or any of our major customers may have a material adverse effect on us. See Item 1A, Risk Factors — "We are dependent on a limited number of customers and end markets. A decline in revenue from, or the loss of, any significant customer, could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, financial position and cash flows."

Products and services in our ATS segment are extensive and are often more regulated than in our CCS segment, and can include the following: government-certified and highly-specialized manufacturing, electronic and enclosure-related services for A&D customers; high-precision semiconductor and display equipment and integrated subsystems; a wide range of industrial automation, controls, test and measurement devices; engineering-focused engagements, including in the areas of telematics, human machine interface, Internet-of-Things and embedded systems; advanced solutions for surgical instruments, diagnostic imaging and patient monitoring; and efficiency products to help manage and monitor the energy and power industries. Products and services in our CCS segment consist predominantly of enterprise-level data communications and information processing infrastructure products and systems, and can include routers, switches, data center interconnects, edge solutions, servers and storage-related products used by a wide range of businesses and cloud-based and other service providers to manage digital connectivity, commerce and social media applications. Our ATS segment businesses typically have higher margin profiles and margin volatility, higher working capital requirements, lower volumes and longer product lifecycles than the traditional businesses in our CCS segment. Within our CCS segment, however, our HPS business (which includes firmware/software enablement across all primary IT infrastructure data center technologies, open-source software offerings that complement our

hardware platforms, and after-market services, including ITAM/ITAD) typically has a higher margin profile than our traditional CCS businesses, but also requires specific investments (including research and development (R&D)) and higher working capital. Our CCS segment generally experiences a high degree of volatility in terms of revenue and product/service mix, and as a result, our CCS segment margin can fluctuate from period to period. In recent periods, we have experienced an increasing shift in the mix of our programs towards cloud-based and other service providers, which are cyclically different from our traditional OEM customers, creating more volatility and unpredictability in our revenue patterns, and additional challenges with respect to the management of our supply chain and working capital requirements.

We remain committed to making the investments we deem necessary to support our long-term growth strategy, strengthen our competitive position, enhance customer satisfaction, and increase long-term shareholder value. Within both of our segments, we are focused on: increased penetration in our end markets; diversifying our customer mix and product portfolios, including increasing design and development, engineering, and after-market services (higher value-added services); and diversifying our capabilities and supply chain. We intend to continue to expand our business by growing our CCS segment, focusing on our HPS business, high-value EMS programs (including with hyperscalers) and services, and by continuing to pursue new customers and acquisition opportunities in both of our segments. See "Celestica's Strategy" below for a discussion of our strategy, and Item 7, MD&A for a discussion of our current priorities.

EMS Industry

Overview

Leading EMS companies manage global networks that are capable of delivering customized supply chain solutions. They offer end-to-end services for the entire product lifecycle, including design and engineering services, manufacturing, assembly, testing, systems integration, fulfillment and after-market services. Our customers, which include OEMs, cloud-based and other service providers (including hyperscalers), and other companies in a wide range of industries, outsource these services to address challenges related to cost, asset utilization, quality, time-to-market, demand volatility, customer support, and rapidly changing technologies. In particular, service providers have utilized our services to expand and optimize their data centers to enable their strategies.

We believe outsourcing by these companies will continue across a number of industries as a means to:

Reduce Operating Costs and Invested Capital. Global EMS companies can provide access to a network of manufacturing sites with supply chain management expertise, advanced engineering capabilities, flexible capacity and economies of scale. As a result, outsourcing to such companies can reduce customers' overall product lifecycle and operating costs, working capital, and property, plant and equipment investment requirements.

Focus Resources on Core Competencies. EMS customers are able to prioritize their resources on product development, sales, marketing and customer service by outsourcing design, engineering, manufacturing, supply chain, product lifecycle management, and other product support requirements.

Improve Time-to-Market. We believe that companies can significantly improve their product development cycles and enhance time-to-market by benefiting from the expertise and infrastructure of EMS providers, including their capabilities relating to design and engineering services, prototyping and the rapid ramp-up of new products to high-volume production, all with the critical support of global supply chain management and manufacturing networks.

Utilize EMS Companies' Procurement, Inventory Management and Logistics Expertise. We believe that the successful manufacturing of electronic products requires significant resources to manage the complexities in planning, procurement and inventory management, frequent design changes, short product lifecycles and product demand fluctuations. Companies can help manage these complexities by outsourcing to those EMS providers that (i) possess sophisticated IT systems and global supply chain management capabilities and (ii) can leverage significant component procurement advantages to lower product costs.

Access Leading Engineering Capabilities and Technologies. EMS providers can assist companies in the development of new product concepts, the re-design of existing products, and improvements with respect to the performance, cost and time required to bring products to market. In addition, companies can gain access to high-quality manufacturing expertise and capabilities in the areas of advanced process, interconnect and test technologies.

Improve Access to Global Markets. EMS companies with global infrastructure and support capabilities help to provide customers with efficient world-wide manufacturing solutions, distribution capabilities and after-market services.

Access Value-Added Service Offerings. EMS providers strive to expand their offerings to include services such as testing, fulfillment and after-market services, including repair and recycling, to encourage companies to outsource more of their cost of goods sold.

Original Design Manufacturer Industry

Celestica is increasingly engaged as an ODM by our customers. As part of Celestica's ODM offerings, we design and manufacture products, either as customized solutions, white box solutions or under Joint Design and Manufacturing (JDM) engagements in collaboration with our customers. This business is primarily within our HPS business.

As part of our value-added services offerings, Celestica is involved in product design and R&D activities, particularly related to IT hardware offerings including networking switches and compute and storage products. In recent years, Celestica has become more regularly viewed by customers, competitors and industry analysts as an ODM within these markets. Our customers utilize Celestica's services in our capacity as an ODM for benefits such as manufacturing at scale, supply chain management and other value propositions offered by EMS providers discussed above.

We believe the primary differences in the value proposition of an ODM when compared to the EMS business include:

(1) Design engineering services. ODM providers have a more significant level of involvement in the design of the manufactured products than EMS providers, whether fully designed by the ODM's engineering teams (often marketed as a white box solution) or in collaboration with the customer known as JDM. (2) R&D. An ODM provider may engage in R&D activities related to new product design, optimization and other innovations, which often results in the creation of IP. Customers are able to leverage the ODM's IP portfolio and R&D capabilities to lower the cost and timeframe of product design, development and launch.

A customer may elect to use an ODM provider as it allows them to customize the features and design of the solution, which may be optimized for performance or cost, to better serve the customer's requirements. This is in contrast to using an OEM product, which is often a fully-designed or "off-the-shelf" solution, which may have minimal, or no ability, to be customized by the customer.

Celestica's Strategy

We constantly seek to advance our quality, engineering, manufacturing, design, and supply chain capabilities. We will continue to focus on our pursuit of the following, intended to strengthen our competitive position and enhance customer satisfaction and shareholder value:

Increase Penetration in our End Markets/Offerings. We continually strive to further diversify our portfolio. Our goal is to increase our presence across our high-value markets, with particular emphasis on expanding our ATS segment, HPS business and high-value EMS programs (including with hyperscaler customers). Although our ATS segment revenue in 2024 decreased 5% compared to 2023, we continue to target an average annual revenue growth rate of 10% over the long-term. Within our CCS segment revenue, our HPS business saw revenue growth of 63% in 2024 compared to 2023. In 2024, HPS revenue accounts for 29% of total revenue (2023 — 21%, 2022 — 25%).

Our end market revenue as a percentage of total revenue is as follows:

_	2024	2023	2022
ATS	33 %	42 %	41 %
Communications	41 %	33 %	40 %
Enterprise	26 %	25 %	19 %

Selectively Pursue Acquisitions and Strategic Transactions. We will continue to selectively seek acquisition opportunities and strategic transactions in order to (i) profitably grow our revenue, (ii) further develop strategic relationships with customers in our end markets; (iii) enhance the scope of our capabilities and service offerings, (iv) enhance our IP portfolio, and (v) expand our capabilities and offerings to include further after-market services and product licensing opportunities.

Continuously Improve Operational Performance. We will continue to focus on: (i) managing our mix and volume of business and service offerings to improve our overall margins, (ii) leveraging our supply chain practices globally to lower materials costs, minimize lead times and improve our planning cycle to better meet volatility in customer demand and improve asset utilization and inventory levels, (iii) successfully ramping new programs, and (iv) improving operating efficiencies to reduce costs and improve margins. In order to help us streamline our processes, we continue to invest in our "digital factory," which automates and connects our equipment, people and systems throughout our global network, including our customers and suppliers. Our mix of programs, and operating leverage across several of our businesses had a favorable impact on our gross margin in 2024. In addition, our ongoing cost reductions initiatives, which are intended to further streamline our business, increase operational efficiencies and improve our productivity, have had a favorable impact on our profitability.

Develop and Grow Trusted Relationships with Leading Customers. We continue to pursue profitable, strategic relationships with industry leaders that we believe can benefit from our services and solutions. We strive to respond to our customers' needs with speed, flexibility and predictability. We have established and maintain strong relationships with a diverse mix of leading OEMs, cloud-based and other service providers and other companies across our end markets. We believe that our customer base is a strong potential source of growth for us as we seek to strengthen these relationships through the delivery of additional services.

Expand Range of Service Offerings and Continue to Invest in Engineering and Supply Chain Solutions and Services. We continually seek to expand the services we offer to our customers, and we are committed to meeting our customers' needs in the areas of technology, engineering, quality, product lifecycle management and supply chain management. We believe our expertise in these areas enables us to meet the rigorous demands of our customers, allows us to produce a variety of electronic products ranging from high-volume electronics to highly complex technology infrastructure products used in a broad array of industries, and allows us to deliver consistently reliable products to our customers. We also believe the systems and collaborative processes associated with our expertise in supply chain management help us to adjust our operations to meet customer lead time requirements, and quickly and effectively deliver products directly to end customers. We collaborate with our suppliers to influence component design for the benefit of our customers. As a result of the successes that we have had in these areas, we have been recognized with numerous customer and industry achievement awards.

Enhance our Capabilities in R&D, New Technology Development, Quality Products and Design to support our HPS Business. We continually invest in our internal R&D capabilities to support the development of new technologies, products and IP, which support the offering within our HPS business. As an ODM, we believe it is critical for our competitive positioning to be competent in working with leading edge technologies for IT hardware products across networking, server and storage categories. Investment in our design and engineering capabilities and products roadmaps is required in order to maintain our technology leadership throughout upgrade cycles and to support our customers in their deployments of their critical IT products and infrastructure. We also invest in software engineering capabilities in order to support our customers on enablement of open-sourced solutions.

See Item 7, MD&A — "Operating Goals and Priorities" for a discussion of our current priorities and areas of focus.

Celestica's Business

Innovative Supply Chain Solutions and Services

We are a global provider of innovative supply chain solutions. We offer a range of services including design and development, engineering services, supply chain management, new product introduction, component sourcing, electronics manufacturing, assembly, testing, complex mechanical assembly, systems integration, precision machining, order fulfillment, logistics, product licensing, and after-market repair and return and ITAM/ITAD services. Our design and development services include our HPS offering, which consists of developing infrastructure platforms, hardware and software design solutions, including open-source software that complements our hardware offerings, and services in collaboration primarily with CCS segment customers, as well as managing aspects of the supply chain and manufacturing, including firmware/software

enablement across all primary IT infrastructure data center technologies, and after-market support, including ITAM/ITAD. We believe that our HPS offering helps to differentiate us from other EMS providers, by encompassing advanced technology design solutions that customers can tailor to their specific platform applications. We execute our business in our global network of sites, including our designated centers of excellence, strategically located in North America, Europe and Asia. We leverage these sites and centers of excellence, IT, and our supply chain expertise using collaborative processes and a team of highly skilled, customer-focused employees. We believe that our ability to deliver a range of supply chain and hardware solutions to our customers provides them with a competitive lead time, and advantages in quality, flexibility and total cost of ownership.

The objective of our centers of excellence program is to help ensure that our operations reflect a solid understanding of the markets we serve, have current capabilities and standardized practices, and are positioned to provide efficiency, consistency, and value to our customers around the globe. To obtain "center of excellence" status, our sites must meet our defined criteria pertaining to quality, supply chain capabilities, Lean and Six Sigma, market specific certifications (to the extent applicable), and other matters regarding their operations.

Quality, Lean and Six Sigma Culture

We believe one of our key strengths, compared to our competitors, is our ability to consistently deliver high quality services and products. We maintain a robust quality management system focusing on continuous process improvements and ensuring high levels of customer satisfaction. In order to be successful, we employ advanced statistical engineering techniques and other tools designed to enhance production and service quality. Our principal sites are ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 certified, adhering to international quality management standards and equipped with necessary industry specific certifications.

Our Celestica Operating System (COS) consists of the application of global standard processes to all critical aspects of our operations, including quality, supply and operations planning, new product introduction, daily visual performance management, and continuous operational improvement through a "Plan Do Check Adjust" cycle. The COS is intended to improve cost productivity, create accountable teams, and assure consistent performance.

In addition to these standards, we deploy Lean initiatives to help drive manufacturing efficiencies, cycle times velocities and improved product quality, and use Six Sigma extensively in an effort to reduce process variation and to drive root cause problem-solving. Lean and Six Sigma methods are also used in non-production areas to streamline our processes and eliminate waste. We apply the knowledge we gain in our after-market services to help improve the quality and reliability of next-generation products. We believe that success in these areas helps our customers to lower their costs, positioning them more competitively in their respective markets.

Design and Engineering Services

Our global design teams are focused on delivering flexible solutions and expertise, intended to help customers reduce overall product costs, improve time-to-market, introduce competitively differentiated products, and drive hardware innovations. For customer-owned designs, we augment their design teams, and utilize our proprietary design analysis tools to minimize design revisions and to achieve improved manufacturing yields. Our HPS offering includes the development of infrastructure platforms and hardware and software design solutions in collaboration with customers, managing aspects of the supply chain, manufacturing their products and providing ITAM/ITAD services. Our HPS offering is an engineering-led, IP-based offering that allows us to drive hardware innovation and solutions for our customers and further broaden our value proposition by leveraging our ecosystem partners and broad range of capabilities across the product lifecycle. We continue to invest in leading-edge product roadmaps and design capabilities aligned with both market standards and emerging technologies in support of our HPS offering. We deliver both partially customized HPS products, and complete hardware platform solutions to customers in the storage, servers, and communications markets. These products and solutions are intended to help our customers reach their markets faster and enable their strategies, while reducing total costs, increasing supply chain resilience and building valuable IP for their product portfolios and/or data centers. Through our collective experience with common technologies across multiple industries and product groups, we believe we provide quality and cost-focused solutions for a wide range of our customers' design needs and strategies.

We collaborate with some of our core customers' product designers in the early stages of product development, using advanced tools to enable new product ideas to progress from electrical and application-specific integrated circuit design, to simulation, physical layout and design review, all intended to ensure readiness for manufacturing. We use our design expertise to create innovative technologies and hardware product solutions, and leverage key ecosystem partners to drive both innovation and supply chain leverage. Our HPS offering encompasses advanced technology infrastructure platforms, and hardware and software design solutions that customers can tailor to their specific applications. We believe that collaboration between our customers' teams, key ecosystem partners, and our design and manufacturing groups helps to ensure that new designs are released rapidly, smoothly and cohesively into production.

Our engineering services team works with our customers throughout the product lifecycle. We believe our engineering expertise and experience in product and process design, design review, product test solutions, assembly technology, automation, and quality and reliability, position us to deliver the services required to address the challenges facing our customers. We maintain ties with key industry associations and engineering firms to help us stay apprised of advances in technical knowledge.

R&D and IT Hardware for the Data Center Customers

We provide a comprehensive suite of products and services for our data center customers, including hyperscalers, cloud and AI service providers and enterprise, as well as IT OEMs. We engage with these customers in a capacity as both an EMS and ODM provider, and provide a range of services including R&D, design (including JDM), fully designed white box solutions, manufacturing, engineering and testing. Our capabilities span across various categories of IT hardware including networking (including optical modules and Ethernet switches, amongst other products), servers (including AI/ML compute), storage, and data center racks. The products we manufacture and assemble may be used directly by our customers in their own data centers, as in the case of hyperscalers or enterprise customers, or may be re-sold to end users by our OEM customers.

Prototyping and New Product Introduction

Prototyping is a critical early-stage process in the development of new products. Our engineers collaborate with our customers' engineers to provide quick responses in the early stages of the product development lifecycle.

Supply Chain Management and Services

We use advanced planning, analytics, enterprise resource planning, and supply chain management systems to optimize materials management from suppliers to our customers' customers. We believe that the effective management of the supply chain is critical to our customers' success, as it directly impacts the time and cost required to deliver products to market and the capital requirements associated with carrying inventory.

We strive to reduce our customers' total cost of ownership by providing lower costs and reduced cycle times in their supply chain, and by delivering higher quality products. We also strive to align our preferred suppliers in close proximity to our centers of excellence to increase the speed and flexibility of our supply chain, to deliver higher quality products and to reduce time-to-market.

Through our global supply chain management processes and integrated IT tools, we endeavor to provide our customers with enhanced visibility to balance their global demand and supply requirements, including inventory and order management.

Manufacturing Services

Printed Circuit Board Assembly

Printed circuit board (PCB) assembly includes the attachment of electronic components, such as capacitors, microprocessors, resistors and memory modules, to PCBs. Our global network of engineers helps us to provide our customers with full PCB assembly technology capabilities. These capabilities include design for manufacturing, PCB layout, packaging, assembly (circuit card assembly (CCA)), lead-free soldering, test development, and data analytics for complex flexible and rigid-flex circuits and hybrid PCBs.

Complex Mechanical Assembly

We provide systems integration and precision machined components to our Capital Equipment customers. Complex mechanical systems integration consists of multiple interconnected subsystems that interact with various materials, e.g., fluids, solids, particles and rigid bodies. Such systems are often used in advanced manufacturing applications such as semiconductor manufacturing, display manufacturing (including LCD, OLED, QLED and other displays), medical applications using robotics, and other applications where precise standards are required. We also provide complex mechanical assembly primarily to our aerospace customers, including wire harness assembly, systems integration, sheet metal fabrication, welding and machining.

Precision Machining

We utilize specialized computer-controlled machines to manufacture high quality components to tight tolerance requirements. Such components are often used in applications similar to those noted above for complex mechanical assembly.

Energy Services

We provide integrated solutions and services to our renewable energy customers in the areas of power generation, conversion and monitoring. Our energy portfolio includes power inverters, energy storage products, smart meters and other electronic componentry, and encompasses complete product lifecycle solutions, including design, manufacturing and reliability services.

Systems Assembly and Testing

We use sophisticated technologies in the assembly and testing of our products. We continue to make investments in the development of automated solutions, as well as new assembly and test process techniques intended to enhance product quality, reduce cost and improve delivery time to customers. We work independently and also collaborate with customers and suppliers to develop assembly and test technologies. Systems assembly and testing require sophisticated logistics capabilities to rapidly procure components, assemble products, perform complex testing and distribute products to customers around the world. Our full systems assembly services involve combining and testing a wide range of sub-assemblies and components before shipping them to their final destination. Some customers require custom build-to-order system solutions (including data-center rack integration) with very short lead times, and we are focused on using our advanced supply chain management capabilities to respond to our customers' needs.

Quality and Product Assurance

We offer comprehensive reliability testing, inspection and qualification services to support our customers throughout the entire product lifecycle. Our quality and product assurance teams conduct rigorous testing to ensure designs meet or exceed required specifications. With expertise in testing to various industry standards, we collaborate closely with our customers to implement customized test protocols. This proactive approach helps identify certification risks early in the product development process, ultimately reducing costs and accelerating time to market.

Failure Analysis and After-Market Services

Our extensive failure analysis capabilities concentrate on identifying the root cause of product failures and determining corrective actions. Products are subjected to various environmental extremes, including temperature, humidity, vibration, voltage and contamination. Field conditions are simulated in failure analysis laboratories which employ electron microscopes, spectrometers and other advanced equipment. Our engineers work proactively in partnership with suppliers and customers in an effort to discover product failures before products are shipped, and to develop and implement solutions if required.

We also seek to provide value to our customers through our after-market services offerings which include repair, fulfillment, reverse logistics, ITAM/ITAD, reclamation and returns processing and prevention. Our fulfillment offering includes the design and management of integrated supply chain and materials management for light manufacturing and final assembly and reclamation. Our reverse logistics offering includes the design and management of transportation networks, warehousing and distribution of products, asset recovery services, and transportation and supply chain event monitoring. Our ITAM/ITAD offering is a single source solution to dispose of IT assets with optimal sustainability including hardware buyback, remarketing/resale, data erasure and destruction, parts harvesting, redeployment and donations. Our returns processing and

prevention offering provides our customers with product screening and testing and product design and process analysis. Our reclamation offering includes product disassembly, reassembly and re-use, as well as certified scrap disposition processing. We offer these services individually or integrated through a 'Control Tower' model which coordinates our people, systems and processes with those of our customers to improve service levels by providing an increased level of visibility and analytics throughout the entire after-market value chain.

Product Licensing

With respect to our partners that are seeking to rationalize their product lines, licensing to us provides them with an alternative to sale or discontinuation. Celestica manages the entire business process for the licensed product or product line, including order acceptance, customer service, engineering, supply chain, obsolescence management, manufacturing, logistics, service parts offering, and after-market services. This allows our partners to continue to serve their customers while maintaining ownership of their IP, and to redeploy their resources for other uses.

Geographies

For each of 2022, 2023 and 2024, approximately 70% of our revenue was produced in Asia and approximately 20% of our revenue was produced in North America. See note 22 to the 2024 AFS. Revenue produced in Canada represented approximately 5% of revenue in each of 2024, 2023 and 2022. Our property, plant and equipment (PP&E) and operating lease right-of-use (ROU) assets in Canada represented 4% of our total PP&E and operating lease ROU assets at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023 — 4%; December 31, 2022 — 6%). A listing of our principal locations is included in Item 2, "Properties." Certain geographic information for countries with 10% or more of our external revenue and PP&E and operating lease ROU assets is set forth in note 22 to the 2024 AFS included herein.

Marketing and Customer Experience

We structure our business development teams by end market, with a focus on offering market insight and expertise, and complete manufacturing, HPS (in the case of our CCS segment) and supply chain solutions to our customers. We have customer-focused teams, each headed by a group general manager who oversees the global relationship with our key customers. These teams work with our subject matter experts to meet the requirements of each customer's product or supply chain. Our global network is comprised of such customer-focused teams, as well as operational and project managers, supply chain management teams, and senior executives.

We provide comprehensive support before, during and after the delivery of our products and services. We seek to deepen and grow our customer relationships by providing consistent, high-quality implementation and customer support services, which we believe drives customer retention and additional opportunities within our existing customer base.

Customer Concentration and Relationship Management

We target industry-leading customers in each of our segments. Our current CCS segment customers include Amazon Fulfillment Services, Inc., Ciena Corporation, Dell Technologies, Google Inc., Hewlett-Packard Enterprise, IBM Corporation, Juniper Networks, Inc. and Meta Platforms, Inc. Our current ATS segment customers include Applied Materials, Inc., LAM Research and Honeywell Inc. We are focused on strengthening our relationships with strategic customers through the delivery of new and expanding end-to-end solutions.

In the aggregate, our top 10 customers represented 73% of total revenue for 2024, 64% for 2023 and 66% for 2022. In 2024, two customers (each in our CCS segment) individually represented 10% or more of total revenue in 2024 (28% and 11%, respectively). We currently support each of these two customers across a number of different programs. In 2023, one customer (in our CCS segment) individually represented 10% or more of total revenue (22%). In 2022, two customers (each in our CCS segment) individually represented 10% or more of total revenue (11% for each customer).

We generally enter into master supply agreements with our customers that provide the framework for our overall relationship, although such agreements do not typically guarantee a particular level of business or fixed pricing. Instead, we bid on a program-by-program basis and typically receive customer purchase orders for specific quantities and timing of products. We believe that our customer-focused factories are flexible and can be reconfigured as needed to meet customer-specific product requirements and fluctuations in volumes (although we do incur increased production costs from time to time in

connection with unexpected demand changes). A majority of these supply agreements also require the customer to purchase unused inventory that we have purchased to fulfill that customer's forecasted manufacturing demand. Some of these agreements require us to provide specific price reductions to our customers over the term of the contracts, which has had (and is expected to continue to have) a significant adverse impact on our revenues, gross margin and operating results. Also see Item 1A, Risk Factors— "Inherent challenges in managing changes in customer demand may impact our planning, supply chain execution and manufacturing, and may adversely affect our operating performance and results."

Research and Technology Development

We use advanced technology to design, assemble and test the products we manufacture. We continue to invest in our global design services and capabilities to conceive differentiated HPS product solutions for our customers.

We have extensive capabilities across a broad range of specialized assembly, configuration and test processes. We work with a variety of substrates based on the products we build for our customers, from thin, flexible PCBs to highly complex, dense multi-layer PCBs, as well as a broad array of advanced component and attachment technologies employed in our customers' products and our own product designs. We believe that increasing demand for full-system solutions continues to drive technical advancement in complex design, including power, thermal and mechanical assembly, manufacturability, serviceability and sustainability. We also develop and manufacture sub-components, such as optical modules and complex machined parts, intended to drive targeted technical advancements to support these opportunities.

Our automated electronics assembly lines are routinely refreshed with the latest generation technology, with a focus on flexible lines with quick changeover, large board capability, and small component capability. Our assembly capabilities are complemented by advanced test capabilities. The technologies we use include high-speed functional testing, optical, burn-in, vibration, radio frequency, and in-circuit and in-situ dynamic thermal cycling stress testing. Our inspection technology includes X-ray computed tomography, advanced automated optical inspection, three-dimensional paste volumetric inspection and scanning electron microscopy. We work directly with leaders in the equipment industry to optimize products and solutions or to jointly design solutions to meet the needs of our customers. We apply automation solutions, where possible, to help improve product quality, lower product costs, and increase manufacturing efficiencies.

Our ongoing R&D activities include the development of processes, test technologies, and hardware platform solutions, spanning core data center technologies, that can be used as-is or customized to optimize a customer's specific applications. Our HPS offering is focused on developing design solutions and subsequently managing the other aspects of the supply chain, including product manufacturing and after-market services. We focus our solutions on developing current and next-generation storage, server and communications products (in particular, elements of data centers, which include the development of complete platform solutions to reduce product costs and accelerate time to market, and which we believe will continue to grow). We work directly with our customers to understand their product roadmaps and requirements, and to develop technology solutions intended to meet their particular needs. We are proactive in developing manufacturing techniques that take advantage of the latest component, product and packaging designs. We have worked with, and have taken leadership roles in, industry and academic groups that strive to advance the state of technology in the industry. As we continue to pursue deeper relationships with our customers, and participate in additional services and revenue opportunities with them, we anticipate an increase in our spending in these areas.

Supply Chain Management

We share data electronically with our key suppliers, and help ensure speed of supply through strong relationships with our component suppliers and logistics partners. We view the size and scale of our procurement activities, including our IT systems, as an important competitive advantage, as they enhance our ability to obtain better pricing, influence component packaging and designs, and obtain a supply of components, especially in constrained markets. We procure substantially all of our materials and components on behalf of our customers pursuant to individual purchase orders that are generally short-term in nature.

Components and raw materials are sourced globally, with a majority of electronic components originating from Asian countries. See Item 1A, Risk Factors, "Our ability to successfully manage unexpected changes or risks inherent in our global operations and supply chain may adversely impact our financial performance" for a discussion of various risks related to our foreign operations. All of the products we manufacture or assemble require one or more components. In many cases, there may be only one supplier of a particular component. Some of these components could be rationed in response to supply shortages.

We work with our suppliers and customers to attempt to ensure continuity in the supply of these components. In cases where unanticipated customer demand or supply shortages occur, we attempt to arrange for alternative sources of supply, where available, or defer planned production in response to the availability of the critical components. We experienced materials constraints from certain suppliers in the past, which caused delays in the production of customer products in both of our segments. However, materials constraints did not have a material impact on our revenues or expenses during recent years. See Item 1A, Risk Factors, "We are dependent on third parties to supply certain materials, and our results were negatively affected by the availability of such materials in the past and may be negatively affected by the quality, availability and cost of such materials in the future." While the prices of principal raw materials are generally not volatile, price increases have resulted from materials shortages and inflation in recent periods. Although we have been successful in offsetting the majority of our increased costs with increased pricing for our products and services to date, price increases resulting from such shortages and/or other factors which we cannot recover from our customers have in the past and may in the future adversely impact our results of operations.

We utilize our enterprise systems, as well as specific supply chain IT tools, to provide comprehensive information on our logistics, financial and engineering support functions. These systems provide management with the data and analytics required to manage the logistical complexities of our business and are augmented by and integrated with other applications, such as shop floor controls, component and product database management, and design tools.

To minimize the risk associated with inventory, we primarily order materials and components only to the extent necessary to satisfy existing customer orders and forecasts covered by the applicable customer contract terms and conditions. However, in anticipation of material shortages, we may place additional orders to secure supply, offset in part by the receipt of cash deposits from the relevant customers. We have implemented specific inventory management strategies with certain suppliers, such as "supplier managed inventory" (pulling inventory at the production line on an as-needed basis) and on-site stocking programs. Our initiatives in Lean and Six Sigma also focus on eliminating excess inventory throughout the supply chain.

Intellectual Property

We hold licenses to various technologies which we have acquired in connection with acquisitions. In addition, we believe that we have secured access to technology sufficient for the current conduct of our business and that the duration of our patents is adequate relative to the expected lives of our products.

We regard our manufacturing processes and certain designs as proprietary trade secrets and confidential information. We rely largely upon a combination of trade secret laws, non-disclosure agreements with our customers, suppliers, employees and other parties, and upon our internal security systems, confidentiality procedures and employee confidentiality agreements to maintain the trade secrecy of our designs and manufacturing processes. Although we take steps to protect our trade secrets and other IP, we cannot assure that misappropriation will not occur. See Item 1A, Risk Factors, "We may not adequately protect our IP or the IP of others."

Our increased research and design activities have resulted in the growth of our dependence on our patent portfolio. We have hardware and software patents that are integral to our HPS business. We anticipate that such growth (and importance) will continue as we expand this business. In addition, we currently have a limited number of other patents and patent applications pending to protect our IP. Other factors significant to our proprietary rights include the knowledge and experience of management and personnel, and our ability to develop, enhance and market electronics manufacturing services.

Each of our customers typically provides us with a license to its technology for use in providing electronics manufacturing services to such customer. Generally, the agreements governing such technology grant to us non-exclusive, worldwide licenses with respect to the subject technologies, are typically provided without charge, and terminate upon a material breach by us of the terms of such agreements, or termination of the program to which such licenses relate.

We also license some technology from third parties that we use in providing electronics manufacturing services to our customers. Generally, the agreements governing such technology grant to us non-exclusive, worldwide licenses with respect to the subject technologies and terminate upon expiration, or a material breach by us of the terms, of such agreements.

Competition

The EMS industry is highly competitive with multiple global EMS providers competing for customers and programs. Our competitors include Benchmark Electronics, Inc., Flex Ltd., Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd., Jabil Inc., Plexus Corp., and Sanmina Corporation, as well as smaller EMS companies that often have a regional, product, service or industry-specific focus, and ODMs (including Quanta Computer Inc., Wiwynn Corporation, and Accton Technology Corp.) that provide internally designed products and manufacturing services.

We also face indirect competition from current and prospective customers who evaluate our capabilities and commercial models against the merits of manufacturing products internally, and from distribution and logistics providers expanding their services across the supply chain, including assembly, fulfillment, logistics and in some cases, engineering services. There may be instances where our HPS offerings compete with a customer's hardware offerings. We compete with different companies depending on the type of service or geographic area. Some of our competitors have greater scale and provide a broader range of services than we provide. We believe our competitive advantage is our track record in manufacturing technology, design and engineering, quality, complexity, responsiveness and cost-effective, value-added services, including supply chain services. To remain competitive, we believe we must continue to provide technologically advanced manufacturing services and solutions, maintain quality levels, offer flexible delivery schedules, deliver finished products and services on time and compete favorably on price.

The competitive landscape in our CCS segment remains aggressive, as demand growth continues to move from traditional OEMs to cloud-based and other service providers, resulting in aggressive bidding from EMS providers and increased competition from ODMs as they further penetrate these markets. As a result of the high concentration of our business in the CCS marketplace, these competitive pressures, aggressive pricing and technology-driven demand shifts, have negatively impacted, and in future periods may negatively impact, our CCS businesses. We intend to continue to monitor these dynamics and focus on cost and portfolio management, in response to these factors. To enhance our competitiveness, we continue to focus on expanding our service offerings and capabilities beyond our traditional areas of EMS expertise, including expanding our HPS, integration, and after-market services offerings.

See Item 1A, Risk Factors, "We operate in an industry comprised of numerous competitors and aggressive pricing dynamics" and Item 7, MD&A — "Overview — Overview of business environment" and "Recent Developments."

Environmental Matters

We are subject to various federal/national, state/provincial, local, foreign and supra-national laws and regulations, including environmental measures relating to the release, use, storage, treatment, transportation, discharge, disposal and remediation of contaminants, hazardous substances and waste, and health and safety measures related to practices and procedures applicable to the construction and operation of our sites. We have management systems in place designed to maintain compliance with such laws and regulations.

Our past operations and the historical operation by others of our sites may have resulted in soil and groundwater contamination on our sites, and in many jurisdictions in which we operate, environmental laws impose liability for the costs of removal, remediation or risk assessment of hazardous or toxic substances on an owner, occupier or operator of real property even if such person or company was unaware of or not responsible for the discharge or migration of such substances. From time to time we investigate, remediate and monitor soil and groundwater contamination at certain operating sites. We generally obtain Phase I or similar environmental assessments (which involve general inspections without soil sampling or groundwater analysis), or review assessment reports undertaken by others, for our manufacturing sites at the time of acquisition or leasing. However, such assessments may not reveal all environmental liabilities (due, for example, to limited available information about prior operations at the properties or other gaps in information at the time we acquire or lease such sites), and assessments have not been obtained for all sites. Where contamination is suspected at sites being acquired or leased, Phase II intrusive environmental assessments (that can include soil and/or groundwater testing) are usually performed. We expect to conduct Phase I or similar environmental assessments in respect of future property acquisitions or leases and intend to perform Phase II assessments where we deem it appropriate. Past environmental assessments have not revealed any environmental liability that we believe will have a material adverse effect on our operating results or financial condition, in part because of contractual retention of liability by landlords and former owners at certain sites. However, any such contractual retention of liability may not provide sufficient protection to reduce or eliminate our liability. Third-party claims for damages or personal injury are also possible and could result in significant costs to us. If more stringent compliance or cleanup standards under environmental laws

or regulations are imposed, or the results of future testing and analyses at our current or former sites indicate that we are responsible for the release of hazardous substances into the air, ground and/or water, we may be subject to additional liability. Environmental matters may arise at sites where no problem is currently known or at sites that we may acquire in the future. See Item 1A, Risk Factors, "Compliance with governmental laws, regulations, and obligations could be costly and may negatively impact our financial performance; any failure to comply may negatively impact our financial performance."

Environmental legislation also occurs at the product level. Celestica works with its customers in connection with compliance with applicable product-level environmental legislation in the jurisdictions where products are manufactured and/or offered for use and sale by our customers.

Seasonality

Seasonality does not currently have a material impact on either of our segments.

Government Regulation

As a global company, our operations are subject to a variety of governmental and regulatory requirements related to, among other things, environmental matters, waste management, trade compliance, anti-corruption, health and safety matters, employment laws and regulations, A&D regulations and regulations governing the manufacture and sale of healthcare products, and disclosure obligations. Significant costs and liabilities may arise from these requirements or from new, modified or more stringent requirements. Although we strive to implement quality management systems and internal controls to mitigate our risk of non-compliance, any failure to comply with governmental and regulatory requirements could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and/or competitive position. Information regarding material effects of government regulations on our business is provided in Section 1A, Risk Factors, under "We are subject to the risk of increasing income and other taxes, tax audits and the challenges of successfully defending our tax positions, and obtaining, renewing or meeting the conditions of tax incentives and credits, any of which may adversely affect our financial performance," "Compliance with governmental laws, regulations, and obligations could be costly and may negatively impact our financial performance," "Compliance or the failure to comply with employment laws and regulations may negatively impact our financial performance," "U.S. policies or legislation could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition," and "Our business and operations could be adversely impacted by ESG initiatives."

Sustainability

We are committed to driving sustainability initiatives through collaboration with our employees, customers, suppliers and local communities. Our Sustainability Report, which is published annually, outlines our sustainability strategy, the progress we have made as a socially responsible organization, and the key activities and milestones we are working to achieve for each of our focus areas: our planet, our products and services, our people and our communities. Our most recent Sustainability Report, as well as our Corporate Values, can be found on our website: www.celestica.com (information on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report).

Human Capital Management

At Celestica, we believe our success depends on our talented people and their commitment to excellence. Under the Human Resources and Compensation Committee (HRCC) mandate, the duties and responsibilities of the HRCC include reviewing the Corporation's talent management strategy including programs relating to the attraction, development and retention of critical skills and resources required to execute the Corporation's strategic objectives. Additionally, the HRCC is responsible for reviewing and making recommendations to the Board of Directors of Celestica (Board) with respect to Celestica's human capital management practices and strategies, including as a result of: (a) reviewing reports from management to monitor Celestica's culture and employee engagement; (b) overseeing policies and programs in place to support and promote the health, safety and well-being of Celestica's employees; and (c) considering other ESG practices related to the HRCC's charter.

Employees

At December 31, 2024, we employed 26,865 permanent and temporary (contract) employees worldwide (December 31, 2023 — 26,554; December 31, 2022 — 26,324). Some of our employees in China, Japan, Mexico, Romania, Singapore and Spain are represented by unions or are covered by collective bargaining agreements. We believe we have a productive and collaborative working relationship between management and the relevant unions. We believe that our employee relationships are generally positive and stable.

The following table sets forth information concerning our employees (permanent and temporary) by geographic location:

_	Number of Employees			
<u>Date</u>	Americas	Europe	Asia	Total
December 31, 2024	6,141	2,570	18,154	26,865

Given the variable nature of our manufacturing processes and the quick response time required by our customers, it is critical that we are able to adjust our production up or down to maximize efficiency. To achieve this, our approach has been to employ a skilled temporary labor force, as required. At December 31, 2024, 4,951 temporary (contract) employees were engaged by us worldwide.

Employee Engagement

We believe employee engagement is crucial for employee performance and productivity, and strong business outcomes. We therefore continually strive to enhance employee engagement to ensure that we continue to attract and retain talent. Every two years, we conduct global employee engagement surveys in order to measure overall engagement and identify strengths and areas for improvement. Results are assessed by management and used to develop targeted action plans. Management reports on the outcome of the survey to the HRCC.

We believe that employee engagement and well-being is strengthened through healthy, supportive, inclusive, and safe workplaces. Globally, we have established a framework whereby all sites are required to measure and report regularly on their environmental, health and safety performance.

Compensation, Benefits and Recognition

Our compensation and benefits programs are designed to attract, retain, and motivate top talent. We offer a comprehensive package that includes competitive salaries, variable performance-based compensation, health benefits, retirement savings plans, vacation, and other paid time off. We provide opportunities for employees to share in the Company's success through short-term incentive programs available to almost all employees. These programs reward achievement of key business objectives and reinforce our commitment to a performance-driven culture. Furthermore, we offer a variety of recognition programs to acknowledge employees who are achieving business results by living our brand and values, and embracing the characteristics of our leadership imperatives. We encourage business and people leaders to acknowledge individual and team success in quarterly town halls, and in more formal ways through our Bravo! and Ignition Awards programs. We regularly review our compensation and benefits programs to ensure they remain competitive and aligned with our business strategy and meet the needs of our employees.

Learning and Development

We provide global learning and development programs and experiences to support the attraction, retention, engagement and career growth of employees, encouraging them to manage their careers and skills through new projects and responsibilities. The Company uses a blended learning approach, combining e-learning with instructor-led sessions, and emphasizes continuous learning via mentoring, coaching, on-the-job experiences, such as special projects, job rotations and formal training programs that enhance leadership, function-specific, and technical skills. Performance reviews on objectives, including progress on individual development plans, occur at least annually with all permanent, full-time Celestica employees and align to strategic focus areas. The goals for broader functions, teams, and individuals are established annually at the

beginning of the year, providing an opportunity for a cohesive and valuable partnership between employees and people leaders throughout the year.

Community Engagement

We strive to support the local communities in which we live and work. We encourage all full-time employees to take up to 16 hours of paid time off per year to volunteer through our Time Off to Volunteer program. This program gives employees the opportunity to become involved in their communities in a meaningful way and to help those in need.

Inclusion

Celestica is committed to fostering an inclusive and collaborative workplace where all employees feel valued, respected, and empowered to reach their full potential. We believe that embracing a broad range of perspectives drives innovation, strengthens our culture, and enhances our ability to serve customers worldwide. Through leadership accountability, employee resource groups, training programs, and community partnerships, we strive to foster a culture of inclusion and collaboration across our global operations, and ensure that inclusion and collaboration remain core parts of our values, talent practices and business strategy.

Ethical Labor Practices

We maintain a Business Conduct Governance (BCG) Policy, which outlines the legal and ethical standards to which our employees are held accountable. 100% of our employees have completed BCG training, and we certify to the BCG Policy on an annual basis. Our BCG Policy is available on our website: www.celestica.com (information on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report).

In addition, we have well-established policies regarding fair labor practices and guidelines intended to create a respectful, safe and healthy work environment for our employees globally.

We are a founding (and remain an active) member of the Responsible Business Alliance (RBA), a non-profit coalition of companies that, among other things, establishes standards for its members in responsible and ethical practices in the areas of labor, environmental compliance, employee health and safety, ethics and social responsibility. The RBA Code of Conduct outlines industry standards intended to ensure that working conditions in the supply chain are safe, workers are treated with respect and dignity, and manufacturing processes are environmentally responsible. We continually work to implement, manage and audit our compliance with the RBA Code of Conduct.

Financial Information Regarding Geographic Areas

Details of our financial information regarding geographic areas are disclosed in note 22 to 2024 AFS included herein, in "Information on the Company — Business Overview — Geographies," above and in Item 2, Properties. Risks associated with our foreign operations are disclosed in Item 1A, Risk Factors, including "Our ability to successfully manage unexpected changes or risks inherent in our global operations and supply chain may adversely impact our financial performance."

Additional Information

We make available a wide variety of information, including our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and Current Reports on Form 8-K, free of charge on our website at www.celestica.com. Information on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report. Our reports that are filed or furnished with the SEC, including our Management Information Circulars (Proxy Statements), Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Specialized Disclosure Reports on Form SD, previous Annual Reports on Form 20-F and previous Reports on Form 6-K, and any amendments to such reports, are available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after the reports are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The address of that site is www.sec.gov. Our public filings with the Canadian Securities Administrators are available under our profile on SEDAR+ at www.secdarplus.ca.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Each of the following risk factors, or any combination of them, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and/or operating results. Our shareholders and prospective investors should carefully consider each of the following risks and all of the other information set forth in this Annual Report.

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

We are dependent on a limited number of customers and end markets. A decline in revenue from, or the loss of, any significant customer, could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, financial position and cash flows.

We depend (and expect to continue to depend) upon a small number of customers for a substantial portion of our revenue. In the aggregate, our top 10 customers represented 73% of total revenue for 2024, 64% for 2023 and 66% for 2022. We also remain dependent upon revenue from our CCS segment, which represented 67% of our consolidated revenue in 2024 (2023 — 58%; 2022 — 59%). Notwithstanding the expansion our HPS business and high-value EMS programs (including with hyperscalers), we remain dependent, to a lesser extent compared to prior years, on our traditional CCS business for a portion of our revenue, which continues to experience slower growth rates, increased pricing pressures and a highly competitive marketplace.

A decline in revenue from, or the loss of, any significant customer could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, financial position and cash flows. We cannot assure: (i) the replacement of completed, delayed, cancelled or reduced orders with new business; (ii) that our current customers will continue to utilize our services consistent with historical volumes or at all; and/or (iii) that our customers will renew their long-term manufacturing or services contracts with us on acceptable terms or at all. There can also be no assurance that our efforts to secure new customers and programs will succeed in reducing our customer concentration. Failure to secure business from existing or new customers in any of our end markets would adversely impact our operating results.

Any of the foregoing may adversely affect our margins, cash flow, and our ability to grow our revenue, and may increase the variability of our operating results from period to period. See "Our revenue and operating results may vary significantly from period to period."

Inherent challenges in managing changes in customer demand may impact our planning, supply chain execution and manufacturing, and may adversely affect our operating performance and results.

Our customers typically do not commit to production schedules for more than 30 to 90 days in advance, and we often experience volatility in customer orders and inventory levels. Customers may terminate their agreements with us prior to scheduled expiration, fail to renew such agreements upon expiration, or significantly change, reduce or delay the volume of manufacturing or other services they order from us, any of which adversely affect our operating results when they occur. For example, we experienced demand reductions within our Industrial business during 2024. Customers may also shift business to our competitors, in-source programs, or adjust the concentration of their supplier base. The global economic environment, adverse market conditions, "buy local" movements, political and geopolitical pressures, negative sentiment from our customers' customers, regulatory changes or changes made by local governments (such as tax benefits, tariffs or export controls) may also impact our customers' business decisions. See "Our operations have been and could continue to be adversely affected by events outside our control" and "Regulation of AI/ML technology may materially and adversely impact our business." These and other factors could adversely affect the rate of outsourcing to EMS and/or ODM providers generally or to us in particular. A significant portion of our revenue can occur in the last month of the quarter, and purchase orders may be subject to change or cancellation, all of which affect our operating results when they occur. Because we cannot predict customer behavior, or if or when adverse market conditions will reverse, our forecasts of customer orders may be inaccurate, and may make it difficult to order appropriate levels of materials, schedule production, and maximize utilization of our manufacturing capacity and resources.

Our customers from time to time change their forecasts, production quantities or product type requirements, or accelerate, delay or cancel production quantities. When customers change production volumes or request different products to be manufactured from those in their original forecast, the unavailability of components and materials for such changes could also adversely impact our revenue and working capital performance. See "We are dependent on third parties to supply certain

materials, and our results were negatively affected by the availability of such materials in the past and may be negatively affected by the quality, availability and cost of such materials in the future."

Further, to guarantee continuity of supply for many of our customers, we are required to manufacture and warehouse specified quantities of finished goods. The uncertainty of demand in our customers' end markets, intense competition in our customers' industries and general order volume volatility from time to time result in customers delaying or canceling the delivery of products we manufacture for them or placing purchase orders for lower volumes of products than previously anticipated. This may result in higher than expected levels of inventory, which could in turn have a material adverse impact on our operating results and working capital performance. Although the levels of inventory we carry in any period reflect inventory required to support new program ramps and business growth, inventory levels are also impacted by demand volatility and significant product mix changes, including late changes from customers. In the past, materials constraints from suppliers also negatively impacted our inventory levels. We may not be able to return or re-sell excess inventory resulting from these factors, or we may be required to hold such inventory for a period of time, any of which may result in higher working capital needs (offset in part by customer cash deposits), and/or a requirement to record additional (and higher-than-typical) reserves for excess or obsolete inventory (as occurred in recent years). Order cancellations and delays could also lower our asset utilization, resulting in higher levels of unproductive assets, lower inventory turns, and lower margins. See "*Our products and services involve inventory risk.*"

We are dependent on our customers' ability to compete and succeed in the marketplace using products we manufacture and services we provide.

Our operating results are highly dependent upon the ability of our customers (both our traditional OEM and hyperscaler customers) to compete and succeed in the marketplace using products we manufacture and services we provide. Factors that may adversely affect our customers include: rapid changes in technology; evolving industry standards; seasonal demand; their failure to successfully market, and/or a lack of widespread commercial acceptance of, their products and services; supply chain issues; the emergence of substitutes for products and services; dramatic shifts in demand which may cause them to lose market share or exit businesses; recessionary periods in our customers' markets; short product lifecycles resulting from continuous improvements in products and services, commoditization of certain products, changes in preferences by end customers, and the emergence of new entrants or competitors with disruptive products, services, or new business models that de-emphasize traditional OEM solutions and distribution channels. In addition, certain of our customers have experienced, and may in the future experience, severe revenue erosion, pricing, margin and cash flow pressures, and excess inventories that, in turn, have adversely affected (and in the future may adversely affect) our operating results. If technologies or standards supported by our customers' products and services or their business models become obsolete, are delayed due to regulatory certification, fail to gain widespread acceptance or are canceled, our business would be adversely affected.

Our exposure to financially troubled customers or suppliers may adversely affect our financial results.

We may provide manufacturing, design engineering, management and other supply chain services to companies and industries that may in the future experience financial difficulty. When our customers experience financial difficulty, we have difficulty recovering amounts owed to us by these customers, or demand for our products and services from these customers sometimes declines. Additionally, if our suppliers experience financial difficulty, we could have difficulty sourcing supplies necessary to fulfill production requirements and meet scheduled shipments. When one or more of our customers becomes insolvent or otherwise is unable to pay for the services provided by us on a timely basis, or at all, our operating results and financial condition are adversely affected. Such adverse effects could in the future include one or more of the following: an increase in our provision for credit losses, a charge for inventory write-offs, a reduction in revenue, and an increase in our working capital requirements due to higher inventory levels and increases in days our accounts receivables are outstanding.

We are dependent on third parties to supply certain materials, and our results were negatively affected by the availability of such materials in the past and may be negatively affected by the quality, availability and cost of such materials in the future.

The purchase of materials and electronic components represents a significant portion of our costs. We rely on third parties to provide such items. Materials shortages or other issues affecting timely access to these materials (which often occur in our industry) may impact our ability to successfully complete a program. A delay or interruption in supply from a component supplier, especially for single-sourced components, could have a significant impact on our operations and on our customers if we are unable to deliver finished products in a timely manner. If the amount we are required to pay for equipment and supplies exceeds what we have estimated, especially in a fixed price contract, we may suffer losses on these contracts. If a supplier or

manufacturer fails to provide components, supplies or equipment as required under a contract, we may be required to source these items from other third parties on a delayed basis or on less favorable terms, which could impact our profitability. Additionally, quality or reliability issues at any of our component providers, or financial difficulties that affect their production and ability to supply us with components, could halt or delay production of a customer's product, or result in claims against us for failure to meet required customer specifications, which could materially adversely impact our operating results. Shortages may also result in our carrying higher levels of inventory and extended lead-times, or result in increased component prices, which may require price increases in the products and services that we provide. Any increase in our costs that we are unable to recover would negatively impact our margins and operating results. Changes in forecasted volumes or in our customers' requirements can also negatively affect our ability to obtain components and adversely impact our operating results.

We experienced materials constraints from certain suppliers in prior years, due in part to industry-wide shortages for certain electronic components, resulting in higher than expected levels of inventory. Materials constraints did not have a material impact on our revenues or expenses during recent years. However, they may negatively impact us in the future.

Some sub-tier suppliers providing raw materials, such as high-grade aluminum, are partially dependent on supply from the Russia/Ukraine region. In addition, certain of our suppliers are located in, and we source certain parts from, the Middle East. Although the impacts of the Russia/Ukraine conflict and the conflicts in the Middle East area (Middle East Conflicts) on our supply chain have not been significant to date, we cannot assure that this will continue to be the case, and we may experience, among other impacts, export restrictions and increases to fuel costs. See "Our operations have been and could continue to be adversely affected by events outside our control," "Geopolitical uncertainty, including as a result of the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine and/or the Middle East Conflicts, may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations," and "Our products and services involve inventory risk."

Our products and services involve inventory risk.

For most of our products and services, we purchase some, or all, of the required materials and components based on customer forecasts or orders. Although our commercial contracts often obligate our customers to ultimately purchase inventory ordered to support their forecasts or orders, we typically finance these purchases initially. Suppliers may also require us to purchase materials and components in minimum order quantities that may exceed current customer forecast requirements. In addition, a customer's cancellation, delay or reduction of forecasts or orders can result in excess, surplus or obsolete inventory or additional expense to us. Engineering changes by a customer may result in obsolete materials or components. While we attempt to cancel, return or otherwise mitigate excess and obsolete inventory, require customers to reimburse us for these items, put up cash deposits and/or price our services to address related risks, we may not actually be reimbursed in a timely manner or in full, receive adequate cash deposits, be able to collect on these obligations, or fully protect against such risks in our pricing.

We also provide managed inventory programs for some of our customers under which we hold and manage inventories. These managed inventory programs may result in higher inventory levels, further reduce our inventory turns and increase our financial exposure with such customers. In addition, our inventory may be held at a customer's facility or warehouse, or elsewhere in a location outside of our control, which may increase the risk of loss. Even though our customers generally have contractual obligations to purchase such inventories from us, we remain subject to customers' credit risks as well as the risk of potential customer default and the need to enforce those obligations.

A change in the mix of customers and/or the types of products or services we provide could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results.

The mix of our customers and the type of products or services we provide may have an impact on our financial condition and operating results from period-to-period. For example, a higher concentration of lower-margin programs will have an adverse impact on our operating results in the relevant period. The mix of customers and the products we manufacture from period-to-period is also impacted by, among other things, the pace of technological change, the frequency of customers transferring business among EMS and/or ODM competitors, the constantly changing dynamics of the global economy, the impact of new program wins or program losses or non-renewals, overall demand variability, and limited visibility in technology end markets. See "*Our revenue and operating results may vary significantly from period to period.*" See Item 7, MD&A — "Recent Developments" for a discussion of the impact on our operating results of customer and service mix during 2024. In addition, certain customer agreements require us to provide specific price reductions over the contract term, which negatively impact our financial condition and operating results if they are not offset.

Challenges associated with new customers or programs, or the provision of new services, could adversely affect our operations and financial results.

In determining whether to pursue a potential new customer, program or service, we evaluate whether it fits with our value proposition as well as its potential end-market success. Where we proceed, our goal is to ensure that our terms of engagement appropriately reflect anticipated costs, risks and rewards. The failure to make prudent engagement decisions or to establish appropriate contractual terms could adversely affect our profitability and margins.

There are also risks associated with the timing and ultimate realization of anticipated revenue from a new program or service. Certain new programs or services require us to devote significant capital and personnel to new technologies and competencies. We may not meet customer expectations, which could damage our relationships with such customers and impact our ability to timely deliver conforming products or services. The success of new programs may also depend heavily on factors including product reliability, supply chain dynamics, market acceptance, regulatory approvals and/or economic conditions. Any failure to meet expectations on these factors could adversely affect our results of operations.

The addition of new customers has also introduced different demand cycles. For example, cloud-based service providers have increased their use of products in our CCS segment in recent years. These customers and markets are cyclically different from our traditional OEM customers, creating changes to our historical revenue patterns and increasing the complexity of the management of our working capital requirements.

Customer relationships with emerging companies may present more risks than with established companies.

Customer relationships with emerging companies present special risks because we do not have an extensive product or customer relationship history. There is less demonstration of market acceptance of their products making it harder for us to anticipate requirements than with established customers. Our credit risk on these customers, especially in A/R and inventories, and the risk that these customers will be unable to fulfill indemnification obligations to us, are potentially increased.

If we are unable to recruit or retain highly skilled talent, our business could be adversely affected.

The recruitment of personnel in the EMS and ODM industries is highly competitive. We believe that our future success depends, in part, on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled executive, technical and management talent in the various geographies in which we operate. Competitive dynamics, as well as the time required to replace or redistribute responsibilities related to the loss of the services of certain executive, management and technical employees, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on our operations, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to retain their services. Regional competitive dynamics may also impact our ability to retain and acquire talent. Organizational changes may impact our relationships with customers, vendors, and employees, potentially resulting in loss of business, loss of vendor relationships, and the loss of key employees or declines in employee productivity. Uncertainties associated with any senior management transitions could lead to concerns from current and potential third parties with whom we do business, any of which could hurt our business prospects. Turnover in key leadership positions within the Company, or any failure to successfully integrate key new hires or promoted employees, may adversely impact our ability to manage the Company efficiently and effectively, could be disruptive and distracting to management and may lead to additional departures of existing personnel, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial results and/or internal control over financial reporting.

Our revenue and operating results may vary significantly from period to period.

Our quarterly and annual results may vary significantly depending on various factors, certain of which are described below, and many of which are beyond our control:

- the volume and timing of customer demand relative to our capacity;
- the typical short lifecycle, and success in the marketplace, of our customers' products;
- the cyclical nature of customer demand in several of our businesses;
- customers' financial condition;
- changes to our mix of customers, programs and/or end market demand;
- how well we execute on our operational strategies, and the impact of changes to our business model;

- varying revenues and gross margins among geographies and programs for the products or services we provide;
- pricing pressures, the competitive environment and contract terms and conditions;
- upfront investments and challenges associated with the ramping of programs for new or existing customers;
- provisions or charges resulting from unexpected changes in market conditions impacting our industry or the end markets we serve;
- customer disengagements or terminations or non-renewal of customer programs, arrangements or agreements;
- the timing of expenditures in anticipation of future orders;
- our effectiveness in planning production and managing inventory, fixed assets and manufacturing processes;
- operational inefficiencies and disruptions in production at individual sites;
- unanticipated disruptions to our cash flows;
- changes in cost and availability of commodities, materials, components, services and labor;
- current or future litigation;
- governmental actions or changes in legislation;
- currency fluctuations; and
- changes in global economic and political conditions and world events, including the impact of External Events.

See Item 7, MD&A — "Overview" for a discussion of additional factors, including rapid shifts in technology, model obsolescence, commoditization of certain products, and the emergence of new business models, that contribute to the complexity of managing our operations and fluctuations in our financial results.

We may encounter difficulties expanding or consolidating our operations or introducing new competencies or new offerings, which could adversely affect our operating results.

As we expand our business, open new sites, enter into new markets, products and technologies, invest in research, design and development, acquire new businesses or capabilities, transfer business within our network, consolidate certain operations, and/or introduce new business models or programs, we may encounter difficulties that result in higher than expected costs associated with such activities. Potential difficulties related to such activities include our ability: to manage growth effectively; to maintain existing business relationships during periods of transition; to anticipate disruptions in our operations that may impact our ability to deliver to customers on time, produce quality products and ensure overall customer satisfaction; and to respond rapidly to changes in customer demand or volumes.

We may also encounter difficulties in ramping and executing new programs. Ramping new programs can range from several months to over a year before production starts, and often requires significant up-front investments and increased working capital. These programs may generate lower margins or losses during and/or following the ramp period, or may not achieve the expected financial performance, due to production ramp inefficiencies, lower than expected volume, or delays in ramping to volume. In addition, our customers may significantly change these programs, or even cancel them altogether, due to decreases in their end-market demand or in the actual or anticipated success of their products in the marketplace. We may incur additional ramping costs as we further expand our business and ramp new programs. There can be no assurance that our increased investments will benefit us or result in business growth. As we pursue opportunities in new markets or technologies, we may encounter challenges due to our limited knowledge or experience in these areas. In addition, the success of new business models or programs depends on a number of factors including: understanding the new business or markets; timely and successful product development; market acceptance; the effective management of purchase commitments and inventory levels in line with anticipated demand; the development or acquisition of appropriate IP and capital investments, to the extent required; the availability of materials in adequate quantities and at appropriate costs to meet anticipated demand; and the risk that new offerings may have quality or other defects in the early stages of introduction. Any of these factors could prevent us from realizing the anticipated benefits of growth in new markets or technologies, which could materially adversely affect our business and operating results.

As part of our strategy to enhance our end-to-end service offerings, we continue to expand our design, engineering and manufacturing capabilities. Providing these services has exposed and may continue to expose us to different or greater potential risks than those we currently face. Our design services require significant investments in R&D, technology licensing, testing and tooling equipment, patent applications and talent recruitment. Our margins may be adversely impacted if we incur higher

than expected investment costs, or if our customers are not satisfied with our progress, or do not approve our completed designs. In addition, our design activities often require the purchase of inventory for initial production runs before we have a firm purchase commitment from a customer. Furthermore, we face increased competition with respect to these offerings, as well as the recruitment of our HPS talent, from companies providing similar services. As we continue to grow our HPS business globally to increase capacities and capabilities for network resilience, costs required to support our design and engineering capabilities are expected to increase and may adversely impact our profitability. In addition, some of the products we design and develop must satisfy safety and regulatory standards and/or receive government certifications. If we fail to obtain these approvals or certifications on a timely basis, we would be unable to sell these products, which would harm our revenues, profitability and reputation.

There can be no assurance that our expansion into new markets or new business will be successful, or that we will achieve the anticipated benefits. In addition, there is no assurance that we will find suitable new acquisition targets, that we will be able to consummate any such transactions on terms and conditions acceptable to us, or that we will be able to fund any such acquisitions with existing cash resources or through financing provided by external lenders. We may be unable to obtain additional capital required on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to consummate an acquisition we have deemed desirable, we may not be able to implement our intended business plan, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, we have incurred and may continue to incur costs to support our pursuit of acquisitions and/or other strategic opportunities, which may adversely impact our operating results, and may not result in the consummation of any such transactions. See "We have incurred substantial third-party debt to fund acquisitions, which has increased our debt service requirements, may reduce our ability to fund future acquisitions and/or to respond to unexpected capital requirements, and may have other adverse impacts on our business."

We may encounter integration and other significant challenges with respect to our acquisitions and strategic transactions which could adversely affect our operating results.

We have expanded (and may continue to expand) our network, capabilities and presence in new regions and end markets through acquisitions and/or strategic transactions, including multi-year "operate-in-place" arrangements, where we manage certain production, assembly or other services for customers directly from their locations, acquire their inventory, equipment and/or other assets, hire their employees, and lease or acquire their manufacturing sites. Potential challenges related to these acquisitions and transactions include: integrating acquired operations, systems and businesses (which may include transferring production from acquired operations to our existing network, or downsizing or closing acquired locations, in each case to obtain anticipated operational synergies); meeting customers' expectations as to volume, product quality and timeliness; supporting legacy contractual obligations; retaining customer, supplier, employee or other business relationships of acquired operations; addressing unforeseen liabilities of acquired businesses; limited experience with new technologies and markets; failure to realize anticipated benefits, such as cost savings and revenue enhancements; failure to achieve anticipated business volumes or operating margins; valuation methodologies not accurately capturing the value of the acquired business; the effects of diverting management's attention from day-to-day operations to matters involving the integration of acquired businesses; incurring potentially substantial transaction costs associated with these transactions; increased burdens on our staff and on our administrative, internal control and operating systems, which may hinder our legal and regulatory compliance activities; overpayment for an acquisition; and potential impairments resulting from post-acquisition deterioration in, or reduced benefit from, an acquired business. While we often obtain indemnification rights from the sellers of acquired businesses, such rights may be difficult to enforce, the losses may exceed any dedicated escrow funds, and the indemnitors may not have the ability to financially support the indemnity. Any of these factors may prevent us from realizing the anticipated benefits of an acquisition, including additional revenue, operational synergies, and/or economies of scale. Any delay or failure to realize the anticipated benefits of acquisitions may adversely affect our business and operating results and may require us to write-down the carrying value of any related goodwill and intangible assets in periods subsequent to the acquisitions. Acquisitions may also involve businesses we are not familiar with, and expose us to additional business risks that are different than those we have traditionally experienced or anticipated at the time of acquisition.

Quality and execution issues may reduce demand for our services, damage our reputation, and/or have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

In any given quarter, we can experience quality and process variances related to materials, testing, or other manufacturing or supply chain activities. Although we are successful in resolving the majority of such issues, the existence of these variances could cause us to incur significant costs in relation to corrective actions, have a material adverse impact on the

demand for our services in future periods from any affected customers, damage our reputation, and/or have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

Our operations have been and could continue to be adversely affected by events outside our control.

Our operations and those of our customers, component suppliers and/or our logistics partners may be disrupted by global or local events outside our control, including: fires and related disruptions; political instability; increased political tension between countries (including increased tensions between U.S. and other countries and between mainland China and Taiwan); geopolitical dynamics; terrorism; armed conflict (including the Russia/Ukraine conflict and the Middle East Conflicts); labor or social unrest; criminal activity; disease or illness or other widespread health concerns, pandemics, epidemics or outbreaks of illness that affects local, regional, national or international economies; natural disasters and unusually adverse weather conditions (including those caused by climate change), such as hurricanes, tornados, other extreme storms, wildfires, droughts and floods; cybersecurity incidents (see "Our operations and our customer relationships may be adversely and materially affected by disruptions to our IT systems, including disruptions from cybersecurity breaches of our IT infrastructure"); and other risks present in the jurisdictions in which we, our customers, our suppliers and/or our logistics partners operate. These types of events could disrupt operations at one or more of our sites or those of our customers, component suppliers and/or our logistics partners, with the impact of the event potentially magnified in areas where we or they have multiple facilities in close proximity. These events could also lead to higher costs or supply shortages, and may disrupt the delivery of components to us or our ability to provide finished products or services to our customers, any of which could (and in the case of materials constraints, did in the past and may in the future) adversely affect our operating results materially. We carry insurance to cover damage to our sites and interruptions to our operations, including those that may occur as a result of natural disasters, such as flooding, earthquakes or other events. Our insurance policies, however, are subject to deductibles, coverage limitations and exclusions, and may not provide adequate (or any) coverage should such events occur. Such events could also impact our insurance premiums. In addition, some of our facilities possess certifications or unique equipment necessary to work on specialized products that our other locations lack. If work is disrupted at one of these facilities as a result of the foregoing events or otherwise, it may be impractical or we may be unable to transfer such specialized work to another facility without significant costs and delays. Thus, any disruption in operations at a facility possessing specialized certifications or equipment could adversely affect our ability to provide products and services to our customers, and potentially have a negative affect our relationships and financial results.

Increased international political volatility, including changes to previously accepted trade or other government policies or legislation in the U.S. and Europe, instability in parts of Europe and the Middle East, as well as the ongoing refugee crisis, anti-immigrant activities, social unrest and fears of terrorism, enhanced national security measures, armed conflicts (including the Russia/Ukraine conflict and the Middle East Conflicts), security issues at the U.S./Mexico border related to illegal immigration or criminal activities associated with illegal drug activities, labor or social unrest, strained international relations, including tensions between the U.S. and other countries, and any related decline in consumer confidence arising from these and other factors may materially hinder our ability to conduct business, or may reduce demand for our products or services. Any escalation in these events or similar future events may disrupt our operations or those of our customers and suppliers and could adversely affect the availability of materials needed to manufacture our products or further disrupt the means to transport those materials to manufacturing sites and finished products to customers. Changes in policies by the U.S. or other governments could negatively affect our operating results due to changes in duties, tariffs or taxes, or limitations on currency or fund transfers, as well as government-imposed restrictions on producing certain products in, or shipping them to, specific countries.

The foregoing events have had and may in the future have an adverse impact on the U.S. and global economy in general, and on consumer confidence and spending, which may adversely affect our revenue and financial results. Such events could increase the volatility of the market price of our securities and may limit the capital resources available to us and/or our customers and suppliers. Also see "We continue to operate in an uncertain global economic and political environment," "U.S. policies or legislation could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition," "Our ability to successfully manage unexpected changes or risks inherent in our global operations and supply chain may adversely impact our financial performance," "Geopolitical uncertainty, including as a result of the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine and/or the Middle East Conflicts, may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations," and Item 7, MD&A — "External Factors that May Impact our Business."

We rely on a variety of contracted or common carriers to transport raw materials and components from our suppliers to us, and to transport our products to our customers. The use of contracted or common carriers is subject to a number of risks, including increased costs due to rising energy prices and labor, vehicle and insurance costs; hijacking and theft resulting in lost

shipments; delivery delays resulting from port congestion and labor shortages and/or strikes; and other factors beyond our control. Although we attempt to mitigate our liability for any losses resulting from these risks through the use of multiple carriers and modes of transport, as well as insurance, any costs or losses relating to shipping or shipping delays that cannot be mitigated, avoided or passed on to our customers could reduce our profitability, require us to manufacture replacement products or damage our relationships with our customers. Although we have incurred some increased shipping expenses and delays as a result of the Middle East Conflicts, such increases and delays have not been significant to date. However, we cannot assure that this will continue to be the case.

Our operations and our customer relationships may be adversely and materially affected by disruptions to our IT systems, including disruptions from cybersecurity breaches of our IT infrastructure.

As a complex, global company, we are heavily dependent on our IT systems to support our customers' requirements and to successfully manage our business. Any inability to successfully manage the procurement, development, implementation, execution or maintenance of such systems, including matters related to system and data security, cybersecurity, privacy, reliability, compliance, performance and access, as well as any inability of these systems to fulfill their intended purpose, could have an adverse and material effect on our business.

We are increasingly reliant on IT networks and systems, including our own, those of third-party service providers and those of our customers (through "operate-in-place" arrangements), to process, transmit and store electronic information. In particular, we depend on our IT infrastructure for a variety of functions, including (among others), product manufacturing, worldwide financial reporting, inventory and other data management, procurement, invoicing, employee payroll and benefits administration, and email communications. All of these systems are susceptible to outages due to fire, floods, power loss, telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks, sabotage and similar events. These systems are also susceptible to cybersecurity threats and incidents, ranging from uncoordinated individual attempts to gain unauthorized access to our IT systems to sophisticated and targeted measures known as 'advanced persistent threats', and may include industrial espionage attacks, data theft, malware, phishing, ransomware attacks (which are becoming increasingly prevalent), or other cybersecurity threats or incidents. Similarly, third parties and infrastructure in our supply chain may become compromised or contain exploitable defects (of which we may be unaware) that could result in a breach or disruption of our systems and networks or the systems or networks of third parties that support us. Our ability to monitor these third parties' information security practices is limited, and these third parties may not have adequate information security measures in place. While we may be entitled to damages if our third-party service providers fail to satisfy their privacy or security-related obligations to us, any award may be insufficient to cover our damages, or we may be unable to recover such award. Moreover, supply chain attacks have increased in frequency and severity, and we cannot guarantee that third parties in our supply chain have not been compromised or that their systems or networks are free from exploitable defects or bugs that could result in a breach of or disruption to our platform, systems, and networks or the systems and networks of third parties that support us and our services. We are also reliant on third-party and open source software that may contain bugs, vulnerabilities, or errors that could be exploited or disclosed before a patch or fix is available. We believe attempts to gain unauthorized access through the Internet or to introduce malicious software to our information systems are increasing in number and in technical sophistication.

If our security measures are compromised, or the security, confidentiality, integrity or availability of, our IT, software, services, communications or data is compromised, limited or fails, it could result in: damage to our system infrastructure; significant business interruption, delays or outages, either internally or at our third-party providers; significant data loss or leakage (including exposure to unauthorized persons or the public of sensitive data, including our IP, trade secrets or personal information of our employees, customers or other business partners); significant extra expense to restore data or systems; reputational loss; significant fines, penalties and liability; breach or triggering of data protection laws, privacy policies and/or data protection obligations (discussed below); loss of customers or sales, and in the case of our defense business, debarment from future participation in U.S. government programs. In addition, we have in the past and may in the future be required to expend significant resources, change our business practices or modify our operations in an effort to protect against security breaches and to mitigate, detect, and remediate actual and potential vulnerabilities that could adversely affect our business and operations and/or result in the loss of critical or sensitive information. If we are perceived to be unable to prevent or promptly identify and remedy such outages and breaches, this could result in reputational loss and/or loss of customers or sales.

While we have invested, and continue to invest, in the protection of our data and IT infrastructure, we regularly face attempts by others to access our information systems in an unauthorized manner, to introduce malicious software to such systems or both, and while we have not been materially impacted by computer viruses, malware, ransomware, hacking incidents, outages, or unauthorized access to data, we have been (and may in the future be) the target of such events. In

addition, there can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent further service interruptions or identify breaches in our systems that could adversely affect our business and operations and/or result in the loss of critical or sensitive information, which could result in financial, legal, business or reputational harm to us (as described above). Although this has not been an issue to date, our liability insurance may not be sufficient in type or amount to cover us against claims related to security breaches, cybersecurity attacks and other related breaches.

We expect that risks and exposures related to cybersecurity attacks will remain high for the foreseeable future due to the rapidly evolving nature and sophistication of these threats, and the enhanced risk resulting from the increased number of employees that work remotely, through the increased use of home networks that may lack encryption or secure password protection, virtual meeting/conference security concerns and increase of phishing/cyber-attacks around digital resources.

We are also subject to increasing expectations and data security requirements from our customers, including those related to the U.S. Federal Acquisition Regulation, U.S. Defense Federal Acquisition Regulation Supplement, and U.S. Cybersecurity Maturity Model Certification. In addition, we must comply with increasingly complex and rigorous regulatory standards enacted to protect business and personal data in various jurisdictions. For example, the European Union's General Data Protection Regulation, and similar legislation in other jurisdictions in which we operate, impose additional obligations on companies regarding the handling of personal data and provide certain individual privacy rights to persons whose data is stored. Compliance with customer expectations and existing, proposed and recently enacted laws and regulations can be costly; any failure to comply with these expectations and regulatory standards could subject us to legal and reputational risks. Misuse of or failure to secure personal information could also result in violation of data privacy laws and regulations, proceedings against the Company by governmental entities or others, fines and penalties, damage to our reputation and credibility and could have a negative impact on our business and results of operations.

Our business is dependent on us winning competitive bid selection processes.

These selection processes are typically lengthy and can require us to dedicate significant development expenditures and engineering resources in pursuit of a single customer opportunity. Failure to obtain a particular design win may prevent us from obtaining design wins in subsequent generations of a particular product. This can result in lost revenue and could weaken our position in future competitive bid selection processes.

Changes to our operating model may adversely affect our business.

We continuously work to improve our productivity, quality, delivery performance and flexibility through various operational initiatives. Implementation of these initiatives, however, presents a number of risks, including: (i) failure to achieve anticipated margin improvements from such actions; (ii) actual or perceived disruption of service or reduction in service levels to customers; (iii) potential adverse effects on our internal control environment with respect to general and administrative functions during transitions resulting from such initiatives; (iv) actual or perceived disruption to suppliers, distribution networks and other important operational relationships and the inability to resolve potential conflicts in a timely manner; (v) diversion of management attention from ongoing business activities and strategic objectives; and (vi) failure to retain key employees. Because of these and other factors, we cannot predict whether we will fully realize the purpose and anticipated benefits or cost savings of these initiatives and, if we do not, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected. Furthermore, adverse changes to our business may require additional restructuring or reorganization activities in the future. See "We have incurred significant restructuring charges in the past, and expect to incur further restructuring charges in the future; we may not achieve some or all of the expected benefits from our restructuring activities, these activities may adversely affect our business, and additional restructuring actions may be required once currently-contemplated actions are complete."

Issues in the development and use of AI may result in reputational harm or liability.

We incorporate AI capabilities into certain of our development processes, and this technology is an element of our business operations. AI is also an element of the business operations and product and service offerings for certain of our customers. As with many developing technologies, AI presents risks and challenges, and may result in unintended consequences that could affect its further development, adoption and use and, therefore, our business. Deficiencies or other failures of AI systems could subject us to competitive harm, regulatory action, penalties, legal liability or brand or reputational harm. AI is an emerging technology for which the legal and regulatory landscape is not fully developed, including potential liability for breaching IP or privacy regulations. While laws and regulations applicable to AI are emerging and evolving, what these legal frameworks will look like remains uncertain and they may be inconsistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. We may not always

be able to anticipate how to respond to these legal frameworks, and our obligation to comply with them could entail significant costs, negatively affect our business or materially limit our ability to incorporate certain AI capabilities into our development processes and solutions.

Additionally, leveraging AI capabilities to potentially improve internal functions and operations presents further risks, costs and challenges. We aim to use AI ethically and attempt to identify and mitigate ethical or legal issues presented by its use. However, we may be unsuccessful in identifying or resolving ethical or legal issues presented by the use of AI. The use of AI to support business operations may carry inherent risks related to data privacy and security, such as intended or unintended transmission of personal or other data or proprietary or sensitive information, as well as challenges related to implementing and maintaining AI tools. Growing use of AI by third parties may also increase these risks. Further, reliance on AI could introduce operational vulnerabilities and impact our relationships with customers, partners, and suppliers.

Our business could be impacted as a result of actions by activist shareholders or others.

We may be subject, from time to time, to legal and business challenges in the operation of our company due to actions instituted by activist shareholders or others. Responding to such actions could be costly and time-consuming, may not align with our business strategies and could divert the attention of our Board and senior management from the pursuit of our business strategies. Perceived uncertainties as to our future direction as a result of shareholder activism may lead to the perception of a change in the direction of the business or other instability and may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and business partners and may affect our relationships with vendors, customers and other third parties.

Climate change could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

There is increasing concern that a gradual increase in global average temperatures due to increased concentration of carbon dioxide and other GHGs in the atmosphere has, and will continue to, cause significant changes in weather patterns around the globe and an increase in the frequency and severity of natural disasters. Changes in weather patterns and an increased frequency, intensity and duration of extreme weather conditions could, among other things, impair our production capabilities, disrupt the operation of our supply chain, and impact our customers and their demand for our services. There are inherent climate-related risks regardless of where we conduct our business. Climate change-related weather events could negatively impact any of our locations or the locations of our customers, and may cause us to experience work stoppages, project delays, financial losses and/or additional costs to resume operations, including increased insurance costs or loss of coverage, legal liability and reputational losses. Further, the risks caused by climate change span across the industry sectors we serve, including A&D, Industrial, HealthTech, Capital Equipment, Communications and Enterprise. The direct physical risks that climate change poses to infrastructure through chronic environmental changes, such as rising sea levels and temperatures, and acute events, such as hurricanes, droughts and wildfires, is common to each of these sectors. Infrastructure owners could face increased costs to maintain their assets, which could result in reduced profitability and fewer resources for strategic investment. These types of physical risks could in turn lead to transitional risks, including market and technology shifts, including decreased demand for our services and solutions, reputational risks, such as how our sustainability practices are viewed by external and internal stakeholders, and policy and legal risks, including the extent to which climate change-related initiatives are driven by the governments in which we operate around the globe. As a result, the effects of climate change could have a long-term material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition. See "Our operations have been and could continue to be adversely affected by events outside our control," and "Our business and operations could be adversely impacted by ESG initiatives."

Risks Related to Our Industry

The semiconductor industry is cyclical and volatile in nature.

The semiconductor industry is highly cyclical and from time to time experiences significant economic downturns, often in connection with, or in anticipation of, maturing product cycles or a decline in general economic conditions. These downturns are characterized by diminished product demand, lower volumes and rapid erosion of average selling prices, resulting in revenue erosion, production overcapacity, and excess inventories. The timing, length and volatility of these cycles are difficult to predict. The quick onset of demand changes, as well as the high level of fixed costs associated with this business, exacerbate the adverse impact of these downturns on our operating results. Actions taken to reduce our costs may be insufficient to align our structure with prevailing business conditions, and we may be unable to invest in R&D and engineering at the levels we believe are necessary to maintain our competitive position. On the other hand, in the event of a significant upturn, we may

not be able to expand our workforce and operations in a sufficiently timely manner, procure adequate resources and raw materials, or locate suitable third-party suppliers to respond effectively to changes in demand for our existing products or to the demand for new products requested by our customers. Any of the foregoing may adversely affect our margins, cash flow, and our ability to grow our revenue, and may increase the variability of our operating results from period to period.

We operate in an industry comprised of numerous competitors and aggressive pricing dynamics.

We operate in a highly competitive industry. Our competitors include large global EMS companies, ODMs that specialize in providing internally-designed products and manufacturing services, smaller EMS companies that often have a regional, product, service or industry-specific focus, as well as component and sub-system suppliers, distributors and/or systems integrators. In addition, our HPS offering may compete with our traditional customers' hardware offerings. Offering products or services that compete with the offerings of our customers may negatively impact our relationship with, or result in a loss of business from, such customers. We face indirect competition from current and prospective customers who decide to manufacture products internally, or insource previously outsourced business. In addition to the foregoing, we face competition from distribution and logistics providers expanding their services across the supply chain.

The competitive environment in our industry is intense and aggressive pricing is a common business dynamic. Some of our competitors have greater scale and offer a broader range of services. Additionally, our current and/or future competitors may: be more effective than we are in increasing or shifting their presence in new lower-cost, lower-tariff or tariff-free regions to try to offset continuous competitive pressure and increasing labor costs or to secure new business; develop or acquire services comparable or superior to ours; consolidate to form larger competitors; have greater name recognition, critical mass and/or geographic market presence; have greater manufacturing, R&D and/or marketing resources; be better able to take advantage of acquisition opportunities; be willing to, or able to make sales or provide services at lower margins than we do; or adapt more quickly than we do to new technologies, evolving industry trends and changing customer requirements. In addition, our competitors may be more effective than we are in investing in IT solutions to differentiate their offerings. Some of our competitors have increased their vertical capabilities by manufacturing modules or components used in the products they assemble. Although we have also expanded our capabilities, including through acquisitions and "operate-in-place" arrangements, our competitors' expansion efforts may be more successful than ours. Competition may cause pricing pressures, reduced profits or a loss of market share (for example, from program losses, non-renewals or customer disengagements). We may not be able to compete successfully against our current and/or future competitors.

We may not keep pace with rapidly evolving technology.

Many of the markets for our manufacturing and engineering services are characterized by rapidly changing technology and evolving process development, and we cannot assure that we will maintain or develop the capabilities required by our customers in the future. The emergence of new technologies, industry standards or customer requirements may render our equipment, designs, inventory or processes obsolete or noncompetitive. In addition, we may have to invest in new processes, capabilities or equipment to support new technologies used in our customers' current or future products, and to support their supply chain processes. Additionally, as we expand our service offerings or pursue business in new markets where our experience may be limited, we may be less effective in adapting to technological change. Our manufacturing, engineering, supply chain processes, and test development efforts and design capabilities may not be successful due to rapid technological shifts in any of these areas. The acquisition and implementation of new technologies and equipment and the offering of new or additional services to our customers may require significant expense or capital investment, which could reduce our operating margins and our operating results. Our failure to anticipate and adapt to our customers' changing technological needs and requirements or to hire and retain a sufficient number of engineers and maintain our engineering, technological and manufacturing expertise could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

Various industry-specific standards, qualifications and certifications are required to produce certain types of products for our customers. Failure to obtain or maintain those certifications may adversely affect our ability to maintain existing levels of business or win new business.

Risks Related to the International Nature of our Business

We continue to operate in an uncertain global economic and political environment.

Concerns over global economic conditions, financial markets, geopolitical issues, energy costs, inflation, and the availability and cost of credit, have contributed to increased global economic and political uncertainty. The political environment in the U.S., tensions between the U.S. and other countries, the continuing Russia/Ukraine conflict, Middle East Conflicts, and increased tensions between mainland China and Taiwan, have contributed to such uncertainty. All of the foregoing factors are outside of our control. See "Our operations have been and could continue to be adversely affected by events outside our control," "U.S. policies or legislation could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition," and "Geopolitical uncertainty, including as a result of the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine and/or the Middle East Conflicts, may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations." Uncertain global economies have adversely impacted, and may continue to unpredictably impact, currency exchange rates. See "We are exposed to translation and transaction risks associated with foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; hedging instruments may not be effective in mitigating such risks." Financial market instability may result in lower returns on our financial investments, and lower values on some of our assets.

Our operating costs have increased, and may continue to increase, as a result of the growth in inflation in recent years. Although we have been successful in offsetting the majority of our increased costs with increased pricing for our products and services to date, unrecovered increased operating costs in future periods would adversely impact our margins. We cannot predict future trends in the rate of inflation or other negative economic factors or associated increases.

In the event of a further economic slowdown or recession, we may experience declines in revenues, profitability and cash flows from lower customer demand, including as a result of payment delays to, collection difficulties by, and increased pricing pressures and other factors caused by the impact of adverse economic conditions on, our customers. Adverse conditions in the financial and credit markets, lower consumer confidence and spending, inflation, higher labor, healthcare, and insurance costs, fluctuating fuel and commodities costs and their effects on the U.S. and global economies and markets are all examples of negative factors which could cause customers to delay or forgo use of our services. These economic conditions may also reduce our customers' operating budgets or ability to commit funds to purchase our solutions or renew their existing contracts with us. If an economic recession is followed by a slow and relatively weak recovery, the effects from a broadening or protracted extension of these negative economic conditions on our customers could have a significant adverse effect on our revenues, cash flows and results of operations.

General uncertainty surrounding the global economic environment and geopolitical outlook may impact current and future demand for some of the products we manufacture or services we provide, the financial condition of our customers and/or suppliers, as well as the number and pace of customer consolidations. If any of the foregoing impacts the financial condition of our customers, they may delay payments to us or request extended payment terms, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and working capital. If any of the foregoing impacts the financial condition of our suppliers, this may have an adverse effect on our operations, financial condition and/or customer relationships. We cannot predict the precise nature, extent, or duration of these economic or political conditions or if they will have any impact on our financial results. A deterioration in the economic environment may exacerbate the effect of the various risk factors described in this Annual Report and could result in other unforeseen events that may adversely impact our business and financial condition.

A decline in the U.S. and other government budgets, changes in spending or budgetary priorities, or delays in contract awards may significantly and adversely affect our future revenue and limit our growth prospects.

Because we generate a portion of our revenue from contracts with the U.S. government and government agencies, our results of operations could be adversely affected by relevant spending caps or changes in budgetary priorities, as well as by delays in the budget process, program starts, or the award of contracts or orders. U.S. government spending levels for defense-related and other programs may decrease or fluctuate in future periods, including as a result of budgetary constraints, spending cuts, and/or uncertain funding of programs. Spending and program authorizations may not increase or may decrease or shift to programs in areas in which we do not provide services or are less likely to be awarded contracts. Such changes in spending authorizations and budgetary priorities may occur as a result of shifts in spending priorities from defense-related and other programs as a result of competing demands for federal funds and the number and intensity of military conflicts or other factors. A significant decline in overall U.S. government spending, a significant shift in spending priorities, the substantial reduction or

elimination of particular defense-related programs, or significant budget-related delays in contract or task order awards for large programs could adversely affect our future revenue and limit our growth prospects.

Geopolitical uncertainty, including as a result of the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine and/or the Middle East Conflicts, may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Russia/Ukraine conflict, the Middle East Conflicts, other hostilities or armed conflicts, or any related interruption or curtailment of trade or transport among the countries where our and our customers' facilities are located, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, political, economic and military instability in these or other regions could lead to an increase in cyberattacks and disruptions and instability in global markets (including increases in inflation rates, increases in energy prices and adverse effects on currency exchange rates and financial markets), supply chains and industries that could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. Although the impact of the Russia/Ukraine conflict and the Middle East Conflicts on our supply chain has not been significant to date, we cannot assure that this will continue to be the case. It is not possible to predict the long-term implications of these or other conflicts. Further, tensions between mainland China and Taiwan have escalated in recent periods. Geopolitical changes in China-Taiwan relations, or conflict between China and Taiwan could disrupt our supply chain for semiconductors and other electronic components or the operations of our suppliers, limit access to key ports, and/or result in potential international sanctions, any of which could adversely affect our results of operations or increase our costs. Any such disruptions may also magnify the impact of other risks described in this "Risk Factors" section.

We are exposed to translation and transaction risks associated with foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; hedging instruments may not be effective in mitigating such risks.

Global currency markets can be volatile. Although we conduct the majority of our business in U.S. dollars, our global operations subject us to translation and transaction risks associated with fluctuations in currency exchange rates that could have a material adverse impact on our operating results and/or financial condition. A significant portion of our operational costs (including payroll, pensions, site costs, costs of locally sourced supplies and inventory, and income taxes) are denominated in various currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may significantly increase the amount of translated U.S. dollars required for costs incurred in other currencies or significantly decrease the U.S. dollars received from non-U.S. dollar revenues.

Although our functional currency is the U.S. dollar, currency risk on our income tax expense arises as we are generally required to file our tax returns in the local currency for each particular country in which we have operations. A weakening of the local currency against the U.S. dollar could have a negative impact on our income taxes payable (related to increased local-currency taxable profits) and on our deferred tax costs (primarily related to the revaluation of non-monetary foreign assets from historical average exchange rates to the period-end exchange rates). See note 19 to the 2024 AFS included herein. While our hedging program is designed to mitigate currency risk vis-à-vis the U.S. dollar, we remain subject to taxable foreign exchange impacts in our translated local currency financial results relevant for tax reporting purposes.

As part of our risk management program, we enter into foreign currency forward and swap contracts to lock in the exchange rates for future foreign currency transactions, which is intended to reduce the foreign currency risk related to our operating costs and future cash flows denominated in local currencies. While these contracts are intended to reduce the effects of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, our hedging strategy does not mitigate the longer-term impacts of changes to foreign exchange rates. In addition, these instruments are subject to transaction costs, credit requirements and counterparty risk. If our hedging program is not successful, or if we change our hedging activities in the future, we may experience significant unexpected expenses from fluctuations in exchange rates.

Our financial results have been adversely impacted by negative foreign currency translation effects, and such adverse effects, some of which may be substantial, may recur in the future.

Our ability to successfully manage unexpected changes or risks inherent in our global operations and supply chain may adversely impact our financial performance.

We have sites in the following countries: Canada, the U.S., China, Ireland, Japan, Laos, Malaysia, Mexico, Romania, Singapore, South Korea, Spain, Indonesia, India and Thailand. During 2024, approximately 80% of our revenue was produced

at locations outside of North America. We also purchase the majority of our components and materials from international suppliers.

Global operations are subject to inherent risks which may adversely affect us, including:

- changes in local tax rates and tax incentives and the adverse tax consequences of repatriating earnings;
- labor unrest and differences in regulations and statutes governing employee relations, including increased scrutiny of labor practices within our industry;
- cultural differences and/or differences in local business customs;
- negative impacts, or ineffectiveness, of our restructuring activities;
- changes in regulatory requirements;
- inflationary trends and rising costs;
- changes in international political relations;
- difficulty in staffing (including skilled labor availability and cost) and managing foreign operations;
- challenges in building and maintaining infrastructure to support operations;
- compliance with a variety of foreign laws, including import and export tariffs and regulations;
- adverse changes in trade policies and/or agreements between countries in which we maintain operations (including the potential tariffs implemented by U.S. government and retaliatory tariffs from and other actions by those affected countries or parties);
- limitations on imports or exports of components or products, or other trade sanctions;
- changes in logistics costs;
- changes in the availability, lead time, and cost of components and materials;
- weaker laws protecting IP rights and/or greater difficulty enforcing such rights;
- global economic, political and/or social instability, including armed conflict and military actions (including the Russia/Ukraine conflict and the Middle East Conflicts), protectionism and reactive countermeasures, economic or other sanctions or trade barriers;
- potential restrictions on the transfer of funds and/or other restrictive actions by foreign governments;
- the effects of terrorist activity;
- natural disasters, fires and widespread health concerns, pandemics, epidemics or outbreaks of illness); and
- global currency fluctuations.

Any of these risks could disrupt the supply of our components or materials, slow or stop our production, and/or increase our costs. Although we have incurred some increased shipping expenses and delays as a result of the Middle East Conflicts, such increases and delays have not been significant to date. However, there can be no assurance that this will continue to be the case. Compliance with trade and foreign tax laws may increase our costs and actual or alleged violations of such laws could result in enforcement actions or financial penalties that could result in substantial costs. Furthermore, U.S. export control laws and economic sanctions prohibit the shipment of certain products to U.S. embargoed or sanctioned countries, governments, and persons. Even though we take precautions to ensure that our channel partners comply with all relevant regulations, any failure by our channel partners to comply with such regulations could have negative consequences for us, including reputational harm, government investigations, and penalties. In addition, the introduction or expansion of certain social programs in foreign jurisdictions may increase our costs, and certain supplier's costs, of doing business.

In particular, a portion of our manufacturing, design, support and storage operations are conducted in our facilities in China. Revenues associated with our China operations account for 5% of total revenue in 2024 (2023 — 7%; 2022 — 11%). Therefore, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by economic, political, legal, regulatory, competitive and other factors in China. The Chinese economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects, including the level of government involvement and control over economic growth. In addition, our operations in China are governed by Chinese laws, rules and regulations, some of which are relatively new. The Chinese legal system continues to rapidly evolve, which may result in uncertainties with respect to the interpretation and enforcement of Chinese laws, rules and regulations that could have a material adverse effect on our business. China experiences high turnover of direct labor in the manufacturing sector, and engineers in our design centers, due to the intensely competitive and fluid market for labor, and the retention of adequate labor is a challenge. If our labor turnover rates are higher than we expect, or we otherwise fail to adequately manage our labor needs, then our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. We are also subject to risks associated with our subsidiaries organized in China. For example, regulatory and registration

requirements and government approvals affect the financing that we can provide to our subsidiaries. If we fail to receive required registrations and approvals to fund our subsidiaries organized in China, or if our ability to remit currency out of China is limited, then our business and liquidity could be adversely affected.

In addition, international trade disputes with China have resulted in increased tariffs and other measures that have, and may continue to, adversely affect the Company's business. U.S. technology export controls with respect to China (which are intended, in part, to restrict China's ability to obtain advanced computing chips, develop and maintain supercomputers, and manufacture advanced semiconductors) have adversely impacted our Capital Equipment business and our CCS segment. More generally, changes to, among other things, laws or policies in the U.S. regarding foreign trade, import/export duties and controls, tariffs or taxes, manufacturing and/or investments, or other events outside of our control, could materially adversely affect our U.S. and foreign operations. See "U.S. policies or legislation could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition," "Our operations have been and could continue to be adversely affected by events outside our control," and Item 7, MD&A — "External Factors that May Impact our Business."

Regulation of AI/ML technology may materially and adversely impact our business.

In recent periods, growth in the advancement and commercialization of AI/ML technology has resulted in high levels of capital expenditure investments by our hyperscaler customers, and corresponding demand increases for AI/ML compute products in our CCS segment. However, the regulatory landscape for AI/ML technology is evolving rapidly. The U.S. federal government, as well as several U.S. states and foreign governmental bodies and agencies have enacted, proposed, or are considering new laws and regulations with respect to the development and use of this technology. Additionally, existing laws and regulations may be interpreted to have similar impact. Unfavorable regulatory developments may increase our hyperscaler customers' R&D and compliance costs and/or limit their use of such technology, which may result in a significant or material decrease in their capital expenditure investments in this area. This would in turn adversely impact demand for our AI/ML compute products, negatively impact our long-term growth expectations with respect to hyperscaler demand, and/or may have a material adverse effect on our business, operations or financial condition.

Financial Risks

We are subject to interest rate fluctuations.

Borrowings under our credit agreement generally bear interest at a floating rate, plus a margin. These borrowings expose us to interest rate risks due to fluctuations in these rates and margins, and our interest rate swap agreements only apply to a portion of the total borrowings under our term loans. Significant interest rate fluctuations may adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. Also see "We have entered into the TRS Agreement in respect of our Common Shares, which exposes us to certain risks, including Common Shares price decrease risk, counterparty risk and interest rate risk, any of which could adversely affect our financial condition and/or financial results."

Volatility in commodity prices may negatively impact our operating results.

We rely on various energy sources in our production and transportation activities. Increases in prices for energy and other commodities have resulted in, and may result in further increased raw material and component costs and transportation costs. Any increase in our costs that we are unable to recover in our pricing to our customers would negatively impact our margins and operating results.

Our results may be negatively affected by rising labor costs.

There is some uncertainty with respect to the pace of rising labor costs (including minimum wage increases that are government-mandated from time to time), and increasing competition for specific talent/resources in various regions in which we operate. Any increase in labor costs that we are unable to recover in our pricing to our customers would negatively impact our margins and operating results.

Deterioration in financial markets or in the macro-economic environment may adversely affect our ability to raise funds or increase the cost of raising funds.

Our ability to borrow or raise capital, or refinance or increase our third-party indebtedness may be impacted if financial markets are unstable. Disruptions in the capital and credit markets could adversely affect our ability to draw on our revolver (or any successor or additional facility), or our ability to sell desired amounts of A/R under our A/R sales program or customer supplier financing programs. Our access to funds under our credit facility (or any successor or additional facility) will be dependent on the ability of our senior lenders to meet their funding commitments. They may not be able to meet their funding commitments to us if they experience shortages of capital and liquidity or if they experience excessive volumes of borrowing requests from us and other borrowers within a short period of time. Longer term disruptions in the capital and credit markets as a result of uncertainty, changing or increased regulation, reduced alternatives, or failures of significant financial institutions could adversely affect our access to liquidity needed for our business. Any disruption could require us to take measures to conserve cash until the markets stabilize or until alternative credit arrangements or other funding sources can be arranged. Such measures could include deferring capital expenditures and reducing or eliminating discretionary uses of cash.

We are subject to financial and reputational risk due to non-performance by counterparties.

A failure by counterparties, including customers, suppliers, financial institutions (including the issuers of our purchased annuities and the counterparty to our TRS Agreement), or other third parties with whom we conduct business, to fulfill their contractual obligations, may result in financial loss to us and may have adverse effects on our business.

If a key supplier, or any company within such supplier's supply chain, experiences financial or other difficulties, such difficulties may affect their ability to supply us with materials, components or services, which could halt or delay the production of a customer's products, and/or have a material adverse impact on our operations, financial results, and customer relationships. In addition, our ability to collect outstanding A/R depends, in part, on the financial strength of our customers. See Item 7, MD&A — "External Factors that May Impact our Business" for further detail. At December 31, 2024, we had one customer (in our CCS segment) that individually represented 10% or more of total A/R (December 31, 2023— two customers, one in our CCS segment and one in our ATS segment). If a customer bankruptcy occurs, our profitability may be adversely impacted if affected A/R are in excess of our allowance for credit losses. Additionally, our future revenues could be adversely impacted by a customer bankruptcy. Inability to collect A/R and/or the loss of one or more major customers could adversely impact our operating results, financial position and cash flows. We cannot reasonably determine the extent to which a customer or supplier may have financial difficulties, or whether we will be required to adjust customer pricing, payment terms and/or the amounts we pay to suppliers for materials and components.

To mitigate the actuarial and investment risks of our defined benefit pension plans, we purchase annuities (using existing plan assets) from time to time from third party insurance companies for certain, or all, of our obligations under specified pension plans. Failure by the insurance companies to fulfill their contractual obligations would result in a significant financial loss to us, as we retain ultimate responsibility for the payment of benefits to plan participants unless and until such pension plans are wound-up.

We may use cash on hand, issue debt or equity securities, and/or incur additional third-party debt (or any combination thereof) to complete future acquisitions or otherwise fund our operations, which may adversely affect our liquidity, credit ratings, financial condition and/or results of operations.

Any significant use of cash (for future acquisitions or otherwise) would adversely impact our cash position and liquidity. In addition, we may choose to issue debt securities or otherwise incur additional debt to fund future acquisitions or otherwise fund our operations. Any additional incurrence of debt (either through the issuance of debt securities or through a new or refinanced credit facility) would increase our debt leverage and debt service requirements (necessitating the use of additional cash flow for this purpose), may reduce our debt agency ratings, may further adversely impact our ability to fund future acquisitions and/or respond to unexpected capital requirements, may impose additional restrictions on our operations, and may have a variety of additional adverse effects, including, but not limited to, those described in "We have incurred substantial third-party debt to fund acquisitions, which has increased our debt service requirements, may reduce our ability to fund future acquisitions and/or to respond to unexpected capital requirements, and may have other adverse impacts on our business." To the extent we sell equity or convertible debt securities, the issuance of these securities (the pricing of which would be subject to market conditions at the time of issuance) could result in material dilution to our stockholders. Sales of our equity securities or convertible debt, or the perception that these sales could occur, could also cause the market price for our

Common Shares to fall, and new securities could have rights, preferences and privileges senior to the holders of our Common Shares.

We have incurred substantial third-party debt to fund acquisitions, which has increased our debt service requirements, may reduce our ability to fund future acquisitions and/or to respond to unexpected capital requirements, and may have other adverse impacts on our business.

Our outstanding indebtedness, together with the mandatory prepayment provisions of our credit facility, require us to dedicate a portion of our cash flow to make interest and principal payments on such indebtedness, thereby limiting the availability of our cash flow for other purposes, and may reduce our ability to fund future acquisitions and/or to respond to unexpected capital requirements. Such indebtedness (which may increase if we are unable to sell desired amounts under our uncommitted A/R sales program or supplier financing programs) may also: require us to pursue additional term financing for potential investments, which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all; limit our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, business activities, and other general corporate requirements; limit our ability to refinance our indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all; limit our flexibility to plan for and adjust to changing business and market conditions; and increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions. In addition, such indebtedness could have a variety of other adverse effects, including: (i) default and foreclosure on our assets if we have insufficient funds to repay the debt obligations; (ii) acceleration of such indebtedness or cross-defaults if we breach financial or other covenants under applicable debt agreements and such breaches are not waived; (iii) increased vulnerability to adverse changes in competitive conditions or government regulation; (iv) other disadvantages compared to our competitors who have less debt; and (v) negatively impact on our credit ratings (see "Our credit rating may be downgraded"). Our credit facility also limits share repurchases for cancellation if our consolidated secured leverage ratio (as defined in such facility) exceeds a specified amount.

We are subject to the risk of increasing income and other taxes, tax audits and the challenges of successfully defending our tax positions, and obtaining, renewing or meeting the conditions of tax incentives and credits, any of which may adversely affect our financial performance.

We conduct business operations in a number of countries where tax incentives have been extended to encourage foreign investment or where income tax rates are low. Our income tax expense could increase significantly if certain tax incentives from which we benefit are retracted. A retraction could occur if we fail to satisfy the conditions on which these tax incentives are based, or if they are not renewed or replaced upon expiration. Our income tax expense could also increase if tax rates applicable to us in such jurisdictions are otherwise increased, or due to changes in legislation or administrative practices. Changes in our outlook in any particular country could impact our ability to meet the required conditions. See Item 7, MD&A — "Operating Results — *Income taxes*" and note 18 and 21 to the 2024 AFS included herein for a discussion of our existing tax incentives, and challenges to our Romanian and Thailand tax positions.

We develop our tax filing positions based upon the anticipated nature and structure of our business and the tax laws, administrative practices and judicial decisions currently in effect in the jurisdictions in which we have assets or conduct business, all of which are subject to change or differing interpretations, some of which with retroactive effect (e.g., Canada's Pillar Two legislation). In addition, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development continues to issue guidelines and proposals related to Base Erosion and Profit Shifting which may result in further legislative changes that could reshape international tax rules in numerous countries and negatively impact our effective tax rate. We cannot predict the outcome or timing of any specific legislative proposals or initiatives, and we cannot provide assurance that any such legislation or initiative will not apply to us. In addition, we cannot assure that operational adjustments will be sufficient to mitigate the impact of such legislation, in part or at all. Legislation or other changes in U.S. and/or international tax laws could increase our tax liability or adversely affect our overall profitability and results of operations.

Certain of our subsidiaries provide financing or products and services to, and may from time to time undertake certain significant transactions with, other subsidiaries in different jurisdictions. Moreover, several jurisdictions in which we operate have tax laws with detailed transfer pricing rules which require that all transactions with non-resident related parties be priced using arm's-length pricing principles, and that contemporaneous documentation must exist to support such pricing.

We are subject to tax audits in various jurisdictions, which could result in additional tax expense in future periods related to prior results. Any such increase in our income tax expense and related interest and/or penalties could have a significant adverse impact on our future earnings and future cash flows. The successful pursuit of assertions made by any tax authority could result in our owing significant amounts of tax, interest, and possibly penalties. We believe we adequately accrue

for any probable potential adverse tax ruling. However, there can be no assurance as to the final resolution of any claims and any resulting proceedings. If any claims and any ensuing proceedings are determined adversely to us, the amounts we may be required to pay could be material, and in excess of amounts accrued.

At December 31, 2024, a significant portion of our cash and cash equivalents was held by foreign subsidiaries outside of Canada, a large part of which may be subject to withholding taxes upon repatriation under current tax laws. We repatriated in 2024, and currently expect to repatriate in the foreseeable future, an aggregate of approximately \$500 million from various foreign subsidiaries (2023 — approximately \$480 million).

We have incurred significant restructuring charges in the past, and expect to incur further restructuring charges in the future; we may not achieve some or all of the expected benefits from our restructuring activities, these activities may adversely affect our business, and additional restructuring actions may be required once currently-contemplated actions are complete.

Implementation of our restructuring activities may be costly and disruptive to our business, and we may not achieve the cost savings and benefits anticipated from such activities. We may not be able to retain or expand existing business due to execution issues relating to anticipated headcount reductions, plant closures or product/service transfers, and we may incur higher operating expenses during the periods of transition. Additionally, restructuring actions may result in a loss of continuity and accumulated knowledge in our workforce and related operational inefficiencies, as well as negative publicity. Headcount reductions can also have a negative impact on morale and our ability to attract and hire new qualified personnel in the future. Our restructuring activities require a significant amount of management and other employees' time and focus, which may divert attention from operating and growing our business. Any failure to achieve some or all of the expected benefits of our restructuring activities, including any delay in implementing planned related restructuring actions, may have a material adverse effect on our competitive position and operating results. In addition, we may implement additional future restructuring actions or divestitures as a result of changes in our business, the marketplace and/or our exit from less profitable, under-performing, non-core or non-strategic operations.

We have incurred impairment charges and operating losses in certain of our businesses, and may incur such charges and losses in future periods.

We record impairment charges when we determine that the carrying amount of long-lived assets or goodwill may not be recoverable. We may record charges to accelerate the depreciation of specified assets in connection with our restructuring actions. Determining the fair value of long-lived assets or reporting units, including goodwill, is subjective and requires management to exercise significant judgment in estimating future growth, profitability, discount and terminal growth rates, and in projecting future cash flows, among other factors, including the impact of market conditions on management's assumptions. Future events and changing market conditions may impact our assumptions as to prices, costs, or other factors that may result in changes to our estimates of future cash flows, which may in turn result in impairment charges, which could be substantial and adversely affect our financial results. Factors that might reduce the fair value of these assets below their respective carrying values include declines in our stock price and market capitalization, reduced future cash flow estimates, slower growth rates, or significant operating losses in any of our businesses. Sustained market price decreases, demand softness, and/or failure to realize future revenue at an appropriate profit margin in any reporting units could negatively impact our operating results, including the incurrence of restructuring charges and/or impairment losses for such reporting units or operating losses for the relevant business. Similar risks apply to assessing the recoverability of our deferred tax assets.

We may not be able to prevent or detect all errors or fraud.

Due to the inherent limitations of internal control systems, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected in a timely manner or at all. Accordingly, we cannot provide absolute assurance that all control issues, errors or instances of fraud, if any, impacting us have been or will be prevented or detected. In addition, over time, certain aspects of a control system may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate, which we may not be able to address quickly enough to prevent all instances of error or fraud. In connection with our ongoing assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, we may discover "material weaknesses" in our internal controls. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The existence of any material weakness may require management to devote significant time and incur significant remediation expense. The existence of any material

weakness in our internal control over financial reporting may result in errors in our financial statements that could require us to make corrective adjustments, restate our financial statements, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, and cause shareholders to lose confidence in our reported financial information, all of which could materially and adversely affect the market price of our securities. If we are unable to successfully identify and remediate any material weaknesses that may arise in a timely manner, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may be adversely affected, and we may be unable to maintain compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports and applicable stock exchange listing requirements.

We may be required to make larger contributions to our defined benefit pension and other benefit plans in the future.

We maintain defined benefit pension and other benefit plans globally. Our pension obligations are based on certain assumptions relating to plan asset performance, salary changes, employee turnover, retirement ages, life expectancy, expected healthcare costs, the performance of the financial markets, future interest rates, and plan and legislative changes. If actual results or future expectations differ from these assumptions or if statutory funding requirements change, the amounts we are obligated to contribute to the pension plans may increase and such increase could be significant. We are also required to contribute amounts to our other benefit plans to meet local statutory or such plans' funding requirements. The amounts we are obligated to contribute may increase due to legislative or other changes.

Changes in judgments, estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on our financial position and results of operations.

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP). The preparation of our financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires that we make estimates and assumptions that affect the recorded amounts of assets, liabilities and net earnings during the reporting period. A change in the facts and circumstances surrounding those estimates could result in a change to our estimates and could impact our future operating results.

Our credit agreement contains restrictive and financial covenants that may impair our ability to conduct business, and the failure to comply with such covenants could cause our outstanding debt to become immediately payable.

Our credit agreement contains restrictive covenants that limit our management's discretion with respect to certain business matters. Among other factors, these covenants limit our ability and our subsidiaries' ability to incur additional debt, create liens or other encumbrances, change the nature of our business, sell or otherwise dispose of assets, make certain investments and payments, repurchase Common Shares for cancellation if a defined consolidated secured leverage ratio exceeds a specified amount, merge or consolidate with other entities, or effect specified changes in control. This agreement also contains certain financial covenants related to indebtedness and interest coverage. If we are not able to comply with these covenants, our outstanding debt could become immediately due and payable, and the incurrence of additional debt under our revolving credit facility may not be allowed, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and ability to conduct our business.

We have entered into the TRS Agreement in respect of our Common Shares, which exposes us to certain risks, including Common Shares price decrease risk, counterparty risk and interest rate risk, any of which could adversely affect our financial condition and/or financial results.

Under our TRS Agreement, the counterparty is obligated to make a payment to us based on the increase in the value of the TRS (as defined in such agreement) over the agreement's term, in exchange for specified periodic payments based on a variable interest rate. However, if the value of the TRS decreases over the agreement's term, we are obligated to pay the amount of such decrease to the counterparty, which could be material. In addition, an increase in the variable interest rate would result in an increase in interest payment amounts payable by us to the counterparty. Our TRS Agreement is also subject to the risk that the counterparty will default on its payment obligations thereunder, or that we will not be able to meet our obligations to the counterparty. Further, if the counterparty chooses to exercise its termination rights under the TRS, it is possible that, because of adverse market conditions existing at the time of such termination, we will owe more to the counterparty (or will be entitled to receive less from the counterparty) than we would otherwise have if we controlled the timing of such termination.

We anticipate that we will refinance outstanding indebtedness from time to time, and an inability to refinance on favorable terms, or at all, would have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

We anticipate that we will repay outstanding debt from time to time through refinancing. The amount of our existing indebtedness may impede our ability to obtain such refinancing on acceptable terms, or at all. If we cannot refinance, extend, or pay principal payments due at maturity with the proceeds of other capital transactions, our cash flows may not be sufficient to repay our debt upon maturity. In such event, we may be forced to dispose of one or more assets on disadvantageous terms. In addition, refinanced debt may carry higher interest rates and have more restrictive covenants than our current outstanding indebtedness. Although we anticipate that we will be able to repay or refinance our existing indebtedness when it matures, there can be no assurance we will be able to do so, or that the terms of any such refinancing will be favorable. An inability to refinance, extend or otherwise satisfy our debt as it matures would have a material adverse effect on our business, contracts, financial condition, operating results, cash flow, liquidity and prospects.

Our credit rating may be downgraded.

Our credit ratings impact the cost and availability of future borrowings and, accordingly, our cost of capital. Our ratings reflect the opinions of the ratings agencies of our financial strength, operating performance and ability to meet our debt obligations. There can be no assurance that we will achieve a particular rating or maintain a particular rating in the future, which could place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors and prevent us from taking actions that could benefit us in the long term. Any negative change in our credit rating or outlook may make it more expensive for us to raise additional capital in the future on terms that are acceptable to us, if at all. We may not be able to obtain financing arrangements on acceptable terms or in amounts sufficient to meet our needs in the future, which could harm our ability to grow our business, internally or through acquisitions.

Legal/Regulatory Risks

We may not adequately protect our IP or the IP of others.

We believe that certain of our proprietary IP rights and information provide us with a competitive advantage. Accordingly, we take steps to protect this proprietary information, including obtaining patents to safeguard our HPS IP, entering into non-disclosure agreements with customers, suppliers, employees and other parties, and by implementing security measures. However, these measures may not be sufficient to prevent or detect the misappropriation or unauthorized use or disclosure of our IP or information. We also conduct business in some countries where the extent of effective legal protection for IP rights is uncertain. Even if we have IP rights, there is no guarantee that such rights will provide adequate protection of items we consider to be proprietary. We may also be required to compromise protections or yield rights to technology, data or IP in order to conduct business in or access markets in certain jurisdictions, either through formal written agreements or due to legal or administrative requirements in the host nation. If we are not able to protect our IP rights, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

There is also a risk that claims of IP infringement could be brought against us, our customers and/or our suppliers. If such claims are successful, we may be required to spend significant time and financial resources to develop non-infringing processes, technology or information or to obtain appropriate licenses from the owner. We may not be successful in such development, or any such licenses may not be available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, any litigation could be lengthy and could adversely affect us even if we are successful. As we expand our service offerings, we may be less effective in anticipating or mitigating the IP risks related to new manufacturing, design and other services, which could be significant.

U.S. policies or legislation could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The former U.S. administrations previously created, and the current U.S. administration may create, uncertainty with respect to, among other things, trade agreements and free trade generally, and may impose significant new increases on tariffs on goods imported into the U.S. from specified countries (including Canada, Mexico and China), each of which may impose retaliatory tariffs. These actions, and/or other governmental actions related to tariffs or international trade agreements, have in the past increased (and could further increase) the cost to our U.S. customers who use our non-U.S. manufacturing sites and components, and vice versa, which may materially and adversely impact demand for our services, our results of operations or our financial condition.

In addition, the U.S. government imposed additional export controls on certain advanced computing semiconductor chips, integrated circuits, semiconductor manufacturing items and related transactions. These export controls are, in part, intended to restrict China's and/or other nations' ability to obtain advanced computing chips, develop and maintain supercomputers, and manufacture advanced semiconductors. The implementation, interpretation and impact on our business of these rules and other regulatory actions taken by the U.S. government is uncertain and evolving. These actions have adversely impacted our Capital Equipment business and our CCS segment. The future adverse impact of these and/or other actions taken by the governments of either the U.S. or China, or both (including in response to continuing tensions), could be material.

Given the uncertainty regarding the scope and duration of these (or further) trade and export actions, whether trade tensions will escalate further, and whether our customers will continue to bear the cost of the tariffs and/or avoid such costs by in-sourcing or shifting business to other providers, their impact on the demand for our services, our operations and results for future periods cannot be currently quantified, but may be material. See Item 7, MD&A — "External Factors that May Impact our Business" for further detail.

In addition, we cannot predict whether new U.S. laws will be passed or new regulatory proposals will be adopted, if any (or whether current laws or regulations will be rolled back), or the effect that such events may have on the economy and/or our business. However, changes in U.S. social, political, regulatory and economic conditions or laws and policies governing foreign trade and exports, taxes, manufacturing, clean energy, the healthcare industry, development and investment in the jurisdictions in which we and/or our customers or suppliers operate, could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. See "We are subject to the risk of increasing income and other taxes, tax audits, and the challenges of successfully defending our tax positions, and obtaining, renewing or meeting the conditions of tax incentives and credits, any of which may adversely affect our financial performance."

There may be problems with the products we design or manufacture that could result in liability/warranty claims against us, which may reduce demand for our services, damage our reputation, and/or cause us to incur significant costs.

In most of our sales contracts, we provide warranties against defects or deficiencies in our products, services, or designs. We generally design and manufacture products to our customers' specifications, many of which are highly complex, and include products for regulated industries, such as HealthTech and A&D. The customized design solutions that form a part of our HPS offering also subject us to the risk of liability claims if defects are discovered or alleged. Despite our quality control and assurance efforts, problems may occur or be alleged, in or resulting from the design and/or manufacture of these products. Whether or not we are responsible, problems in the products we design and/or manufacture, or in products which include components we manufacture, whether real or alleged, whether caused by faulty customer specifications, the design or manufacturing processes or a component defect, may result in increased costs to us, as well as delayed shipments to our customers, and/or reduced or canceled customer orders. These potential claims may include damages for the recall of a product and/or injury to person or property, including consequential and/or punitive damages.

Even if customers or third parties, such as component suppliers, are responsible for defects, they may not, or may not be able to, assume responsibility for any such costs or required payments to us. While we seek to insure against many of these risks, insurance coverage may be inadequate, not cost effective or unavailable, either in general or for particular types of products or issues.

As we expand our service offerings (including our HPS offerings) and pursue business in new end markets, our warranty obligations have increased and we may not be successful in pricing our products to appropriately cover our warranty costs. A successful claim for damages arising from defects or deficiencies for which we are not adequately insured, and for which indemnification from a third party is not timely (or otherwise) available, could have a material adverse effect on our reputation and/or our operating results and financial condition.

Any failure to comply with customer-driven policies and standards, and third party certification requirements could adversely affect our business and reputation.

In addition to government regulations and industry standards, our customers may require us to comply with their own climate change, social responsibility, conflict minerals, quality or other business policies or standards, which may be more restrictive than current laws and regulations and our pre-existing policies. Such policies or standards may be customer-driven, established by the industries in which we operate, or imposed by third party organizations. For example, we are a member of the RBA. The RBA is a non-profit coalition of companies that, among other things, establishes standards for its members in

responsible and ethical practices in the areas of labor, environmental compliance, employee health and safety, ethics and social responsibility. Our compliance with these policies, standards and third-party certification requirements could be costly, and our failure to comply could adversely affect our operations, customer relationships, reputation and profitability.

Compliance with governmental laws, regulations, and obligations could be costly and may negatively impact our financial performance; any failure to comply may negatively impact our financial performance.

We are subject to various federal/national, state/provincial, local, foreign and supra-national environmental laws and regulations. Maintaining compliance with and responding to increasingly stringent environmental regulations requires a significant investment of time and resources and may restrict our ability to modify or expand our manufacturing sites or to continue production. Although our environmental management systems and practices have been designed to provide for compliance with these laws and regulations, such compliance cannot be assured, and any failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in significant fines and penalties, our operations may be suspended or subjected to increased oversight, and our cost of related investigations could be material in any period.

More complex and stringent environmental legislation continues to be imposed globally, including laws that place increased responsibility and requirements on the "producers" of electronic equipment and, in turn, their providers and suppliers. Such laws may relate to product inputs (such as hazardous substances and energy consumption), product use (such as energy efficiency and waste management/recycling), and/or operational outputs/by-products from our manufacturing processes that can result in environmental contamination (such as waste water, air emissions and hazardous waste). Non-compliance with these requirements could result in substantial costs, including fines and penalties, and we may incur liability to our customers and consumers.

Even where compliance responsibility rests primarily with our customers, they may request our assistance in meeting their obligations. Our customers remain focused on issues such as waste management (including recycling), climate change (including the reduction of carbon emissions) and product stewardship, and expect their EMS providers to be environmental leaders. We strive to meet such customer expectations, although these demands may extend beyond our regulatory obligations and require significant investments of time and resources to attract and retain customers.

We generally conduct environmental assessments, or review assessment reports undertaken by others, for our manufacturing sites at the time of acquisition or leasing. However, such assessments may not reveal all environmental liabilities, and assessments have not been obtained for all sites. In addition, some of our operations involve the use of hazardous substances that could cause environmental impacts. While we have operational systems to provide environmental management, we cannot rule out all risk of non-compliance and could incur substantial costs to comply. Although if deemed necessary, we may investigate, remediate or monitor emissions and site conditions at some of our owned or leased sites (such as air, soil and/or groundwater conditions), we may not be aware of, or adequately address, all such emissions and conditions, and we may incur significant costs should such work be required. In many jurisdictions in which we operate, environmental laws impose liability for the costs of removal, remediation or risk assessment of hazardous or toxic substances on an owner, occupier or operator of real estate, even if such person or company was unaware of or not responsible for the discharge or migration of such substances. In some instances, where soil or groundwater contamination existed prior to our ownership or occupation, landlords or former owners may have retained some contractual responsibility or regulatory liability, but this may not provide sufficient protection to reduce or eliminate our liability. Third-party claims for damages or personal injury are also possible and could result in significant costs to us. If more stringent compliance or cleanup standards under environmental laws or regulations are imposed, or the results of future testing and analyses at our current or former operating sites indicate that we are responsible for the release of hazardous substances into the air, ground and/or water, we may be subject to additional liability. Additional environmental matters may arise in the future at sites where no problem is currently known or at sites that we may acquire in the future.

Our HealthTech business is subject to regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Health Canada, the European Medicines Agency, and similar regulatory bodies in other jurisdictions, relating to the medical devices and hardware we manufacture for our customers. Our sites that deliver products to the healthcare industry are certified or registered in applicable quality management standards. We are required to comply with various statutes and regulations related to the design, development, testing, manufacturing and labeling of our medical devices. Any failure to comply with these regulations could result in fines, injunctions, product recalls, import detentions, additional regulatory controls, suspension of production, and/or the shutting down of one or more of our sites, among other adverse outcomes. Failure to comply with these regulations may also materially affect our reputation and/or relationships with customers and regulators.

We provide design, engineering and manufacturing related services to our customers in the A&D business. As part of these services, we are subject to substantial regulation from government agencies including the U.S. Department of Defense (DOD) and the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration. Our A&D sites are certified in quality management standards applicable to the A&D industry. Failure to comply with these regulations or the loss of any of our quality management certifications may result in fines, penalties and injunctions, and could prevent us from executing on current or winning future contracts, any of which may materially adversely affect our financial condition and operating results. In addition to quality management standards, there are several other U.S. regulations with which we are required to comply, including the Federal Acquisition Regulations, which provides uniform policies and procedures for acquisition; the Defense Federal Acquisition Regulation Supplement, a DOD agency supplement to the FAR that provides DOD-specific acquisition regulations that DOD government acquisition officials, and those contractors doing business with DOD, must comply with in the procurement process for goods and services; and the Truth in Negotiations Act, which requires full and fair disclosure by contractors in the conduct of negotiations with the government and its prime contractors. These rules are complex, our performance under them is subject to audit by the U.S. Defense Contract Audit Agency, the U.S. Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs and other government regulators, and in most cases must be complied with by our suppliers. If an audit or investigation reveals a failure to comply with regulations, we could become subject to civil or criminal penalties and administrative sanctions by either the government or the prime customer, including government pre-approval of our government contracting activities, termination of the contract, payment of fines and suspension or debarment from doing further business with the U.S. government. Any of these actions could increase our expenses, reduce our revenue and damage our reputation as a reliable U.S. government supplier. We are also subject to the export control laws and regulations of the countries in which we operate, including, but not limited to, the U.S. International Traffic in Arms Regulations and the Export Administration Regulations.

Our international operations require us to comply with various anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) and the *Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act* (Canada) (CFPOA). In some countries in which we operate, it may be customary for businesses to engage in business practices that are prohibited by the FCPA, CFPOA or other laws and regulations. Although we have implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with the FCPA, CFPOA and similar laws in other jurisdictions, there can be no assurance that all of our employees and agents, as well as those companies to which we outsource certain business operations, will not be in violation of these laws and our policies or procedures. In addition to the difficulty of monitoring compliance, any suspected or alleged activity would require a costly investigation by us and may result in the diversion of management's time, resources and attention. Failure to comply with these laws may subject us to, among other things, adverse publicity, penalties and legal expenses that may harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

As a public company, we are subject to stringent laws, regulations and other requirements, including the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the U.S. Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank), affecting, among other areas, our accounting, internal controls, corporate governance practices, securities disclosures and reporting. For example, due to our complex supply chain, compliance with Dodd-Frank diligence, disclosure and reporting requirements with respect to defined "conflict minerals" is time-consuming and costly. If we are unable to ascertain the origins of all such minerals used in the manufacturing of our products through the due diligence procedures we implement, we may be unable to satisfy our customers' certification requirements. This may harm our reputation, damage our customer relationships and result in a loss of revenue. If the SEC rules or other new social or environmental standards limit our pool of suppliers in order to produce "conflict free" or "socially responsible" products, or otherwise adversely affect the sourcing, supply and pricing of materials used in our products, we could also experience cost increases and a material adverse impact on our operating results.

In addition, whenever we pursue business in new end markets, or our customers pursue new technologies or businesses, we are required to navigate the potentially heavy regulatory and legislative burdens of such end markets or technologies, as well as applicable quality standards with respect thereto.

The regulatory climate can itself affect the demand for our services. For example, government reimbursement rates and other regulations, as well as the financial health of healthcare providers, changes in how healthcare in the U.S. is structured, and how medical devices are taxed, could affect the willingness and ability of end customers to purchase the products of our customers in this market as well as impact our margins.

Our customers are also required to comply with various government regulations, legal requirements and industry standards, including many of the industry-specific regulations discussed above. Our customers' failure to comply could affect their businesses, which in turn would affect our sales to them. In addition, if our customers are required by regulation or other

requirements to make changes in their product lines, these changes could significantly disrupt particular programs for these customers and create inefficiencies in our business.

In addition, a failure by a supplier or manufacturer to comply with applicable laws, regulations or customer requirements could negatively impact our business, and for governmental customers, could result in fines, penalties, suspension or even debarment being imposed on us, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Compliance or the failure to comply with employment laws and regulations may negatively impact our financial performance.

We are subject to a variety of domestic and foreign employment laws, including those related to: workplace safety, discrimination, harassment, whistle-blowing, wages and overtime, personal taxation, classification of employees, work authorizations and severance. Compliance with such laws may increase our costs. In addition, such laws are subject to change, and enforcement activity relating to these laws, particularly outside of the U.S., may increase as a result of greater media attention due to alleged violations by other companies, changes in law, political and other factors. There can be no assurance that, in the future, we will not be found to have violated elements of such laws. Any such violations could lead to the assessment of fines or damages against us by regulatory authorities or claims by employees, any of which could adversely affect our operating results and/or our reputation.

We are subject to litigation and proceedings, which may result in substantial expenses, settlement costs or judgments, require the time and attention of key management resources, and result in adverse publicity, any of which may negatively impact our financial performance.

We are from time to time party to various copyright, patent and trademark infringement, unfair competition, breach of contract, customs, employment and other legal actions incidental to our business, as plaintiff or defendant, as well as various other claims, suits, investigations and legal or governmental proceedings (including securities class action and shareholder derivative lawsuits which have been settled or dismissed). Additional legal claims or regulatory matters may arise in the future and could involve matters relating to commercial disputes, government regulation and compliance, IP, antitrust, tax, employment or shareholder issues, product liability claims and other issues on a global basis. Regardless of the merits of the claims, litigation or governmental proceedings may be both time-consuming and disruptive to our business. The defense and ultimate outcome of any lawsuits or other legal proceedings may result in higher expenses, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. We cannot predict the final outcome of such lawsuits or proceedings or the likelihood that other proceedings will be initiated against us. Accordingly, the cost of defending against such lawsuits or proceedings, or any future lawsuits or proceedings may be high and, in any event, these legal proceedings may result in the diversion of our management's time and attention away from our business. In the event that there is an adverse ruling in any legal proceeding, we may be required to make payments to third parties that could be in excess of any amounts accrued, and could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, financial condition and/or results of operations.

Changes in accounting standards enacted by the relevant standard-setting bodies may adversely affect our reported operating results, profitability and financial performance.

We prepare our financial statements in conformity with GAAP. These principles are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the SEC, and various bodies formed to interpret and create appropriate accounting policies. While periodic accounting changes do not typically affect the economics of our business, a change in these policies can have a significant effect on our reported results and may affect our reporting of transactions that are completed before a change is announced. Changes to those rules or questions as to how we interpret or implement them may have a material adverse effect on our reported financial results or on the way we conduct business.

Potential unenforceability of judgments.

We are incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada. One of our directors and three of our executive officers are residents of Canada. Also, a substantial portion of our assets and the assets of these persons are located outside of the U.S. As a result, it may be difficult to effect service of process within the U.S. upon those directors or officers who are not residents of the U.S., or to enforce judgments in the U.S. obtained in courts of the U.S. It may also be difficult for shareholders

to enforce a U.S. judgment in Canada predicated upon the civil liability provisions of U.S. federal or state securities laws or to succeed in a lawsuit in Canada based only on U.S. federal or state securities laws.

Our business and operations could be adversely impacted by ESG initiatives.

There is an increased focus by foreign, federal, state, provincial and local regulatory and legislative bodies investors and other stakeholders regarding environmental and corporate responsibility policies relating to climate change, regulating GHG emissions, carbon taxes, emissions trading schemes, sustainability, human rights and inclusion matters, and disclosure regarding the foregoing, many of which may be ambiguous, inconsistent, dynamic or conflicting. We expect to experience or be subject to increased restrictions, compliance and assurance costs, recurring investments in data gathering and reporting systems, and legal expenses related to such new or changing legal or regulatory requirements, which could increase our operating costs. In addition, we may still be subject to penalties or potential litigation if such laws and regulations are interpreted or applied in a manner inconsistent with our practices.

Proposed and existing efforts to address climate change by reducing GHG emissions could directly or indirectly affect our costs of energy, materials, manufacturing, distribution, packaging and other operating costs, which could adversely impact our business and financial results. In addition, governmental bodies are increasingly adopting and proposing additional mandatory climate-related reporting obligations. Complying with any new applicable reporting requirements will require increased corporate, operational, and administrative efforts, and result in increased costs and expenses.

Further, certain investors are placing a greater emphasis on non-financial factors, including ESG factors, when evaluating investment opportunities. Although we actively manage a broad range of ESG matters, including the potential impact of our business on society and the environment, and matters relating to an inclusive workplace, there can be no certainty that we will manage such issues effectively, or that we will successfully meet society's expectations in this regard. The perception of our operations held by our shareholders, potential investors, suppliers, customers, other stakeholders, or the communities in which we do business may depend, in part, on the ESG standards we have chosen to aspire to meet, whether or not we meet these standards on a timely basis or at all, and whether or not we meet external ESG factors they deem relevant. In addition, notwithstanding our achievements in these regards, the subjective nature and wide variety of methods and processes used by various stakeholders, including investors, to assess a company with respect to ESG criteria can result in the perception of negative ESG factors or a misrepresentation of our ESG policies and practices. In addition, by electing to set and publicly share our ESG standards, our business may face increased scrutiny related to ESG activities. As a result, our reputation could be harmed if we fail to act effectively in the areas in which we report. In addition, our failure to achieve progress on our ESG policies and practices on a timely basis, or at all, or to meet ESG criteria set by third parties, could adversely affect our Common Shares price, business, financial performance, or growth.

Because we have ceased to be a foreign private issuer, we are required to comply fully with the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act applicable to U.S. domestic issuers, and we have incurred and may continue to incur additional legal, accounting, and other expenses that we would not incur as a foreign private issuer.

In July 2024, we announced that, in accordance with the definition of a "foreign private issuer" in Rule 405 under the U.S. Securities Act, and Rule 3b-4 under the Exchange Act, which require a foreign company to determine its status as a foreign private issuer on an annual basis, we determined that we no longer met such definition at the end of the second quarter of 2024. Accordingly, as of January 1, 2025, we do not use the forms and rules designated for foreign private issuers and are subject to the same reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to U.S. domestic issuers. We are now required to file periodic reports and financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP with the SEC on Form 10-K and Form 10-Q, as applicable, as well as current reports on Form 8-K, which are more detailed and extensive than the forms available to a foreign private issuer. We must also comply with U.S. federal proxy requirements, and our officers, directors and principal shareholders have become subject to the short-swing profit disclosure and recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act. In addition, we have lost our ability to rely upon exemptions from certain NYSE corporate governance requirements. As a U.S.-listed public company, we are subject to the same reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to U.S. domestic issuers, and we have incurred and may continue to incur significant additional legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a foreign private issuer, and may incur accounting, reporting and other expenses in order to maintain a listing on a U.S. securities exchange.

Risks Related to our Common Shares

The market price of our Common Shares has been volatile.

Volatility in our business can result in significant Common Share price and volume fluctuations. Factors such as changes in our financial estimates or operating results, buy/sell recommendations by securities analysts, the timing of announcements by us or our competitors concerning significant product developments, acquisitions or financial performance, other events affecting companies in the electronics industry, currency fluctuations, general market fluctuations, macroeconomic conditions, general stock market conditions, substantial sales of our Common Shares and/or other external factors may cause the market price of our Common Shares to decline. In addition, if our operating results do not meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors, the price of our Common Shares could decline. Furthermore, the existence of our NCIB may cause our Common Share price to be higher than it would be in the absence of such a program, and repurchases under the NCIB expose us to risks resulting from a reduction in the size of our "public float," which may reduce our trading volume as well as our Common Share price.

There can be no assurance that we will continue to repurchase Common Shares for cancellation.

Although we currently have an NCIB in effect, whether we repurchase Common Shares under such NCIB for cancellation, and the amount and timing of any such repurchases, is subject to the restrictions under our credit facility, capital availability and periodic determinations by our Board that Common Share repurchases are in the best interest of our shareholders and are in compliance with all applicable laws and agreements. Any future permitted Common Share repurchases, including their timing and amount, may be affected by, among other factors: our consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in our credit facility); our views on potential future capital requirements for strategic transactions, including acquisitions; debt service requirements; our credit rating; changes to our business model; and/or changes to applicable tax laws or corporate laws (including equity buyback taxes enacted in Canada and the U.S.). In addition, the amount we spend and the number of Common Shares we are able to repurchase for cancellation under any NCIB or substantial issuer bid may further be affected by a number of other factors, including the Common Shares we arrange to be purchased by non-independent brokers to satisfy stock-based compensation awards, the price of our Common Shares and blackout periods in which we are restricted from repurchasing Common Shares. Our Common Share repurchases may change from time to time, and even if permitted under our credit facility, we cannot provide assurance that we will continue to repurchase Common Shares for cancellation in any particular amounts or at all. A reduction in or elimination of our Common Share repurchases could have a negative effect on our stock price.

We are no longer a controlled company, and may therefore become more vulnerable to take-over or tender offer.

Following the completion of an underwritten secondary public offering in August 2023, Onex is no longer our controlling shareholder. As a result, the Company has lost the benefit of the stability afforded to it by having a committed, long-term controlling shareholder. In addition, voting power is spread out among a wide shareholder base and the inherent protection from an unsolicited take-over bid afforded by a dual class share structure no longer exists. Accordingly, we may become more vulnerable to a take-over bid or a tender offer.

General Risk Factors

Negative publicity could adversely affect our reputation as well as our business, financial results and share price.

Unfavorable media related to our industry, company, brand, marketing, personnel, operations, business performance, or prospects may affect our share price and the performance of our business, regardless of its accuracy or inaccuracy. The speed at which negative publicity can be disseminated has increased dramatically with the capabilities of electronic communication, including social media outlets, websites, blogs, and newsletters. Our success in maintaining, extending, and expanding our brand image depends on our ability to adapt to this rapidly changing media environment. Adverse publicity or negative commentary from any media outlet could damage our reputation and reduce the demand for our products, which would adversely affect our business.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Management and Strategy

We prioritize the effective management of cybersecurity risks through a strategy focused on identifying, assessing, and responding to cybersecurity vulnerabilities, threats and incidents. Our primary objectives are to safeguard information assets, prevent their misuse or loss, and minimize business disruptions, through a comprehensive cybersecurity program intended to detect, analyze, contain and address cybersecurity risk exposures, threats and incidents.

Our Board has oversight of our strategic and business risk management, including cybersecurity risk management, with support from our Audit Committee (described under "Governance" below). The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that management has processes in place designed to identify and evaluate cybersecurity risks to which we are exposed and to implement processes and programs to manage cybersecurity risks and mitigate cybersecurity incidents.

We use various processes to inform our assessment, identification and management of risk from cybersecurity threats, including technical security controls, policy enforcement mechanisms, monitoring systems, employee training, contractual arrangements, tools and related services from third-party providers, and management oversight to assess, identify and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats. Key areas of our cybersecurity risk management processes and strategy include the following:

Multidisciplinary Coordination: Our IT Security Team, which includes IT Site Managers, an IT Risk & Compliance Team, a Global Information Security Team and Cybersecurity Incident Managers, has first-line responsibility for our cybersecurity risk management processes, and is responsible for implementing cybersecurity policies, procedures and strategies. This team is led by our Vice President, Security, Infrastructure & Site IT (VP Security), who reports to our Chief Information Officer (CIO), who in turn reports to our Chief Operations Officer (COO). The IT Security Team is subject to oversight from several cross-functional teams, including our Executive Leadership Team, our IT Security Council and our Compliance Council. Our IT Security Council, a global IT security strategy team, meets monthly to discuss IT security roadmaps and strategies, control enhancements, compliance matters and customer requirements. Our Compliance Council includes representatives from, among others, our legal, compliance, ethics, internal audit, operations, security, and supply chain teams to assess the Company's risk exposures, mitigation strategies and policies, and meets quarterly to discuss risks, policies and compliance issues, including with respect to cybersecurity.

Internal Audit: Our Internal Audit department performs audits, and our IT Risk and Compliance Team, which reports to the VP Security, monitors certain IT systems controls that are integrated into our larger internal control environment.

Cyber Incident Response: We maintain a cross-functional cyber incident response plan with defined roles, responsibilities and reporting protocols, which is evaluated and tested on a regular basis. The Company has a process for employees to report suspected or confirmed cybersecurity threats or incidents. Generally, if a suspected or confirmed breach is identified, a Cybersecurity Incident Manager from the Global Information Security Team is assigned to evaluate and escalate the issue as needed to the VP Security. The Company's response to cybersecurity incidents (which includes prompt steps to protect our systems and information by containing and mitigating the impact of any incident) is managed by the VP Security, in consultation with the CIO, and when appropriate, with the CFO, COO, CEO and our Chief Legal Officer. These leaders will assess the materiality of a particular incident (alone or in combination with other factors), and the Chief Legal Officer will determine whether any reporting or notification responsibilities have been triggered. The CEO is responsible for informing our Board and the Audit Committee regarding any significant incidents, and coordinates management's recommendations concerning materiality.

Continuous Evaluation: We update our information security management system periodically and employ standards and frameworks as we deem necessary to assist us in monitoring compliance with regulatory, industry and evolving data privacy requirements. In addition, we monitor our IT systems and processes on an ongoing basis with the goal of identifying and remediating real and potential threats as they arise. We adjust our systems, procedures and policies regularly as we deem necessary in response to identified threats and risks.

Training: We provide cybersecurity and information security compliance training for our employees once per year, track completion, and require attestations. We conduct monthly mock phishing attacks to all employees, and cater training specifically to our needs, based on industry trends and potential threats. Select members of our IT Security Team participate in

security training focusing on emergency preparedness and remediation, including annual table top exercises to test our security protocols and response times.

Outside Consultants: Third party experts are engaged to conduct National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) CSF (Cyber Security Framework) Audits to measure the Company's cybersecurity maturity level, in addition assistance with our cybersecurity risk management and strategy. Other third-party providers provide us with ongoing assistance including threat monitoring, mitigation strategies, and updates on emerging security trends and developments while we have others engaged on retainer to provide targeted assistance forensic expertise as needed.

Monitoring of Third Parties: In 2023, we implemented a Third-Party Risk Management Program to perform IT security controls assessments for our third-party suppliers and vendors and measure the IT security rating of Celestica and these entities through an external security rating solution platform. Through this program, our IT Risk and Compliance team assesses, monitors, and mitigates potential cybersecurity risks from our third-party suppliers and vendors. In addition, an external service is used to assess the cybersecurity risk rating of third party suppliers and vendors.

Certifications: Certain of our manufacturing sites are certified to ISO27001 (an international standard focused on information security), and we continue to perform assessments of our A&D sites and systems that support A&D data under U.S. NIST 800-171 Enhanced Cybersecurity Measures for Government Contractors.

While we have invested, and continue to invest, in the protection of our data and IT infrastructure, we regularly face attempts by others to access our information systems in an unauthorized manner, to introduce malicious software to such systems or both, and while we have not been materially impacted by computer viruses, malware, ransomware, hacking incidents, outages, or unauthorized access to data, we have been (and may in the future be) the target of such events. However, to date, we have not identified any risks from cybersecurity threats (including any previous cybersecurity incidents) that have materially affected the Company, our business strategy, our results of operations or our financial condition. For a discussion of risks from cybersecurity threats that could be reasonably likely to materially affected us, please see Item 1A, Risk Factors—"Our operations and our customer relationships may be adversely and materially affected by disruptions to our IT systems, including disruptions from cybersecurity breaches of our IT infrastructure" in this Annual Report.

Governance

As part of its oversight responsibilities, which include the identification of the principal risks of the business and ensuring the implementation of appropriate systems to manage such risks, the Board devotes significant time and attention to information security and risk management, including cybersecurity, and regulatory compliance, supported by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for evaluating Celestica's major financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures. The Audit Committee's Mandate also requires it to discuss guidelines, policies and steps to govern the process by which risk assessment and management is undertaken (including risks related to information security, cybersecurity and data protection) and the establishment and management of appropriate systems to manage such risks. The Audit Committee reviews cybersecurity risks through quarterly reports from management, and monitors the status of existing information security controls and practices to mitigate the potential risk from evolving cybersecurity threats.

In addition, in accordance with its Mandate, the Board receives a quarterly report from management regarding the principal risks inherent in the business of the Corporation, including appropriate crisis preparedness, business continuity, information system controls, cybersecurity and information security, and disaster recovery plans. These reports address a range of topics, including industry trends, benchmark and assessment reports, information security projects and updates on cyber related metrics, technology modernization, policies and practices, and specific and ongoing efforts to prevent, detect, and respond to internal and external critical threats.

Management's role:

Our IT Security Team is composed of several support teams (including our IT Site Managers, our Cybersecurity Incident Managers, our Global Information Security Team, and our IT Risk and Compliance Team) that address and respond to cybersecurity risks and incidents, including risks related to security architecture and engineering, identity and access management and security operations. As noted above, our IT Security Team is led by our VP Security, who has 15 years of experience in leading global security and compliance functions and strategies and holds several certifications including Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP), Information Systems Security Management Professional (ISSMP), Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA), Certified in Risk and Information Systems Control (CRISC), and Certified Information Security Manager (CISM). Our CIO has 20 years of experience in leading security, compliance and digital forensics functions. Collectively, the other members of our IT Security Team have decades of relevant education and experience and maintain a wide range of industry certifications. In addition, we invest in regular, ongoing cybersecurity training for our IT Security Team. Risks are updated by management each quarter, based on findings from external assessments and internal cybersecurity metrics.

Management (including our VP of Internal Audit) reports quarterly to the Audit Committee on information security. These presentations address a wide range of topics, including trends in cyber threats and the status of initiatives intended to bolster our security systems and the cyber readiness of our personnel.

Management takes several steps intended to mitigate the impact of cybersecurity and information security risks and incidents, including an annual management risk assessment (including cybersecurity risk), continued enhancement of information security and data loss prevention controls, maintenance of a robust crisis response plan, engaging an external consultant (described above), and ensuring that the Company maintains cybersecurity insurance coverage deemed appropriate. Management oversight procedures include: (i) a methodology to ensure cybersecurity events are promptly escalated and that appropriate internal and external reporting occurs; (ii) a monthly Information Security Governance Council meeting with site IT managers; and (iii) quarterly meetings between senior executives and our Internal Audit department to discuss the outlook for the following year, focusing on the current risk environment.

Item 2. Properties

The following table summarizes our principal owned and leased properties as of February 28, 2025. These sites are used to provide manufacturing services and solutions, including the manufacture of PCBs, assembly and configuration of final systems, complex mechanical assembly, precision machining, as well as other related services and customer support activities, including design and development, warehousing, distribution, fulfillment and after-market services, with a total of approximately 7.3 million square feet of productive capacity.

Major locations	Estimated square footag (in thousands)	ge Segment	Owned/Leased	Lease Expiration Dates
Canada ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	. 341	ATS/CCS	Leased	between 2025 and 2028
Arizona	. 111	ATS	Leased	2027
California ⁽²⁾	. 202	ATS/CCS	Leased	between 2025 and 2028
China ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	1,026	ATS/CCS	Owned/Leased	between 2025 and 2056
Georgia ⁽²⁾	48	CCS	Leased	between 2025 and 2026
India	. 23	CCS	Leased	2027
Indonesia(3)	. 169	ATS	Owned/Leased	2028
Ireland ⁽²⁾	. 89	ATS/CCS	Leased	between 2030 and 2034
Japan ⁽²⁾	. 544	ATS/CCS	Owned/Leased	2026
Laos	. 114	CCS	Leased	2026
Malaysia ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	1,476	ATS/CCS	Owned/Leased	between 2025 and 2060
Massachusetts	. 60	ATS	Owned	N/A
Minnesota ⁽²⁾	82	ATS	Leased	between 2025 and 2032
Mexico ⁽²⁾	. 699	ATS/CCS	Leased	between 2027 and 2032
New Hampshire	. 30	CCS	Leased	2028
Oregon	. 165	ATS	Leased	2026
Romania	. 286	ATS/CCS	Owned	N/A
Singapore ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	. 188	ATS/CCS	Owned/Leased	between 2025 and 2053
South Korea ⁽²⁾	. 207	ATS	Owned/Leased	2026
Spain	. 109	ATS	Owned	N/A
Texas ⁽⁴⁾		ATS/CCS	Leased	2032
Thailand ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	1,011	ATS/CCS	Owned/Leased	between 2025 and 2048

- (1) In connection with our March 2019 Toronto real property sale, we entered into a 10-year lease with the purchaser of such property for our then-anticipated corporate headquarters, to be built by such purchaser on the site of our former location (Purchaser Lease). The Purchaser lease started in June 2024. In November 2022, we extended (on a long-term basis) the lease on our current corporate headquarters, and in 2023, we executed a sublease for a portion of the space under the Purchaser Lease. Leased square footage under Purchaser Lease was excluded from the table above.
- (2) Represents multiple locations.
- (3) With respect to these locations, the land is leased, and the buildings are either owned or leased by us.
- (4) We are committed to leasing additional space at this site starting April 2027. See Item 7, MD&A "Liquidity *Cash requirements* Contractual Obligations."

We consider each of the properties in the table above to be adequate for its purpose and suitably utilized according to the individual nature and requirements of the relevant operations. We currently expect to be able to extend the terms of expiring leases or to find replacement sites on commercially acceptable terms. Our principal executive office is located at 5140 Yonge Street, Suite 1900, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M2N 6L7.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of our operations, we may be subject to litigation, investigations and other claims, including legal, regulatory and tax proceedings. In the opinion of management, the ultimate resolutions of all such currently pending matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. There are no material proceedings in which any of our directors, officers, affiliates, or owners of more than 5% of our Common Shares is either a party adverse to us or our subsidiaries or has a material interest adverse to us or our subsidiaries. Information concerning the status of certain tax matters is disclosed in Item 7, MD&A — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Litigation and Contingencies (including indemnities), and note 21 to the 2024 AFS herein.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.

Part II.

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

The Common Shares are listed on the NYSE and the TSX (in each case under the symbol "CLS").

Holders

As of February 20, 2025, based on information provided to us by our transfer agent, there were 1,501 holders of record of Common Shares, of which 373 holders, holding approximately 96.4% of the outstanding Common Shares, were resident in the U.S. and 277 holders, holding approximately 3.5% of the outstanding Common Shares, were resident in Canada. These numbers are not representative of the number of beneficial holders of our Common Shares nor are they representative of where such beneficial holders reside, since many of such shares are held of record by brokers or other nominees. We do not have knowledge of the identities of the beneficial owners of Common Shares registered through intermediaries.

Dividend Policy

We have not declared or paid any dividends to our shareholders. We intend to retain earnings for general corporate purposes to promote future growth; as such, our Board does not anticipate paying any dividends at this time. Our Board will review this policy from time-to-time, having regard to our financial condition, financing requirements and other relevant factors.

Performance Graph

The following chart compares the cumulative total shareholder return (TSR) of \$100 invested in Common Shares with the cumulative TSR of the S&P/TSX Composite Total Return Index and S&P 500 Information Technology Total Return for the period from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2024.

\$1,200
\$1,000
\$800
\$400
\$400
\$200
Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2021 Dec 31, 2022 Dec 29, 2023 Dec 31, 2024

Celestica Common Shares (NYSE)
S&P TSX Composite Total Return Index*
S&P 500 Information Technology Total Return

Table 1: Performance Graph

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On January 29, 2024, an aggregate of 581 deferred share units (DSUs), valued at \$29.28 per share, the closing price of the Common Shares on the NYSE on the last trading day of the preceding fiscal quarter; on March 31, 2024, an aggregate of 7,091 DSUs, valued at \$44.94 per share, the closing price of the Common Shares on the NYSE on the last trading day prior to the date of grant; on June 30, 2024, an aggregate of 5,719 DSUs, valued at \$57.33 per share, the closing price of the Common Shares on the NYSE on the last trading day prior to the date of grant; on July 30, 2024, an aggregate of 196 DSUs, valued at \$57.33 per share, the closing price of the Common Shares on the NYSE on the last trading day of the preceding fiscal quarter; and on September 30, 2024, an aggregate of 5,767 DSUs, valued at \$51.12 per share, the closing price of the Common Shares on the NYSE on the date of grant, were issued to our non-employee directors as compensation earned for service on the Board in reliance on the exemption from registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the U.S. Securities Act. Each DSU represents the right to receive one Common Share or an equivalent value in cash (at the Corporation's discretion) when the director ceases to be (a) a director of the Corporation or (b) an employee of the Corporation (Retires). DSUs that vest on retirement will be settled on the date that is 45 days following the date on which the director Retires, or the following business day if the 45th day is not a business day (Valuation Date), or as soon as practicable thereafter. The amount used to cash-settle DSUs (if applicable) will be based on the closing price of the Common Shares on the Valuation Date. DSUs will in all cases be redeemed and payable on or prior to the 90th day following the date on which the director Retires.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Period	(a) Total Number of Common Shares Purchased (in millions)	(b) Average Price Paid per Common Share	(c) Total Number of Common Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or programs (in millions)	(d) Maximum Number of Common Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans or Programs (in millions)
October 1 — 31, 2024 ⁽¹⁾		\$		8.9
November 1 — 30, 2024 ⁽²⁾	_	\$—	_	8.6
December 1 — 31, 2024 ⁽²⁾	$0.5^{(3)}$	\$86.90	0.3	8.3
Total	0.5	\$86.90	0.3	

(1) On December 12, 2023, the TSX accepted our notice to launch, and we announced, a NCIB (2023 NCIB). The 2023 NCIB allowed us to repurchase, at our discretion, from December 14, 2023 until the earlier of December 13, 2024 (unless terminated earlier) or the completion of purchases thereunder, up to 11,763,330 of our Common Shares in the open market, or as otherwise permitted, subject to the normal terms and limitations of such bids and compliance with applicable law and the volume and other limitations under Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act. In October 2024, we purchased and cancelled nil Common Shares under the 2023 NCIB. The 2023 NCIB was early terminated on October 30, 2024.

^{*} For the purpose of the graph, it was assumed that CAD:US dollar conversion ratio remained at 1:1 for the years presented.

- On October 30, 2024, the TSX accepted our notice to launch, and we announced, a NCIB (2024 NCIB). The 2024 NCIB allowed us to repurchase, at our discretion, from November 1, 2024 until the earlier of October 31, 2025 or the completion of purchases thereunder, up to 8,609,693 of our Common Shares in the open market, or as otherwise permitted, subject to the normal terms and limitations of such bids and compliance with applicable law and the volume and other limitations under Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act. The maximum number of Common Shares we are permitted to repurchase for cancellation under the 2024 NCIB will be reduced by the number of Common Shares we arrange to be purchased by any non-independent broker in the open market during its term to satisfy delivery obligations under our SBC plans, if any. In December 2024, we purchased 0.3 million Common Shares under the 2024 NCIB.
- (3) From time-to-time, we enter into Automatic Share Purchase Plans (ASPPs) complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act covering a defined period, instructing a broker to purchase in the open market a specified number of shares (subject to specified conditions) to settle vested employee awards under our SBC plans (SBC ASPPs). In December 2024, 0.2 million Common Shares were purchased on our behalf by an independent broker under a SBC ASPP. The maximum number of Common Shares we were permitted to repurchase for cancellation under the 2024 NCIB was not reduced by the number of Common Shares we arranged to be purchased by such independent broker.

Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) should be read in conjunction with our 2024 audited consolidated annual financial statements (2024 AFS) and related notes, which we prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Unless otherwise noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in United States (U.S.) dollars. The information in this discussion is provided as of February 28, 2025 unless we indicate otherwise. As used herein, "Q1," "Q2," "Q3," and "Q4" followed by a year refers to the first quarter, second quarter, third quarter and fourth quarter of such year, respectively.

Certain statements contained in this MD&A constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (U.S. Securities Act) and Section 21E of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (U.S. Exchange Act), and "forward-looking information" within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities laws (collectively, forward-looking statements), including, without limitation, statements related to: our priorities, intended areas of focus, targets, objectives and goals; trends in the electronics manufacturing services (EMS) industry and our segments (and/or their constituent businesses) and their anticipated impact; the anticipated impact of current market conditions and customer-specific factors on each of our segments (and/or their constituent businesses) and near term expectations; potential restructuring and divestiture actions; our anticipated financial and/or operating results and outlook, including expected revenue increases and decreases (or remaining flat), as well as growth in certain businesses and end markets; our strategies; our credit risk; the potential impact of acquisitions, or program wins, transfers, losses or disengagements; materials, component and supply chain constraints; anticipated expenses, capital expenditures and other working capital requirements and contractual obligations (and intended methods of funding such items); the potential impact of trade policies between countries in which we conduct business (including the potential tariffs implemented by U.S. government); the impact of our price reductions and longer payment terms; our intended repatriation of certain undistributed earnings from non-Canadian subsidiaries (and amounts we do not intend to repatriate in the foreseeable future); the potential impact of tax and litigation outcomes; investor dissatisfaction with inclusion, employee engagement, and other environmental, social and governance (ESG) matters; our intention to settle employee share unit awards in common shares (Common Shares); our ability to use certain tax losses; intended investments in our business; the potential impact of the pace of technological changes, customer outsourcing, program transfers, and the global economic environment; the intended method of funding Common Share repurchases; the impact of our outstanding indebtedness; liquidity and the sufficiency of our capital resources; our intention to settle outstanding equity awards with Common Shares; our financial statement estimates and assumptions; recently-issued accounting pronouncements and amendments; the potential adverse impacts of events outside of our control (including those described under "External Factors that May Impact our Business" below) (External Events); mandatory prepayments under our credit facility; pension plan funding requirements and obligations, and the impact of annuity purchases; our compliance with covenants under our credit facility; refinancing debt at maturity; interest rates and expense; income tax incentives; accounts payable cash flow levels; accounts receivable sales; expectations with respect to reporting units with goodwill; our future warranty obligations; cybersecurity threats and incidents; our intentions with respect to environmental assessments for newly-leased or acquired properties; our expectations with respect to expiring leases; our intention to retain earnings for general corporate purposes; costs in connection with our pursuit of acquisitions and strategic transactions; and expectations regarding the acceptance of offers to sell accounts receivable (A/R) under our A/R sales programs and supplier financing programs. Such forward-looking statements may, without limitation, be preceded by, followed by, or include words such as "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "estimates," "intends," "plans," "continues," "project," "target," "objective," "goal," "potential," "possible," "contemplate," "seek," or similar expressions, or may employ such future or conditional verbs as "may," "might," "will," "could," "should," or "would," or may otherwise be indicated as forward-looking statements by grammatical construction, phrasing or context. For those statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forwardlooking statements contained in the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, where applicable, and applicable Canadian securities laws.

Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report are based on various assumptions, many of which involve factors that are beyond our control. Our material assumptions include: growth in manufacturing outsourcing from customers in diversified markets; our ability to retain programs and customers, including no unexpected customer or program transfers, losses or disengagements; no unforeseen adverse changes in our mix of businesses; no undue negative impact on our customers' ability to compete and succeed using products we manufacture and services we provide; continued growth in our end markets; our ability to successfully diversify our customer base and develop new capabilities; anticipated demand levels across our businesses; continued growth in the advancement and commercialization of artificial intelligence (AI) technologies and cloud computing; supporting sustained high levels of capital expenditure investments by leading hyperscaler, AI and data center customers; no significant unforeseen negative impacts to our operations; no unforeseen materials price increases,

margin pressures, or other competitive factors affecting the EMS or original design manufacturer (ODM) industries in general or our segments in particular; compliance by third parties with their contractual obligations; that our customers will retain liability for product/component tariffs and countermeasures; our ability to keep pace with rapidly changing technological developments; the successful resolution of quality issues that arise from time to time; fluctuation of production schedules from our customers in terms of volume and mix of products or services; the timing and execution of, and investments associated with, ramping new business; supplier performance and quality, pricing and terms; the costs and availability of components, materials, services, equipment, labor, energy and transportation; no significant decline in the global economy or in economic activity in our end markets due to a major recession or otherwise; no unforeseen disruptions due to geopolitical factors (including war) causing significant negative impacts to economic activity, global or regional supply chains or normal business operations; that global inflation will not have a material impact on our revenues or expenses; the impact of anticipated market conditions on our businesses; the stability of currency exchange rates; the availability of capital resources for, and the permissibility under our credit facility of, repurchases of outstanding Common Shares under our current normal course issuer bid (NCIB), and compliance with applicable laws and regulations pertaining to NCIBs; compliance with applicable credit facility covenants and the components of our leverage ratios (as defined in our credit facility); our maintenance of sufficient financial resources to fund currently anticipated financial actions and obligations and to pursue desirable business opportunities; global tax legislation changes; the timing, execution and effect of restructuring actions; and no unforeseen adverse changes in the regulatory environment.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and the Company's actual results may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Achievement of anticipated results is subject to substantial risks, uncertainties and inaccurate assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from past results and those anticipated, estimated or projected. You should bear this in mind as you consider forward-looking statements, and you are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law or by the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects. Factors that might cause such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the Risk Factor Summary and in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (of which this MD&A forms a part) under the heading "Risk Factors," which are incorporated herein by reference, and subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and other documents filed with the SEC, and as applicable, the Canadian Securities Administrators.

Overview

Celestica's business:

We deliver innovative supply chain solutions globally to customers in two operating and reportable segments: Advanced Technology Solutions (ATS) and Connectivity & Cloud Solutions (CCS). Our ATS segment consists of our ATS end market, and is comprised of our Aerospace and Defense (A&D), Industrial, HealthTech, and Capital Equipment businesses. Our CCS segment consists of our Communications and Enterprise (servers and storage) end markets. Additional information regarding our segments is included in note 22 to the 2024 AFS.

Our customers include original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), cloud-based and other service providers, including hyperscalers, and other companies in a wide range of industries. We are incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada. Our global headquarters are located in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. We operate a network of sites and centers of excellence strategically located in North America, Europe and Asia, with specialized end-to-end supply chain capabilities tailored to meet specific market and customer product lifecycle requirements.

We offer a comprehensive range of product manufacturing and related supply chain services to customers in both of our segments, including design and development, new product introduction, engineering services, component sourcing, electronics manufacturing and assembly, testing, complex mechanical assembly, systems integration, precision machining, order fulfillment, logistics, product licensing, and after-market repair, return and information technology (IT) asset management and disposition (ITAM/ITAD) services. Our Hardware Platform Solutions (HPS) offering (within our CCS segment) includes the development of infrastructure platforms, hardware and software design solutions, including open-source software that complements our hardware offerings, and services that can be used as-is, or customized for specific applications in

collaboration with our customers, and management of program design and aspects of the supply chain, manufacturing, and after-market support, including ITAM/ITAD.

Products and services in our ATS segment are extensive and are often more regulated than in our CCS segment, and can include the following: government-certified and highly-specialized manufacturing, electronic and enclosure-related services for A&D customers; high-precision semiconductor and display equipment and integrated subsystems; a wide range of industrial automation, controls, test and measurement devices; engineering-focused engagements, including in the areas of telematics, human machine interface, Internet-of-Things and embedded systems; advanced solutions for surgical instruments, diagnostic imaging and patient monitoring; and efficiency products to help manage and monitor the energy and power industries. Our ATS segment businesses typically have higher margin profiles and margin volatility, higher working capital requirements, and longer product life cycles than the traditional businesses in our CCS segment.

Products and services in our CCS segment consist predominantly of enterprise-level data communications and information processing infrastructure products and systems, and can include routers, switches, data center interconnects, edge solutions, and servers and storage-related products used by a wide range of businesses and cloud-based and other service providers to manage digital connectivity, commerce and social media applications. Our CCS segment is subject to negative pricing pressures driven by the highly competitive nature of this market and is experiencing technology-driven demand shifts, which are not expected to abate. Our traditional CCS segment businesses typically have lower margin profiles, lower working capital requirements, and higher volumes than the businesses in our ATS segment. Within our CCS segment, however, our HPS business (which includes firmware/software enablement across all primary IT infrastructure data center technologies, open source software offerings that complement our hardware platforms, and aftermarket services including ITAM/ITAD) typically has a higher margin profile than our traditional CCS businesses, but also requires specific investments (including research and development (R&D)) and higher working capital. Our CCS segment generally experiences a high degree of volatility in terms of revenue and product/service mix, and as a result, our CCS segment margin can fluctuate from period to period. In recent periods, we have experienced an increasing shift in the mix of our programs towards cloud-based and other service providers, which are cyclically different from our traditional OEM customers, creating more volatility and unpredictability in our revenue patterns, and additional challenges with respect to the management of our supply chain and working capital requirements.

Overview of business environment:

The EMS industry is highly competitive. Demand can be volatile from period to period, and aggressive pricing is a common business dynamic. Customers may shift production between EMS and ODM providers for a variety of reasons, including changes in demand for their products, pricing concessions, more favorable terms and conditions, execution or quality issues, their preference or need to modify or consolidate their supply chain capacity or change their supply chain partners, tax benefits, new trade and/or export policies or legislation, or consolidation among customers. Customers may also change the amount of business they outsource, or the concentration or location of their EMS suppliers. As a result, customer and segment revenue and mix, as well as overall profitability, are difficult to forecast. The loss of one or more major customers could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, financial position and cash flows.

Managing our operations is complex, and our financial results often fluctuate, in each case as a result of, among other factors, product lifecycles in the markets we serve, production lead times required by our customers, our ability to secure materials and components, our ability to manage staffing and talent dynamics, rapid shifts in technology, model obsolescence, commoditization of certain products, the emergence of new business models, shifting patterns of demand, the proliferation of software-defined technologies enabling the disaggregation of software and hardware, product oversupply, changing supply chains and customer supply chain requirements, and the build-up by customers of inventory buffers. For example, the shift from traditional network and data center infrastructures to highly scalable, virtualized, cloud-based environments, have adversely impacted some of our traditional CCS segment customers, and favorably impacted our service provider customers and our HPS business.

Capacity utilization, customer mix and the types of products and services we provide are important factors affecting our financial performance. The number of sites, the location of qualified personnel, the manufacturing and engineering capacity and network, and the mix of business through that capacity are also vital considerations for EMS and ODM providers in terms of generating appropriate returns. Because the EMS industry is working capital intensive, we believe that non-GAAP adjusted return on invested capital (ROIC), which is primarily based on adjusted operating earnings (each discussed in "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below) and investments in working capital and equipment, is an important metric for measuring an EMS provider's financial performance.

Recent Developments

Conversion from International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to U.S. GAAP (GAAP)

As previously disclosed, as of the end of Q2 2024, the Company no longer met the definition of a "foreign private issuer" under U.S. federal securities regulations. As a result, the Company is required to file an annual report on Form 10-K covering the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company is also, as of January 1, 2025, obligated to comply with additional reporting requirements of the U.S. Exchange Act applicable to domestic issuers, including filing quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and proxy statements in accordance with U.S. Exchange Act rules.

In addition, the Company is required to prepare financial statements included in SEC filings in accordance with GAAP. Previously, our consolidated financial statements were presented in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. Consequently, this MD&A contains, for the year ended December 31, 2024, audited annual financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. All financial statements and selected financial data for prior periods presented herein have been converted from IFRS into GAAP.

Segment Environment:

ATS Segment

ATS segment revenue for 2024 decreased 5% to \$3.2 billion compared to \$3.3 billion for 2023, driven by the anticipated demand softness in our Industrial business, partially offset by strength in our A&D and Capital Equipment businesses.

ATS segment margin decreased to 4.6% for 2024 compared to 4.7% in 2023, primarily due to reduced operating leverage in our Industrial end market, partly offset by improved profitability in our Capital Equipment and A&D businesses.

Overall, we expect ATS segment revenue to remain relatively flat in 2025 compared to 2024. Demand in our Industrial business is expected to stabilize in the first half of 2025 and to recover in the second half of 2025. Demand in our Capital Equipment business increased in 2024 and we expect our Capital Equipment business to continue to grow in 2025, driven by solid demand and program ramps. Demand in our A&D business is expected to remain healthy, supported by customer wins and program ramps. However, due to our decision not to renew a dilutive margin program, we anticipate lower A&D business revenue in 2025 compared to 2024.

CCS Segment

CCS segment revenue for 2024 increased 40% to \$6.5 billion compared to \$4.6 billion in 2023, driven by strong growth in both our Enterprise end market and Communications end market. Revenue in our Enterprise end market increased by 29% in 2024 compared to 2023, driven primarily by stronger demand in our storage business and stronger demand for compute products from our hyperscaler customers. Revenue in our Communications end market increased by 48% in 2024 compared to 2023, driven by increased demand from our hyperscaler customers for our HPS networking products. HPS revenue for 2024 increased 63% compared to 2023 and accounted for 29% of our total revenue.

CCS segment margin improved to 7.4% in 2024 compared to 6.2% in 2023, driven by greater operating leverage, as well as improved mix.

We currently anticipate continued growth in our CCS segment in 2025. We expect strong growth in our Communications end market throughout 2025, driven by program ramps and robust demand. In our Enterprise end market, we continue to expect demand softness in the first half of 2025, driven by the technology transition in an AI/machine learning (AI/ML) compute program with a large hyperscaler customer. However, we expect Enterprise end market revenue to improve during the second half of 2025 compared to the first half, supported by the ramping of AI/ML compute programs.

Common Share Repurchases:

On October 30, 2024, we terminated a prior NCIB which commenced on December 14, 2023 and was scheduled to expire on December 13, 2024 (Prior Bid), and the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) accepted our notice to launch a new NCIB

(New Bid). Under the Prior Bid, we purchased and cancelled a total of 2.9 million Common Shares, out of the 11.8 million Common Shares we were authorized to repurchase. As a result of the early termination and renewal of the Prior Bid, the 2.9 million Common Shares purchased under the Prior Bid were deducted from the New Bid's annual limit as per the requirements of the TSX. Under the New Bid, we may repurchase at our discretion, from November 1, 2024 until the earlier of October 31, 2025 or the completion of purchases thereunder, up to approximately 8.6 million Common Shares in the open market (representing approximately 10.0% of the "public float" (within the meaning of the rules of the TSX) at October 18, 2024 less the 2.9 million Common Shares purchased under the Prior Bid), or as otherwise permitted, subject to the normal terms and limitations of such bids. The maximum number of Common Shares we are permitted to repurchase for cancellation under the New Bid will be reduced by the number of Common Shares we arrange to be purchased by any non-independent broker in the open market during its term to satisfy delivery obligations under our stock-based compensation (SBC) plans. From the commencement of the New Bid through February 20, 2025, we paid a total of: (i) \$57.5 million (including transaction fees) to repurchase 0.5 million Common Shares, at a weighted average price of \$105.18 per share, for cancellation; and (ii) \$239.6 million (including transaction fees) to repurchase 1.9 million Common Shares, at a weighted average price of \$126.10 per share, for delivery obligations under our SBC plans.

During 2024, we paid an aggregate of \$152.0 million (including transaction fees) to repurchase a total of 3.2 million Common Shares for cancellation (2.9 million under the Prior Bid and 0.3 million under the New Bid), at a weighted average price of \$47.15 per share. We also paid an aggregate of \$119.6 million in 2024 to purchase 3.0 million Common Shares in the open market through an independent broker for delivery obligations under our SBC plans.

See note 12 to our 2024 AFS for further details.

Operating Goals and Priorities

Our current operating goals and priorities are set forth below.

Evolving our Revenue Portfolio — To evolve our revenue portfolio, we intend to continue to focus on: (i) pursuing revenue growth in attractive markets where we believe we can establish a competitive presence, including in our HPS business, (ii) driving sustainable, profitable revenue growth, (iii) growing our aggregate ATS segment revenue organically by an average of 10% per year over the long term, (iv) supplementing our organic growth with disciplined and targeted acquisitions intended to expand capabilities, and (v) optimizing our portfolio to drive more consistent returns and profitability.

Margins and Non-GAAP adjusted earnings per share (EPS)* — Our goal is to: (i) grow non-GAAP adjusted EPS* at 10%+ CAGR** over the long-term, and (ii) continue to focus on improvements to our segment margins† and non-GAAP adjusted operating margin*.

The duration and impact of global supply constraints, other industry market conditions, and other external factors described herein are not within our control, and may therefore impact our ability to achieve the foregoing goals.

Balanced Approach to Capital Allocation — We are focused on maintaining a strong balance sheet, generating non-GAAP free cash flow* and balancing our debt and capital levels, while maintaining optimal financial flexibility. In terms of capital allocation, our goal is to: (i) return capital to shareholders, primarily through share repurchases, on an opportunistic basis, (ii) generally invest 1.5% to 2.0% of annual revenue in capital expenditures to support our organic growth over the long term, and (iii) pursue potential strategic acquisitions as part of a disciplined capital allocation framework.

The foregoing priorities and areas of intended focus constitute our objectives and goals, and are not intended to be projections or forecasts of future performance. Our future performance is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual outcomes and results to differ materially from the goals and priorities described above.

- † Segment performance is evaluated based on segment revenue, segment income and segment margin (segment income as a percentage of segment revenue), each of which is defined in "Operating Results Segment income and margin" below.
- * Non-GAAP adjusted EPS, non-GAAP adjusted operating margin (each a ratio based on a non-GAAP financial measure), and non-GAAP free cash flow are non-GAAP financial measures without standardized meanings, and may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below for the definitions and uses of these non-GAAP financial measures, and a reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly-

comparable financial measures determined under GAAP for specified periods. We do not provide reconciliations for forward-looking non-GAAP financial measures, as we are unable to reasonably estimate the items that we exclude from GAAP to calculate comparable non-GAAP measures without unreasonable effort.

** CAGR (compound annual growth rate), is calculated using the formula: (Ending Value / Beginning Value)^(1/number of years) -1.

Our Strategy

We remain committed to making the investments we believe are required to support our long-term objectives and to create shareholder value, while simultaneously managing our costs and resources to maximize our efficiency and productivity. Within both of our segments, we are focused on: increasing penetration in our end markets; diversifying our customer mix and product portfolios, including increasing design and development, engineering, and after-market services (higher value-added services, including ITAM/ITAD); and diversifying our capabilities. However, customer demand dynamics or the costs of investments that we deem desirable may prevent us from achieving our diversification objectives. In addition, the ramping activities associated with investments that we do make may be significant and could negatively impact our margins in the short and medium term. To counteract these factors, we continue to invest in and deploy automation and digital factory solutions and capabilities throughout our network to improve quality and productivity. Our Celestica Operating System, which standardizes best practices and processes across our network, continues to drive operational optimization and improved supply chain resiliency. Our recent productivity initiatives and related restructuring actions were also intended to further streamline our business and increase operational efficiencies.

As part of our growth efforts, we have recently undertaken investments geared towards capacity and capability expansions at our Thailand, Malaysia and Richardson, U.S. facilities in support of our growth in AI/ML and HPS programs. We also established design centers of excellence in Chennai, India, Penang, Malaysia (in proximity to our expanded Kulim, Malaysia manufacturing site) and Santa Clara, U.S. and Richardson, U.S. to further increase the breadth of HPS offerings available to our customers.

As we expand our business, open new sites, or transfer business within our network to accommodate growth or achieve synergies and supply chain resilience, we may encounter difficulties that result in higher than expected costs associated with such activities. Potential difficulties related to such activities are described in Item 1A, Risk Factors, "We may encounter difficulties expanding or consolidating our operations or introducing new competencies or new offerings, which could adversely affect our operating results" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, of which this MD&A forms a part. Any such difficulties could prevent us from realizing the anticipated benefits of growth in our business, including in new markets or technologies, which could materially adversely affect our business and operating results.

We may, at any time, be in discussions with respect to possible acquisitions or strategic transactions. There can be no assurance that any of these discussions will result in a definitive agreement and, if they do, what the terms or timing of any such agreement would be. There can also be no assurance that any acquisition or other strategic transaction will be successfully integrated or will generate the returns we expect. We may fund our acquisitions and other strategic transactions from cash on hand, third-party borrowings, the issuance of securities, or a combination thereof.

External Factors that May Impact our Business

External factors that could have a material and adverse impact on our industry and/or business include government legislation, regulations, or policies, supplier or customer financial difficulties, fires and related disruptions, political instability, increased political tension between countries (including increased tensions between the U.S. and other countries and between mainland China and Taiwan) as well as threats of retaliatory action from other countries, geopolitical dynamics, terrorism, armed conflict (including the Russia/Ukraine conflict and the conflicts in the Middle East area (Middle East Conflicts)), labor or social unrest, criminal activity, cybersecurity incidents, natural disasters and unusually adverse weather conditions (including those caused by climate change), such as hurricanes, tornados, other extreme storms, wildfires, droughts and floods, disease or illness or other widespread health concerns, pandemics, epidemics or outbreaks of illness that affects local, national or international economies, and other risks present in the jurisdictions in which we, our customers, our suppliers, and/or our logistics partners operate. These types of events could disrupt operations or the economics of one or more of our sites or those of our customers, component suppliers and/or our logistics partners. These events could also lead to higher costs or supply shortages and may disrupt the delivery of components to us, or our ability to provide finished products or services to our

customers in a manner that is economical to us and/or them, if at all, any of which could (and in the case of materials constraints, had in the past and may in the future) have a material negative impact on our operating results.

As some sub-tier suppliers providing raw materials, such as high-grade aluminum, are partially dependent on supply from Russia/Ukraine, we will continue to closely monitor the supply availability and price fluctuations of these raw materials. However, the impact of the current Russia/Ukraine conflict on our supply chain has not been significant to date. In addition, as certain of our suppliers are located in, and we source certain parts from the Middle East, we are closely monitoring the impact of the Middle East conflicts on our supply chain. We are in close contact with our suppliers and logistics providers in the area, and neither we nor they (to our knowledge) have experienced any significant impact to date.

Our operating costs have increased, and may continue to increase, as a result of the growth in inflation. Although we have been successful in offsetting the majority of our increased costs with increased pricing for our products and services to date, we cannot assure continued success in this regard, and unrecovered increased operating costs in future periods would adversely impact our margins. We cannot predict future trends in the rate of inflation or other negative economic factors or associated increases in our operating costs. Furthermore, our customers may choose to reduce their business with us if we increase our pricing. In addition, uncertainty in the global economy (including the severity and duration of global inflation and/or recession) and financial markets may impact current and future demand for our customers' products and services, and consequently, our operations. We continue to monitor the dynamics and impacts of the global economic and financial environment and work to manage our priorities, costs and resources to anticipate and prepare for any changes we deem necessary.

Governmental actions related to international trade agreements have increased (and could further increase) the cost to our U.S. customers who use our non-U.S. manufacturing sites and components, and vice versa, which may materially and adversely impact demand for our services, our results of operations or our financial condition. Changes in policies by the U.S. or other governments could negatively affect our operating results due to changes in duties, tariffs, or taxes, or limitations on currency or fund transfers, as well as government-imposed restrictions on producing certain products in, or shipping them to, specific countries, or as the result of other similar actions by other countries or citizens affected by such changes in policies. In prior periods, our Capital Equipment business and our CCS segment were negatively impacted by U.S. technology export controls with respect to China (which are intended, in part, to restrict China's ability to obtain advanced computing chips, develop and maintain supercomputers, and manufacture advanced semiconductors), and China's policy supporting its private sector businesses. We have increased the resilience of our global network to manage this dynamic. However, given the uncertainty regarding the scope and duration of these or further trade actions and whether trade tensions will escalate further, their impact on the demand for our services, our operations and results for future periods cannot be currently quantified, but may be material. We will continue to monitor the scope and duration of trade actions by the U.S. and other governments on our business.

Uncertainties resulting from government policies or legislation, and/or increased political tensions between countries, may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In general, changes in social, political, regulatory and economic conditions or in laws and policies governing foreign trade, taxation, manufacturing, clean energy, the healthcare industry, AI and/or development and investment in the jurisdictions in which we, and/or our customers or suppliers operate, could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. See Item 1A, Risk Factors, "Our operations have been and could continue to be adversely affected by events outside our control" and "U.S. policies or legislation could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, of which this MD&A forms a part, for further detail.

We rely on a variety of contracted or common carriers to transport raw materials and components from our suppliers to us, and to transport our products to our customers. The use of contracted or common carriers is subject to a number of risks, including increased costs due to rising energy prices and labor, vehicle and insurance costs, hijacking and theft resulting in lost shipments, delivery delays resulting from port congestion and labor shortages and/or strikes, and other factors beyond our control. Although we attempt to mitigate our liability for any losses resulting from these risks through the use of multiple carriers and modes of transport, as well as insurance, any costs or losses relating to shipping or shipping delays that cannot be mitigated, avoided or passed on to our customers could reduce our profitability, require us to manufacture replacement products or damage our relationships with our customers. Although we have incurred some increased shipping expenses and delays as a result of the Middle East Conflicts, such increases and delays have not been significant to date. However, there can be no assurance that this will continue to be the case.

If a key supplier (or any company within such supplier's supply chain) experiences financial or other difficulties, this may affect its ability to supply us with materials, components or services, which could halt or delay the production of a customer's products, and/or have a material adverse impact on our operations, financial results and customer relationships.

The pace of technological changes (including AI-related technologies) and the frequency of customer outsourcing or transferring business among EMS and/or ODM competitors, may impact our business, results of operations and/or financial condition. Data center deployments, which have numerous, specific infrastructure requirements, have influenced our revenue variability and may continue to impact our future demand.

We rely on IT networks and systems, including those of third-party service providers, to process, transmit and store electronic information. In particular, we depend on our IT infrastructure for a variety of functions, including product manufacturing, worldwide financial reporting, inventory and other data management, procurement, invoicing and email communications. Any of these systems are susceptible to outages due to fire, floods, power loss, telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks, sabotage, cybersecurity threats and incidents, and similar events. Although we have not been materially impacted by computer viruses, malware, ransomware, hacking incidents or outages, we have been (and may in the future be) the target of such events.

Insufficient customer liquidity may result in significant delays in or defaults on payments owed to us. In addition, customer financial difficulties or changes in demand for our customers' products may result in order cancellations and higher than expected levels of inventory, which could have a material adverse impact on our operating results and working capital performance. We may not be able to return or resell this inventory, or we may be required to hold the inventory for an extended period of time, any of which may result in our having to record additional inventory reserves. We may also be unable to recover all of the amounts owed to us by a customer, including amounts to cover unused inventory or capital investments we incurred to support that customer's business. Our failure to collect amounts owed to us and/or the loss of one or more major customers could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, financial position and cash flows. See "Capital Resources — Financial instruments and financial risks" below for a discussion of customer credit risk reviews we conduct. No significant credit adjustments were recorded in 2024 or to date.

We maintain high levels of inventory to support the growth of our business (and in prior years in response to global supply chain constraints). We continue to work with certain of our customers to obtain cash deposits to alleviate the impact of inventory purchases on our cash flows. See Item 1A, Risk Factors, "*Our products and services involve inventory risk*" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, of which this MD&A forms a part, for further detail.

Customer decisions to shift production between EMS and ODM providers, or to change the amount of business they outsource or the concentration or location of their EMS suppliers, have impacted and may continue to impact, among other items, our revenue and margins, the need for future restructuring, the level of capital expenditures and our cash flows.

Summary of Key Operating Results and Financial Information

Our 2024 AFS have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and accounting policies we adopted in accordance with GAAP. Such consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary to present fairly our financial position as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and the operating results and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024. Also see "Recently adopted accounting pronouncements" in note 2 to our 2024 AFS.

The following tables set forth certain key operating results and financial information for the periods indicated (in millions, except per share amounts and percentages):

Vear	ended	Decem	her	31

_	2024	 2023	2022	% Change 2024 v. 2023	% Change 2023 v. 2022
Revenue	9,646.0	\$ 7,961.0	\$ 7,250.0	21 %	10 %
Gross profit	1,033.7	754.1	649.7	37 %	16 %
Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A)	293.5	303.2	267.3	(3)%	13 %
Restructuring and other charges, net of recoveries	19.4	12.1	6.7	60 %	81 %
Net earnings	428.0	244.4	180.1	75 %	36 %
Diluted earnings per share\$	3.61	\$ 2.03	\$ 1.46	78 %	39 %

	Year ended December 31				
Segment revenue* as a percentage of total revenue:	2024	2023	2022		
ATS revenue (% of total revenue)	33 %	42 %	41 %		
CCS revenue (% of total revenue)	67 %	58 %	59 %		

Year ended December 31	
2023	

Segment income and segment margin*:	2024		2023			2022		
		Segment Margin			Segment Margin		Segment Margin	
ATS segment\$	144.1	4.6%	\$	155.0	4.7%	\$ 140.3	4.7%	
CCS segment	478.5	7.4%		286.6	6.2%	217.6	5.1%	

^{*} Segment performance is evaluated based on segment revenue, segment income and segment margin (segment income as a percentage of segment revenue), each of which are defined in "Operating Results — Segment income and margin" below.

	December 31 2024	De	cember 31 2023
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 423.3	\$	370.4
Total assets	5,988.2		5,890.5
Borrowings under term loans ⁽¹⁾	741.2		608.9
Borrowings under revolving credit facility ⁽²⁾	_		_

⁽¹⁾ excluding unamortized debt issuance costs.

⁽²⁾ excluding ordinary course letters of credit (L/Cs).

_	Year	ende	d Decem	ber (31
	2024		2023		2022
Cash provided by operating activities	473.9	\$	326.2	\$	211.1
Common Share repurchase activities:					
Aggregate cost (including transaction fees) of Common Shares repurchased for cancellation ⁽¹⁾ \$	152.0	\$	35.6	\$	34.6
Number of Common Shares repurchased for cancellation (in millions)(2)	3.2		2.6		3.4
Weighted average price per share for repurchases\$	47.15	\$	13.83	\$	10.45
Aggregate cost (including transaction fees) of Common Shares repurchased for delivery under SBC plans ⁽³⁾ \$	119.6	\$	82.3	\$	44.9
Number of Common Shares repurchased for delivery under SBC plans (in millions) ⁽⁴⁾ .	3.0		3.7		3.9

- (1) For 2023, excludes an accrual of \$2.7 million recorded at December 31, 2023 for the estimated contractual maximum number of permitted Common Share repurchases (Contractual Maximum Quantity) under an Automatic Share Purchase Plan (ASPP) entered into in December 2023; for 2024, excludes an accrual of \$2.8 million at December 31, 2024 for share buyback taxes.
- (2) Includes 0.5 million, 0.9 million and 2.5 million repurchases of Common Shares for cancellation under ASPPs in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
- (3) For 2023, excludes an accrual of \$7.5 million recorded at December 31, 2023 for the estimated Contractual Maximum Quantity under an ASPP entered into in September 2023 for delivery obligations under our SBC plans.

(4) Consists entirely of Common Share repurchases for SBC delivery obligations under ASPPs for such purpose through an independent broker.

Other performance indicators:

In addition to the key operating results and financial information described above, management reviews the following measures:

	Q4 2024	Q3 2024	Q2 2024	Q1 2024	Q4 2023	Q3 2023	Q2 2023	Q1 2023
Cash cycle days:								
Days in accounts receivable (A/R)	. 73	71	71	75	72	65	60	66
Days in inventory	. 73	75	81	93	104	113	123	129
Days in accounts payable (A/P)	(55)	(56)	(59)	(62)	(62)	(64)	(68)	(75)
Days in cash deposits*	(22)	(24)	(29)	(38)	(42)	(42)	(42)	(44)
Cash cycle days	69	66	64	68	72	72	73	76
Inventory turns	5.0x	4.9x	4.5x	3.9x	3.5x	3.2x	3.0x	2.8x

^{*} We receive cash deposits from certain of our customers primarily to help reduce risks related to excess and/or obsolete inventory. See "Customer cash deposits for inventory" in the table below.

		2024			2023				
(in millions)	December 31	September 30	June 30	March 31	December 31	September 30	June 30	March 31	
A/R Sales	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 11.6	\$ —	\$ 66.5	\$ 253.5	\$ 282.6	
Supplier Financing Programs* (SFPs)	_	_	13.3	65.2	18.6	92.5	112.4	128.2	
Total	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 13.3	\$ 76.8	\$ 18.6	\$ 159.0	\$ 365.9	\$ 410.8	
Customer cash deposits for inventory	\$ 511.6	\$ 521.1	\$ 576.4	\$ 719.4	\$ 904.8	\$ 874.8	\$ 809.7	\$ 810.8	

^{*} Represents A/R sold to third party banks in connection with the uncommitted SFPs of three customers (one CCS segment customer and two ATS segment customers).

The amounts we sell under our A/R sales program and the SFPs can vary from quarter to quarter (and within each quarter) depending on our working capital and other cash requirements, including by geography. See charts above and "Liquidity — Cash requirements — Financing Arrangements" below.

Days in A/R is defined as the average A/R for the quarter divided by the average daily revenue. Days in inventory, days in A/P and days in cash deposits are calculated by dividing the average balance for each item for the quarter by the average daily cost of sales. Cash cycle days is defined as the sum of days in A/R and days in inventory minus the days in A/P and days in cash deposits. Inventory turns are determined by dividing 365 by the number of days in inventory. A lower number of days in A/R, days in inventory, and cash cycle days, and a higher number of days in A/P, days in cash deposits, and inventory turns generally reflect improved cash management performance.

Cash cycle days decreased by 3 days in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023. Days in A/R for Q4 2024 increased 1 day from Q4 2023 to 73 days, primarily due to higher average A/R in Q4 2024, largely offset by the impact of higher revenue in Q4 2024. Our average A/R balance in Q4 2024 increased compared to Q4 2023 primarily due to higher revenue in Q4 2024, as well as timing of revenue and collections. Days in inventory for Q4 2024 decreased 31 days from Q4 2023 to 73 days primarily due to lower average inventory levels and higher cost of sales in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023. Lower average inventory levels in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023 were due to the alleviation of supply chain constraints, as well as the utilization of inventory in production in response to customer demand. Higher cost of sales in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023 was due to our business growth. Days in A/P decreased 7 days from Q4 2023 to 55 days in Q4 2024 primarily due to higher cost of sales in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023. Days in cash deposits decreased 20 days from Q4 2023 to 22 days in Q4 2024 primarily due to higher costs of sales and lower average cash deposits in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023. We received cash deposits from certain customers to help alleviate the impact of inventory purchases on our cash flows (see chart above). Our customer cash deposit balance fluctuates depending on the levels of inventory we have been asked to procure by certain customers (to secure supply

for future demand), or as we utilize the inventory in production. The decrease in average cash deposits in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023 were consistent with the decrease of average inventory levels.

Cash cycle days increased 3 days in Q4 2024 compared to Q3 2024. Days in A/R for Q4 2024 increased 2 days sequentially primarily due to higher average A/R balances in Q4 2024 compared to Q3 2024, partially offset by the effect of higher revenue in Q4 2024. Our average A/R balance in Q4 2024 increased compared to Q3 2024 due to higher revenue in Q4 2024, as well as timing of revenue and collections. Days in inventory for Q4 2024 decreased 2 days sequentially primarily due to lower average inventory levels in Q4 2024. Average inventory levels decreased in Q4 2024 compared to Q3 2024 due to utilization of inventory in production in response to customer demand. Days in A/P for Q4 2024 decreased 1 day sequentially primarily due to lower average A/P in Q4 2024 compared to Q3 2024 (driven by timing of payments). Days in cash deposits for Q4 2024 decreased 2 days primarily due to lower average cash deposits. The sequential decrease in average cash deposits were consistent with the sequential decrease of average inventory levels.

We believe that cash cycle days (and the components thereof) and inventory turns are useful measures in providing investors with information regarding our cash management performance and are accepted measures of working capital management efficiency in our industry.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies, the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosures with respect to contingent assets and liabilities. We base our judgments, estimates and assumptions on current facts, historical experience and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The economic environment also impacts certain estimates and discount rates necessary to prepare our consolidated financial statements, including significant estimates and discount rates applicable to the determination of the fair value used in the impairment testing of our non-financial assets. Our assessment of these factors forms the basis for our judgments on the carrying values of our assets and liabilities, and the accrual of our costs and expenses. Actual results could differ materially from our estimates and assumptions. We review our estimates and underlying assumptions on an ongoing basis and make revisions as determined necessary by management. Revisions are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and may also impact future periods.

Our review of the estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the preparation of our 2024 AFS included those relating to, among others: our determination of the timing of revenue recognition, the determination of whether indicators of impairment existed for our assets and reporting units, our measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities, our estimated inventory write-downs and expected credit losses, customer creditworthiness, and the determination of the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and contingent consideration in connection with a business combination. Any revisions to estimates, judgments or assumptions may result in, among other things, impairments of our assets or reporting units, any of which could have a material impact on our financial performance and financial condition.

Significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are described in note 2 to our 2024 AFS. The following is a discussion of accounting estimates which management considers to be "critical," defined as accounting estimates made in accordance with GAAP that involve a significant level of estimation uncertainty, and have had, or are reasonably likely to have, a material impact on the Company's financial condition or results of operations.

On February 1, 2025, the President of the United States issued three executive orders directing the U.S. to impose new tariffs on imports originating from Canada, Mexico and China. On February 3, 2025, the U.S. announced that the implementation of tariffs on Canada and Mexico would be paused for 30 days. Our review of the estimates, judgments and assumptions also included consideration of the potential impacts of these tariffs, including with respect to the determination of whether indicators of impairment existed for our reporting units.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgment: We have applied significant estimates, judgments and assumptions in the following areas which we believe could have a significant impact on our reported results and financial position: our determination of the timing of revenue recognition; whether events or changes in circumstances are indicators that an impairment review of our assets or reporting units should be conducted; the measurement of our reporting units' fair value

using market participant assumptions, which includes estimating future growth, profitability, and discount and terminal growth rates; and the allocation of the purchase price and other valuations related to our business acquisitions.

Revenue recognition:

Where products are custom-made to meet a customer's specific requirements, and such customer is obligated to compensate us for the work performed to date, we recognize revenue over time as production progresses to completion, or as services are rendered. We generally estimate revenue for our work in progress based on costs incurred to date plus a reasonable profit margin for eligible products for which we do not have alternative uses. We apply significant estimates, judgment and assumptions in interpreting our customer contracts, determining the timing of revenue recognition and measuring work in progress.

Impairment of goodwill:

For purposes of impairment testing, we allocate goodwill to a reporting unit, which is an operating segment or one level below an operating segment (component), that we expect will benefit from the related acquisition. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis and whenever events and changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may be impaired. A qualitative assessment is allowed to determine if goodwill is potentially impaired. Based on this qualitative assessment, if we determine that it is more likely than not that the reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying value (including goodwill), then we perform a quantitative assessment, otherwise no further analysis is required.

Recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit's carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit, which is typically measured using a discounted cash flow analysis. Certain of these approaches use significant unobservable inputs and require management to make various judgmental assumptions about revenue growth rates, operating margins, and discount rates. If the carrying amount of any reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we will record an impairment loss based on the difference. The impairment loss will be limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. We do not reverse impairment losses in future periods.

Impairment of long-lived assets:

Long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment (PP&E), operating lease right-of-use (ROU) assets and intangible assets with finite lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. In order to determine if assets have been impaired, assets are grouped and tested at the lowest level for which identifiable independent cash flows are available (asset group). An impairment loss is recognized when the sum of projected undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset group. The measurement of the impairment loss to be recognized is based on the difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the asset group. Fair value may be determined using a market approach or income approach and is based on management's assumptions, including future revenue and cash flow projections. We do not reverse impairment losses in future periods.

Business combinations:

We use judgment to determine the estimates used to value identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and the fair value of contingent consideration and other potential obligations, if applicable, at the acquisition date. We may engage third parties to determine the fair value of certain inventory, PP&E and intangible assets. We use estimates to determine cash flow projections, including the period of expected future benefit, future growth and discount rates, among other factors, to value intangible assets and contingent consideration. The fair value of acquired tangible assets are measured by applying the market, cost or replacement cost, or income approach (using discounted cash flows and forecasts by management), as appropriate. The fair value of acquired intangible assets are measured by applying the income approach using a discounted cash flow model and forecasts based on management's estimates and assumptions.

Operating Results

Our product and service volumes, revenue and annual and quarterly operating results are affected by, among other factors: the level and timing of customer orders; our customer and business mix and the types of products or services we provide; the rate at which, the costs associated with, and the execution of, new program ramps; demand volumes; price competition and other competitive factors; the mix of manufacturing or service value-add; manufacturing capacity, utilization

and efficiency; the degree of automation used in the assembly process; the availability of components or labor; the location of qualified personnel; costs and inefficiencies of transferring programs between sites; program completions or losses, or customer disengagements and the timing and the margin of follow-on business or any replacement business; the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations; the performance of third-party providers; our ability to manage inventory, production location and equipment effectively; our ability to manage changing labor, component, energy and transportation costs effectively; fluctuations in variable compensation costs; the timing of our expenditures in anticipation of forecasted sales levels; and the timing of any acquisitions and related integration costs. Significant period-to-period variations can also result from the timing of new programs reaching full production or programs reaching end-of-life, the timing of follow-on or next generation programs and/or the timing of existing programs being fully or partially transferred internally or to a competitor. See "Overview — Overview of business environment" and "Recent Developments" above for a discussion of the impact of recent market conditions on our segments and businesses.

Operating results expressed as a percentage of revenue:

Year ended December 31			
2024	2023	2022	
100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	
89.3	90.5	91.0	
10.7	9.5	9.0	
3.0	3.8	3.7	
0.8	0.8	0.6	
0.5	0.5	0.6	
0.2	0.2	0.1	
6.2	4.2	4.0	
0.5	1.0	0.7	
0.2	(0.6)		
5.5	3.8	3.3	
1.1	0.7	0.8	
4.4%	3.1%	2.5%	
	2024 100.0% 89.3 10.7 3.0 0.8 0.5 0.2 6.2 0.5 0.2 5.5 1.1	2024 2023 100.0% 100.0% 89.3 90.5 10.7 9.5 3.0 3.8 0.8 0.8 0.5 0.5 0.2 0.2 6.2 4.2 0.5 1.0 0.2 (0.6) 5.5 3.8 1.1 0.7	

Revenue:

Revenue of \$9.6 billion for 2024 increased 21% compared to 2023. Revenue of \$8.0 billion for 2023 increased 10% compared to 2022.

The following table sets forth segment revenue information (in millions, except percentages) for the periods indicated:

	Year ended December 31								
_	202	2024		2023			2022		
_		% of total			% of total			% of total	
ATS segment revenue	\$ 3,155.5	33 %	\$	3,319.8	42 %	\$	2,979.0	41 %	
CCS segment revenue									
Communications	\$ 3,946.7	41 %	\$	2,675.6	33 %	\$	2,865.0	40 %	
Enterprise	2,543.8	26 %		1,965.6	25 %		1,406.0	19 %	
9	\$ 6,490.5	67 %	\$	4,641.2	58 %	\$	4,271.0	59 %	
Total revenue	\$ 9,646.0	100 %	\$	7,961.0	100 %	\$	7,250.0	100 %	

ATS segment revenue for 2024 decreased \$164.3 million (5%) compared to 2023, driven by the anticipated demand softness in our Industrial business, partially offset by strength in our A&D and Capital Equipment businesses.

ATS segment revenue for 2023 increased \$340.8 million (11%) compared to 2022, driven by the ramping of new programs in our Industrial business (29% revenue increase), improving demand in our A&D business (32% revenue increase)

and solid growth in our HealthTech business (16% revenue increase), partially offset by demand softness in our Capital Equipment business.

CCS segment revenue for 2024 increased \$1,849.3 million (40%) compared to 2023. Communications end market revenue for 2024 increased \$1,271.1 million (48%) compared to 2023 driven by increased demand for HPS networking products from hyperscaler customers. HPS revenue for 2024 increased 63% (to \$2.8 billion) compared to 2023, and accounted for 29% of our total 2024 revenue (compared to 21% of our total 2023 revenue), driven by strong demand for networking products from hyperscaler customers. Enterprise end market revenue for 2024 increased \$578.2 million (29%) compared to 2023, driven primarily by stronger demand in our storage business and stronger demand for compute products from our hyperscaler customers.

CCS segment revenue for 2023 increased \$370.2 million (9%) compared to 2022, driven by growth in our Enterprise end market, offset in part by the anticipated demand softness in our Communications end market. Communications end market revenue for 2023 decreased \$189.4 million (7%) compared to 2022 driven by anticipated demand softness and strong comparative revenue in 2022. Enterprise end market revenue for 2023 increased \$559.6 million (40%) compared to 2022, driven by strong demand for AI/ML compute from our hyperscaler customers. HPS revenue for 2023 decreased 7% (to \$1.7 billion) compared to 2022, and accounted for 21% of our total 2023 revenue (compared to 25% of our total 2022 revenue), due to strong comparative revenue in 2022.

We depend on a small number of customers for a substantial portion of our revenue. In the aggregate, our top 10 customers represented 73% of total revenue for 2024, 64% for 2023 and 66% for 2022. Two customers individually represented 10% or more of total revenue in 2024 (28% and 11%). One customer individually represented 10% or more of total revenue in 2023 (22%). Two customers individually represented 10% or more of total revenue in 2022 (11% for each customer).

We generally enter into master supply agreements with our customers that provide the framework for our overall relationship, although such agreements do not typically guarantee a particular level of business or fixed pricing. Instead, we bid on a program-by-program basis and receive customer purchase orders for specific quantities and timing of products. We cannot assure that our current customers will continue to award us with follow-on or new business. Customers may also cancel contracts, and volume levels can be changed or delayed, any of which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations, working capital performance (including requiring us to carry higher than expected levels of inventory, particularly in a supply-constrained environment, to enable us to meet demand requirements), and result in lower asset utilization and lower margins. We cannot assure the replacement of completed, delayed, cancelled or reduced orders, or that our current customers will continue to utilize our services, or renew their long-term manufacturing or services contracts with us on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, in any given quarter, we can experience quality and process variances related to materials, testing or other manufacturing or supply chain activities. Although we are successful in resolving the majority of these issues, the existence of these variances could have a material adverse impact on the demand for our services in future periods from any affected customers. Further, some of our customer agreements require us to provide specific price reductions to our customers over the term of the contracts, which has had, and may continue to have a significant impact on our revenues and margins. Continuing market shifts to disaggregated solutions and open hardware platforms are adversely impacting demand from our traditional OEM Communications customers, but favorably impacting our service provider customers and our HPS business. There can be no assurance that revenue from any of our major customers will continue at historical levels or will not decrease in absolute terms or as a percentage of total revenue. A significant revenue decrease or pricing pressures from these or other customers, or a loss of a major customer or program, could have a material adverse impact on our business, our operating results and our financial position.

Gross profit:

The following table shows gross profit and gross margin (gross profit as a percentage of total revenue) for the periods indicated:

	Year ended December 31					
_	2024	2024 2023		2022		
Gross profit (in millions)	1,033.7	\$	754.1	\$	649.7	
Gross margin	10.7%		9.5%		9.0%	

Gross profit for 2024 increased \$279.6 million (37%) compared to 2023, primarily due to our strong revenue growth. Gross margin increased to 10.7% in 2024 from 9.5% in 2023, primarily driven by operating leverage and production efficiencies in our CCS segment. Gross profit for 2024 also included \$39.6 million in favorable total return swap fair value adjustments (TRS FVAs) compared to nil for 2023. TRS FVAs for 2023 was recorded in Miscellaneous Expense (Income) (defined in "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below).

Gross profit for 2023 increased \$104.4 million (16%) compared to 2022, primarily due to the revenue growth in both segments, partially offset by the effect of higher inventory write-downs in 2023 (\$59.9 million) compared to 2022 (\$32.1 million). Increases in inventory write-downs in 2023 compared to 2022 resulted from reduced demand for certain aged inventory. Gross margin increased to 9.5% in 2023 from 9.0% in 2022, primarily driven by volume leverage in both segments, improved mix and production efficiencies.

Certain of our customer agreements require us to provide specific price reductions over the contract term, which has significantly impacted revenue and margins. This adverse impact is expected to continue. In general, multiple factors can cause gross margin to fluctuate from period to period including, among others: volume and mix of products or services; higher/lower revenue concentration in lower gross margin products and businesses; pricing pressures; contract terms and conditions; production management; utilization of manufacturing capacity; changing material and labor costs, including variable labor costs associated with direct manufacturing employees and other costs that we cannot recover from our customers; manufacturing and transportation costs; start-up and ramp-up activities; new product introductions; disruption in production at individual sites, including as a result of program transfers; cost structures at individual sites; foreign exchange volatility; and the availability of components and materials. Order cancellations and delays could also lower our asset utilization, resulting in lower margins. Significant period-to-period changes in margins can also occur if new program wins or follow-on business are more competitively priced than past programs. In addition, customers from time to time shift programs to us from other service providers, including some for lower complexity, light touch programs that are aggressively priced, which can adversely impact future operating results. Our gross profit and SG&A expenses (discussed below) are also impacted by the level of variable compensation expense (including awards under our incentive and SBC plans) we record in each period.

SG&A:

SG&A for 2024 of \$293.5 million (3.0% of total revenue) decreased \$9.7 million compared to \$303.2 million (3.8% of total revenue) for 2023. The decrease in SG&A for 2024 compared to 2023 was primarily due to the \$51.4 million favorable TRS FVAs related to our total return swap agreement (TRS Agreement) recorded in 2024, offset by higher variable compensation and variable spend.

SG&A for 2023 of \$303.2 million (3.8% of total revenue) increased \$35.9 million compared to \$267.3 million (3.7% of total revenue) for 2022, primarily due to higher variable compensation and higher foreign exchange losses in 2023 compared to 2022, as well as an audit settlement recorded in 2023 of certain historical value-added tax filings for one of our subsidiaries in Asia.

Segment income and margin:

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment revenue (set forth above), segment income and segment margin (segment income as a percentage of segment revenue). Revenue is attributed to the segment in which the product is manufactured or the service is performed. Segment income is defined as a segment's revenue less its cost of sales and its allocatable portion of SG&A and R&D expenses (collectively, Segment Costs). Identifiable Segment Costs are allocated directly to the applicable segment while other Segment Costs, including indirect costs and certain corporate charges, are allocated to our segments based on an analysis of the relative usage or benefit derived by each segment from such costs. Segment income excludes employee SBC expense, amortization of intangible assets (excluding computer software), Restructuring and Other charges (Recoveries), TRS FVAs related to our TRS Agreement, Miscellaneous Expense (Income) and transitional hedge reclassifications and adjustments related to foreign currency forward exchange contracts (FCC Transitional ADJ) (each defined in "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below), as well as finance costs, as these costs, charges/recoveries and adjustments are managed and reviewed by our chief executive officer at the company level. See the reconciliation of segment income to our earnings before income taxes for 2022 — 2024 in note 22 to the 2024 AFS. Our segments do not record intersegment revenue. Although segment income and segment margin are used to evaluate the performance of our segments, we may incur operating costs in one segment that may also benefit the other segment. Our accounting policies for segment reporting are the same as those applied to the Company as a whole.

ATS segment income for 2024 decreased \$10.9 million (7%) compared to 2023, due primarily to ATS revenue decrease in 2024 compared to 2023. ATS segment margin decreased to 4.6% from 4.7% in 2023 primarily driven by a reduction in operating leverage in our Industrial business, partially offset by improved profitability in our Capital Equipment and A&D businesses.

ATS segment income for 2023 increased \$14.7 million (10%) compared to 2022, due primarily to ATS revenue increase in 2023 compared to 2022. ATS segment margin remained flat at 4.7% in 2023 compared to 2022 as the benefits of operating leverage and program ramps in our Industrial business were offset by softness in our Capital Equipment business. Both ATS segment income and segment margin were also negatively impacted by the higher inventory write-downs in 2023 compared to 2022 noted above.

CCS segment income for 2024 increased \$191.9 million (67%) compared to 2023 as a result of the revenue increase described above. CCS segment margin increased to 7.4% in 2024 from 6.2% in 2023, primarily driven by greater operating leverage, as well as improved mix.

CCS segment income for 2023 increased \$69.0 million (32%) compared to 2022 as a result of the revenue increase described above. CCS segment margin increased to 6.2% in 2023 from 5.1% in 2022, primarily driven by higher volumes and improved mix. The increase in CCS segment income and margin was partially offset by the impact of the higher inventory write-downs in 2023 compared to 2022 noted above.

SBC expense and TRS FVAs:

Unless a grantee has been authorized, and elects, to settle these awards in cash, Celestica intends to settle all outstanding restricted share units (RSUs) and performance share units (PSUs) with Common Shares. Accordingly, we account for these share unit awards as equity-settled awards.

Our SBC expense may fluctuate from period to period to account for, among other things, new grants, forfeitures resulting from employee terminations or resignations, and the recognition of accelerated SBC expense for employees eligible for retirement (generally in the first quarter of the year associated with our annual grants). The portion of our employee SBC expense that relates to performance-based compensation is subject to adjustment in any period to reflect changes in the estimated level of achievement of pre-determined performance goals and financial targets.

In December 2022, we entered into the TRS Agreement to manage our cash flow requirements and exposure to fluctuations in the share price of our Common Shares in connection with the settlement of certain outstanding equity awards under our SBC plans. See "Liquidity — Cash requirements — TRS" below for further detail.

The following table shows employee SBC expense (with respect to stock options, RSUs and PSUs granted to employees), TRS FVAs, and director SBC expense (with respect to deferred share units (DSUs) and RSUs issued to directors as compensation) for the periods indicated (in millions):

	Year ended December 31				
	2024	2023	2022		
Employee SBC expense in cost of sales	24.8 \$	22.6 \$	20.3		
Employee SBC expense in SG&A	32.6	33.0	30.7		
Total employee SBC expense	57.4 \$	55.6 \$	51.0		
TRS FVAs (gains) in cost of sales	(39.6) \$	— \$	_		
TRS FVAs (gains) in SG&A	(51.4)		_		
TRS FVAs (gains) in Miscellaneous Expense (Income)	_	(45.6)			
Total TRS FVAs (gains)	(91.0) \$	(45.6) \$	_		
Combined effect of employee SBC expense and TRS FVAs: expenses (recoveries)	(33.6) \$	10.0 \$	51.0		
Director SBC expense in SG&A ⁽¹⁾	2.4 \$	2.4 \$	2.2		

⁽¹⁾ Expense consists of director compensation to be settled with Common Shares, or Common Shares and cash, as elected by each director.

The increase in favorable TRS FVAs in 2024 compared to 2023 was due to fluctuations in our Common Share price. TRS FVAs in 2022 was *de minimis*.

Restructuring and other charges, net of recoveries:

In addition to the items set forth below, other charges, net of recoveries for 2022 included approximately \$95 million in aggregate charges representing write-downs to inventories, a building and equipment resulting from a fire accrued in June 2022 at our Batam facility in Indonesia, as well as equivalent amounts in recoveries, as we expected to fully recover the written-down amounts pursuant to the terms and conditions of our insurance policies. As a result, such event had no net impact on other charges, net of recoveries during 2022. See note 14 to the 2024 AFS. To date, we have recovered substantially all of our tangible asset losses through insurance proceeds.

(i) Restructuring charges:

We perform ongoing evaluations of our business, operational efficiency and cost structure, and implement restructuring actions as we deem necessary. Our restructuring activities consisted primarily of actions to adjust our cost base to address reduced levels of demand in certain of our businesses and geographies.

In 2024, we recorded \$11.6 million of restructuring charges, consisting primarily of cash charges related to employee terminations (2023 — \$11.2 million; 2022 — \$8.4 million).

Our restructuring provision at December 31, 2024 was \$2.9 million (December 31, 2023 — \$3.6 million), which we recorded in the current portion of provisions on our consolidated balance sheet.

We may also implement additional future restructuring actions or divestitures as a result of changes in our business, the marketplace and/or our exit from less profitable, under-performing, non-core or non-strategic operations. In addition, an increase in the frequency of customers transferring business to our competitors, changes in the volumes they outsource, pricing pressures, or requests to transfer their programs among our sites or to lower-cost locations, may also result in our taking future restructuring actions. We may incur higher operating expenses during periods of transitioning programs within our network or to our competitors. Any such restructuring activities, if undertaken, could adversely impact our operating and financial results, and may require us to further adjust our operations.

(ii) Transition Costs (Recoveries):

Transition Costs (Recoveries) are defined under "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below. In March 2019, as part of our Toronto real property sale, we entered into a 10-year lease with the purchaser of such property for our then-anticipated headquarters, to be built by such purchaser on the site of our former location (Purchaser Lease). Due to a number of construction-related commencement date delays, in November 2022, we extended (on a long-term basis) the lease on our current corporate headquarters, and in Q3 2023, we executed a sublease for a portion of the leased space under the Purchaser Lease (Sublease). The Purchaser Lease commenced in June 2024 and related ROU assets and lease liabilities were recognized in our consolidated financial statements. Consistent with our prior treatment as Transition Costs of duplicate and idle premises costs incurred as a result of our 2019 Toronto real property sale, we recorded Transition Costs of \$4.3 million in 2024 and \$0.8 million in 2023 related to the sublet of the Purchaser Lease. We incurred no Transition Recoveries in 2024 or 2023.

In 2022, we recorded \$1.5 million of Transition Costs, related primarily to the disposal of assets reclassified as held for sale in Q1 2022, and \$3.6 million of Transition Recoveries, reflecting the gain on the subsequent disposal of such assets held for sale.

(iii) Asset impairment:

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances (triggering events) indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis and whenever triggering events suggest that the carrying amount may be impaired. See "Critical Accounting Estimates" above and note 2(j) to our 2024 AFS. We did not identify any triggering events during 2024, 2023 or 2022 indicating that the carrying amount of our long-lived assets or goodwill may not be recoverable. We conduct the annual impairment of goodwill in the

fourth quarter of each year (Annual Impairment Assessment). No impairments to our goodwill were recorded as a result of our 2024, 2023 or 2022 Annual Impairment Assessments.

See notes 2(j) and 8 to our 2024 AFS for a discussion of when impairment losses for our long-lived assets and goodwill are recognized, and how we determine our cash flow projections for our Annual Impairment Assessment, including the cash flow projection periods, growth rates, and discount rates. Assumptions for our 2024 Annual Impairment Assessment for: (i) our Capital Equipment reporting unit include expected continued stable market demand in the near term with strong business growth over the long term; (ii) our A&D reporting unit include expected demand increases in line with industry expectations; and (iii) our PCI reporting unit include expected demand improvements from various customers and benefits from our continued execution of synergistic programs.

Our goodwill balance is allocated to the following reporting units (in millions):

	Decembe	r 31
	2024	2023
Capital Equipment	\$ 131.0 \$	131.6
A&D	66.3	66.3
PCI Private Limited (PCI)	123.8	123.8
NCS Global Services LLC (NCS), acquired in 2024	19.4	_
	\$ 340.5 \$	321.7

(iv) Acquisition costs:

We incur consulting, transaction and integration costs relating to potential and completed acquisitions. We recorded acquisition costs of \$2.5 million in 2024, related to potential acquisitions and our acquisition of NCS. We recorded \$1.0 million of acquisition costs in 2023, all related to potential acquisitions, and \$0.4 million of acquisition costs in 2022, all related to our PCI acquisition.

(vi) Other charges (recoveries):

In 2024, we recorded other charges of \$2.3 million related to our transition as a U.S. domestic filer, offset by other recoveries of \$1.3 million consisting of legal recoveries in connection with the settlement of class action lawsuits (for component parts purchased in prior periods) in which we were a plaintiff (Parts Recoveries). In 2023, we recorded Parts Recoveries of \$2.7 million, offset in part by an aggregate of \$1.8 million of costs, substantially all of which consisted of fees and expenses of the two underwritten secondary public offerings by Onex, our then-controlling shareholder, completed in June 2023 and August 2023 (Secondary Offerings).

Finance Costs:

Finance Costs consist of interest expense and fees related to our credit facility (including debt issuance and related amortization costs), our interest rate swap agreements, our TRS Agreement, our A/R sales program, customer SFPs, and interest expense on our finance lease obligations, net of interest income earned. During 2024, we recorded Finance Costs of \$52.1 million (2023 — \$78.9 million; 2022 — \$51.7 million).

We recorded \$26.8 million in lower Finance Costs in 2024 compared to 2023, primarily due to \$15.1 million in lower charges incurred under our A/R sales program and customer SFPs and \$11.1 million of favorable impact from our interest rate swaps recorded in 2024, offset by \$2.8 million in third party fees and costs incurred in connection with the amendment of our credit facility in June 2024 (June 2024 Amendment) (see "Liquidity — Cash provided by and used in financing activities — Financing and Finance Costs" below).

We incurred lower Finance Costs in 2024 under our A/R sales agreement and customer SFPs compared to 2023, primarily as a result of lower aggregate amounts sold under these arrangements in 2024 (approximately \$182 million) compared to 2023 (approximately \$1,959 million). We recorded \$11.1 million of favorable impact in Finance Costs related to our interest rate swaps in 2024, and recorded no such impact in 2023 and 2022 in Finance Costs. We have entered into interest rate swaps to hedge the floating rate risks related to our term loans. As described in "Miscellaneous Expense (Income)" below, our interest

rate swaps did not qualify for hedge accounting prior to 2024, and as a result, the effects of our interest rate swaps were excluded from Finance Costs in 2023 and 2022 but included in Finance Costs in 2024. See note 15 to our 2024 AFS for the impacts of interest rate swaps we recorded in Miscellaneous Expense (Income).

We recorded \$27.2 million in higher Finance Costs in 2023 compared to 2022, primarily due to \$5.5 million in higher charges incurred under our A/R sales program and customer SFPs, and \$20.5 million in higher interest incurred under our credit facility (excluding the impacts of interest rate swaps in both 2023 and 2022). We incurred higher Finance Costs under our A/R sales program and customer SFPs due to higher interest rates in 2023 compared to 2022, offset in part by the effect of selling lower aggregate amounts of A/R in 2023 compared to 2022 under these arrangements (aggregate of approximately \$1,959 million sold during 2023 compared to approximately \$2,218 million sold during 2022). We incurred higher interest under our credit facility due to higher interest rates, partially offset by lower average intra-quarter borrowings under our revolving loan facility in 2023 compared to 2022. See the credit facility activity table in "Liquidity — Cash provided by and used in financing activities — Financing and Finance Costs" for cumulative aggregate intra-quarter borrowings and repayments under our revolving loan facility in each quarter in 2024, 2023 and 2022. Also see "Liquidity — Cash requirements — Financing Arrangements."

Miscellaneous Expense (Income):

Miscellaneous Expense (Income) consists primarily of: (i) certain net periodic benefit costs (credits) related to our pension and post-employment benefit plans, consisting of interest costs and expected returns on pension balances, and amortization of actuarial gains or losses and (ii) gains or losses related to our TRS Agreement and foreign currency forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps that we entered into prior to 2024. Those derivative instruments were accounted for as either cash flow hedges (qualifying for hedge accounting) or economic hedges under IFRS. However, those contracts were not accounted for as such under GAAP until January 1, 2024. Certain gains and losses related to those contracts were recorded in Miscellaneous Expense (Income).

We recorded \$15.0 million in net miscellaneous expense in 2024, compared to \$46.6 million in net miscellaneous income in 2023 and \$1.5 million in net miscellaneous income in 2022. In 2023, we recorded \$45.6 million in favorable TRS FVAs in Miscellaneous Expense (Income). See note 15 to our 2024 AFS for details of Miscellaneous Expense (Income). See "SBC expense and TRS FVAs" above for the TRS FVAs we recorded in each of 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Income taxes:

For 2024, we had a net income tax expense of \$104.2 million on earnings before tax of \$532.2 million, compared to a net income tax expense of \$61.6 million on earnings before tax of \$306.0 million for 2023, and a net income tax expense of \$59.0 million on earnings before tax of \$239.1 million for 2022.

Our net income tax expense for 2024 included a \$22.3 million withholding tax expense incurred to minimize the impact of the enactment of Pillar Two (global minimum tax) legislation in Canada, a \$14.0 million tax expense for tax uncertainties relating to one of our Asian subsidiaries (Tax Uncertainties) and a \$3.9 million tax expense arising from taxable temporary differences associated with the anticipated repatriation of undistributed earnings (Repatriation Expense) from certain of our Asian subsidiaries, offset in part by the recognition of \$23.8 million of previously unrecognized deferred tax assets arising from both our NCS acquisition in our U.S. group of subsidiaries and deductible temporary differences in one of our Asian subsidiaries (DTA Recognition), and \$11.8 million of reversals of tax uncertainties (Reversals) relating to certain of our Asian subsidiaries. Our functional and reporting currency is the U.S. dollar; however, our income tax expense is based in certain jurisdictions on taxable income determined in the currency of the country of origin. As a result, the impact of taxable foreign exchange affects our income tax expense from period to period. Taxable foreign exchange impacts were not significant in 2024.

Our net income tax expense for 2023 included an \$11.3 million tax expense arising from both the repatriation of undistributed earnings and taxable temporary differences associated with anticipated repatriation of undistributed earnings from certain of our Asian subsidiaries and a \$4.8 million in Tax Uncertainties, partially offset by the favorable impact of \$5.5 million in Reversals in another of our Asian subsidiaries. Withholding tax of \$5.8 million associated with the repatriation of undistributed earnings from certain of our Asian subsidiaries in 2023 (realized as current tax) was fully offset by the reversal of previously-accrued deferred taxes from the then-anticipated repatriation of such undistributed earnings. Taxable foreign exchange impacts were not significant in 2023.

Our net income tax expense for 2022 included an adverse \$3.5 million taxable foreign exchange impact arising primarily from the weakening of the Chinese renminbi relative to the U.S. dollar and a \$3.3 million Repatriation Expense related to certain of our Chinese subsidiaries, offset in part by \$4.9 million in favorable Reversals in one of our Asian subsidiaries. The withholding tax of \$10.3 million associated with the repatriation of undistributed earnings from our certain Chinese subsidiaries in 2022 (realized as current tax) was fully offset by the reversal of previously accrued deferred taxes from the then-anticipated repatriation of such undistributed earnings.

We conduct business operations in a number of countries, including countries where tax incentives have been extended to encourage foreign investment or where income tax rates are low. Our effective tax rate can vary significantly from period to period for various reasons, including as a result of the mix and volume of business in various tax jurisdictions, and in jurisdictions with tax holidays, and tax incentives that have been negotiated with the respective tax authorities (see discussion below). Our effective tax rate can also vary due to the impact of restructuring charges, foreign exchange fluctuations, operating losses, cash repatriations, certain tax exposures, the time period in which losses may be used under tax laws and whether management believes it is probable that future taxable profit will be available to allow us to recognize deferred income tax assets.

Certain countries in which we do business grant tax incentives to attract and retain our business. Our tax expense could increase if certain tax incentives from which we benefit are retracted or exhausted. A retraction could occur if we fail to satisfy the conditions on which these tax incentives are based, or if they are not renewed or replaced upon expiration. Our tax expense could also increase if tax rates applicable to us in such jurisdictions are otherwise increased, or due to changes in legislation or administrative practices. Changes in our outlook in any particular country could impact our ability to meet the required conditions.

Our tax incentives currently consist of tax exemptions for the profits of our Thailand and Laos subsidiaries. We have the following four income tax incentives in Thailand: (i) a 5-year 50% income tax exemption that expires in 2027; (ii) an 8-year 100% income tax and distribution tax exemption that expires in 2028 (6-year 2028 Thailand tax incentive) and (iv) a 6-year 100% income tax and distribution tax exemption that expires in 2029. Our Thailand tax incentives are capped at our investments in Thailand. We have reached the limit in 2024 for the 6-year 2028 Thailand tax incentive. Our tax incentive in Laos allows for a 100% income tax exemption until 2025, and a reduced income tax rate of 8% thereafter. Upon full expiry of each of the incentives, taxable profits associated with such incentives become fully taxable. The aggregate tax benefit arising from all of our tax incentives was approximately \$44 million for 2024 (2023 — \$40 million; 2022 — \$21 million).

In certain jurisdictions, primarily in the Americas and Europe, we currently have significant net operating losses and other deductible temporary differences, some of which we expect will be used to reduce taxable income in these jurisdictions in future periods, although not all are currently recognized as deferred tax assets. In addition, the tax benefits we are able to record related to restructuring charges and SBC expenses may be limited, as a significant portion of such amounts are incurred in jurisdictions with unrecognized loss carryforwards. Tax benefits we are able to record related to the accounting amortization of intangible assets are also limited based on the structure of our acquisitions. We review our deferred income tax assets at each reporting date and reduce them to the extent we believe it is no longer probable that we will realize the related tax benefits.

We develop our tax filing positions based upon the anticipated nature and structure of our business and the tax laws, administrative practices and judicial decisions currently in effect in the jurisdictions in which we have assets or conduct business, all of which are subject to change or differing interpretations, some of which with retroactive effect (e.g., Canada's Pillar Two legislation). We are subject to tax audits in various jurisdictions which could result in additional tax expense in future periods relating to prior results. Reviews by tax authorities generally focus on, but are not limited to, the validity of our inter-company transactions, including financing and transfer pricing policies which generally involve subjective areas of taxation and significant judgment. Any such increase in our income tax expense and related interest and/or penalties could have a significant adverse impact on our future earnings and future cash flows.

In 2021, the Romanian tax authorities issued a final assessment in the aggregate amount of approximately 31 million Romanian leu (approximately \$6 million at 2024 year-end exchange rates), for additional income and value-added taxes for one of our Romanian subsidiaries for the 2014 to 2018 tax years. In order to advance our case to the appeals phase and reduce or eliminate potential interest and penalties, we paid the Romanian tax authorities the full amount assessed in 2021 (without agreement to all or any portion of such assessment). We believe that our originally-filed tax return positions are in compliance

with applicable Romanian tax laws and regulations, and intend to vigorously defend our position through all necessary appeals or other judicial processes.

In Q4 2024, the Thailand tax authorities issued an assessment letter seeking to impose additional value-added taxes and surcharges in the aggregate amount of approximately 403 million Thai baht (approximately \$12 million at 2024 year-end exchange rates) for our Thai subsidiary for the 2019 tax year. We believe that our original positions with respect to the value-added taxes are in compliance with applicable Thai tax laws and regulations, and intend to vigorously defend our position through all necessary appeals or other judicial processes.

The successful pursuit of assertions made by any government authority, including tax authorities, could result in our owing significant amounts of tax or other reimbursements, interest and possibly penalties. We believe we adequately accrue for any probable potential adverse ruling. However, there can be no assurance as to the final resolution of any claims and any resulting proceedings. If any claims and any ensuing proceedings are determined adversely to us, the amounts we may be required to pay could be material, and in excess of amounts accrued.

Net earnings:

Net earnings for 2024 increased \$183.6 million compared to 2023. The increase was primarily due to \$279.6 million in higher gross profit and \$26.8 million in lower Finance Cost, offset in part by \$61.6 million in higher Miscellaneous Expense (Income), \$42.6 million in higher income tax expense and \$17.1 million in higher R&D costs (to support the growth of our HPS business).

Net earnings for 2023 increased \$64.3 million compared to 2022. The increase was primarily due to \$104.4 million in higher gross profit and \$45.1 million in higher net miscellaneous income, offset in part by \$35.9 million in higher SG&A, \$27.2 million in higher Finance Costs and \$14.6 million in higher R&D costs (to support the growth of our HPS business).

Related Party Transactions

For a discussion of prior related party arrangements and transactions involving the Company and Onex, our former controlling shareholder, see "Recent Developments — *Secondary Offerings and Related Matters*" and "Related Party Transactions" in Item 5 of our 2023 Form 20-F and note 16 to the 2024 AFS. All arrangements and transactions with Onex have terminated, and Onex is no longer a related party.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity

The following tables set forth key liquidity metrics for the periods indicated (in millions):

	December 31					
	2024		2023		2022	
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 423.3	\$	370.4	\$	374.5	
Borrowings under credit facility*	741.2		608.9		627.2	

^{*} excluding ordinary course L/Cs.

	Year ended December 31					
		2024		2023		2022
Cash provided by operating activities	\$	473.9	\$	326.2	\$	211.1
Cash used in investing activities.		(212.5)		(122.4)		(108.9)
Cash used in financing activities		(208.5)		(207.9)		(121.7)
Changes in non-cash working capital items (included in operating activities above):						
A/R	\$	(270.7)	\$	(402.2)	\$	(133.3)
Inventories		343.7		245.1		(717.2)
Other current assets		45.1		8.6		(51.2)
A/P, accrued and other current liabilities, provisions and income taxes payable		(188.8)		87.4		831.4
Working capital changes	\$	(70.7)	\$	(61.1)	\$	(70.3)

Cash provided by operating activities:

In 2024, we generated \$473.9 million of cash from operating activities compared to \$326.2 million in 2023. The \$147.7 million increase in cash from operating activities in 2024 as compared to 2023 was primarily due to \$183.6 million in higher net earnings in 2024 compared to 2023 (described in "Operating Results — Net earnings" above) and \$21.1 million in higher depreciation and amortization (as a non-cash add-back to net earnings, due to our increased capital expenditures in 2024 compared to 2023 as described in "Cash used in investing activities" below), partially offset by the following non-cash deductions from net earnings: (i) \$45.4 million in higher favorable TRS FVAs (described in "Operating Results — SBC expense and TRS FVAs" above) and \$28.3 million in higher deferred income tax recovery (primarily driven by recognition in 2024 of previously unrecognized deferred tax asset in our U.S. group of subsidiaries and in one of our Asian subsidiaries).

Our working capital requirements in 2024 increased by \$9.6 million compared to 2023, due to a \$276.2 million decrease in A/P cash flows, substantially offset by a \$131.5 million increase in A/R cash flows, a \$98.6 million increase in inventory cash flows and a \$36.5 million increase in other assets cash flows. The decrease in A/P cash flows was primarily due to lower customer deposits we collected as of December 31, 2024 from certain customers to help alleviate the impact of inventory purchases on our cash flows (see "Summary of Key Operating Results and Financial Information" above), as well as timing of payments. The increase in A/R cash flows was due to timing of collections and revenue. Inventory cash flows increased in 2024 compared to 2023 due to a lower inventory level at December 31, 2024 (driven by improvements in the availability of materials and our utilization of inventory in production in response to customer demand). Other current assets cash flow increased in 2024 compared to 2023 due to receipt of certain insurance proceeds and recovery of indirect taxes in certain jurisdictions in 2024.

In 2023, we generated \$326.2 million of cash from operating activities compared to \$211.1 million in 2022. The \$115.1 million increase in cash from operating activities in 2023 compared to 2022 was primarily due to \$64.3 million in higher net earnings in 2023 compared to 2022 (described in "Operating Results — Net earnings" above), \$39.6 million in adjustments related to certain derivative instruments (\$6.3 million unrealized loss on hedge derivatives in 2023, as a non-cash add-back to net earnings; \$33.3 million unrealized gain on hedge derivatives in 2022, as a non-cash deduction from net earnings), \$24.3 million in lower deferred income tax recovery (as a non-cash deduction from net earnings, primarily driven by revaluation of deferred taxes using the then-expected effective tax rate of one of our Asian subsidiaries) and \$14.9 million in higher depreciation and amortization (as a non-cash add-back to net earnings, due to our increased capital expenditures in 2023 compared to 2022 as described in "Cash used in investing activities" below), offset in part by \$45.6 million in favorable TRS FVAs recorded in 2023 (as a non-cash deduction from net earnings, described in "Operating Results — SBC expense and TRS FVAs" above). We recorded \$6.3 million unrealized loss on hedge derivatives in 2023, compared to \$33.3 million unrealized gain on hedge derivatives in 2022, primarily due to fair value fluctuations of our interest rate swaps (mainly driven by fluctuation of market interest rates).

Our working capital requirements in 2023 decreased by \$9.2 million compared to 2022 were due to a \$962.3 million improvement in inventory cash flows and a \$59.8 million increase in other current assets cash flows, substantially offset by a \$744.0 million decrease in A/P cash flows and a \$268.9 million decrease in A/R cash flows. Inventory cash flows improved in 2023 compared to 2022, due to lower inventory levels at December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022 (driven by improvements in the availability of materials). The increase in other current assets cash flows in 2023 compared to 2022 was

due to the timing of vendor deposits and a delay in the recovery of indirect taxes in certain jurisdictions in 2022. The decrease in A/R cash flows was due to a higher A/R balance at December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022 (driven by higher revenue in Q4 2023 compared to Q4 2022 and lower A/R sold through our A/R sales program and customer SFPs at December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022). The decrease in A/P cash flows in 2023 compared to 2022 was due to the timing of payments and smaller increases in customer deposits (customer deposits increased approximately \$392 million from December 31, 2021 to December 31, 2022 and approximately \$79 million from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2023). See "Summary of Key Operating Results and Financial Information" above. Customer deposit increases waned due to improvements in the availability of materials in 2023.

Non-GAAP free cash flow:

Non-GAAP free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure without a standardized meaning and may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. We define non-GAAP free cash flow as cash provided by or used in operations after the purchase of property, plant and equipment (net of proceeds from the sale of certain surplus equipment and property, when applicable). Non-GAAP free cash flow does not represent residual cash flow available to Celestica for discretionary expenditures. Management uses non-GAAP free cash flow as a measure, in addition to GAAP cash provided by or used in operations (described above), to assess our operational cash flow performance. We believe non-GAAP free cash flow provides another level of transparency to our ability to generate cash from normal business operations.

A reconciliation of non-GAAP free cash flow to cash provided by operating activities measured under GAAP is set forth below:

	Year ended December 31							
(in millions)	2024		2023		2022			
GAAP cash provided by operations	\$ 473.9	\$	326.2	\$	211.1			
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, net of sales proceeds	(168.0)		(122.4)		(108.9)			
Non-GAAP free cash flow	\$ 305.9	\$	203.8	\$	102.2			

Our non-GAAP free cash flow of \$305.9 million for 2024 increased \$102.1 million compared to 2023, due to \$147.7 million in higher cash generated from operations (as described above), offset by a \$45.6 million increase in cash flows used to purchase property, plant and equipment, net of sales proceeds (as described below).

Our non-GAAP free cash flow of \$203.8 million for 2023 increased \$101.6 million compared to 2022, due to \$115.1 million in higher cash generated from operations (as described above), offset by \$13.5 million increase in cash flows used to purchase property, plant and equipment, net of sales proceeds (as described below).

Cash used in investing activities:

Our capital expenditures for 2024 were \$170.9 million (2023 — \$125.1 million), primarily to enhance our manufacturing capabilities in various geographies (including expansion of our Thailand and Malaysia facilities) and to support new customer programs. Our capital expenditures in 2022 of \$109.0 million supported growth in our HPS business and our ATS segment, including expansion of our footprint at certain of our U.S., Southeast Asia and Mexico facilities. Most of the 2024 capital expenditures pertained to our CCS segment. In each of 2023 and 2022, our capital expenditures were split approximately evenly between our segments. We fund our capital expenditures from cash on hand and through the financing arrangements described below. See footnote (ii) to the "Additional Commitments" table below for information with respect to commitments for capital expenditures as of December 31, 2024.

In April 2024, we completed the acquisition of NCS. The purchase price for NCS was \$39.6 million, including acquired cash of \$3.5 million.

Cash provided by and used in financing activities:

Common Share repurchases:

See "Summary of Key Operating Results and Financial Information" above for a table detailing Common Share repurchases during each of 2022, 2023 and 2024.

Financing and Finance Costs:

Credit Agreement

We are party to a credit agreement (Credit Facility) with Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto, which as of the June 2024 Amendment, includes a term loan in the original principal amount of \$250.0 million (Term A Loan), a term loan in the original principal amount of \$500.0 million (Term B Loan, and collectively with the Term A Loan, the New Term Loans), and a \$750.0 million revolving credit facility (Revolver). Prior to the June 2024 Amendment, the Credit Facility included a term loan in the original principal amount of \$350.0 million (Initial Term Loan) and a term loan in the original principal amount of \$365.0 million (Incremental Term Loan), the outstanding borrowings under each of which were fully repaid with a substantial portion of the proceeds of the New Term Loans, and commitments of \$600.0 million under the Revolver. Notwithstanding (i) the repayment of the Incremental Term Loan in full and its replacement with the Term A Loan and (ii) the repayment of the Initial Term Loan in full and its replacement with the Term B Loan, for accounting purposes, such transactions were treated as non-substantial modifications of the Incremental Term Loan and the Initial Term Loan, respectively.

In June 2023 (effective for all new interest periods for existing borrowings and all new subsequent borrowings), we amended our Credit Facility (June 2023 Amendment) to replace LIBOR with the term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) plus 0.1% (Adjusted Term SOFR). The June 2023 Amendment did not have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Prior to the June 2024 Amendment, the Initial Term Loan was scheduled to mature in June 2025; the Incremental Term Loan and the Revolver each were scheduled to mature in March 2025, unless either (i) the Initial Term Loan would have been prepaid or refinanced or (ii) commitments under the Revolver would be available and have been reserved to repay the Initial Term Loan in full, in which case such obligations mature in December 2026. Subsequent to the June 2024 Amendment, the Term A Loan and the Revolver each mature in June 2029. The Term B Loan matures in June 2031.

Prior to the June 2024 Amendment, the Initial Term Loan required quarterly principal repayments of \$0.875 million (all repaid in prior years) and the Incremental Term Loan required quarterly principal repayments of \$4.5625 million. Subsequent to the June 2024 Amendment, the Term A Loan and the Term B Loan require quarterly principal repayments of \$3.125 million and \$1.250 million, respectively (each commencing in September 2024), and each of the New Term Loans requires a lump sum repayment of the remainder outstanding at maturity. We are also required to make annual prepayments of outstanding obligations under the Credit Facility (applied first to the New Term Loans, then to the Revolver, in the manner set forth in the Credit Facility) ranging from 0% — 50% (based on a defined leverage ratio) of specified excess cash flow for the prior fiscal year. No prepayments based on excess cash flow were required in 2022, 2023, 2024, or will be required in 2025. In addition, prepayments of outstanding obligations under the Credit Facility (applied as described above) may also be required in the amount of specified net cash proceeds received above a specified annual threshold (including proceeds from the disposal of certain assets). No prepayments based on net cash proceeds were required in 2022, 2023, 2024, or will be required in 2025. Any outstanding amounts under the Revolver are due at maturity.

Activity under our Credit Facility for the periods indicated is set forth below (in millions):

	Revolver (excluding L/C)	Term loans
Outstanding balances as of December 31, 2021	<u> </u>	\$ 660.4
Amount borrowed in Q1 2022	228.0	_
Amount repaid in Q1 2022	(228.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q2 2022	348.0	_
Amount repaid in Q2 2022	(348.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q3 2022	359.0	_
Amount repaid in Q3 2022	(359.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q4 2022	300.0	_
Amount repaid in Q4 2022	(300.0)	$(19.5625)^{(2)}$
Outstanding balances as of December 31, 2022	\$	\$ 627.2
Amount borrowed in Q1 2023	281.0	_
Amount repaid in Q1 2023	(281.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q2 2023	200.0	_
Amount repaid in Q2 2023	(200.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q3 2023	140.0	_
Amount repaid in Q3 2023	(140.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q4 2023	270.0	_
Amount repaid in Q4 2023	(270.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Outstanding balances as of December 31, 2023	\$ <u> </u>	\$ 608.9
Amount borrowed in Q1 2024	285.0	_
Amount repaid in Q1 2024	(257.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q2 2024	180.0 (3)	750.0 (4)
Amount repaid in Q2 2024	(208.0)	$(604.3)^{(5)}$
Amount borrowed in Q3 2024	20.0	_
Amount repaid in Q3 2024	(20.0)	$(4.375)^{(6)}$
Amount borrowed in Q4 2024	313.0	
Amount repaid in Q4 2024	(313.0)	$(4.375)^{(6)}$
Outstanding balances as of December 31, 2024	\$	\$ 741.2

- (1) Represents the scheduled quarterly principal repayment under the Incremental Term Loan.
- (2) Represents the scheduled quarterly principal repayment under the Incremental Term Loan and a \$15.0 million voluntary prepayment under the Initial Term Loan.
- (3) A portion was used to fund the NCS purchase price.
- (4) Represents borrowings under the New Term Loans.
- (5) Represents the repayment and termination of the Initial Term Loan and Incremental Term Loan.
- (6) Represents scheduled quarterly principal repayments under the New Term Loans.

Interest we paid under the Credit Facility, including the impact of our interest rate swap agreements (described below), was \$44.6 million in 2024 (2023 — \$45.3 million; 2022 — \$36.3 million). Interest we paid under the Credit Facility in 2024 was relatively consistent with 2023. We paid higher interest under our Credit Facility in 2023 compared to 2022 as a result of higher interest rates, partially offset by lower average intra-quarter borrowings during 2023 compared to 2022 (see the table above). Finance Costs we paid in 2024 under our A/R sales agreement and customer SFPs was \$1.2 million (2023 — \$16.3 million; 2022 — \$10.8 million). We paid lower Finance Costs under our A/R sales program and customer SFPs in 2024 compared to 2023, primarily due to lower aggregate amounts of A/R sold in 2024 (approximately \$182 million) compared to 2023 (approximately \$1,959 million). We paid higher Finance Costs under our A/R sales program and customer SFPs in 2023 compared to 2022 due to higher interest rates, offset in part by the effect of lower aggregate amounts of A/R sold in 2023 compared to 2022 under these arrangements (aggregate of approximately \$1,959 million during 2023 compared to

approximately \$2,218 million during 2022). See "Operating Results — *Finance Costs*" above for a description of Finance Costs incurred in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Any increase in prevailing interest rates, margins, or amounts borrowed, would cause our interest expense to increase. Interest rates for outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility at December 31, 2024, are described under "Capital Resources" below.

Under the Credit Facility, we are required to pay a commitment fee on the unused portion of the Revolver, which is calculated based on a defined consolidated leverage ratio and the daily balance outstanding. Commitment fees paid during 2024 were \$2.0 million (2023 — \$1.6 million; 2022 — \$1.4 million). We paid debt issuance costs of \$11.1 million in 2024 (2023 — \$0.4 million; 2022 — \$0.8 million) in connection with security arrangements under, and/or the amendment of, the Credit Facility. We paid higher debt issuance costs in 2024 compared to 2023 and 2022 due to the June 2024 Amendment.

Principal payments of finance leases:

During 2024, we paid \$9.7 million (2023 — \$9.9 million; 2022 — \$8.4 million) in principal payment of finance leases.

Proceeds from partial TRS settlement:

In September 2023, we terminated a portion of the TRS Agreement by reducing the notional amount thereunder by 0.5 million Common Shares. In connection therewith, we received \$5.0 million from the relevant counterparty. In February 2024, we terminated a further portion of the TRS Agreement by reducing the notional amount thereunder by an additional 1.25 million Common Shares, and received \$32.3 million from the relevant counterparty in connection therewith. See note 19 to the 2024 AFS for further detail.

SBC cash settlement:

In 2024, we made a cash payment of \$84.6 million (2023 — \$7.7 million) for the withholding taxes in connection with the RSUs and PSUs that vested during the year. In 2023, we also settled a portion of RSUs and PSUs that vested during the year with a cash payment of \$49.8 million.

Prior to September 2023, we were party to a services agreement with Onex for the services of an Onex officer as a member of our Board, pursuant to which Onex received compensation. This agreement terminated automatically in September 2023, and in accordance with its provisions, we paid Onex approximately \$9.2 million in cash in October 2023 to settle Onex's then-outstanding DSUs. The Onex officer resigned from our Board in September 2023.

Cash requirements:

Our working capital requirements can vary significantly from month-to-month due to a range of business factors, including the ramping of new programs, expansion of our services and business operations, timing of purchases, higher levels of inventory for new programs and anticipated customer demand, timing of payments and A/R collections, and customer forecasting variations. The international scope of our operations may also create working capital requirements in certain countries while other countries generate cash in excess of working capital needs. Moving cash between countries on a short-term basis to fund working capital is not always expedient due to local currency regulations, tax considerations, and other factors. As a result, we make intra-quarter borrowings and repayments under the Revolver (Intra-Quarter B/Rs, see the Credit Facility activity table under "Financing and Finance Costs — *Credit Agreement*" above for Intra-Quarter B/Rs during recent periods), sell A/R through our A/R sales program, and/or participate in available customer SFPs, when deemed necessary or desirable to effectively manage our short-term liquidity and working capital requirements. The timing and the amounts we borrow or repay under these facilities can vary significantly from month-to-month depending upon our cash requirements. As our operating activities provided funding for a substantial portion of our working capital needs, we sold fewer A/R under our A/R sales program and customer SFPs in 2024 compared to 2023, and made smaller Intra-Quarter B/Rs in 2024 compared to 2023. See "*Cash provided by and used in financing activities* — Financing and Finance Costs" above and "Financing Arrangements" below.

Based on our current cash flow budgets and forecasts of our short-term and long-term liquidity needs, we continue to believe that our current and projected sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund our anticipated liquidity needs for the next twelve months and beyond. Specifically, we believe that cash flow from operating activities, together with cash on hand, availability under the Revolver (\$738.9 million at December 31, 2024), potential availability under uncommitted intraday and overnight bank overdraft facilities, and cash from accepted sales of A/R, will be sufficient to fund our anticipated working capital needs, planned capital spending, contractual obligations and other cash requirements (including any required SBC share repurchases, debt repayments and Finance Costs). See "Capital Resources" below. Notwithstanding the foregoing, although we anticipate that we will be able to repay or refinance outstanding obligations under our Credit Facility when they mature (our primary current long-term cash liquidity requirement), there can be no assurance we will be able to do so, or that the terms of any refinancing will be favorable. In addition, we may require additional capital in the future to fund capital expenditures, acquisitions (including contingent consideration payments), strategic transactions or other investments. We will continue to assess our liquidity position and potential sources of supplemental liquidity in view of our objectives, operating performance, economic and capital market conditions and other relevant circumstances. Our operating performance may also be affected by matters discussed under the Risk Factors section of this Annual Report, of which this MD&A forms a part. These risks and uncertainties may adversely affect our long-term liquidity.

Contractual Obligations:

As at December 31, 2024, we had known contractual obligations that require future payments as follows (in millions):

7	Total	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	Thereafter
Borrowings under Credit Facility ⁽ⁱ⁾ \$	741.2	\$ 17.5	\$ 17.5	\$ 17.5	\$ 17.5	\$ 198.7	\$ 472.5
Lease obligations(ii)	253.9	47.2	41.2	31.7	27.7	26.8	79.3
Pension and non-pension post-employment plan estimated contributions ⁽ⁱⁱⁱ⁾	20.0	20.0	_	_	_	_	_
Binding purchase order obligations ^(iv) 4	,288.2	4,222.4	61.1	2.6	2.1		_
Purchase obligations under IT support agreements	91.8	29.0	21.6	15.9	10.0	5.2	10.1
Total ^(v) \$5	,395.1	\$4,336.1	\$ 141.4	\$ 67.7	\$ 57.3	\$ 230.7	\$ 561.9

- (i) Represents annual amortization of the New Term Loans, as well as principal repayment obligations at maturity (June 2029 for borrowings under the Term A Loan and June 2031 for the Term B Loan), based on amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2024, but excludes related interest and fees. See "Liquidity Cash provided by and used in financing activities Financing and Finance Costs" above for maturity dates, prepayment obligations, and annual interest and commitment fees paid under the Credit Facility in 2022 2024. See "Capital Resources" below and note 11 to our 2024 AFS for a description of the Credit Facility, including amounts outstanding thereunder, and applicable interest rates, commitment fee rates and margins. No mandatory principal prepayments of the New Term Loans based on specified excess cash flow or net cash proceeds will be required in 2025, but we are currently unable to determine whether any such prepayments will be required thereafter. Payment defaults under the Credit Facility will incur interest on unpaid amounts at an annual rate equal to the sum of (i) 2%, plus (ii) the rate per annum otherwise applicable to such unpaid amounts, or if no rate is specified or available, the rate per annum applicable to Base Rate revolving loans. If an event of default occurs and is continuing (and is not waived), the Administrative Agent may declare all amounts under the Credit Facility to be immediately due and payable, and may cancel the lenders' commitments to make further advances thereunder.
- (ii) Consists of lease payments associated with lease liabilities recognized on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024, as well as lease payments under our lease of certain space in Richardson, Texas (Texas Lease) from April 2027 through March 2032 (\$0.9 million in 2027, \$1.3 million in 2028, \$1.3 million in 2029 and \$3.0 million thereafter). The Texas Lease was not recognized as liabilities at December 31, 2024 on our consolidated balance sheet because such lease has not yet commenced. See note 7 to our 2024 AFS.
- (iii) The funding requirement for 2025 was based on our latest actuarial valuations. See note 17 to our 2024 AFS. A significant deterioration in the asset values or asset returns could lead to higher than expected future contributions. Adjustments to actuarial valuation measurements may also result in higher future cash contributions. We fund our pension and non-pension post-employment plan contributions from cash on hand. Although we have defined benefit plans that are currently in a net unfunded position, we do not expect our pension obligations will have a material adverse impact on our future results of operations, cash flows or liquidity.
- (iv) Consists of anticipated payments for purchase obligations recognized on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024 (\$1,294.8 million recorded in A/P and \$805.4 million recorded in accrued and other current liabilities, both included in the amount for 2025) and \$2,188.0 million in outstanding purchase orders not recognized on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024, as the related services or purchases were not rendered or received (as applicable) as of December 31, 2024. A substantial portion of these purchase orders are for standard inventory items which we have procured for specific customers based on their

- purchase orders or forecasts, under which such customers have contractually assumed liability for such material, if not consumed. In some cases, we have cash deposits from customers to help mitigate our exposure in connection with acquired inventory.
- This table excludes \$49.4 million of long-term deferred income tax liabilities and \$58.0 million of provisions and other non-current (v) liabilities primarily pertaining to warranties, as we are unable to reliably estimate the timing of any future payments related thereto. However, long-term liabilities included on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2024 include these items. In addition, at December 31, 2024, our interest rate swap agreements require us to pay a fixed rate of interest with respect to an aggregate of \$330.0 million outstanding under the New Term Loans. These payments, however, are partially offset by related interest we receive, based on the variable interest rates swapped. As the offsets are not determinable and vary from quarter to quarter, this table also excludes the interest payments on our interest rate swap agreements. Further, we are party to the TRS Agreement to manage our cash flow requirements and exposure to fluctuations in the price of our Common Shares in connection with the settlement of certain outstanding equity awards under our SBC plans. Under the TRS Agreement, the counterparty is obligated to make a payment to us upon its termination (in whole or in part) or expiration (Settlement) based on the increase (if any) in the value of the TRS (as defined in such agreement) over the agreement's term, in exchange for periodic payments made by us based on the counterparty's Common Share purchase costs and SOFR plus a specified margin. Similarly, if the value of the TRS decreases over the term of such agreement, we are obligated to pay the counterparty the amount of such decrease upon Settlement. See "Financing Arrangements — TRS" below for a description of a partial Settlement of the TRS Agreement in each of Q3 2023 and Q1 2024, and payments to us by the counterparty in connection therewith. As the interest payments will vary from period to period and the value of our Common Shares upon further Settlement cannot be determined at this time, this table also excludes the interest and or other payments that may be payable by us with respect to the TRS Agreement.

Additional Commitments:

As at December 31, 2024, we had additional commitments that expire as follows (in millions):

	Total	2025	2	026	2	027	2	028	2	2029	Ther	eafter
Foreign currency forward contracts and swaps notional amounts\$	748.0	\$ 748.0	\$		\$		\$		\$		\$	
L/Cs, letters of guarantee and surety bonds(i)	34.1	10.6		7.1		0.1				11.1		5.2
Capital expenditures(ii)	49.2	49.2		_						_		_
Total\$	831.3	\$ 807.8	\$	7.1	\$	0.1	\$		\$	11.1	\$	5.2

- (i) Includes \$11.1 million in L/Cs issued under our Revolver, which matures in June 2029. See "Liquidity Cash provided by and used in financing activities Financing and Finance Costs" above for the maturity dates of obligations under the Credit Facility.
- (ii) As at December 31, 2024, management had approved \$74.6 million for capital expenditures, primarily to increase manufacturing space at certain facilities and for machinery and equipment to support new customer programs (approximately 38% of which is committed for the Americas, approximately 53% of which is committed for Asia, and the remainder of which is committed for Europe). Of such approved amount, \$49.2 million in purchase orders were issued to third-party vendors as of December 31, 2024. Our capital spending varies each period based on, among other things, the timing of new business wins and forecasted sales levels. Based on our current plans, we anticipate capital spending for 2025 to be between 1.5% to 2.0% of revenue, and expect to fund these expenditures from cash on hand and through the financing agreements described below under "Capital Resources." Our intended 2025 capital spending is geared towards capacity expansion at certain sites in support of demand for AI/ML compute and HPS programs.

Cash outlays for our contractual obligations and commitments identified in the tables above are expected to be funded from cash on hand and through the financing arrangements described below under "Capital Resources."

Financing Arrangements:

The Term A Loan and the Term B Loan require quarterly principal repayments of \$3.125 million and \$1.250 million, respectively, and each of the New Term Loans requires a lump sum repayment of the remainder outstanding at maturity. As described above, we are also required to make annual prepayments of outstanding obligations under the Credit Facility based on specified excess cash flow and net cash proceeds. Although no such prepayments will be required in 2025, such prepayments may be required in future years. Any outstanding amounts under the Revolver are due at maturity. See "Liquidity — Cash provided by and used in financing activities — Financing and Finance Costs" above for annual interest and commitment fees paid under the Credit Facility, as well as a description of Intra-Quarter B/Rs. Interest rates applicable to borrowings under the Credit Facility are described under "Capital Resources" below.

We do not believe that the aggregate amounts outstanding under our Credit Facility as at December 31, 2024 (\$741.2 million under the New Term Loans, and \$11.1 million in ordinary course L/Cs), had or will have a material adverse impact on

our liquidity, our results of operations or financial condition (unless our debt obligations mature without refinancing). In addition, we do not believe that Intra-Quarter B/Rs have had (or future Intra-Quarter B/Rs will have) a material adverse impact on our liquidity, results of operations or financial condition. See "Capital Resources" below for a description of our available sources of liquidity.

However, our current outstanding indebtedness, and the mandatory prepayment provisions of the Credit Facility (described above), require us to use a portion of our cash flow to service such debt, and may reduce our ability to fund future acquisitions and/or to respond to unexpected capital requirements; limit our ability to obtain additional financing for future investments, working capital, or other corporate purposes; limit our ability to refinance our indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all; limit our flexibility to plan for and adjust to changing business and market conditions; increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions; and/or reduce our debt agency ratings. Existing or increased third-party indebtedness could have a variety of other adverse effects, including: (i) default and foreclosure on our assets if refinancing is unavailable on acceptable terms and we have insufficient funds to repay the debt obligations when due; and (ii) acceleration of such indebtedness or cross-defaults if we breach applicable financial or other covenants and such breaches are not waived.

The Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants that limit our ability to engage in specified types of transactions, and limit share repurchases for cancellation if our consolidated secured leverage ratio (as defined in such facility) exceeds a specified amount, as well as specified financial covenants (described in "Capital Resources" below). Currently, we expect to remain in compliance with our Credit Facility covenants. However, our ability to maintain compliance with applicable financial covenants will depend on our ongoing financial and operating performance, which, in turn, may be impacted by economic conditions and financial, market, and competitive factors, many of which are beyond our control. A breach of any such covenants could result in a default under the instruments governing our indebtedness.

As at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, other than ordinary course L/Cs, no amounts were outstanding under the Revolver (however, see the Credit Facility activity table under "Financing and Finance Costs — *Credit Agreement*" above for Intra-Quarter B/Rs during recent periods). At December 31, 2024, nil of A/R were sold under our A/R sales program (December 31, 2023 — nil). In addition, to offset the impact of extended payment terms for particular customers on our working capital, we also participate in three customer SFPs, pursuant to which we sell A/R from such customers to third-party banks on an uncommitted basis to receive earlier payment. At December 31, 2024, an aggregate of nil of A/R were sold under the SFPs (December 31, 2023 — \$18.6 million). During 2024, we sold an aggregate of approximately \$182 million under our A/R sales program and customer SFPs (2023 — \$1,959 million; 2022 — \$2,218 million). See "Capital Resources" below for a description of our A/R sales program and SFPs. We vary the amounts we offer to sell under our A/R sales program and customer SFPs depending on our short-term ordinary course cash requirements.

We expect to fund our Finance Costs with cash on hand.

TRS:

In December 2022, we entered into the TRS Agreement with a third-party bank with respect to an original notional amount of 3.0 million of our Common Shares (Original Notional Amount) to manage our cash flow requirements and exposure to fluctuations in the price of our Common Shares in connection with the settlement of certain outstanding equity awards under our SBC plans. The counterparty under the TRS Agreement is obligated to make a payment to us upon its termination (in whole or in part) or expiration (Settlement) based on the increase (if any) in the value of the TRS (as defined in the TRS Agreement) over the agreement's term, in exchange for periodic payments made by us based on the counterparty's Common Share purchase costs and the SOFR plus a specified margin. Similarly, if the value of the TRS (as defined in the TRS Agreement) decreases over the term of the TRS Agreement, we are obligated to pay the counterparty the amount of such decrease upon Settlement. The change in value of the TRS is determined by comparing the average amount realized by the counterparty upon the disposition of purchased Common Shares to the average amount paid for such Common Shares. In each of September 2023 and February 2024, we terminated a portion of the TRS Agreement by reducing the Original Notional Amount by 0.5 million Common Shares and 1.25 million Common Shares, respectively, and received \$5.0 million and \$32.3 million, respectively, from the counterparty in connection therewith, which we recorded as cash provided by financing activities in our consolidated statement of cash flows. As the interest payments under the TRS Agreement will vary from period to period and the value of our Common Shares upon further Settlement cannot be ascertained in advance, we cannot determine future interest and/or other payments that may be payable by (or to) us with respect to our TRS Agreement. We expect to fund required payments under our TRS Agreement from cash on hand.

Repatriations:

As at December 31, 2024, a significant portion of our cash and cash equivalents was held by foreign subsidiaries outside of Canada, a large part of which may be subject to withholding taxes upon repatriation under current tax laws. Cash and cash equivalents held by subsidiaries, which we do not intend to repatriate in the foreseeable future, are not subject to these withholding taxes. We repatriated approximately \$422 million of cash in 2024 from various of our foreign subsidiaries, and remitted withholding taxes of approximately \$23 million. We currently expect to repatriate an aggregate of approximately \$85 million of cash in the foreseeable future from various foreign subsidiaries, and have recorded anticipated related withholding taxes as deferred income tax liabilities (approximately \$5 million). While some of our subsidiaries are subject to local governmental restrictions on the flow of capital into and out of their jurisdictions (including in the form of cash dividends, loans or advances to us), which is required or desirable from time to time to meet our international working capital needs and other business objectives (as described above), these restrictions have not had (and are not reasonably likely to have) a material impact on our ability to meet our cash obligations. At December 31, 2024, we had approximately \$300 million (December 31, 2023 — \$285 million) of cash and cash equivalents held by foreign subsidiaries outside of Canada that we do not intend to repatriate in the foreseeable future.

Capital Expenditures:

Our capital spending varies each period based on, among other things, the timing of new business wins and forecasted sales levels. See footnote (iii) to the "Additional Commitments" table above for a description of approved capital expenditure amounts as of December 31, 2024, and anticipated capital expenditures for 2025. We expect to fund these expenditures from cash on hand and through the financing arrangements described below under "Capital Resources."

Common Share Repurchases:

We have funded and intend to continue to fund our Common Share repurchases under our NCIBs from cash on hand, borrowings under the Revolver, or a combination thereof. We have funded, and expect to continue to fund, Common Share repurchases to satisfy delivery obligations under SBC plan awards from cash on hand. The timing of, and the amounts paid for, these repurchases can vary from period to period. See "Summary of Key Operating Results and Financial Information" above.

Lease Obligations:

At December 31, 2024, we recognized a total of \$196.8 million of finance lease and operating lease obligations (December 31, 2023 — \$176.5 million). Also see footnote (ii) to the "Contractual Obligations" table above. All lease obligations are expected to be funded with cash on hand and through the financing arrangements described below under "Capital Resources."

Litigation and contingencies (including indemnities):

In the normal course of our operations, we may be subject to litigation, investigations and other claims, including legal, regulatory and tax proceedings. Management believes that adequate provisions have been recorded where required. Although it is not always possible to estimate the extent of potential costs, if any, management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such currently pending matters will not have a material adverse impact on our financial performance, financial position or liquidity. See "Operating Results — *Income Taxes*" above for a description of the ongoing Romanian income and value-added tax matter and Thailand value-added tax matter.

We provide routine indemnifications, the terms of which range in duration and scope, and often are not explicitly defined, including for third-party intellectual property infringement, certain negligence claims, and for our directors and officers. We have also provided indemnifications in connection with the sale of certain assets or business and each of the Secondary Offerings. The maximum potential liability from these indemnifications cannot be reasonably estimated. In some cases, we have recourse against other parties or insurance to mitigate our risk of loss from these indemnifications. Historically, we have not made significant payments relating to these types of indemnifications.

Capital Resources

Our capital resources consist of cash provided by operating activities, access to the Revolver, uncommitted intraday and overnight bank overdraft facilities, an uncommitted A/R sales program, three uncommitted SFPs, and our ability to issue debt or equity securities. We regularly review our borrowing capacity and make adjustments, as permitted, for changes in economic conditions and changes in our requirements. We centrally manage our funding and treasury activities in accordance with corporate policies, and our main objectives are to ensure appropriate levels of liquidity, to have funds available for working capital or other investments we determine are required to grow our business, to comply with debt covenants, to maintain adequate levels of insurance, and to balance our exposures to market risks.

At December 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$423.3 million (December 31, 2023 — \$370.4 million), the majority of which was denominated in U.S. dollars. We also held cash and cash equivalents in the following currencies: British pound sterling, Brazilian real, Canadian dollar, Chinese renminbi, Czech koruna, Euro, Hong Kong dollar, Indian rupee, Indonesian rupiah, Japanese yen, Korean won, Lao kip, Malaysian ringgit, Mexican peso, Philippine peso, Romanian leu, Singapore dollar, Taiwan dollar, and Thai baht. Our cash and cash equivalents are subject to intra-quarter swings, generally related to the timing of A/R collections, inventory purchases and payments, and other capital uses.

As of December 31, 2024, an aggregate of \$741.2 million was outstanding under the New Term Loans, and other than ordinary course L/Cs, no amounts were outstanding under the Revolver (December 31, 2023 — \$608.9 million outstanding under our prior term loans, and other than ordinary course L/Cs, no amounts outstanding under the Revolver). See "Liquidity — Cash provided by and used in financing activities — Financing and Finance Costs" above for a discussion of amounts borrowed and repaid under our Credit Facility during 2022, 2023 and 2024. Except under specified circumstances, and subject to the payment of breakage costs (if any), we are generally permitted to make voluntary prepayments of outstanding amounts under the Revolver and the New Term Loans without any other premium or penalty. Repaid amounts on the New Term Loans may not be re-borrowed. Repaid amounts on the Revolver may be re-borrowed. At December 31, 2024, we had \$738.9 million available under the Revolver for future borrowings, reflecting outstanding L/Cs issued under the Credit Facility (December 31, 2023 — \$589.5 million of availability).

The Credit Facility has an accordion feature that allows us to increase the New Term Loans and/or commitments under the Revolver by \$200.0 million, plus an unlimited amount to the extent that a specified leverage ratio on a pro forma basis does not exceed specified limits, in each case on an uncommitted basis and subject to the satisfaction of certain terms and conditions. The Revolver also includes a \$50.0 million sub-limit for swing-line loans, providing for short-term borrowings up to a maximum of ten business days, and a \$150.0 million sub-limit for L/Cs, in each case subject to the overall Revolver credit limit. The Revolver permits us and certain designated subsidiaries to borrow funds (subject to specified conditions) for general corporate purposes, including for capital expenditures, certain acquisitions, and working capital needs.

We amended our Credit Facility in June 2023 to replace LIBOR with Adjusted Term SOFR (See "Liquidity — Cash provided by and used in financing activities — Financing and Finance Costs" above). Subsequent to the June 2023 Amendment and prior to the June 2024 Amendment, borrowings under the Revolver bore interest, depending on the currency of the borrowing and our election for such currency, at: (i) Adjusted Term SOFR, (ii) Base Rate, (iii) Canadian Prime, (iv) an Alternative Currency Daily Rate or (v) an Alternative Currency Term Rate (each as defined in the Credit Facility prior to the June 2024 Amendment) plus a specified margin. The margin for borrowings under the Revolver and the Incremental Term Loan ranges from 1.50% to 2.25% for Adjusted Term SOFR borrowings (as applicable) and Alternative Currency borrowings, and from 0.50% to 1.25% for Base Rate and Canadian Prime borrowings, in each case depending on the rate we select and our consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Facility prior to the June 2024 Amendment). Commitment fees range from 0.30% to 0.45% depending on our consolidated leverage ratio.

Subsequent to the June 2024 Amendment, borrowings under the Revolver bear interest, depending on the currency of the borrowing and our election for such currency, at: (i) Adjusted Term SOFR, (ii) Base Rate, (iii) Canadian Prime, (iv) an Alternative Currency Daily Rate or (v) an Alternative Currency Term Rate (each as defined in the Credit Facility subsequent to the June 2024 Amendment) plus a specified margin. The margin for borrowings under the Revolver ranges from 1.50% to 2.25% for Adjusted Term SOFR, Alternative Currency Daily Rate or Alternative Currency Term Rate borrowings, and from 0.50% to 1.25% for Base Rate and Canadian Prime borrowings, in each case depending on the rate we select and a defined net leverage ratio. Commitment fees range from 0.30% to 0.45%, depending on our defined net leverage ratio. Outstanding amounts under the Term A Loan bear interest at Adjusted Term SOFR or Base Rate, plus a margin ranging from 1.50% — 2.25% for Adjusted Term SOFR borrowings and from 0.50% — 1.25% for Base Rate borrowings, in each case depending on

the rate we select and our defined net leverage ratio. Outstanding amounts under the Term B Loan bear interest at Term SOFR plus 1.75% or the Base Rate plus 0.75%, depending on the rate we select. At December 31, 2024, outstanding amounts under the Term A Loan bore interest at Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.75%; outstanding amounts under the Term B Loan bore interest at Term SOFR plus 1.75%; and no amounts were outstanding under the Revolver.

In order to partially hedge against our exposure to interest rate variability on our New Term Loans, we are party to various agreements with third-party banks to swap the variable interest rate with a fixed rate of interest. At December 31, 2024, we had interest rate swaps hedging the interest rate risk associated with \$130.0 million of our Term A Loan borrowings and \$200.0 million of our Term B Loan borrowings, each of which expire in December 2025. Prior to the June 2024 Amendment, these interest rate swaps were used to hedge \$100.0 million of our Initial Term Loan borrowings and \$230.0 million of our Incremental Term Loan borrowings. We continue to apply hedge accounting to our interest rate swaps, as the term loan borrowings prior to and subsequent to the June 2024 Amendment share the same floating interest rate risk. The option to cancel up to \$50.0 million of the notional amount of the interest rate swaps on the Incremental Term Loan from January 2024 through October 2025 was terminated in January 2024.

As we amended our Credit Facility in June 2023 to replace LIBOR with Adjusted Term SOFR, all of our interest rate swap agreements were similarly amended in June 2023 (which constituted our remaining agreements indexed to LIBOR). None of these amendments (individually or in the aggregate) had a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements. We continued to apply hedge accounting on our interest rate swaps.

At December 31, 2024, the interest rate risk related to \$411.2 million of borrowings under the Credit Facility was unhedged, consisting of \$411.2 million of unhedged amounts outstanding under the New Term Loans (December 31, 2023 — aggregate of \$278.9 million under the Initial Term Loan and the Incremental Term Loan). A one-percentage point increase in applicable interest rates would increase interest expense, based on outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility at December 31, 2024, and including the impact of our interest rate swap agreements, by \$4.1 million annually. See note 19 to our 2024 AFS for further information regarding our interest rate swap agreements.

We are required to comply with certain restrictive covenants under the Credit Facility, including those relating to the incurrence of certain indebtedness, the existence of certain liens, the sale of certain assets, specified investments and payments, sale and leaseback transactions, and certain financial covenants relating to a defined interest coverage ratio and leverage ratio that are tested on a quarterly basis. At December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all restrictive and financial covenants under the Credit Facility. Our Credit Facility also limits share repurchases for cancellation if our consolidated secured leverage ratio (as defined in such facility) exceeds a specified amount (Repurchase Restriction). The Repurchase Restriction did not prohibit Common Share purchases during 2022 to 2024. The obligations under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by us and certain specified subsidiaries. Subject to specified exemptions and limitations, all assets of the guarantors are pledged as security for the obligations under the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility contains customary events of default. If an event of default occurs and is continuing (and is not waived), the Administrative Agent may declare all amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility to be immediately due and payable and may cancel the lenders' commitments to make further advances thereunder. In the event of a payment or other specified defaults, outstanding obligations accrue interest at a specified default rate.

At December 31, 2024, we had \$11.1 million outstanding in L/Cs under the Revolver (December 31, 2023 — \$10.5 million). We also arrange bank guarantees and surety bonds outside of the Revolver. At December 31, 2024, we had \$23.0 million of bank guarantees and surety bonds outstanding (December 31, 2023 — \$16.5 million).

At December 31, 2024, we also had a total of \$198.5 million in uncommitted bank overdraft facilities available for intraday and overnight operating requirements (December 31, 2023 — \$198.5 million). There were no amounts outstanding under these overdraft facilities at December 31, 2024 or December 31, 2023.

We are party to an agreement with a third-party bank to sell up to \$450.0 million in A/R on an uncommitted, revolving basis, subject to pre-determined limits by customer. This agreement provides for automatic annual one-year extensions. This agreement may be terminated at any time by the bank or by us upon 3 months' prior notice, or by the bank upon specified defaults. We also participate in three customer SFPs, pursuant to which we sell A/R from the relevant customer to third-party banks on an uncommitted basis to receive earlier payment (substantially offsetting the effect of such customer's extended payment terms on our working capital for the period). The SFPs have indefinite terms and may be terminated at any time by the customer or by us upon specified prior notice. A/R are sold under these arrangements net of discount charges. As our A/R sales

program and the SFPs are on an uncommitted basis, there can be no assurance that any of the banks will purchase any of the A/R we intend to sell to them thereunder. However, as the A/R that we offer to sell under these programs are largely from customers we deem to be creditworthy, we believe that such offers will continue to be accepted. See "Liquidity — *Cash requirements* — Financing Arrangements" above for a description of A/R amounts sold under these arrangements during recent periods.

The timing and the amounts we borrow and repay under our Revolver (including Intra-Quarter B/Rs) and overdraft facilities, or sell under the SFPs or our A/R sales program, can vary significantly from month-to-month depending on our working capital and other cash requirements. See "Operating Results — Finance Costs" and "Liquidity — Cash provided by and used in financing activities — Financing and Finance Costs" and "Liquidity — Cash requirements — Financing Arrangements" above.

Our strategy on capital risk management has not changed significantly since the end of 2023. Other than the restrictive and financial covenants associated with our Credit Facility noted above, we are not subject to any contractual or regulatory capital requirements. While some of our international operations are subject to government restrictions on the flow of capital into and out of their jurisdictions, these restrictions have not had a material impact on our operations or cash flows.

Financial instruments and financial risks:

We are exposed to a variety of risks associated with financial instruments and otherwise.

Currency risk: Due to the global nature of our operations, we are exposed to exchange rate fluctuations on our financial instruments denominated in various currencies. Although the majority of our cash balances, pricing to customers, and materials costs are denominated in U.S. dollars, a significant portion of our non-materials costs (including payroll, pensions, site costs, costs of locally sourced supplies and inventory, and income taxes) are denominated in various other currencies. As a result, we may experience foreign exchange gains or losses on translation or transactions due to currency fluctuations. The majority of our currency risk is driven by such costs, incurred in local currencies by our subsidiaries. As part of our risk management program, we attempt to mitigate currency risk through a hedging program using forecasts of our anticipated future cash flows and monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. We enter into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge our cash flow exposures and swaps to hedge our exposures of monetary assets and monetary liabilities (Economic Hedges), generally for periods of up to 12 months, to lock in the exchange rates for future foreign currency transactions, which is intended to reduce the foreign currency risk related to our operating costs and future cash flows denominated in local currencies. Economic Hedges are based on our forecasts of the future position of anticipated monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, and therefore may not mitigate the full impact of any translation impacts in the future. As for our cash flow hedges, while these contracts are intended to reduce the effects of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on our operating costs and cash flows, our hedging strategy does not mitigate the longer-term impacts of changes to foreign exchange rates. Although our functional currency is the U.S. dollar, currency risk on our income tax expense arises as we are generally required to file our tax returns in the local currency for each particular country in which we have operations. While our hedging program is designed to mitigate currency risk vis-à-vis the U.S. dollar, we remain subject to taxable foreign exchange impacts in our translated local currency financial results relevant for tax reporting purposes. We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

See Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk for a listing of our foreign currency forwards and swaps to trade U.S. dollars in exchange for specified currencies at December 31, 2024. The fair value of the outstanding contracts at December 31, 2024 was a net unrealized loss of \$18.5 million (December 31, 2023 — net unrealized gain of \$6.5 million), resulting from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates between the contract execution and the period-end date. There can be no assurance that our hedging transactions will be successful in mitigating our foreign exchange risk.

We cannot predict changes in currency exchange rates, the impact of exchange rate changes on our operating results, nor the degree to which we will be able to manage the impact of currency exchange rate changes. Such changes could have a material effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Interest rate risk: Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at specified rates, plus specified margins (described above). We have entered into agreements to swap the variable interest rates with fixed rates of interest with respect to a portion of the amounts outstanding under the New Term Loans (described above). Unhedged borrowings (\$411.2 million at December 31, 2024) expose us to interest rate risk due to the potential variability in market interest rates. A one-percentage

point increase in applicable interest rates would increase interest expense, based on outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility and interest rate swap agreements at December 31, 2024, by \$4.1 million annually, and by \$7.4 million annually, without accounting for such swap agreements. At December 31, 2024, the fair value of our interest rate swap agreements was an unrealized gain of \$6.6 million (December 31, 2023 — an unrealized gain of \$13.2 million). A downward shift of the forward interest rate curve would decrease the amount of the gain.

See "Liquidity — *Cash requirements* — TRS" above for a description of the TRS Agreement. Interest payments under the TRS Agreement are based on SOFR. A one-percentage point increase in relevant interest rates would cause an insignificant increase of our annual interest expense.

Equity price risk: See "Liquidity — Cash requirements — TRS" above for a description of the TRS Agreement. If the value of the TRS (as defined in the TRS Agreement) decreases over the term of the TRS Agreement, we are obligated to pay the counterparty the amount of such decrease upon Settlement. As a result, the TRS Agreement is subject to equity price risk. The counterparty acquired the entire Original Notional Amount (3.0 million Common Shares) at a weighted average price of \$12.73 per share. As described above, the Original Notional Amount was reduced to 1.25 million Common Shares as of February 2024. At December 31, 2024, the fair value of the TRS Agreement was an unrealized gain of \$99.4 million (December 31, 2023 — \$40.6 million), which we recorded in other current assets on our consolidated balance sheet. A one dollar decrease in our Common Share price would decrease the value of the TRS as of December 31, 2024 by \$1.3 million.

Credit risk: Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to us. We believe our credit risk of counterparty non-performance continues to be relatively low. We are in regular contact with our customers, suppliers and logistics providers, and have not experienced significant counterparty credit-related non-performance during 2024 or to date. However, if a key supplier (or any company within such supplier's supply chain) or customer fails to comply with their contractual obligations, this could result in a significant financial loss to us. We would also suffer a significant financial loss if an institution from which we purchased foreign currency exchange contracts or swaps, interest rate swaps, or annuities for our pension plans, or the counterparty to our TRS Agreement defaults on their contractual obligations (with respect to pension obligations, we retain ultimate responsibility for the payment of benefits to plan participants unless and until such pension plans are wound-up). With respect to our financial market activities, we have adopted a policy of dealing only with counterparties we deem to be creditworthy to help mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults. We monitor the credit risk of the counterparties with whom we conduct business, through a combined process of credit rating reviews and portfolio reviews.

We also provide unsecured credit to our customers in the normal course of business. Customer exposures that potentially subject us to credit risk include our A/R, inventory on hand, and non-cancellable purchase orders in support of customer demand. From time to time, we extend the payment terms applicable to certain customers and/or provide longer payment terms when deemed commercially reasonable. Longer payment terms could adversely impact our working capital requirements, and increase our financial exposure and credit risk. We attempt to mitigate customer credit risk by monitoring our customers' financial condition and performing ongoing credit evaluations as appropriate. In certain instances, we obtain L/Cs or other forms of security from our customers. We may also purchase credit insurance from a financial institution to reduce our credit exposure to certain customers. We consider credit risk in determining our allowance for credit losses, and we believe that such allowance, as adjusted from time to time, is adequate. No significant adjustments were made to our allowance for credit losses during 2024 in connection with our on-going assessments and monitoring activities. At December 31, 2024, less than 1% of our gross A/R were over 90 days past due (December 31, 2023 — less than 1%). A/R are net of an allowance for credit losses of \$10.1 million at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023 — \$8.4 million).

Liquidity risk: Liquidity risk is the risk that we may not have cash available to satisfy our financial obligations as they come due. We manage liquidity risk by maintaining a portfolio of liquid funds and investments and having access to a revolving credit facility, uncommitted intraday and overnight bank overdraft facilities, an A/R sales program and three customer SFPs. Since our A/R sales program and customer SFPs are each uncommitted, there can be no assurance that any participant bank will purchase any of the A/R that we wish to sell. We believe, however, that cash flow from operating activities, together with cash on hand, cash from accepted sales of A/R, and borrowings available under the Revolver and potentially available under uncommitted intraday and overnight bank overdraft facilities are sufficient to fund our currently anticipated financial obligations, and will remain available in the current environment. See "Cash requirements" above.

Commodity price risk: We are exposed to market risk with respect to commodity price fluctuations for components used in the products we manufacture. These components are impacted by global pricing pressures, general economic

conditions, market conditions, geopolitical issues, weather, changes in tariff rates, and other factors which are neither predictable nor within our control. While generally we have been able to offset inflation and other changes in the costs of key operating resources through price increases, productivity improvements, greater economies of scale, supplier negotiations and global sourcing initiatives, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to do so in the future. We do not engage in hedging activities for commodity price risk. Competitive conditions may limit our pricing flexibility, and macroeconomic conditions may make additional price increases imprudent. Increases in commodity prices that we cannot recover from our customers would adversely impact our operating results. We are also exposed to fluctuations in transportation costs, which may increase based on freight carrier capacity and fuel prices. We manage transportation costs by optimizing logistics and supply chain planning. We continue to invest in supply chain initiatives to address industry-wide capacity challenges.

See note 19 to the 2024 AFS for further detail.

Outstanding Share Data

As of February 20, 2025, we had 115,959,118 outstanding Common Shares. As of such date, we also had 70,888 outstanding stock options, 1,428,604 outstanding RSUs, 2,208,045 outstanding PSUs assuming vesting of 100% of the target amount granted (PSUs that will vest range from 0% to 200% of the target amount granted), and 725,757 outstanding DSUs; each vested option or unit entitling the holder thereof to receive one Common Shares (or in certain cases, cash) pursuant to the terms thereof, subject to certain time or performance-based vesting conditions.

Unaudited Quarterly Financial Highlights

Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023:

Revenue of \$2.55 billion for Q4 2024 increased \$405.2 million, or 19% compared to Q4 2023. ATS segment revenue remained relatively flat in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023, as lower revenue in our Industrial business was offset by strength in our Capital Equipment and A&D businesses. Compared to Q4 2023, CCS segment revenue in Q4 2024 increased \$402.3 million (30%). Our Communications end market revenue increased \$462.4 million (64%) in Q4 2024 as compared to the prior year period due to stronger demand from our hyperscaler customers for our networking products. HPS revenue for Q4 2024 was \$807 million (32% of total Q4 2024 revenue), and increased approximately 65% from Q4 2023. The increase in HPS revenue was driven by hyperscaler customer demand for our networking switches, as well as program ramps. Our Enterprise end market revenue decreased \$60.1 million (10%) in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023 due to the anticipated technology transition in an AI/ML compute program with one of our hyperscaler customers, partially offset by demand increase in certain storage programs. Gross profit increased \$74.0 million in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023 mainly due to higher revenue in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023 as well as \$22.4 million in favorable TRS FVAs recorded in Q4 2024. Gross margin for Q4 2024 increased to 11.7% compared to 10.4% for Q4 2023 due to higher volume and favorable mix. CCS segment income for Q4 2024 increased to \$136.6 million from \$90.6 million in Q4 2023 due to higher CCS segment revenue in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023. CCS segment margin for Q4 2024 increased to 7.9% of segment revenue compared to 6.8% for Q4 2023, driven by increased operating leverage and a higher mix of HPS revenues. ATS segment income of \$37.0 million for Q4 2024 remained relatively flat compared to Q4 2023. ATS segment margin decreased from 4.7% of segment revenue for Q4 2023 to 4.6% for Q4 2024, primarily due to reduced operating leverage in our Industrial business, partly offset by increased margins in our Capital Equipment business. Net earnings increased to \$151.7 million for Q4 2024 compared to net earnings of \$91.6 million for Q4 2023, due primarily to the \$74.0 million in higher gross profit and \$27.5 million in lower SG&A expense in Q4 2024, partially offset by \$22.2 million in higher unfavorable changes in Miscellaneous Expense (Income), \$14.7 million in higher income tax expense (driven by higher earnings before income taxes in Q4 2024) and \$5.8 million in higher R&D expenses in Q4 2024 (to support growth of our HPS business). Lower SG&A expense in Q4 2024 compared to Q4 2023 was primarily due to \$29.1 million favorable TRS FVAs recorded in O4 2024. Unfavorable changes in Miscellaneous Expense (Income) in O4 2024 compared to Q4 2023 were mainly due to favorable TRS FVAs and gains from our foreign currency forward exchange contracts recorded in Q4 2023. See "Operating Results — Miscellaneous Expense (Income)" for components of Miscellaneous Expense (Income).

Q4 2024 compared to Q3 2024:

Revenue for Q4 2024 increased \$46.2 million, or 2% compared to Q3 2024. ATS segment revenue decreased \$8.3 million (1%) sequentially, primarily driven by decreased demand across several of our ATS businesses. CCS segment revenue increased \$54.5 million (3%) sequentially. Communications end market revenue increased \$112.7 million (11%) in Q4 2024

compared to Q3 2024, primarily due to increased demand for networking products from hyperscaler customers. Enterprise end market revenue decreased \$58.2 million (9%) sequentially, due to the anticipated technology transition in an AI/ML compute program with one of our hyperscaler customers. Gross profit increased \$36.6 million in Q4 2024 as compared to Q3 2024 and gross margin increased to 11.7% in Q4 2024 compared to 10.4% in Q3 2024, driven primarily by operating leverage in our CCS segment, as well as approximately \$25 million favorable change in TRS FVAs recorded in cost of sales. CCS segment income increased sequentially by \$7.9 million to \$136.6 million primarily due to CCS segment revenue increase. CCS segment margin for Q4 2024 increased to 7.9% compared to 7.6% for Q3 2024, driven by operating leverage and improved mix. ATS segment income decreased sequentially by \$3.1 million to \$37.0 million in Q4 2024, and ATS segment margin decreased from 4.9% in Q3 2024 to 4.6% for Q4 2024, in each case primarily due to lower volume leverage. Net earnings of \$151.7 million for Q4 2024 increased \$62.2 million from net earnings of \$89.5 million for Q3 2024, due primarily to \$36.6 million in higher gross profit and \$34.2 million in lower SG&A expense, partially offset by \$4.7 million in higher R&D expense (to support growth of our HPS business). Lower sequential SG&A expense was primarily due to approximately \$34 million favorable change in TRS FVAs recorded in SG&A.

Summary of Selected Q4 2024 GAAP Results⁽¹⁾:

Revenue (in billions)	\$2.55
Earnings from operations (in millions)	\$202.6
Earnings from operations as a % of revenue	8.0%
SG&A (in millions)	\$57.6
Net earnings (in millions)	\$151.7
EPS ⁽²⁾ (diluted)	\$1.29

(1) The conversion from IFRS to GAAP did not have a material impact on our overall financial results for Q4 2024. Our Q4 2024 results were in line with, or exceeded, our previously provided guidance.

Upon transitioning from IFRS to GAAP, we were required to re-present our previously issued comparative results. The most significant transitional adjustments to our financial statements were related to the accounting treatment of the derivative instruments we entered into prior to 2024. These adjustments were driven specifically by the transition, and on the condensed consolidated statements of operations, impacted GAAP cost of sales, SG&A, finance costs and miscellaneous expense (income). As the nature of the derivatives have not changed in the transition, we have excluded such transitional adjustments in our GAAP to non-GAAP reconciliations. Reconciling items from our GAAP to non-GAAP measures are explained in "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below. These transitional adjustments do not impact our non-GAAP results and will not impact our operating results reported under GAAP going forward.

For Q4 2024, our revenue was near the high end of our guidance range. Our non-GAAP adjusted operating margin for Q4 2024 exceeded the mid-point of our revenue and non-IFRS adjusted EPS guidance ranges and our Q4 2024 adjusted EPS exceeded the high end of our guidance range, primarily driven by unanticipated operating leverage in our CCS segment. Our adjusted SG&A for Q4 2024 came in just over our guidance range due to higher than anticipated variable spend. Our GAAP effective tax rate for Q4 2024 was 20%. Our adjusted effective tax rate (non-GAAP) for Q4 2024 was 19%, lower than our anticipated estimate of approximately 21%, mainly due to non-routine tax events, offset partially by unfavorable jurisdictional profit mix.

(2) GAAP EPS for Q4 2024 included an aggregate charge of \$0.17 (pre-tax) per share for employee SBC expense, amortization of intangible assets (excluding computer software), and restructuring charges. See "Operating Results" above and "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below for per-item charges. This aggregate charge was at the low end of our Q4 2024 GAAP guidance range of between \$0.17 to \$0.23 per share for these items.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures:

Management uses non-GAAP financial measures (including ratios based on GAAP financial measures) described herein to (i) assess operating performance, financial leverage and the effective use and allocation of resources, (ii) provide more normalized period-to-period comparisons of operating results, (iii) enhance investors' understanding of the core operating results of our business and (iv) set management incentive targets. We believe the non-GAAP financial measures enable investors to evaluate and compare our results from operations by excluding specific items that we do not consider to be reflective of our core operations, to evaluate cash resources that we generate from our business each period, to analyze operating results using the same measures our chief operating decision makers use to measure performance, and to help compare our results with those of our competitors. In addition, management believes that the use of adjusted tax expense and adjusted effective tax rate provides additional transparency into the tax effects of our core operations, and are useful to

management and investors for historical comparisons and forecasting. These non-GAAP financial measures reflect management's belief that the excluded items are not indicative of our core operations.

Non-GAAP financial measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and therefore may not be directly comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Non-GAAP financial measures are not measures of performance under GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for any GAAP financial measure. Reconciliations of the non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures are below.

The following non-GAAP financial measures are included in this MD&A: adjusted gross profit, adjusted SG&A, adjusted operating earnings (or adjusted EBIAT), adjusted operating margin (or adjusted EBIAT), and each of the foregoing measures as a percentage of revenue, adjusted net earnings, adjusted EPS, adjusted ROIC, free cash flow, adjusted tax expense and adjusted effective tax rate.

Our non-GAAP financial measures are calculated by making the following adjustments (as applicable) to our GAAP financial measures:

Employee SBC expense, which represents the estimated fair value of stock options, restricted share units and performance share units granted to employees, is excluded because grant activities vary significantly from quarter-to-quarter in both quantity and fair value. We believe excluding this expense allows us to compare core operating results with those of our competitors, who also generally exclude employee SBC expense in assessing operating performance, and may have different granting patterns, equity awards and valuation assumptions.

Total return swap fair value adjustments (TRS FVAs) represent mark-to-market adjustments to our TRS Agreement, as the TRS Agreement is re-measured at fair value at each quarter end. We exclude the impact of these non-cash fair value adjustments (which reflect fluctuations in the market price of our Common Shares recorded in cost of sales, SG&A, or Miscellaneous Expenses (Income)) from period to period as such fluctuations do not represent our ongoing operating performance. In addition, we believe that excluding these non-cash adjustments permits a helpful comparison of our core operating results to our competitors. In accordance with GAAP, TRS FVAs prior to 2024 were recorded in Miscellaneous Expense (Income). Commencing in 2024, the TRS Agreement was treated as an economic hedge with the TRS FVAs recorded in cost of sales and SG&A.

Transitional hedge reclassifications and adjustments related to foreign currency forward exchange contracts (FCC Transitional ADJ) and interest rate swaps (IRS Transitional ADJ) were both specifically driven by our transition from IFRS to GAAP. For the purpose of determining our non-GAAP measures, FCC Transitional ADJ were made to cost of sales and SG&A and IRS Transitional ADJ are made to finance costs. Our foreign currency forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps that we entered prior to 2024 were accounted for as either cash flow hedges (qualified for hedge accounting) or economic hedges under IFRS. However, those contracts were not accounted for as such under GAAP until January 1, 2024, resulting in FCC Transitional ADJ and IRS Transitional ADJ. Had we been able to designate those foreign currency forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps under GAAP from their inception, they would have qualified as cash flow or economic hedges under GAAP, and no FCC Transitional ADJ or IRS Transitional ADJ would have been required under GAAP. FCC Transitional ADJ and IRS transitional ADJ are not reflective of the on-going operational impacts of our hedging activities and are excluded in assessing operating performance.

Amortization of intangible assets (excluding computer software) consist of non-cash charges for intangible assets that are impacted by the timing and magnitude of acquired businesses. Amortization of intangible assets varies among our competitors, and we believe that excluding these charges permits a helpful comparison of core operating results to our competitors who also generally exclude amortization charges in assessing operating performance.

Restructuring and Other Charges (Recoveries) consist of, when applicable: Restructuring Charges (Recoveries) (defined below); Transition Costs (Recoveries) (defined below); consulting, transaction and integration costs related to potential and completed acquisitions; legal settlements (recoveries); in Q2 2023 and Q3 2023, costs associated with the conversion and underwritten public sale of our shares by Onex Corporation (Onex), our then-controlling shareholder, and commencing in Q2 2023, related costs pertaining to our transition as a U.S. domestic filer. We exclude these charges and recoveries because we believe that they are not directly related to ongoing operating results and do not reflect our expected future operating expenses after completion of the relevant actions. Our competitors may record similar items at different times, and we believe these

exclusions permit a helpful comparison of our core operating results with those of our competitors who also generally exclude these items in assessing operating performance.

Restructuring Charges (Recoveries), consist of costs or recoveries relating to: employee severance, lease terminations, site closings and consolidations, accelerated depreciation of owned property and equipment which are no longer used and are available for sale, and reductions in infrastructure.

Transition Costs (Recoveries) consist of costs and recoveries in connection with: (i) the transfer of manufacturing lines from closed sites to other sites within our global network; (ii) the sale of real properties unrelated to restructuring actions (Property Dispositions); and (iii) specified charges or recoveries related to the Purchaser Lease (defined below). Transition Costs consist of direct relocation and duplicate costs (such as rent expense, utility costs, depreciation charges, and personnel costs) incurred during the transition periods, as well as cease-use and other costs incurred in connection with idle or vacated portions of the relevant premises that we would not have incurred but for these relocations, transfers and dispositions. As part of our 2019 Toronto real property sale, we entered into a related 10-year lease for our then-anticipated headquarters (Purchaser Lease). In November 2022, we extended the lease (on a long-term basis) on our current corporate headquarters due to several Purchaser Lease commencement date delays. In Q3 2023, we executed a sublease for a portion of the leased space under the Purchaser Lease. We record charges related to the sublet of the Purchaser Lease (which commenced in June 2024) as Transition Costs. We believe that excluding Transition Costs and Recoveries permits a helpful comparison of our core operating results from period-to-period, as they do not reflect our ongoing operations once these specified events are complete.

Miscellaneous Expense (Income) consists primarily of: (i) certain net periodic benefit costs (credits) related to our pension and post-employment benefit plans consisting of interest costs and expected returns on pension balances, and amortization of actuarial gains or losses; and (ii) gains or losses related to our TRS Agreement and foreign currency forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps that we entered into prior to 2024. Those derivative instruments were accounted for as either cash flow hedges (qualifying for hedge accounting) or economic hedges under IFRS. However, those contracts were not accounted for as such under GAAP until January 1, 2024. Certain gains and losses related to those contracts were recorded in Miscellaneous Expense (Income). See FCC Transitional ADJ, IRS Transitional ADJ and TRS FVAs above. We exclude such items because we believe they are not directly related to our ongoing operating results.

Non-core tax impacts are excluded, as we do not believe these costs or recoveries reflect our core operating performance and vary significantly among our competitors who also generally exclude such items in assessing operating performance. In addition, in calculating adjusted net earnings, adjusted EPS, adjusted tax expense and adjusted effective tax rate for the 2024 periods, management also excluded the one-time Q1 2024 portion of the negative tax impact arising from the enactment of Pillar Two (global minimum tax) legislation in Canada recorded in Q2 2024 and incremental withholding tax accrued in such quarter to minimize its impact (Pillar Two Tax Adjustments), as such portion is not attributable to our on-going operations for subsequent periods.

Our non-GAAP financial measures include the following:

Adjusted operating earnings (Adjusted EBIAT) is defined as GAAP earnings from operations excluding the impact of Employee SBC expense, TRS FVAs, FCC Transitional ADJ, Amortization of intangible assets (excluding computer software), and Restructuring and Other Charges (Recoveries). Adjusted operating margin is adjusted operating earnings as a percentage of GAAP revenue. Management uses adjusted operating earnings (adjusted EBIAT) as a measure to assess performance related to our core operations.

Adjusted net earnings is defined as GAAP net earnings before the impact of Employee SBC expense, TRS FVAs, FCC Transitional ADJ, amortization of intangible assets (excluding computer software), Restructuring and Other Charges (Recoveries), IRS Transitional ADJ, Miscellaneous Expense (Income) and adjustment for taxes. Adjusted net earnings per share is calculated by dividing adjusted net earnings by the number of diluted weighted average shares outstanding. Management uses adjusted net earnings as a measure to assess performance related to our core operations.

Non-GAAP free cash flow is defined as cash provided by (used in) operations after the purchase of property, plant and equipment (net of proceeds from the sale of certain surplus equipment and property, when applicable). Free cash flow does not represent residual cash flow available to Celestica for discretionary expenditures. Management uses free cash flow as a measure, in addition to GAAP cash provided by (used in) operations, to assess our operational cash flow performance. We believe free cash flow provides another level of transparency to our ability to generate cash from normal business operations.

Adjusted ROIC is calculated by dividing annualized adjusted EBIAT by average net invested capital for the period. Net invested capital (calculated in the tables below) is derived from GAAP financial measures, and is defined as total assets less: cash, ROU assets (operating and finance leases), accounts payable, accrued and other current liabilities (excluding finance and operating lease liabilities), provisions, and income taxes payable. Management uses adjusted ROIC as a measure to assess the effectiveness of the invested capital we employ to build products or provide services to our customers, by quantifying how well we generate earnings relative to the capital we have invested in our business.

The determination of our adjusted effective tax expense (non-GAAP) and adjusted effective tax rate (non-GAAP) is described in footnote 1 to the table below.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the various non-GAAP financial measures discussed above, and a reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable financial measures determined under GAAP (in millions, except percentages and per share amounts):

			dea Decemi				December 3	
	20		20	23	2()24	20	23
		% of		% of		% of		% of
G. 1. 17	<u></u>	revenue	<u> </u>	revenue	<u></u>	revenue	<u></u>	revenue
GAAP revenue	\$2,545.7		\$2,140.5		\$9,646.0		\$7,961.0	
GAAP gross profit	. \$ 297.2	11.7%	\$ 223.2	10.4%	\$1,033.7	10.7%	\$ 754.1	9.5%
Employee SBC expense			4.2		24.8		22.6	
TRS FVAs: (gains)					(39.6)			
FCC Transitional ADJ	, ,		(3.6)		0.1		3.6	
Adjusted gross profit (non-GAAP)		11.0%	\$ 223.8	10.5%	\$1,019.0	10.6%	\$ 780.3	9.8 %
Aujusteu gross pront (non-GAA1)	\$ 2/9.0	11.070	\$ 223.6	= 10.570	\$1,019.0	= 10.070	\$ 780.5	= 9.0 /0
GAAP SG&A	\$ 57.6	2.3%	\$ 85.1	4.0%	\$ 293.5	3.0%	\$ 303.2	3.8%
Employee SBC expense	(5.5)		(5.6)		(32.6)		(33.0)	
TRS FVAs (gains)	29.1		_		51.4		_	
FCC Transitional ADJ	—		(2.2)		1.4		4.8	
Adjusted SG&A (non-GAAP)	\$ 81.2	3.2%	\$ 77.3	3.6%	\$ 313.7	3.3%	\$ 275.0	3.5 %
	-			=		=		=
GAAP earnings from operations		8.0%	\$ 109.2	5.1%	\$ 599.3	6.2%	\$ 338.3	4.2%
Employee SBC expense			9.8		57.4		55.6	
TRS FVAs: (gains)			_		(91.0)		_	
FCC Transitional ADJ	0.4		(1.4)		(1.3)		(1.2)	
Amortization of intangible assets (excluding computer software)	9.9		9.2		38.8		36.8	
Restructuring and other charges, net of	2.1		1.5		10.4		10.1	
recoveries	2.1		1.5	-	19.4	=	12.1	_
Adjusted operating earnings (adjusted EBIAT) (non-GAAP)	. \$ 173.6	6.8%	\$ 128.3	6.0 %	\$ 622.6	6.5%	\$ 441.6	5.5%
GAAP net earnings	. \$ 151.7	6.0 %	\$ 91.6	43%	\$ 428.0	4.4%	\$ 244.4	3.1 %
Employee SBC expense		0.0 70	9.8	1.5 70	57.4	1.170	55.6	3.1 70
TRS FVAs: (gains)			7.0		(91.0)		33.0	
FCC Transitional ADJ			(1.4)		(1.3)		(1.2)	
Amortization of intangible assets (excluding	0.4		(1.4)		(1.5)		(1.2)	
computer software)	9.9		9.2		38.8		36.8	
Restructuring and other charges, net of recoveries	2.1		1.5		19.4		12.1	
Miscellaneous Expense (Income)			(21.0)		15.0		(46.6)	
IRS Transitional ADJ	. —		2.9		_		9.0	
Adjustments for taxes (1)	6.3		(0.5)		(5.5)		(14.3)	
Adjusted net earnings (non-GAAP)		5.1 %		4.3 %		4.8 %		3.7 %
rajastea nee ear mags (non Sana)	+ 120.2		ψ	=	+ 10010	=		= 5., ,,
Diluted EPS								
Weighted average # of shares (in millions)	117.3		119.5		118.7		120.3	
GAAP earnings per share	\$ 1.29		\$ 0.77		\$ 3.61		\$ 2.03	
Adjusted earnings per share (non-GAAP)	\$ 1.11		\$ 0.77		\$ 3.88		\$ 2.46	
# of shares outstanding at period end (in								
millions)	116.1		119.0		116.1		119.0	
GAAP cash provided by operations			\$ 118.0		\$ 473.9		\$ 326.2	
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, net	(47.6)		(31.0)		(169.0)		(122.4)	
of sales proceeds Free cash flow (non-GAAP)			\$ 86.1	-	\$ 305.9	-	\$ 203.8	_
GAAP ROIC %			20.1%	=	26.1%	=	15.9%	=
Adjusted ROIC % (non-GAAP)			23.6%		27.2%		20.7%	
Aujusteu KOIC 76 (11011-GAAY)	29.1%		23.0%		21.2%		ZU. /%	

Three months ended December 31

Year ended December 31

(1) The adjustments for taxes, as applicable, represent the tax effects of our non-GAAP adjustments (see below).

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of our adjusted tax expense (non-GAAP) and our adjusted effective tax rate (non-GAAP) to our GAAP tax expense and GAAP effective tax rate, respectively, for the periods indicated, in each case determined by excluding the tax benefits or costs associated with the listed items (in millions, except percentages) from our GAAP tax expense for such periods. Our GAAP effective tax rate is determined by dividing (i) GAAP tax expense by (ii) earnings from operations minus finance costs and Miscellaneous Expense (Income) recorded on our statement of operations; our adjusted effective tax rate (non-GAAP) is determined by dividing (i) adjusted tax expense (non-GAAP) by (ii) adjusted operating earnings (non-GAAP) minus finance costs and IRS Transitional ADI

	Three mo Decer			Ye	ar ended	ember 31	
	2024		2023		2024		2023
GAAP tax expense\$	37.8	\$	23.1	\$	104.2	\$	61.6
Tax costs (benefits) of the following items excluded from GAAP tax expense:							
Employee SBC expense and TRS FVAs	(5.5)		2.4		3.5		10.0
Amortization of intangible assets (excluding computer software)	0.7		0.8		3.0		3.0
Restructuring and other charges	0.5		(0.2)		1.1		1.3
Non-core tax adjustment for NCS acquisition			_		7.5		_
Prior Period Pillar Two Tax Adjustments			_		(8.1)		_
Miscellaneous Expense (Income)	(2.0)		(2.5)		(1.5)		_
Adjusted tax expense (non-GAAP)	31.5	\$	23.6	\$	109.7	\$	75.9
_							
GAAP tax expense\$	37.8	\$	23.1	\$	104.2	\$	61.6
Earnings from operations\$	202.6	\$	109.2	\$	599.3	\$	338.3
Finance Costs	(11.9)		(15.5)		(52.1)		(78.9)
Miscellaneous Expense (Income)	(1.2)		21.0		(15.0)		46.6
\$	189.5	\$	114.7	\$	532.2	\$	306.0
GAAP effective tax rate	20 %	_	20 %		20 %		20 %
Adjusted tax expense (non-GAAP)\$	31.5	\$	23.6	\$	109.7	\$	75.9
rajusted tax expense (non-orrar)	31.3	Ψ	23.0	Ψ	107.7	Ψ	13.7
Adjusted operating earnings (non-GAAP)\$	173.6	\$	128.3	\$	622.6	\$	441.6
Finance Costs	(11.9)		(15.5)		(52.1)		(78.9)
IRS Transitional ADJ			2.9	_	_		9.0
<u></u>	161.7	\$	115.7	\$	570.5	\$	371.7
Adjusted effective tax rate (non-GAAP)	19 %		20 %		19 %		20 %

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our calculation of GAAP ROIC % and adjusted ROIC % (non-GAAP) (in millions, except GAAP ROIC % and adjusted ROIC %).

			Three mont		Year ended December 31					
			2024	2023		2024		2023		
GAAP earnings from operations		\$	202.6	\$ 109.2	\$	599.3	\$	338.2		
Multiplier to annualize earnings			4	4		1		1		
Annualized GAAP earnings from operations		\$	810.4	\$ 436.8	\$	599.3	\$	338.2		
Average net invested capital for the period*		\$	2,386.7	\$ 2,176.9	\$	2,292.4	\$	2,132.5		
GAAP ROIC %			34.0%	20.1%		26.1%		15.9%		
			Three mont			Year ended December 31				
			2024	2023		2024		2023		
Adjusted operating earnings (adjusted EBIAT) (no	on-GAAP)	\$	173.6	\$ 128.3	\$	622.6	\$	441.6		
Multiplier to annualize earnings	· · · · · ·		4	4		1		1		
Annualized adjusted EBIAT (non-GAAP)		\$	694.4	\$ 513.2	\$	622.6	\$	441.6		
Average net invested capital for the period*		\$	2,386.7	\$ 2,176.9	\$	2,292.4	\$	2,132.5		
Adjusted ROIC % (non-GAAP)			29.1%	23.6%		27.2%		20.7%		
<u> </u>	December 31 2024	Se	ptember 30 2024	June 30 2024]	March 31 2024	De	cember 31 2023		
Net invested capital consists of:										
Total assets\$	5,988.2	\$	5,924.8	\$ 5,872.8	\$	5,711.5	\$	5,890.5		
Less: cash	423.3		398.5	434.0		308.1		370.4		
Less: ROU assets (operating and finance leases)	180.8		186.3	200.1		196.1		170.0		
Less: accounts payable, accrued and other current liabilities, provisions and income taxes payable (excluding finance and	2002		2 221 6	20462		2.002.6		2.160.4		
operating lease liabilities)	2,969.2	Ф	2,981.6	2,946.2	Φ.	2,992.6	Φ.	3,168.4		
Net invested capital at period end*\$	2,414.9	\$	2,358.4	\$ 2,292.5	\$	2,214.7	\$	2,181.7		
<u> </u>	December 31 2023	Se	ptember 30 2023	June 30 2023]	March 31 2023	De	cember 31 2022		
Net invested capital consists of:										
Total assets\$	5,890.5	\$	5,744.8	\$ 5,499.6	\$	5,464.2	\$	5,625.5		
Less: cash	370.4		353.1	360.7		318.7		374.5		
Less: ROU assets (operating and finance leases)	170.0		174.0	163.2		150.6		157.1		
Less: accounts payable, accrued and other current liabilities, provisions and income taxes payable (excluding finance and	2.170		2045	0.053.0		2.075.0		2.005.0		
operating lease liabilities)	3,168.4	Φ.	3,045.6	2,873.9	_	2,877.0	Φ.	3,005.0		
Net invested capital at period end*\$	2,181.7	\$	2,172.1	\$ 2,101.8	\$	2,117.9	\$	2,088.9		

^{*} We use a two-point average to calculate average net invested capital for the quarter and a five-point average to calculate average net invested capital for Q4 2024 is the average of net invested capital as at December 31, 2024 and September 30, 2024, and average net invested capital for 2024 is the average of net invested capital as at December 31, 2023, March 31, 2024, June 30, 2024, September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2024.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

New accounting pronouncements that we have recently adopted, as well as those that have been recently issued but not yet adopted by us, are included in Note 2 to the 2024 AFS included in this Annual Report.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Not applicable.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk

Market risk is the potential loss arising from changes in market rates and market prices. Our market risk exposure results primarily from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, as well as the price of our Common Shares.

We do not hold financial instruments for speculative trading purposes.

Exchange Rate Risk

Conducting business in currencies other than the U.S. dollar subjects us to translation and transaction risks associated with fluctuations in currency exchange rates. Although we conduct the majority of our business in U.S. dollars (our functional currency), our global operations subject us to foreign currency volatility. Our non-U.S. currency exposures consist of: British pound sterling, Brazilian real, Canadian dollar, Chinese renminbi, Czech koruna, Euro, Hong Kong dollar, Indian rupee, Indonesian rupiah, Japanese yen, Korean won, Lao kip, Malaysian ringgit, Mexican peso, Philippine peso, Romanian leu, Singapore dollar, Taiwan dollar, and Thai baht.

As part of our risk management program, we enter into foreign currency forward contracts and swaps, generally for periods up to 12 months, intended to hedge foreign currency transaction risk and local currency denominated balance sheet exposures. These contracts include, to varying degrees, elements of market risk. We enter into these contracts to lock in the exchange rates for future foreign currency transactions and balance sheet balances, which is intended to reduce the foreign currency risk related to our operating costs and future cash flows denominated in local currencies. While these contracts are intended to reduce the effects of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, our hedging strategy does not mitigate the longer-term impacts of changes to foreign exchange rates.

Currency risk on our income tax expense arises as we are generally required to file our tax returns in the local currency for each particular country in which we have operations. Exchange rate volatility between the relevant local currency and the U.S. dollar will affect the recorded amounts of our foreign assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in local currency for statutory financial statement purposes. While our hedging program is designed to mitigate currency risk vis-à-vis the U.S. dollar, we remain subject to taxable foreign exchange impacts in our translated local currency financial results relevant for tax reporting purposes. In addition, we earn revenues and incur expenses in foreign currencies as part of our global operations. As a result, we are also exposed to foreign currency exchange transaction risk, such that fluctuations in currency exchange rates may significantly impact the amount of translated U.S. dollars required for expenses incurred in other currencies or received from non-U.S. dollar revenues.

The table below presents the notional amounts (the U.S. dollar equivalent amounts of the foreign currency buy/sell contracts at hedge rates), weighted average exchange rates by expected (contractual) maturity dates, and the fair values of our outstanding foreign currency forward contracts and swaps at December 31, 2024. These notional amounts are used to calculate the contractual payments to be exchanged under the contracts. At December 31, 2024, we had foreign currency contracts and swaps covering various currencies in an aggregate notional amount of \$748.0 million (December 31, 2023 — \$700.4 million). These contracts had a fair value net unrealized loss of \$18.5 million at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023 — \$6.5 million net unrealized gain), resulting from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates between the contract execution and year-end date.

At December 31, 2024, we had foreign currency forward contracts and swaps to trade U.S. dollars in exchange for the following currencies:

Page		Expected Maturity Date									
Contract amounts in millions		2025		2026			Total	Gain (Loss)			
Receive C\$/Pay U.S.\$ Contract amount	Currency Forward and Swap Agreements*										
Contract amount	(Contract amounts in millions)										
Average exchange rate	Receive C\$/Pay U.S.\$										
Receive Thai Baht/Pay U.S.\$ Contract amount	Contract amount\$	210.2	\$	_	\$ —	- \$	210.2	\$	(12.1)		
Contract amount	Average exchange rate	0.72									
Average exchange rate	Receive Thai Baht/Pay U.S.\$										
Receive Malaysian Ringgit/Pay U.S.\$ Contract amount	Contract amount\$	185.8		_	_	\$	185.8	\$	(2.8)		
Contract amount	Average exchange rate	0.03									
Average exchange rate	Receive Malaysian Ringgit/Pay U.S.\$										
Receive Mexican Peso/Pay U.S.\$ Contract amount	Contract amount\$	79.8		_	_	- \$	79.8		(0.4)		
Contract amount	Average exchange rate	0.23									
Average exchange rate	Receive Mexican Peso/Pay U.S.\$										
Pay British Pound Sterling/Receive U.S.\$ Contract amount	Contract amount\$	94.6		_	_	- \$	94.6		(3.8)		
Contract amount. \$ 2.6 — — \$ 2.6 \$ 0.2 Average exchange rate 1.29 Receive Chinese Renminbi/Pay U.S.\$ — — \$ 44.2 — — \$ 44.2 \$ (1.6) Average exchange rate 0.14 — — \$ 44.2 \$ (1.6) Average exchange rate 0.14 — — \$ 44.2 \$ (1.6) Average exchange rate 0.14 — — \$ 43.3 — — \$ 43.3 \$ 3.8 Contract amount \$ 43.3 — — \$ 43.3 \$ 3.8 Receive Romanian Leu/Pay U.S.\$ — — \$ 45.9 \$ (1.7) Average exchange rate 0.22 Receive Singapore Dollar/Pay U.S.\$ — — \$ 32.4 — — \$ 32.4 \$ (0.8) Average exchange rate 0.76 — — \$ 32.4 — — \$ 6.8 \$ 0.4 Average exchange rate 0.007 — — \$ 6.8 \$ 0.4 Average exchange rate 0.0001 — — \$ 2.4 \$ 0.3	Average exchange rate	0.05									
Average exchange rate	Pay British Pound Sterling/Receive U.S.\$										
Receive Chinese Renminbi/Pay U.S.\$ Contract amount	Contract amount\$	2.6		_	_	\$	2.6	\$	0.2		
Contract amount	Average exchange rate	1.29									
Average exchange rate	Receive Chinese Renminbi/Pay U.S.\$										
Pay Euro/Receive U.S.\$ \$ 43.3	Contract amount\$	44.2		_	_	- \$	44.2	\$	(1.6)		
Contract amount	Average exchange rate	0.14									
Average exchange rate 1.08 Receive Romanian Leu/Pay U.S.\$ \$ 45.9 — — \$ 45.9 \$ (1.7) Average exchange rate 0.22 Receive Singapore Dollar/Pay U.S.\$ — — \$ 32.4 — — \$ 32.4 \$ (0.8) Average exchange rate 0.76 Pay Japanese Yen/Receive U.S.\$ — \$ 6.8 — — \$ 6.8 \$ 0.4 Average exchange rate 0.007 Pay Korean Won/Receive U.S.\$ Contract amount \$ 2.4 — — \$ 2.4 \$ 0.3 Average exchange rate 0.001 — — \$ 2.4 \$ 0.3	Pay Euro/Receive U.S.\$										
Receive Romanian Leu/Pay U.S.\$ \$ 45.9 — — \$ 45.9 \$ (1.7) Average exchange rate 0.22 Receive Singapore Dollar/Pay U.S.\$ — — \$ 32.4 — — \$ 32.4 \$ (0.8) Average exchange rate 0.76 Pay Japanese Yen/Receive U.S.\$ — — \$ 6.8 — — \$ 6.8 \$ 0.4 Average exchange rate 0.007 Pay Korean Won/Receive U.S.\$ — — \$ 2.4 — — \$ 2.4 \$ 0.3 Average exchange rate 0.001 — — \$ 2.4 \$ 0.3	Contract amount\$	43.3		_	_	- \$	43.3	\$	3.8		
Contract amount	Average exchange rate	1.08									
Average exchange rate	Receive Romanian Leu/Pay U.S.\$										
Receive Singapore Dollar/Pay U.S.\$ \$ 32.4	Contract amount\$	45.9		_	_	- \$	45.9	\$	(1.7)		
Contract amount	Average exchange rate	0.22									
Average exchange rate 0.76 Pay Japanese Yen/Receive U.S.\$ \$ 6.8 — \$ 6.8 \$ 0.4 Contract amount \$ 0.007 Pay Korean Won/Receive U.S.\$ — — \$ 2.4 \$ 0.3 Contract amount \$ 2.4 — — \$ 2.4 \$ 0.3 Average exchange rate 0.001	Receive Singapore Dollar/Pay U.S.\$										
Pay Japanese Yen/Receive U.S.\$ \$ 6.8 — — \$ 6.8 \$ 0.4 Average exchange rate 0.007 Pay Korean Won/Receive U.S.\$ — — \$ 2.4 — — \$ 2.4 \$ 0.3 Average exchange rate 0.001 — — \$ 2.4 \$ 0.3	Contract amount\$	32.4		_	_	\$	32.4	\$	(0.8)		
Contract amount	Average exchange rate	0.76									
Average exchange rate 0.007 Pay Korean Won/Receive U.S.\$	Pay Japanese Yen/Receive U.S.\$										
Pay Korean Won/Receive U.S.\$ \$ 2.4 — \$ 2.4 \$ 0.3 Contract amount	Contract amount\$	6.8			_	- \$	6.8	\$	0.4		
Contract amount	Average exchange rate	0.007									
Average exchange rate	Pay Korean Won/Receive U.S.\$										
	Contract amount\$	2.4		_	_	- \$	2.4	\$	0.3		
Total	Average exchange rate	0.001									
	Total\$	748.0	\$		\$	- \$	748.0	\$	(18.5)		

^{*} Average exchange rate represents the U.S. dollar equivalent of one unit of the foreign currency, weighted based on the notional amounts of the underlying foreign currency forward and swap contracts outstanding as at December 31, 2024.

Interest Rate Risk

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at specified rates, plus specified margins. See note 11 to the 2024 AFS included herein. Our borrowings under this facility at December 31, 2024 totaled \$741.2 million, comprised of amounts

outstanding under our Term Loans, and other than ordinary course letters of credit, no amounts outstanding under the Revolver. These borrowings expose us to interest rate risk due to the potential variability in market interest rates. Assuming our outstanding aggregate borrowings under the Credit Facility as at December 31, 2024 as described above (December 31, 2023 — aggregate outstanding borrowings of \$608.9 million), and without accounting for the interest rate swap agreements described below, a one-percentage point increase in applicable interest rates would increase our interest expense by \$7.4 million annually (December 31, 2023 — an increase of \$6.1 million annually). Including the impact of interest rate swap agreements outstanding as of December 31, 2024, a one-percentage point increase in relevant interest rates would increase interest expense, based on the outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility at December 31, 2024, by \$4.1 million annually (December 31, 2023 — \$2.8 million).

As of December 31, 2024, we had interest rate swaps hedging the interest rate risk associated with \$130.0 million of our Term A Loan borrowings and \$200.0 million of our Term B Loan borrowings. At December 31, 2024, the interest rate risk related to \$411.2 million of borrowings under the Credit Facility was unhedged, consisting of unhedged amounts outstanding under the New Term Loans and no amounts outstanding (other than ordinary course letters of credit) under the Revolver (December 31, 2023 — \$278.9 million, consisting of unhedged amounts under the Initial Term Loan and the Incremental Term Loan and no amounts outstanding (other than ordinary course letters of credit) under the Revolver).

See Item 7, MD&A — "Liquidity — *Cash requirements* — TRS" for a description of our TRS Agreement. Interest payments on our TRS Agreement are based on a variable interest rate and the counterparty's Common Share purchase costs. Based on the counterparty's Common Share purchase costs at December 31, 2024, a 1% increase in the applicable interest rate would have resulted in an insignificant increase in interest expense in 2024. Also see "Equity Price Risk" below.

Equity Price Risk

See Item 7, MD&A — "Liquidity — Cash requirements — TRS" for a description of our TRS Agreement. If the value of the TRS (as defined in the TRS Agreement) decreases over the agreement's term, we are obligated to pay the counterparty the amount of such decrease upon Settlement. If the price of our Common Shares decreased by 10% (assuming Settlement on December 31, 2024), we would not have been obligated to pay any amount to the counterparty (assuming Settlement on December 31, 2023 — no payment obligation).

Credit and Counterparty Risk

Management monitors the institutions that hold our cash and cash equivalents. Management's emphasis is primarily on safety of principal. Management, in its discretion, has diversified our cash and cash equivalents among banking institutions to adjust our exposure to levels they deem acceptable with respect to any one of these entities. To date, we have experienced no loss or lack of access to our invested cash or cash equivalents; however, we cannot assure that access to these holdings will not be impacted by adverse conditions in the financial markets, or that third party institutions will retain acceptable credit ratings or investment practices.

Cash balances held at banking institutions in the U.S. with which we do business may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance limits. While management monitors the cash balances in these bank accounts, such cash balances could be impacted if the underlying banks were to become insolvent or could be subject to other adverse conditions in the financial markets.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to us. We believe our risk of counterparty non-performance continues to be relatively low. We are in regular contact with our customers, suppliers and logistics providers, and to date have not experienced significant counterparty credit-related non-performance. However, if a key supplier (or any company within such supplier's supply chain) or customer experiences financial difficulties or fails to comply with their contractual obligations, this could result in a significant financial loss to us. We would also suffer a significant financial loss if an institution from which we purchased foreign exchange contracts or swaps, interest rate swaps or annuities for our pension plans, or the counterparty to our TRS Agreement defaults on their contractual obligations (with respect to pension obligations, we retain ultimate responsibility for the payment of benefits to plan participants unless and until such pension plans are wound-up). With respect to our financial market activities, we have adopted a policy of dealing only with counterparties we deem to be creditworthy to help mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults. We monitor the credit risk of the counterparties with whom we conduct business, through a combined process of credit rating reviews and portfolio reviews. We also provide unsecured credit to our customers in the normal course of business. From time

to time, we extend the payment terms applicable to certain customers and/or provide longer payment terms when deemed commercially reasonable. Longer payment terms could adversely impact our working capital requirements, and increase our financial exposure and credit risk. We attempt to mitigate customer credit risk by monitoring our customers' financial condition and performing ongoing credit evaluations as appropriate. In certain instances, we obtain letters of credit or other forms of security from our customers. We may also purchase credit insurance from a financial institution to reduce our credit exposure to certain customers. We consider credit risk in determining our allowance for credit losses, and we believe that such allowance, as adjusted from time to time, is adequate. We assess the financial stability and liquidity of our customers to identify customers we believe to be at greatest risk of default. We also monitor, and/or develop plans intended to mitigate any identified exposures. No significant adjustments were made to our allowance for credit losses in the last three years in connection with our ongoing assessments and monitoring activities.

Commodity Price Risk

We are exposed to market risk with respect to commodity price fluctuations for components used in the products we manufacture. These components are impacted by global pricing pressures, general economic conditions, market conditions, geopolitical issues, weather, changes in tariff rates, and other factors which are neither predictable nor within our control. While generally we have been able to offset inflation and other changes in the costs of key operating resources through price increases, productivity improvements, greater economies of scale, supplier negotiations and global sourcing initiatives, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to do so in the future. We do not engage in hedging activities for commodity price risk. Competitive conditions may limit our pricing flexibility, and macroeconomic conditions may make additional price increases imprudent. Increases in commodity prices that we cannot recover from our customers would adversely impact our operating results. We are also exposed to fluctuations in transportation costs, which may increase based on freight carrier capacity and fuel prices. We manage transportation costs by optimizing logistics and supply chain planning. We continue to invest in supply chain initiatives to address industry-wide capacity challenges.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The following financial statements have been filed as part of this Annual Report:

	Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG LLP, Toronto, Canada, PCAOB ID 85)	F-2, F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024	F-5
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023, and 2024	F-6
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024	F-7
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024	F-8
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024	F-9
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	F-10

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures:

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the U.S. Exchange Act) designed to ensure that information we are required to disclose in the reports that we file or submit under the U.S. Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the U.S. Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer's management, including its principal executive officer or officers and principal financial officer or officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management, under the supervision of and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to meet the requirements of Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the U.S. Exchange Act.

A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives are met. Due to inherent limitations in all such systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues within a company have been detected. Accordingly, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of our disclosure control system are met.

Management's annual report on internal control over financial reporting:

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. The Company's internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, the Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective.

KPMG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the 2024 AFS included in this Annual Report, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting, which report appears on page F-2 of this Annual Report.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting:

We did not identify any change in our internal control over financial reporting in connection with our evaluation required by Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the U.S. Exchange Act that occurred during 2024 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement," as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.

Part III.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the 2025 Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

We have adopted insider trading policies and procedures applicable to our directors, officers, employees, and other covered persons, and have implemented processes for the Company, that we believe are reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange. The foregoing summary of our insider trading policies and procedures does not purport to be complete and is qualified by reference to our Insider Trading Policy filed as Exhibit 19.1 to this Annual Report.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the 2025 Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the 2025 Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the 2025 Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the 2025 Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

1. Financial Statements:

The following financial statements have been filed as part of this Annual Report:

_	Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG LLP, Toronto, Canada, PCAOB ID 85)	F-2, F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024	F-5
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023, and 2024	F-6
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024	F-7
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024	F-8
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024	F-9
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	F-10

2. Financial Statement Schedule:

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts — Years Ended December 31

Other schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or not required or the information is presented in the 2024 AFS or notes thereto.

Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory (in millions):	Balance at beginning of period	Additions and adjustments charged to operations	Write-offs	В	alance at end of period
Year Ended December 31, 2024	105.1	\$ 49.0	\$ (34.5)	\$	119.6
Year Ended December 31, 2023	71.1	\$ 59.9	\$ (25.9)	\$	105.1
Year Ended December 31, 2022 \$	49.4	\$ 32.1	\$ (10.4)	\$	71.1

Valuation allowance for deferred taxes (in millions):	Balance at beginning of period	(Additions charged to costs and expenses	(Additions/ Reductions) charged to her accounts	(Reductions charged to costs and expenses	Balance at
Year Ended December 31, 2024	\$ 381.1	\$	17.4	\$	(4.1)	\$	(8.4)	\$ 386.0
Year Ended December 31, 2023	\$ 400.7	\$	21.3	\$	2.3	\$	(43.2)	\$ 381.1
Year Ended December 31, 2022	\$ 436.2	\$	6.5	\$	(6.7)	\$	(35.3)	\$ 400.7

3. Exhibits

The following exhibits have been filed as part of this Annual Report:

	onowing exhibits have been fried as part of		1	ted by Reference		Filed Herewith
Exhibit Number	Description	Form	File No.	Filing Date	Exhibit No.	
3.1	Certificate and Restated Articles of Incorporation effective April 25, 2024	6-K	001-14832	April 25, 2024	99.2	
3.2	Certificate and Articles of Amendment, effective April 25, 2024	6-K	001-14832	April 25, 2024	99.1	
3.3	Amended and Restated By-law No. 1	6-K	001-14832	February 28, 2024	99.3	
3.4	By-law No. 2	8-K	001-14832	January 31, 2025	3.1	
4.1	See Certificate and Restated Articles of Incorporation identified in Exhibit 3.1					
4.2	Form of Common Share Certificate	6-K	001-14832	April 25, 2024	99.3	
4.3	Description of Securities			1		X
10.1	Amended Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Robert A. Mionis, dated July 25, 2024*†					X
10.2	Form of Executive Officer Offer Letter (U.S.)*					X
10.3	Amended and Restated Celestica Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan as of January 29, 2014*	6-K	001-14832	July 9, 2014	99.1	
10.4	Amended and Restated Celestica Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan as of July 22, 2015*	6-K	001-14832	July 29, 2015	99.1	
10.5	Amended and Restated Celestica Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan as of October 19, 2015*	20-F	001-14832	March 7, 2016	4.5	
10.6	Amended and Restated Celestica Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan as of October 19, 2016*	20-F	001-14832	March 13, 2017	4.7	
10.7	Amended and Restated Celestica Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan as of July 25, 2024*					X
10.8	Amended and Restated Celestica Share Unit Plan as of January 29, 2014*	6-K	001-14832	July 9, 2014	99.2	
10.9	Amended and Restated Celestica Share Unit Plan as of July 22, 2015*	6-K	001-14832	July 29, 2015	99.2	
10.10	Amended and Restated Celestica Share Unit Plan as of October 19, 2015*	20-F	001-14832	March 7, 2016	4.8	
10.11	Amended and Restated Celestica Share Unit Plan as of July 25, 2024*					X
10.12	Form of Long-Term Incentive Plan and Share Unit Plan Grant Notice (RSU)*					X
10.13	Form of Long-Term Incentive Plan and Share Unit Plan Grant Notice (PSU)*					X
10.14	Directors' Share Compensation Plan (2008)*	SC TO-I	005-55523	October 29, 2012	(d)(3)	
10.15	Directors' Share Compensation Plan, amended and restated as of July 25, 2013*	20-F	001-14832	March 14, 2014	4.16	

Exhibit Number	Description	Form	File No.	Filing Date	Exhibit No.
10.16	Directors' Share Compensation Plan, amended and restated as of January 1, 2016*	20-F	001-14832	March 7, 2016	4.22
10.17	Directors' Share Compensation Plan, amended and restated as of January 1, 2019*	20-F	001-14832	March 11, 2019	4.27
10.18	Revolving Trade Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 6, 2020, among Celestica LLC, Celestica Holdings Pte Ltd., Celestica Hong Kong Ltd., Celestica (Romania) S.R.L., Celestica Japan KK, Celestica Oregon LLC, Celestica Precision Machining Ltd., Celestica Electronics (M.) Sdn. Bhd, and Celestica International LP, as Sellers, Celestica Inc., as Servicer, and Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, New York Branch and Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank (Canada Branch), as Purchasers	20-F	001-14832	March 16, 2020	4.22
10.19	First Amendment to the Revolving Trade Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 4, 2022, among Celestica LLC, Celestica Holdings Pte Ltd., Celestica Hong Kong Ltd., Celestica (Romania) S.R.L., Celestica Japan KK, Celestica Oregon LLC, Celestica Electronics (M.) Sdn. Bhd, Celestica Precision Machining Ltd., and Celestica International LP, as Sellers, Celestica Inc., as Servicer, and Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, New York Branch and Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank (Canada Branch), as Purchasers	20-F	001-14832	March 14, 2022	4.24
10.20	Second Amendment to the Revolving Trade Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 27, 2022, among Celestica LLC, Celestica Holdings Pte Ltd., Celestica Hong Kong Ltd., Celestica (Romania) S.R.L., Celestica Japan KK, Celestica Oregon LLC, Celestica Electronics (M.) Sdn. Bhd, Celestica Precision Machining Ltd., and Celestica International LP, as Sellers, Celestica Inc., as Servicer, and Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, New York Branch and Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank (Canada Branch), as Purchasers	20-F	001-14832	March 13, 2023	4.21

		<u> </u>								
Exhibit Number	Description	Form	File No.	Filing Date	Exhibit No.					
10.21	Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2024, made by and among Celestica Inc., an Ontario corporation, Celestica International LP, an Ontario limited partnership, and Celestica (USA) Inc., a Delaware corporation, as Borrowers, certain subsidiaries of Celestica Inc. from time to time party thereto, as Guarantors, each Lender from time to time party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender, and an L/C issuer†	6-K	001-14832	June 25, 2024	99.1					
19.1	Insider Trading Policy					X				
21.1	Subsidiaries of Registrant					X				
23.1	Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm					X				
24.1	Power of Attorney (see signature page)					X				
31.1	Principal Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(a)					X				
31.2	Principal Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(a)					X				
32.1	Certification required by Rule 13a-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code**					X				
97.1	Clawback Policy	20-F	001-14832	March 11, 2024	97.1					
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document					X				
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document					X				
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document					X				
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document					X				
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document					X				
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document					X				
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File - formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101					X				

^{*} Management contract or compensatory plan

^{**} Will not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the U.S. Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of Section 18 of the U.S. Exchange Act, and will not be incorporated by reference into any filing under the U.S. Securities Act, or the U.S. Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

[†] Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted because they are both: (i) not material; and (ii) of the type that the registrant treats as private or confidential.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CELESTICA INC.

By: /s/ Douglas Parker

Douglas Parker

Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary

Date: March 3, 2025

POWER OF ATTORNEY

We, the undersigned directors and officers of Celestica Inc., hereby severally constitute Douglas Parker and Mandeep Chawla, and each of them singly, our true and lawful attorneys with full power to them and each of them to sign for us, in our names in the capacities indicated below, any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE	TITLE	DATE
/s/ Robert A. Mionis Robert A. Mionis	Director, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)	March 3, 2025
/s/ Mandeep Chawla	Chief Financial Officer	March 3, 2025
Mandeep Chawla	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)	
/s/Michael M. Wilson Michael M. Wilson	Chair of the Board and Director	March 3, 2025
/s/ Kulvinder (Kelly) Ahuja Kulvinder (Kelly) Ahuja	Director	March 3, 2025
/s/ Robert A. Cascella Robert A. Cascella	Director	March 3, 2025
/s/ Françoise Colpron Françoise Colpron	Director	March 3, 2025
/s/ Jill Kale Jill Kale	Director	March 3, 2025
/s/ Amar Maletira Amar Maletira	Director	March 3, 2025
/s/ Luis A. Müller Luis A. Müller	Director	March 3, 2025

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Celestica Inc. (the Company) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. The Company's internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 has been audited by KPMG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report, as stated in their report appearing on page F-2.

February 28, 2025

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Celestica Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Celestica Inc.'s (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in *Internal Control* — *Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in *Internal Control* — *Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 28, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying "Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting". Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Toronto, Canada February 28, 2025 /s/ KPMG LLP Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Celestica Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Celestica Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in *Internal Control* — *Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 28, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Valuation of goodwill for the capital equipment reporting unit

As discussed in Note 2(j) to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis, during the fourth quarter of each year, and whenever events and changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may be impaired. Recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit's carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit, which is typically measured using a discounted cash flow analysis. As discussed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, as of December 31, 2024, the Company's consolidated goodwill balance was \$340.5 million, of which the goodwill associated with the capital equipment reporting unit was \$131.0 million.

We identified the valuation of goodwill for the capital equipment reporting unit as a critical audit matter. Subjective and challenging auditor judgement was required to evaluate certain assumptions in the impairment model used in the Company's estimate of the fair value of the capital equipment reporting unit. Specifically, certain assumptions used to estimate the fair value were challenging to assess, as minor changes to the future revenue growth rate, profitability, and the discount rate assumptions could have had a significant effect on the fair value and resulting impairment conclusion.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the critical audit matter. This included controls related to the review of the future revenue growth rate, profitability, and the discount rate assumptions used in the impairment model. We assessed the Company's future revenue growth rates and profitability by comparing them to the underlying forecast, evidence of future customer demand, industry reports and historical results. We compared the Company's historical revenue and profitability forecasts of the capital equipment reporting unit to actual results to assess the Company's ability to accurately forecast. We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in the evaluation of the discount rate, by comparing the Company's inputs to the discount rate to publicly available data for comparable entities, independently developing a range of discount rates and comparing those to the Company's discount rate.

Toronto, Canada February 28, 2025 /s/ KPMG LLP Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1997.

CELESTICA INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

	Note	D	December 31 2024		December 31 2023		
Assets							
Current assets:							
Cash and cash equivalents	19	\$	423.3	\$	370.4		
Accounts receivable, net	4 & 19		2,069.0		1,795.7		
Inventories	5		1,760.6		2,104.3		
Income taxes receivable			8.5		11.9		
Other current assets	19		250.8		228.3		
Total current assets			4,512.2		4,510.6		
Property, plant and equipment, net	6		537.2		524.0		
Operating lease right-of-use assets	7		124.4		107.8		
Goodwill	8		340.5		321.7		
Intangible assets	8		308.0		318.3		
Deferred income taxes	18		87.7		57.0		
Other non-current assets	9		78.2		51.1		
Total assets		\$	5,988.2	\$	5,890.5		
Liabilities and Equity							
Current liabilities:							
Current portion of borrowings under credit facility and finance lease obligations	11	\$	26.5	\$	27.0		
Accounts payable			1,294.8		1,298.2		
Accrued and other current liabilities	19		1,586.7		1,810.6		
Income taxes payable	18		93.5		64.3		
Current portion of provisions	10		19.9		20.4		
Total current liabilities			3,021.4		3,220.5		
Long-term portion of borrowings under credit facility and finance lease obligations	11		770.2		648.3		
Pension and non-pension post-employment benefit obligations	17		83.8		83.9		
Long-term portion of provisions and other non-current liabilities	10		167.4		124.6		
Deferred income taxes			49.4		42.2		
Total liabilities			4,092.2		4,119.5		
Equity:							
Capital stock	12		1,632.8		1,672.5		
Treasury stock	12		(92.9)		(80.1)		
Additional paid-in capital			797.5		1,030.6		
Accumulated deficit			(423.8)		(851.8)		
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	13		(17.6)		(0.2)		
Total equity			1,896.0		1,771.0		
Total liabilities and equity		\$	5,988.2	\$	5,890.5		

Commitments, contingencies and guarantees (note 21)

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors [Signed] Michael M. Wilson, Director

CELESTICA INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)

			Year	end	ed Decembe	er 31	
	Note	2024			2023		2022
Revenue		\$	9,646.0	\$	7,961.0	\$	7,250.0
Cost of sales	5		8,612.3		7,206.9		6,600.3
Gross profit			1,033.7		754.1		649.7
Selling, general and administrative expenses			293.5		303.2		267.3
Research and development			78.0		60.9		46.3
Amortization of intangible assets	8		43.5		39.6		40.1
Restructuring and other charges, net of recoveries	14		19.4		12.1		6.7
Earnings from operations			599.3		338.3		289.3
Finance costs			52.1		78.9		51.7
Miscellaneous expense (income)	15		15.0		(46.6)		(1.5)
Earnings before income taxes			532.2		306.0		239.1
Income tax expense (recovery)	18						
Current			136.1		65.2		86.9
Deferred			(31.9)		(3.6)		(27.9)
			104.2		61.6		59.0
Net earnings		\$	428.0	\$	244.4	\$	180.1
Earnings per share:							
Basic		\$	3.62	\$	2.03	\$	1.46
Diluted		\$	3.61	\$	2.03	\$	1.46
Weighted-average shares used in computing per share amounts (in millions)							
Basic	20		118.1		120.1		123.5
Diluted	20		118.7		120.3		123.6

 $\label{thm:companying} \textit{The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements}.$

CELESTICA INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

		Year ended December 31								
	Note	ote 2024		2023			2022			
Net earnings		\$	428.0	\$	244.4	\$	180.1			
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	13									
Gains (losses) related to defined benefit pension and non-pension post- employment benefit plans	17		(2.0)		(8.9)		26.2			
Currency translation differences for foreign operations	13		(7.4)		(3.4)		(6.7)			
Unrealized loss on currency forward derivative hedges	13		(9.4)		_		_			
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap derivative hedges	13		1.4		_		_			
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax		\$	(17.4)	\$	(12.3)	\$	19.5			
Total comprehensive income		\$	410.6	\$	232.1	\$	199.6			

CELESTICA INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

A agramulated

	Note	Capital stock	reasury stock	dditional paid-in capital	A	ccumulated deficit	Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ^(a)	Total equity
Balance — December 31, 2021		\$ 1,764.5	\$ (48.9)	\$ 1,029.8	\$	(1,276.3)	\$ (7.4	\$ 1,461.7
Capital transactions:	12							
Issuance of capital stock		0.7	_	(0.5)		_	_	- 0.2
Repurchase of capital stock for cancellation (b)		(50.3)	(1.8)	25.0		_	_	(27.1)
Purchase of treasury stock for stock-based plans (c)		_	(11.1)	_		_	_	(11.1)
Stock-based compensation (SBC)		_	43.3	9.3		_	_	52.6
Total comprehensive income:								
Net earnings for 2022		_	_	_		180.1	_	180.1
Other comprehensive income		_	_	_		_	19.:	19.5
Balance — December 31, 2022		\$ 1,714.9	\$ (18.5)	\$ 1,063.6	\$	(1,096.2)	\$ 12.	\$ 1,675.9
Capital transactions:	12							
Issuance of capital stock(d)		0.6	_	(0.3)		_	_	- 0.3
Repurchase of capital stock for cancellation(e)		(43.0)	1.8	2.9		_	_	(38.3)
Purchase of treasury stock for stock-based plans(f)		_	(89.8)	_		_	_	(89.8)
SBC cash settlement		_	_	(66.7)		_	_	(66.7)
SBC		_	26.4	31.1		_	_	57.5
Total comprehensive income:								
Net earnings for 2023		_	_	_		244.4	_	244.4
Other comprehensive loss		_	_	_		_	(12.3	3) (12.3)
Balance — December 31, 2023		\$ 1,672.5	\$ (80.1)	\$ 1,030.6	\$	(851.8)	\$ (0.2	\$ 1,771.0
Capital transactions:	12							
Issuance of capital stock		5.7	_	(1.8)		_	_	3.9
Repurchase of capital stock for cancellation(g)		(45.4)	_	(106.7)		_	_	(152.1)
Purchase of treasury stock for stock-based plans(h)		_	(112.1)	_		_	_	(112.1)
SBC cash settlement		_	_	(84.6)		_	_	(84.6)
SBC		_	99.3	(40.0)		_	_	59.3
Total comprehensive income:								
Net earnings for 2024		_	_	_		428.0	_	428.0
Other comprehensive loss		_	_	_		_	(17.4	(17.4)
Balance — December 31, 2024		\$ 1,632.8	\$ (92.9)	\$ 797.5	\$	(423.8)	\$ (17.6	\$ 1,896.0

- (a) Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is net of tax. See note 13.
- (b) Consists of \$34.6 paid to repurchase common shares for cancellation in 2022, offset in part by the reversal of the \$7.5 accrued as of December 31, 2021 for the estimated contractual maximum quantity of permitted common shares repurchases (Contractual Maximum Quantity) under an automatic share purchase plan (ASPP) executed in December 2021 for such purpose. See note 12.
- (c) Consists of \$44.9 paid to repurchase common shares for delivery obligations under our SBC plans in 2022, offset in part by the reversal of the \$33.8 accrued as of December 31, 2021 for the Contractual Maximum Quantity under an ASPP executed in December 2021 for such purpose. See note 12.
- (d) In 2023, we issued 18.6 million common shares upon conversion of an equivalent number of our multiple voting shares, with nil impact on our aggregate capital stock amount. See note 12.
- (e) Consists of \$35.6 paid to repurchase common shares for cancellation in 2023 and \$2.7 accrued at December 31, 2023 for the estimated Contractual Maximum Quantity under an ASPP executed in December 2023 for such purpose (2023 NCIB Accrual). See note 12.
- (f) Consists of \$82.3 paid to repurchase common shares for delivery obligations under our SBC plans in 2023 and \$7.5 accrued at December 31, 2023 for the estimated Contractual Maximum Quantity under an ASPP executed in September 2023 for such purpose (2023 SBC Accrual). See note 12.
- (g) Consists of \$152.0 paid to repurchase common shares for cancellation in 2024 and \$2.8 accrued at December 31, 2024 for share buyback taxes, offset in part by the reversal of 2023 NCIB Accrual. See note 12.
- (h) Consists of \$119.6 paid to repurchase common shares for delivery obligations under our SBC plans in 2024, offset in part by the reversal of 2023 SBC Accrual. See note 12.

CELESTICA INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

		Year ended Dece			ed Decemb	ember 31				
Cash provided by (used in):	Note		2024		2023		2022			
Operating activities:			,							
Net earnings		\$	428.0	\$	244.4	\$	180.1			
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash flows provided by operating activity	ties:									
Depreciation and amortization			151.9		130.8		115.9			
SBC	12		57.4		55.6		51.0			
Total return swap (TRS) fair value adjustments	12		(91.0)		(45.6)		_			
Restructuring and other charges	14		5.9		1.6		0.9			
Unrealized losses (gains) on hedge derivatives			13.2		6.3		(33.3)			
Deferred income taxes			(31.9)		(3.6)		(27.9)			
Other			11.1		(2.2)		(5.3)			
Changes in non-cash working capital items:										
Accounts receivable			(270.7)		(402.2)		(133.3)			
Inventories			343.7		245.1		(717.2)			
Other current assets			45.1		8.6		(51.2)			
Accounts payable, accrued and other current liabilities, provisions and income										
taxes payable			(188.8)		87.4		831.4			
Net cash provided by operating activities			473.9		326.2		211.1			
Investing activities:										
	2		(2(1)							
Cash paid for business acquisition, net of cash required			(36.1)		(125.1)		(100.0)			
Purchase of computer software and property, plant and equipment			(170.9)		(125.1)		(109.0)			
Proceeds from sale of assets			2.9		2.7		0.1			
Other			(8.4)		(122.4)	_	(100.0)			
Net cash used in investing activities			(212.5)		(122.4)		(108.9)			
Financing activities:										
Borrowings under revolving loans	11		798.0		891.0		1,235.0			
Repayments under revolving loans	11		(798.0)		(891.0)		(1,235.0)			
Borrowing under term loans	11		750.0		_		_			
Repayments under term loans	11		(617.7)		(18.3)		(33.2)			
Principal payments of finance leases			(9.7)		(9.9)		(8.4)			
Proceeds from issuance of capital stock	12		3.9		0.3		0.2			
Repurchase of capital stock for cancellation	12		(152.0)		(35.6)		(34.6)			
Purchase of treasury stock for stock-based plans	12		(119.6)		(82.3)		(44.9)			
Proceeds from TRS settlement	19		32.3		5.0		_			
SBC cash settlement	12		(84.6)		(66.7)		_			
Debt issuance costs paid			(11.1)		(0.4)		(0.8)			
Net cash used in financing activities			(208.5)		(207.9)		(121.7)			
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents			52.9		(4.1)		(19.5)			
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year			370.4		374.5		394.0			
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year		\$	423.3	\$	374.3	\$	374.5			
Capit and Capit equivalents, one or year		Ψ	123.3	Ψ	370.4	Ψ	317.3			
Supplemental disclosure information:										
Interest paid		\$	52.9	\$	68.8	\$	52.9			
Net income taxes paid		\$	106.3	\$	78.4	\$	65.1			
Non-cash investing activity:										
Unpaid purchases of property, plant and equipment at end of period		\$	29.7	\$	52.5	\$	23.6			

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

1. REPORTING ENTITY:

Celestica Inc. (referred to herein as Celestica, the Company, we, us, or our) is incorporated in Ontario with its corporate headquarters located in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. Celestica's subordinate voting shares (SVS) were re-designated as common shares (Common Shares) effective April 25, 2024 (see note 12), and are listed as such on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) and the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). We refer to our common equity as Common Shares for all periods presented herein. Our operating and reportable segments consist of our Advanced Technology Solutions (ATS) segment and our Connectivity & Cloud Solutions (CCS) segment. See note 22 for further detail regarding segment information.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Basis of preparation:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

Functional and presentation currency:

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States (U.S.) dollars, which is also Celestica's functional currency. Unless otherwise noted, all financial information is presented in millions of U.S. dollars (except percentages and per share/per unit amounts).

Use of estimates and judgments:

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies, the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosures with respect to contingent assets and liabilities. We base our judgments, estimates and assumptions on current facts, historical experience and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The economic environment also impacts certain estimates and discount rates necessary to prepare our consolidated financial statements, including significant estimates and discount rates applicable to the determination of the fair values used in the impairment testing of our non-financial assets. Our assessment of these factors forms the basis for our judgments on the carrying values of our assets and liabilities, and the accrual of our costs and expenses. Actual results could differ materially from our estimates and assumptions. We review our estimates and underlying assumptions on an ongoing basis and make revisions as determined necessary by management. Revisions are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and may also impact future periods.

Our review of the estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the preparation of our financial statements for 2024 included those relating to, among others: our determination of the timing of revenue recognition, the determination of whether indicators of impairment existed for our assets and reporting units, our measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities, our estimated inventory write-downs and expected credit losses, customer creditworthiness and the determination of the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and contingent consideration in connection with a business combination. Any revisions to estimates, judgments or assumptions may result in, among other things, impairments to our assets or our reporting units, any of which could have a material impact on our financial performance and financial condition.

On February 1, 2025, the President of the United States issued three executive orders directing the U.S. to impose new tariffs on imports originating from Canada, Mexico and China. On February 3, 2025, the U.S. announced that the implementation of tariffs on Canada and Mexico would be paused for 30 days. Our review of the estimates, judgments and assumptions also included consideration of the potential impacts of these tariffs, including with respect to the determination of whether indicators of impairment existed for our reporting units.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgment: We have applied significant estimates, judgments and assumptions in the following areas which we believe could have a significant impact on our reported results and financial position: our determination of the timing of revenue recognition; whether events or changes in circumstances are indicators that an impairment review of our assets or reporting units should be conducted; the measurement of our reporting units' fair value using market participant assumptions, which includes estimating future growth, profitability, and discount and terminal growth rates; and the allocation of the purchase price and other valuations related to our business acquisitions.

We describe our use of judgment and estimation uncertainties in greater detail in the accounting policies described under "Significant Accounting Policies" below.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements:

In December 2022, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2022-06, Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848 (Topic 848), which defers the sunset date of ASC 848 from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2024. ASC 848 provides relief for companies preparing for the discontinuation of interest rates, such as LIBOR. The adoption of the guidance during the second quarter of 2023 had no material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07 Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which expands reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss. The impact of our adoption of the guidance in 2024 is reflected in note 22.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted:

In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06 Disclosure Improvements — Codification Amendments in Response to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission's Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative, which amends disclosure guidance over an entity's accounting policy related to derivative instruments, material prior period adjustments upon a change in a reporting entity, earnings-per-share, encumbered assets, unused lines of credit and unfunded commitments, and liquidation preferences of preferred stock. The amendments are effective prospectively on the date each individual amendment is effectively removed from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09 Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which enhances income tax disclosures, primarily through changes to the rate reconciliation and disaggregation of income taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03 Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which requires public business entities to disclose disaggregated information about certain costs and expenses in the notes to their financial statements. The objective of this update is to provide more detailed information about the types of expenses included in commonly presented expense captions, such as cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A), and research and development expenses. The update mandates that entities present a tabular disclosure of each relevant expense caption on the face of the income statement, disaggregated into specified categories, including purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, intangible asset amortization, and other significant expenses. This enhanced disclosure aims to improve the transparency and decision-usefulness of financial statements for investors and other users. ASU 2024-03 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, with early adoption permitted.

We are currently evaluating the impact that the updated standards will have on our financial statement disclosures. We believe that other recently issued accounting standards will either not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements or will not apply to our operations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The accounting policies below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

(a) Basis of measurement:

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, primarily on the historical cost basis. Other measurement bases, where used, are described in the applicable notes.

(b) Basis of consolidation:

These consolidated financial statements include our subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned. Any subsidiaries that are formed or acquired during the year are consolidated from their respective dates of formation or acquisition. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. Some of our subsidiaries are considered variable interest entities (VIEs) as they do not have sufficient equity at risk to finance their activities without additional financial support. Such VIEs are consolidated as we are their primary beneficiary. Subsidiaries that are not considered VIEs are consolidated as we own, directly or indirectly, a controlling interest in the entities. We perform an assessment at inception and regularly reevaluate whether the legal entity is a VIE and whether we continue to be the primary beneficiary.

(c) Business combinations and goodwill:

We use the acquisition method to account for any business combinations. All identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including contingent assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet as of the acquisition date.

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred for the acquisition over the net of the acquisitiondate amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. We do not amortize goodwill. Goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment, or more frequently, if events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount (see note 2(j)).

Contingent consideration is also recorded at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet as of the acquisition date. We record subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that is classified as a liability from the date of acquisition to the settlement date in our consolidated statement of operations. We expense integration costs (for the establishment of business processes, infrastructure and information systems for acquired operations) and acquisition-related consulting and transaction costs as incurred in our consolidated statement of operations.

We use judgment to determine the estimates used to value identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and the fair value of contingent consideration and other potential obligations, if applicable, at the acquisition date. We may engage third parties to determine the fair value of certain inventory, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. We use estimates to determine cash flow projections, including the period of expected future benefit, future growth and discount rates, among other factors, to value intangible assets and contingent consideration. The fair value of acquired tangible assets are measured by applying the market, cost or replacement cost, or income approach (using discounted cash flows and forecasts by management), as appropriate. The fair value of acquired intangible assets are measured by applying the income approach using a discounted cash flow model and forecasts based on management's estimates and assumptions.

(d) Foreign currency translation:

The majority of our subsidiaries have a U.S. dollar functional currency, which represents the currency of the primary economic environment in which they operate. For these subsidiaries, we translate: (i) monetary assets and liabilities

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

denominated in foreign currencies into U.S. dollars at the period-end exchange rates; (ii) non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies into U.S. dollars at historic rates; and (iii) revenue and expenses denominated in foreign currencies into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates prevailing during the month of the transaction. Exchange gains and losses also arise on the settlement of foreign-currency denominated transactions. We recognize foreign currency differences arising on translation in our consolidated statement of operations.

Upon consolidation, for our subsidiaries with a non-U.S. dollar functional currency, we translate assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies into U.S. dollars using the period-end exchange rates, and we translate revenue and expenses into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates prevailing during the month of the transaction. We defer gains and losses arising from the translation of these operations in the foreign currency translation account included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI). For these subsidiaries, we translate foreign currency transactions into the relevant non-U.S. dollar functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing during the month of the transaction for revenues and expenses, and the exchange rate as at period end for the translation of these foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities, and such gains and losses arising from these translations are recorded in the statement of operations in their non-U.S. dollar functional currency before translation into U.S. dollar for consolidation purposes.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on account and short-term investments in money market funds with original maturities of three months or less. The short-term investments are purchased with the intention of generating earnings in the near term and therefore are classified as trading with changes in fair value recognized in our consolidated statement of operations. We expense transaction costs related to short-term investments classified as trading as incurred in our consolidated statement of operations. These instruments are subject to an insignificant risk of change in fair value over their terms and, as a result, we carry cash and cash equivalents at cost.

(f) Inventories:

We procure inventory and manufacture products based on specific customer orders and forecasts, and value our inventory at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) and net realizable value. The cost of our finished goods and work in progress includes direct materials, labor and overhead. All direct and indirect costs related to inventories are capitalized as incurred and are subsequently recorded in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of operations at the time inventories are sold. We determine the net realizable value as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation.

At the end of each reporting period, we perform assessments and record inventory write-downs if actual market conditions or demand for our products or services are less favorable than originally projected. The determination of net realizable value involves significant management judgment and estimation. When estimating the net realizable value of our inventory, we consider factors such as shrinkage, the aging of and future demand for the inventory, and contractual arrangements with customers. We attempt to utilize excess inventory in other products we manufacture or return such inventory to the relevant suppliers or customers. We use future sales volume forecasts to estimate excess inventory on-hand. A change to these assumptions may impact our inventory valuation and our gross margins.

(g) Property, plant and equipment (PP&E):

We carry PP&E at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost consists of expenditures necessarily incurred to bringing the asset to the condition and location necessary for its intended use. We capitalize the cost of an asset when the economic benefits associated with that asset are probable and when the cost can be measured reliably. We capitalize the costs of major renovations and we write-off the carrying amount of replaced assets. We expense all other maintenance and repair costs in our consolidated statement of operations as incurred. We do not depreciate land. We recognize depreciation expense on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

We estimate the useful life of PP&E based on the nature of the asset, historical experience, expected changes in technology, and the expected duration of related customer programs. When major components of an asset have a significantly different useful life than their primary asset, the components are accounted for and depreciated separately. We review our estimates of residual values, useful lives and the methods of depreciation annually at year-end and, if required, adjust them prospectively. We determine gains and losses on the disposal or retirement of PP&E by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the asset and we recognize these gains and losses in our consolidated statement of operations in the period of disposal or retirement. Also, see note 2(*j*).

(h) Leases:

We are the lessee of land, buildings and machinery. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. An arrangement is a lease or contains a lease when (i) there is an identified asset, and (ii) the Company has the right to control the use of the identified asset. Operating leases are included in operating lease ROU assets, accrued and other current liabilities and long-term portion of provisions and other non-current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. Finance leases are included in PP&E, current portion of borrowings under credit facility and finance lease obligations and long-term portion of borrowings under credit facility and finance lease obligations on our consolidated balance sheet.

ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at lease commencement based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate (taking country specific risks into consideration) based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The ROU assets also include any initial direct costs, lease payments made at or before lease commencement and exclude lease incentives. Our lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option.

Variable lease payments are generally expensed as incurred, including certain non-lease components, such as maintenance and other services provided by the lessor, and other charges included in the lease. Our lease agreements generally do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

For operating leases, the lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in cost of sales or selling, general & administrative expenses (SG&A), primarily based on the nature and use of the asset, in our consolidated statement of operations. Depreciation of finance lease ROU assets is included in cost of sales or SG&A in our consolidated statement of operations, primarily based on the nature and use of the asset, and we record interest expense (included in finance costs) over the lease term on the lease liability recognized at lease commencement.

We elected the practical expedient, for each class of underlying asset, to not separate lease and non-lease components, as such non-lease components are included in the calculation of the ROU assets and lease liabilities and included in the lease expense over the term of the lease. We also elected to apply the portfolio approach and used a single discount rate for a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

We elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less that do not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that we are reasonably certain to exercise). We recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

(i) Intangible assets:

We record acquired intangible assets on our consolidated balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. We capitalize acquired intangible assets when the economic benefits associated with the asset are probable and when the cost can be measured reliably. We estimate the useful life of acquired intangible assets based on the nature of the asset, historical experience and the projected period of expected future economic benefits to be provided by the asset. We amortize these assets on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Inte	llectual property	. 3 to 5 years
Oth	er intangible assets	. 4 to 15 years
Con	nputer software assets	. 1 to 10 years

Intellectual property assets consist primarily of certain acquired non-patented intellectual property and process technology. Other intangible assets consist primarily of customer relationships and contract intangibles. Computer software assets consist primarily of software licenses. We review our estimates of residual values, useful lives and the methods of amortization annually at year end and, if required, adjust for these prospectively.

(j) Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, PP&E, and operating lease ROU assets:

Impairment of goodwill:

For purposes of impairment testing, we allocate goodwill to a reporting unit, which is an operating segment or one level below an operating segment (component), that we expect will benefit from the related acquisition. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis, during the fourth quarter to correspond with our annual planning cycle (Annual Impairment Assessment), and whenever events and changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may be impaired. Circumstances that may lead to the impairment of goodwill include unforeseen decreases in future performance or industry demand or the restructuring of our operations as a result of a change in our business strategy. A qualitative assessment is allowed to determine if goodwill is potentially impaired. Based on this qualitative assessment, if we determine that it is more likely than not that the reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying value (including goodwill), then we perform a quantitative assessment, otherwise no further analysis is required.

Recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit's carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit, which is typically measured using a discounted cash flow analysis. Certain of these approaches use significant unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs, as defined by the fair value hierarchy (see 2(q)) and require management to make various judgmental assumptions about revenue growth rates, operating margins, and discount rates which consider our plan for the following year, our three-year strategic plan, and other financial projections, and are believed to reflect market participant views. Some of the inherent estimates and assumptions used in determining fair value of the reporting units are outside the control of management, including interest rates, cost of capital, tax rates, market conditions and credit ratings. While we believe we have made reasonable estimates and assumptions to calculate the fair value of the reporting units, it is possible a material change could occur. If the actual results are not consistent with management's estimates and assumptions used to calculate fair value, it could result in material impairments of our goodwill. If the carrying amount of any reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we will record an impairment loss based on the difference. The impairment loss will be limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. We do not reverse impairment losses in future periods.

Impairment of long-lived assets:

Long-lived assets, including PP&E, operating lease ROU assets and intangible assets with finite lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. In order to determine if assets have been impaired, assets are grouped and tested at the lowest level for which identifiable independent cash flows are available (asset group). An impairment loss is recognized when the sum of projected

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset group. The measurement of the impairment loss to be recognized is based on the difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the asset group. Fair value may be determined using a market approach or income approach and is based on management's assumptions, including future revenue and cash flow projections. Circumstances that may lead to impairment of long-lived assets include reduced expectations for future performance or industry demand and possible further restructurings, among others. We do not reverse impairment losses in future periods.

(k) Provisions:

We recognize a provision for obligations arising from past events when the amount can be reasonably estimated and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle an obligation. The nature and type of provisions vary and management judgment is required to determine the extent of an obligation and whether the outflow of resources is probable. At the end of each reporting period, we evaluate the appropriateness of the remaining balances. We may be required to adjust recorded amounts to reflect actual experience or changes in estimates for future periods.

Restructuring:

We incur restructuring charges relating to workforce reductions, site consolidations, and costs associated with businesses we are downsizing or exiting. Our restructuring charges include employee severance and benefit costs, consultant costs, gains, losses or impairments related to owned sites and equipment we no longer use and which are available for sale, and costs or impairments related to leased sites and equipment we no longer use.

The recognition of restructuring charges requires management to make certain judgments and estimates regarding the nature, timing and amounts associated with our restructuring actions. Our assumptions include the timing of employee terminations, the measurement of termination costs, any anticipated sublease recoveries from exited sites, the timing of dispositions, and the estimated fair values less costs of disposal for assets we no longer use and which are available for sale. We develop detailed plans and record termination costs in the period that employees are informed of their termination. For owned sites and equipment that are no longer in use and are available for sale, we recognize an impairment loss based on their estimated fair value less costs of disposal, with estimated fair value based on market prices for similar assets. We may engage third parties to assist in the determination of the estimated fair values less costs of disposal for these assets. For leased sites that we intend to exit in connection with restructuring activities, we assess the recoverability of our ROU assets, and write down such assets (recorded as restructuring charges) if the carrying value exceeds any estimated sublease recoveries. To estimate future sublease recoveries, we may engage independent brokers to determine the estimated tenant rents we can expect to realize. At the end of each reporting period, we evaluate the appropriateness of our restructuring charges and balances. We may be required to adjust recorded amounts to reflect actual experience or changes in estimates for future periods. See note 14(a).

Legal and other contingencies:

In the normal course of our operations, we may be subject to lawsuits, investigations and other claims, including, but not limited to, environmental, labor, product, customer disputes, and other matters. The filing of a suit or formal assertion of a claim does not automatically trigger a requirement to record a provision. We record a provision for loss contingencies, including legal claims, based on management's estimate of the probable outcome. Judgment is required when there is a range of possible outcomes. Management considers the degree of probability of the outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the loss. A provision is recorded at the most likely outcome within a range, or at the low end of the range if no amount within the range is a better estimate than another. We may also use third party advisors in making our determination. The ultimate outcome, including the amount and timing of any payments required, may vary significantly from our original estimates. Potential material legal and other material contingent obligations that have not been recognized as provisions, as the outcome is remote or not probable, or the amount cannot be reliably estimated, are disclosed as contingent liabilities. See note 21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Warranty:

We offer product and service warranties to our customers. We record a provision for future warranty costs based on management's estimate of probable claims under these warranties. In determining the amount of the provision, we consider several factors including the terms of the warranty (which vary by customer, product or service), the current volume of products sold or services rendered during the warranty period, and historical warranty information. We review and adjust these estimates as necessary to reflect our experience and new information. The amount and aging of our provision will vary depending on various factors including the length of the warranty offered, the remaining life of the warranty and the extent and timing of warranty claims. We classify the portion of our warranty provision for which payment is expected in the next 12 months as current, and the remainder as non-current.

(l) Employee benefits:

Pension and non-pension post-employment benefits:

We classify pension and non-pension post-employment benefits as either defined contribution plans or defined benefit plans.

Under defined contribution plans, our obligation is to make a fixed contribution to a separate entity. The related investment risk is borne by the employee. We recognize our obligations to make contributions to defined contribution plans as an employee benefit expense in our consolidated statement of operations in the period the employee services are rendered.

Under defined benefit plans, our obligation is to provide an agreed-upon benefit to specified plan participants. We remain exposed to both actuarial and investment risks with respect to defined benefit plans. Our obligation is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method for pension post-employment benefits and the unit credit with service prorated actuarial cost method for non-pension post-employment benefits, based on service and management's estimates. Actuarial valuations require management to make judgments and estimates relating to salary escalation, compensation levels at the time of retirement, retirement ages, the discount rate used in measuring the net interest on the net defined benefit asset or liability, and expected healthcare costs (as applicable). These actuarial assumptions could change from period-to-period and actual results could differ materially from the estimates originally made by management. We evaluate our assumptions on a regular basis, taking into consideration current market conditions and historical data. For purposes of determining the expected return on plan assets, we utilize a fair market value approach. Market-driven changes may affect the actual rate of return on plan assets compared to our assumptions, as well as our discount rates and other variables which could cause actual results to differ materially from our estimates. Changes in assumptions could impact our defined benefit pension plan valuations and our future defined benefit pension expense and required funding.

The over-funded or under-funded status of defined benefit pension and other post-retirement plans are recognized as an asset or a liability, respectively, on our consolidated balance sheet. Actuarial gains or losses in excess of 10% of the projected benefit obligation are recognized as a component of OCI, net of tax and subsequently amortized as a component of net periodic benefit costs over the average remaining service period of the plan's active employees. If all or almost all of a plan's participants are inactive, the average remaining life expectancy of the inactive participants is used instead of average remaining service period. In the case of a pension plan buy-out and a planned subsequent wind-up, a shorter period (other than applying the above minimum amortization method) may be used for accelerated amortization of previously accumulated actuarial gains or losses on annuity purchases, as deemed appropriate based on the specific plan requirements, on a plan-by-plan basis.

We amortize prior service costs or credits arising from retroactive plan amendments as a component of net periodic pension cost in our consolidated statement of operations. Curtailment gains or losses may arise from significant changes to a plan. We record total curtailment gains or losses in our consolidated statement of operations when the curtailment occurs.

To mitigate the actuarial and investment risks of our defined benefit pension plans, we from time-to-time purchase annuities (using existing plan assets) from third party insurance companies for certain, or all, plan participants. The purchase

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

of annuities by the pension plan substantially hedges the financial risks associated with the related pension obligations. When we purchase annuities from insurance companies on behalf of applicable plan participants with the intention of winding-up the relevant plan in the future (with the expectation of transferring the annuities to the individual plan members), the insurance company assumes responsibility for the payment of benefits to the relevant plan participants once the wind-up is complete. Settlement accounting is applied to the purchase of the annuities and the loss (if any) is recorded in miscellaneous expense (income) in our consolidated statement of operations. In addition, both the pension assets and liabilities will be removed from our consolidated balance sheet once the wind-up of the plan is complete. When insurance policies are purchased on behalf of, and held by the pension plan, plan assets have been segregated and restricted to provide benefits to plan participants and we would retain the pension assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. Our annuity purchases have resulted (and future annuity purchases may result) in settlement losses that are recognized from OCI to earnings, net of tax in our consolidated statement of operations, when the settlement occurs.

Stock-based compensation (SBC):

We generally grant restricted share units (RSUs) and performance share units (PSUs), and from time to time grant stock options, to employees under our SBC plans. Stock options and RSUs vest in installments over the vesting period. Stock options generally vest one-quarter per year over a four-year period, and RSUs generally vest one-third per year over a three-year period. We treat each installment under a grant of stock options and RSUs as a separate grant in determining the compensation expense. PSUs vest at the end of their respective terms, generally three years from the grant date, to the extent that specified performance conditions have been met. We estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and revise these estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ significantly from those estimates. Any revisions are recognized on our consolidated statements of operations such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate.

We may grant stock options to employees under our Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). We may grant RSUs and PSUs to employees under either our LTIP or our Celestica Share Unit Plan (CSUP). Under the CSUP, we may settle vested awards (in our discretion) with Common Shares purchased in the open market (on a one-for-one basis) or with cash. Under the LTIP, we may (at the time of grant) authorize the grantees to elect to settle vested awards in either cash or Common Shares issued from treasury (up to a specified limit) or purchased in the open market (in either case on a one-for-one basis). Absent such permitted election for LTIP grants, we intend to settle all employee RSUs and PSUs under the LTIP and CSUP in Common Shares (net of withholding taxes). As a result, we account for these share unit awards as equity-settled awards.

Stock options:

Stock options are exercisable for Common Shares. We recognize the grant date fair value of stock options granted to employees as compensation expense in our consolidated statement of operations, with a corresponding charge to additional paid-in capital on our consolidated balance sheet, over the vesting period. We adjust compensation expense to reflect the estimated number of options we expect to vest at the end of the vesting period. When options are exercised, we credit the proceeds to capital stock on our consolidated balance sheet. We measure the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Measurement inputs include the price of our Common Shares on the grant date, the exercise price of the stock option, and our estimates of the following: expected price volatility of our Common Shares (based on weighted average historic volatility), weighted average expected life of the stock option (based on historical experience and general option-holder behavior), and the risk-free interest rate.

RSUs:

The cost we record for RSUs is based on the market value of our Common Shares at the time of grant. We amortize the cost of RSUs to compensation expense in our consolidated statement of operations, with a corresponding charge to additional paid-in capital on our consolidated balance sheet, over the vesting period.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

PSUs:

The number of PSUs that will actually vest varies from 0% to 200% of a target amount granted. For PSUs granted in 2022, the number of PSUs that vested or will vest are based on the level of achievement of a pre-determined non-market performance measurement in the final year of the three-year performance period, subject to modification by each of a separate pre-determined non-market financial target, and our relative total shareholder return (TSR), a market performance condition, compared to a pre-defined group of companies, over the three-year performance period. Commencing in 2023, the number of PSUs that will vest are based on the level of achievement of a different pre-determined non-market performance measurement, subject to modification by our relative TSR compared to a pre-defined group of companies, in each case over the three-year performance period. The cost we record for PSUs is based on our estimate of the outcome of the applicable performance conditions. The grant date fair value of the non-TSR-based performance measurement and modifier (where applicable) is based on the market value of our Common Shares at the time of grant and is subject to adjustment in subsequent periods to reflect changes in the estimated level of achievement related to the applicable performance condition. The grant date fair value of the TSR modifier is based on a Monte Carlo simulation model. We recognize compensation expense in our consolidated statement of operations on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period and we reduce this expense for the estimated PSU awards that are not expected to vest because the employment conditions are not expected to be satisfied.

Deferred Share Units (DSUs):

The compensation of our directors is comprised of annual Board and Board Chair retainer fees, annual standing Board committee Chair retainer fees (where applicable), and travel fees (collectively, Annual Fees) payable in quarterly installments in arrears**. Directors must elect to receive 0%, 25% or 50% of their Annual Fees in cash, with the balance in DSUs, until such director satisfies the requirements of the Company's Director Share Ownership Guidelines. Once a director has satisfied such requirements, the director may then elect to receive 0%, 25% or 50% of their Annual Fees in cash, with the balance either in DSUs or in RSUs (if no election is made, 100% of such director's Annual Fees will be paid in DSUs). The number of DSUs or RSUs we grant is determined by dividing the elected percentage of the dollar value of the Annual Fees earned in the quarter by the closing price of our Common Shares on the NYSE on the last business day of such quarter (in the case of DSUs) or the trading day preceding the date of grant (in the case of RSUs). Each DSU represents the right to receive one common share or an equivalent value in cash (at the discretion of the Company) after the individual ceases to serve as a director, and is neither an employee of the Company, nor a director or employee of any corporation that does not deal at arm's length with the Company (Retires). DSUs granted to directors may be settled with Common Shares purchased in the open market, or with cash. We intend to settle DSU awards with Common Shares. RSUs granted to directors vest ratably over a three-year period and are governed by the terms of our LTIP. Each vested RSU entitles the holder thereof to one common share; however, if permitted by the Company under the terms of the grant, a director may elect to receive a payment of cash in lieu of Common Shares. Absent such permitted election, we intend to settle these RSU awards with Common Shares. We account for DSUs and RSUs granted to directors as equity-settled awards. Unvested RSUs vest immediately on the date the director Retires. We expense the cost of director compensation through SG&A in our consolidated statement of operations in the period the services are rendered.

** Prior to September 3, 2023, we were party to a services agreement (Services Agreement) with Onex Corporation (Onex), our thencontrolling shareholder, for the services of Mr. Tawfiq Popatia, an officer of Onex, as a director of Celestica, pursuant to which Onex received compensation for such services. The Services Agreement terminated automatically on September 3, 2023. Mr. Popatia resigned from our Board on September 3, 2023. Onex's outstanding DSUs were settled in October 2023. See notes 12 and 16.

(m) Income taxes:

Our income tax expense for each reporting period is comprised of current and deferred income taxes. Current income taxes and deferred income taxes are recognized in our consolidated statement of operations, except to the extent that they relate to items recognized in OCI or directly in equity, in which case they are recognized in OCI or directly in equity, respectively.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

In the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions for which the ultimate tax outcome is uncertain until we resolve it with the relevant tax authority, which may take many years. The final tax outcome of these matters may be different from the estimates management originally made in determining our tax provision. Management periodically evaluates the positions taken in our tax returns where applicable tax rules are subject to interpretation. We establish provisions related to tax uncertainties where appropriate, based on our estimate of the amount that ultimately will be paid to or received from the tax authorities. We recognize accrued interest and penalties relating to tax uncertainties in current income tax expense. The various judgments and estimates used by management in establishing provisions related to tax uncertainties can significantly affect the amounts we recognize in our consolidated financial statements.

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes. Under this method, we recognize deferred income tax assets and liabilities for future income tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective income tax bases, and on unused tax losses and tax credit carryforwards. We measure deferred income taxes using tax rates and laws that have been enacted at the reporting date and that we expect will apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized, or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized in full and a valuation allowance is separately recognized to reduce the deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized based on management's estimates that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences as well as unused tax losses and tax credit carryforwards can be utilized. Estimates of future taxable profit in different tax jurisdictions are an area of estimation uncertainty. We review our deferred income tax assets for realizability at each reporting date. We recognize the effect of a change in income tax rates in the period of enactment.

Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of an acquired asset or liability. We do not recognize deferred income taxes if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. We also do not recognize deferred income taxes on temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is essentially permanent in duration, unless it becomes apparent that the difference will reverse in the foreseeable future.

During each period, we record current income tax expense or recovery based on taxable income earned or loss incurred in each tax jurisdiction where we operate, and for any adjustments to taxes payable in respect of previous years, using tax laws that are enacted at the balance sheet date.

(n) Derivatives and hedge accounting:

We enter into foreign exchange derivatives, interest rate swap and total return swap (TRS) contracts to hedge the cash flow risk associated with forecasted transactions that we consider to be highly probable, including those in foreign currencies, and to hedge foreign-currency denominated balances. We use estimates to forecast future cash flows and the future financial position of monetary assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. We enter into interest rate swap agreements to mitigate the interest rate risk on a portion of our term loan borrowings. We are party to a TRS agreement (TRS Agreement) to manage our cash flow requirements and exposure to fluctuations in the share price of the Common Shares in connection with the settlement of certain outstanding equity awards under our SBC plans.

Derivative instruments are reported in other current and non-current assets or other current and non-current liabilities at fair value. We value our derivative assets and liabilities based on inputs that are either readily available in public markets or derived from information available in public markets. The inputs we use include discount rates, forward exchange rates, interest rate yield curves and volatility, the share price of our Common Shares, and credit risk adjustments. Changes in these inputs can cause significant volatility in the fair value of our financial instruments.

We do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes. Starting January 2024, we link all derivatives to specific assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet or forecasted transactions and we record the gain or loss from these derivatives in the same line item where the underlying exposures are recognized in our consolidated statement of operations. Cash receipts and cash payments related to these derivatives are recorded in the same category as the cash flows from the hedged items on the consolidated statement of cash flows. See note 19 for detail.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

We apply hedge accounting to those hedge relationships that are considered effective. At the inception of a hedging relationship, we formally document the relationship between our hedging instrument and the hedged item, as well as our risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking the various hedge transactions. Management performs an assessment, at inception and, at a minimum, quarterly thereafter, to determine the effectiveness of the derivatives in offsetting changes in the cash flows of the hedged items. Subsequent revisions in estimates of future cash flow forecasts, if significant, may result in the discontinuation of hedge accounting for that hedge. The majority of our derivative assets and liabilities arise from the foreign currency forward and swap contracts and interest rate swaps that we designate as cash flow hedges. In a cash flow hedge, we defer the changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative in accumulated OCI (AOCI) until we recognize the hedged transaction in our consolidated statement of operations. For hedging instruments that we discontinue before the end of the original hedge term, we amortize the unrealized hedge gain or loss in AOCI to our consolidated statement of operations over the remaining term of the hedging relationship or when the hedged item is recognized in net income, if this occurs prior to the end of the original term of the hedging relationship. If the hedged item ceases to exist before the end of the original hedge term, we recognize the unrealized hedge gain or loss in AOCI immediately in our consolidated statement of operations. For our current foreign currency forward and swap cash flow hedges, the majority of the underlying expenses we hedge are for inventory, labor and facility costs, which are included in cost of sales in our consolidated statement of operations. For our interest rate swap agreements, the underlying interest expenses that we hedge are included in finance costs in our consolidated statement of operations. Derivatives that are not effective hedges for accounting purposes are marked to market each period, resulting in a gain or loss in our consolidated statement of operations.

(o) Impairment of financial assets:

We review financial assets for impairment at each reporting date. Financial assets are deemed to be impaired when objective evidence resulting from one or more events subsequent to the initial recognition of the asset indicates the estimated future cash flows of the asset have decreased. We use a current expected credit loss model in determining our allowance for credit losses as it relates to trade receivables, contract assets under ASC 606, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*, and other financial assets. Our allowance is based on historical experience, and includes consideration of the aging of the balances, the customer's creditworthiness, current economic conditions, expectation of bankruptcies, and political and economic volatility in the markets/location of our customers, among other factors. We measure an impairment loss as the excess of the carrying amount over the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted using the financial asset's original discount rate, and we recognize this loss in our consolidated statement of operations. A financial asset is written-off or written-down to its net realizable value as soon as it is determined to be impaired. We adjust previous write-downs to reflect changes in estimates or actual experience.

(p) Revenue:

We derive the majority of our revenue from the sale of electronic products we manufacture and services we provide to customer specifications. In determining when to recognize revenue, and in what amount, we apply the following steps in accordance with ASC 606, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*: (i) identify the contract with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy a performance obligation. We assess whether control of a product or services promised under a contract is transferred to the customer at a point-in-time or over time as the product is being manufactured or the services are being provided.

Our contracts with customers may include certain forms of variable consideration such as cost of materials adjustments, committed and other periodic price reductions and other rebates. We include an estimate of variable consideration when determining the transaction price and the appropriate amount of revenue to be recognized. This estimate is limited to an amount which will not result in a significant reversal of revenue in a future period. Factors considered in our estimate of variable consideration are the potential amount subject to these contract provisions, historical experience and other relevant facts and circumstances.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

A contract's transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. In the event that more than one performance obligation is identified in a contract, we are required to allocate a portion of the transaction price to each performance obligation. This allocation would generally be based on the relative standalone price of each performance obligation, which most often would represent the price at which we would sell similar goods or services separately. As most of our contracts have an expected duration of one year or less, we have applied the optional exemption such that specified disclosures pertaining to remaining performance obligations are not required.

We recognize revenue from the sale of products and services rendered when our performance obligations have been satisfied or when the associated control over the products has passed to the customer and no material uncertainties remain as to the collection of our receivables. Where the products are custom-made to meet a customer's specific requirements, and such customer is obligated to compensate us for the work performed to date, we recognize revenue over time as production progresses to completion, or as services are rendered. We generally estimate revenue for our work in progress based on costs incurred to date plus a reasonable profit margin for eligible products for which we do not have alternative uses. For other contracts that do not qualify for revenue recognition over time, we recognize revenue at a point in time where control is passed to the customer, which is generally upon shipment when no further performance obligation remains except for our standard manufacturing or service warranties. We apply significant estimates, judgment and assumptions in interpreting our customer contracts, determining the timing of revenue recognition and measuring work in progress. As our invoices are typically issued at the time of the delivery of final products to the customers, the earlier recognition of revenue on certain custom-made products has resulted in unbilled contract assets which we include in A/R on our consolidated balance sheet.

Taxes assessed by governmental authorities that are both imposed on and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction, and are collected by us from a customer, are excluded from revenue.

(q) Fair value measurement:

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The three levels within the fair value hierarchy, based on the reliability of inputs, are as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
- Level 3 inputs are inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable inputs).

3. ACQUISITION:

On April 26, 2024, we completed the acquisition of 100% of the interests of NCS Global Services LLC (NCS), a U.S.-based IT infrastructure and asset management business, for a purchase price of \$39.6. The purchase price was funded with the revolving portion of our credit facility (see note 11). The NCS acquisition agreement also includes a potential earn-out of up to \$20 if certain adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization targets are achieved during the period from May 2024 to April 2025. We estimated the fair value of such potential earn-out to be \$6.6 at the date of acquisition. We recorded purchase consideration of \$46.2 for the fair value of the acquired assets (including \$3.5 of cash) and liabilities at the date of acquisition on our consolidated balance sheet.

Details of our final purchase price allocation for the NCS acquisition are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 3.5
Accounts receivable and other current assets	3.0
Right-of-use (ROU) assets	5.2
Property, plant and equipment	0.4
Computer software assets and intellectual property	1.3
Customer and brand intangible assets	28.6
Goodwill (see note 8)	19.4
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(2.5)
Lease liabilities	(5.2)
Deferred income tax liabilities	(7.5)
	\$ 46.2

We engaged third-party consultants to provide valuations of acquired intangible assets and the potential earn-out. The valuation of the intangible assets and the potential earn-out was primarily based on the income approach using a discounted cash flow model and forecasts based on management's subjective estimates and assumptions. Various Level 2 and 3 data inputs of the fair value measurement hierarchy (defined in note 2(q)) were used in the valuation of the foregoing assets.

Newly-recognized customer intangible assets from the acquisition is amortized on a straight line basis over an estimated useful life of 10 years. As a result, our amortization of intangible assets will increase by approximately \$3 annually. Goodwill from the acquisition arose primarily from expected synergies from the combination of our operations. Such goodwill is attributable to our CCS segment and is not tax deductible.

Had the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2024, NCS would have contributed an immaterial amount to our revenue and net earnings.

We recorded acquisition costs of \$1.6 in 2024 related to our acquisition of NCS. See note 14 for all acquisition costs incurred in 2022, 2023 and 2024.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET:

Allowance for credit losses:

We use a current expected credit loss model in determining our allowance for credit losses. Our allowance is based on historical experience, and includes consideration of the aging of the balances, the customer's creditworthiness, current economic conditions, expectations of bankruptcies, and political and economic volatility in the markets/location of our customers, among other factors. Accounts receivable was recorded net of allowance of \$10.1 at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023 — \$8.4).

A/R sales program and supplier financing programs (SFPs):

We are party to an A/R sales program agreement with a third-party bank to sell up to \$450.0 in A/R on an uncommitted, revolving basis, subject to pre-determined limits by customer. This agreement provides for automatic annual one-year extensions. This agreement may be terminated at any time by the bank or by us upon 3 months' prior notice, or by the bank upon specified defaults. We are required to comply with covenants, including those relating to the fulfillment of payment obligations and restrictions on the sale, assignment or creation of liens, with respect to A/R sold under this agreement. At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with these covenants. Under our A/R sales program, we continue to collect cash from our customers and remit amounts collected to the bank weekly.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

As of December 31, 2024, we participate in three customer SFPs, one with a CCS segment customer and two with ATS segment customers. Pursuant to the SFPs, we sell A/R from the relevant customer to third-party banks on an uncommitted basis. The SFPs have indefinite terms and may be terminated at any time by the customer or by us upon specified prior notice. We utilize the SFPs to substantially offset the effect of extended payment terms required by these customers on our working capital for the period. Under our SFPs, the third-party banks collect the relevant receivables directly from the customers.

At December 31, 2024, we sold nil of A/R (December 31, 2023 — nil) under our A/R sales program and nil of A/R (December 31, 2023 — \$18.6) under our SFPs.

The A/R sold under each of these programs are de-recognized from our A/R balance at the time of sale, and the proceeds are reflected as cash provided by operating activities in our consolidated statement of cash flows. Upon sale, we assign the rights to the A/R to the banks. A/R are sold net of discount charges, which are recorded as finance costs in our consolidated statement of operations. Aggregated discount charges incurred on both of these programs was \$1.2 in 2024 (2023 — \$16.3; 2022 — \$10.8).

Contract assets:

A contract asset is recognized when we have recognized revenue but have not yet billed the customer. For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, revenue recognition occurs at the point the customer is billed and the resulting asset is recorded in A/R. For performance obligations satisfied over time as work progresses, we have an unconditional right to payment, which results in the recognition of contract assets. We anticipate that substantially all contract assets will be invoiced in the following quarter due to the short-term nature of the manufacturing cycle. At December 31, 2024, our A/R balance included \$237.9 (December 31, 2023 — \$250.8) of contract assets recognized as revenue in accordance with our revenue recognition accounting policy.

5. INVENTORIES:

The components of inventories, net of applicable net realizable value write-downs, were as follows:

	Decem	51	
	2024		2023
Raw materials	\$ 1,521.1	\$	1,883.7
Work in progress	106.6		93.6
Finished goods	132.9		127.0
	\$ 1,760.6	\$	2,104.3
in the second control of the second control			

We recorded inventory write-downs of \$49.0 in cost of sales in 2024 (2023 — \$59.9; 2022 — \$32.1). The accounting treatment of inventories destroyed in a fire event in June 2022 is described in note 14. We regularly review the estimates and assumptions we use to value our inventory through analysis of historical performance, current conditions and future expectations.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when we have an obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which we have received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. We receive cash deposits from certain of our customers primarily to reduce risks related to excess and/or obsolete inventory. Our customer cash deposit balance fluctuates depending on the levels of inventory we have been asked to procure by certain customers, or as we utilize the inventory in production. At December 31, 2024, our accrued and other current liabilities included \$511.6 (December 31, 2023 — \$904.8) of cash deposits.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

6. PP&E, NET:

PP&E are comprised of the following:

_	Decen	31	
	2024		2023
Land\$	32.9	\$	33.7
Buildings including improvements	488.7		402.2
Machinery and equipment	912.5		917.9
Finance lease ROU assets	98.1		94.7
\$	1,532.2	\$	1,448.5
Less: accumulated amortization.	(995.0)		(924.5)
PP&E, net\$	537.2	\$	524.0

Depreciation expense of PP&E was \$108.3 in 2024 (2023 — \$91.1; 2022 — \$75.8). In each of 2024, 2023 and 2022, depreciation expense of PP&E was split approximately evenly between our two segments.

We review the carrying amount of PP&E for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances (triggering events) indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset groups may not be recoverable. We did not identify any triggering event during the course of 2022 through 2024 indicating that the carrying amount of such asset or asset groups may not be recoverable.

7. LEASES:

The components of lease expense were as follows:

		Year ended December 31							
	2024		2023			2022			
Finance lease expense:									
Amortization of ROU assets (i)	\$	7.6	\$	7.4	\$	6.6			
Interest on lease obligations (ii)		3.4		3.7		3.7			
Operating lease expense (i)		40.0		35.4		33.0			
Short-term lease expense and variable lease expense (i)		2.1		1.8		2.4			
Total	\$	53.1	\$	48.3	\$	45.7			

⁽i) Recorded within either cost of sales or SG&A on the consolidated statement of operations based on the nature of the leased assets.

⁽ii) Recorded within finance costs on the consolidated statement of operations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Other information related to leases was as follows:

				Deceml	er .	31
			2	024		2023
ROU assets:						
Operating lease ROU assets		\$		124.4	\$	107.8
Finance lease ROU assets (included in PP&E, net)		<u> </u>		56.4		62.2
Total ROU assets		<u>\$</u>		180.8	\$	170.0
Current portion of lease obligations:						
Operating lease liability (included in accrued and other current liabilities)		\$		25.7	\$	25.1
Finance lease liability (included in current portion of borrowings under credit f finance lease obligations)				9.9		9.6
Long-term portion of lease obligations:						
Operating lease liability (included in long-term portion of provisions and other current liabilities)				109.4		83.4
Finance lease liability (included in long-term portion of borrowings under cred and finance lease obligations)	it fac	ility		51.8		58.4
Total lease obligations		\$		196.8	\$	176.5
				 -		
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):				7.1		6.5
Operating leases				7.1		6.7
Finance leases	•••••			7.6		8.4
Weighted-average discount rates:						
Operating leases				7.3 %		6.9 %
Finance leases				5.4 %		5.2 %
		Year	end	ed Decem	ber	31
		2024		2023		2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:						
Operating cash flows used for operating leases	. \$	37.9	\$	34.7	\$	33.9
Operating cash flows used for finance leases	. \$	3.4	\$	3.7	\$	3.7
Financing cash flows used for finance leases	. \$	9.7	\$	9.9	\$	8.4
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:						
Operating leases	. \$	52.5	\$	53.7	\$	37.0
Finance leases	. \$	_	\$	_	\$	29.7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Future minimum lease payments required under non-cancellable leases at December 31, 2024, were as follows:

	Operating l	leases	Financ	ce leases
2025	\$	34.6	\$	12.6
2026		29.0		12.2
2027		20.8		10.9
2028		18.3		9.4
2029		17.2		9.6
Thereafter		52.6		26.7
Total minimum lease payments	\$	172.5	\$	81.4
Less: imputed interest		(37.4)		(13.2)
Less: leases that have not yet commenced (a)		_		(6.5)
Total lease liabilities	\$	135.1	\$	61.7

⁽a) We are committed to lease certain space located in Richardson, Texas (Texas Lease) from April 2027 to March 2032. The rental amounts for Texas Lease (\$0.9 in 2027; \$1.3 in 2028, \$1.3 in 2029 and \$3.0 thereafter) were not recognized as liabilities as of December 31, 2024 because the lease had not yet commenced.

8. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS:

The following tables show the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets:

	December 31, 2024							
		Cost	Am	cumulated ortization Impairment		Carrying Amount		
Goodwill	\$	395.9	\$	55.4	\$	340.5		
Intellectual property	\$	112.0	\$	111.4	\$	0.6		
Other intangible assets		693.9		403.6		290.3		
Computer software assets		313.3		296.2		17.1		
	\$	1,119.2	\$	811.2	\$	308.0		
			Decen	nber 31, 2023				
		Accumulated Amortization Cost and Impairment				Carrying Amount		
Goodwill	. \$	377.1	\$	55.4	\$	321.7		
Intellectual property	. \$	111.3	\$	111.3	\$	_		
Other intangible assets		672.3		371.9		300.4		
Computer software assets		310.8		292.9		17.9		

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

The following table details the changes to the carrying amount of goodwill for the years indicated:

	Year ended I	mber 31	
	2024		2023
Opening balance	\$ 321.7	\$	321.8
Acquisitions through business combinations (see note 3)	19.4		_
Foreign exchange	(0.6)		(0.1)
Ending balance	\$ 340.5	\$	321.7

Other intangible assets are amortized over a weighted-average estimated useful life of 12.2 years. Computer software assets are amortized over a weighted-average estimated useful life of 8.4 years. Estimated amortization expenses of intangible assets for each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter are as follows:

2025	\$ 43.2
2026	43.4
2027	41.8
2028	37.7
2029	36.3
Thereafter	105.6
	\$ 308.0

We evaluate goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level annually, and in certain circumstances such as a change in reporting units or whenever there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. No triggering events occurred during 2022, 2023 or 2024. In addition to an assessment of triggering events during the year, we also conduct an Annual Impairment Assessment of goodwill during the fourth quarter of each year. We recorded no impairment charges against goodwill or intangible assets as a result of our 2022, 2023 or 2024 Annual Impairment Assessments because the fair value of each one of the reporting units exceeded its respective carrying value.

At December 31, 2024, our goodwill balance consists of the following:

	Reportable Segment	A	mount
Capital Equipment reporting unit:	ATS		
Goodwill attributable to acquisition of Impakt Holdings, LLC in November 2018		\$	111.5
Goodwill attributable to prior acquisitions			19.5
Aerospace and Defense (A&D) reporting unit:	ATS		
Goodwill attributable to acquisition of Atrenne Integrated Solutions, Inc. in April 2018			62.6
Goodwill attributable to prior acquisitions			3.7
PCI Private Limited (PCI) reporting unit: Goodwill attributable to acquisition of PCI in November 2021	ATS		123.8
NCS reporting unit:			
Goodwill attributable to acquisition of NCS in April 2024 (see note 3)	CCS		19.4
		\$	340.5

The process of determining the fair value of our reporting units is subjective and requires management to exercise significant judgement in estimating our future revenue growth, profitability and discount rate assumptions, among other factors. The assumptions we used for revenue growth and for each of the reporting unit margins were based on projections over a 5-year period and a perpetual growth rate of 2% thereafter (reflecting long-term inflation guidance). Future growth in revenue and margins for these reporting units is supported by new business awarded recently, customer forecasts,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

assumptions for additional future program wins based on our current revenue pipeline, margin improvements based on restructuring actions implemented and external industry outlooks. The discount rates for all of our reporting units considers our weighed average cost of capital as well as market interest rate changes. In addition, assumptions for our 2024 Annual Impairment Assessment for: (i) our Capital Equipment reporting unit include expected continued stable market demand in the near term with strong business growth over the long term; (ii) our A&D reporting unit include expected demand increases in line with industry expectations; and (iii) our PCI reporting unit include expected demand improvements from various customers and benefits from our continued execution of synergistic programs.

Future events and changing market conditions may impact our assumptions as to prices, costs or other factors that may result in changes to our estimates of future cash flows. Failure to realize the assumed revenues at an appropriate profit margin of a reporting unit could result in impairment losses in such reporting unit in future periods.

9. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS:

Other non-current assets are comprised of the following:

		December 31				
	Note	2024		2023		
Net pension assets	17	\$ 10.0	\$	7.9		
Land rights		6.6		6.9		
Deferred investment costs		23.2		9.3		
Deferred financing costs		3.3		0.7		
Interest rate swap derivative	19	_		11.0		
Equity investments		9.7		_		
Other		25.4		15.3		
		\$ 78.2	\$	51.1		
		 	_			

10. PROVISIONS:

Our provisions primarily include restructuring and warranty provisions (described in note 2(k)). We include details of our restructuring provision in note 14(a). The following charts detail the changes in our provisions:

	Restructuring	V	Varranty
Balance — December 31, 2023	\$ 3.6	\$	43.6
Provisions, net of reversal of prior year provisions	10.5		19.2
Payments/usage	(11.2)		(2.5)
Accretion, foreign exchange and other	_		(0.3)
Balance — December 31, 2024	\$ 2.9	\$	60.0
Current	\$ 2.9	\$	16.3
Non-current ⁽ⁱ⁾	_		43.7
Balance — December 31, 2022	\$ 5.8	\$	31.8
Provisions, net of reversal of prior year provisions	9.6		14.7
Payments/usage	(11.8)		(3.0)
Accretion, foreign exchange and other			0.1
Balance — December 31, 2023	\$ 3.6	\$	43.6
Current	\$ 3.6	\$	16.0
Non-current ⁽ⁱ⁾	_		27.6

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

 Non-current balances are included in long-term portion of provisions and other non-current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.

At the end of each reporting period, we evaluate the appropriateness of our provisions, and make adjustments as required to reflect actual experience or changes in our estimates.

11. CREDIT FACILITIES:

We are party to a credit agreement (Credit Facility) with Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto, which as of a June 2024 amendment and restatement (June 2024 Amendment), includes a new term loan in the original principal amount of \$500.0 (Term B Loan, and collectively with the Term A Loan, the New Term Loans), and a \$750.0 revolving credit facility (Revolver). Prior to the June 2024 Amendment, the Credit Facility included a term loan in the original principal amount of \$350.0 (Initial Term Loan) and a term loan in the original principal amount of \$365.0 (Incremental Term Loan), the outstanding borrowings under each of which were fully repaid with a substantial portion of the proceeds of the New Term Loans, and commitments of \$600.0 under the Revolver. Notwithstanding (i) the repayment of the Incremental Term Loan in full and its replacement with the Term A Loan and (ii) the repayment of the Initial Term Loan in full and its replacement with the Term B Loan, for accounting purposes, such transactions were treated as non-substantial modifications of the Incremental Term Loan and the Initial Term Loan, respectively.

Prior to the June 2024 Amendment, the Initial Term Loan was scheduled to mature in June 2025; the Incremental Term Loan and the Revolver each were scheduled to mature in March 2025, unless either (i) the Initial Term Loan would have been prepaid or refinanced or (ii) commitments under the Revolver would be available and have been reserved to repay the Initial Term Loan in full, in which case such obligations were scheduled to mature in December 2026. Subsequent to the June 2024 Amendment, the Term A Loan and the Revolver each mature in June 2029. The Term B Loan matures in June 2031.

In June 2023 (effective for all subsequent interest periods for then-existing borrowings and all subsequent borrowings), we amended our Credit Facility (June 2023 Amendment) to replace LIBOR with the term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (Term SOFR) plus 0.1% (Adjusted Term SOFR). We applied the provisions of ASC 848, *Reference Rate Reform* and elected to apply the optional expedient relating to contract modifications meeting certain criteria, for these amendments that were due to the reference rate reform. The optional expedient allows an entity to account for and present a modification as an event that does not require contract remeasurement at the modification date or reassessment of a previous accounting determination. As such, the June 2023 Amendment did not have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Subsequent to the June 2023 Amendment and prior to the June 2024 Amendment, borrowings under the Revolver bear interest, depending on the currency of the borrowing and our election for such currency, at: (i) Adjusted Term SOFR, (ii) Base Rate, (iii) Canadian Prime, (iv) an Alternative Currency Daily Rate, or (v) an Alternative Currency Term Rate (each as defined in the Credit Facility prior to the June 2024 Amendment) plus a specified margin. The margin for borrowings under the Revolver and the Incremental Term Loan ranges from 1.50% to 2.25% for Adjusted Term SOFR borrowings and Alternative Currency borrowings, and from 0.50% to 1.25% for Base Rate and Canadian Prime borrowings, in each case depending on the rate we select and our consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Facility prior to the June 2024 Amendment). Commitment fees range from 0.30% to 0.45% depending on our consolidated leverage ratio.

Subsequent to the June 2024 Amendment, borrowings under the Revolver bear interest, depending on the currency of the borrowing and our election for such currency, at: (i) Adjusted Term SOFR, (ii) Base Rate, (iii) Canadian Prime, (iv) an Alternative Currency Daily Rate, or (v) an Alternative Currency Term Rate (each as defined in the Credit Facility subsequent to the June 2024 Amendment) plus a specified margin. The margin for borrowings under the Revolver ranges from 1.50% to 2.25% for Adjusted Term SOFR, Alternative Currency Daily Rate or Alternative Currency Term Rate borrowings, and from 0.50% to 1.25% for Base Rate and Canadian Prime borrowings, in each case depending on the rate we select and a defined net leverage ratio. Commitment fees range from 0.30% to 0.45%, depending on our defined net leverage ratio. Outstanding

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

amounts under the Term A Loan bear interest at Adjusted Term SOFR or Base Rate, plus a margin ranging from 1.50% — 2.25% for Adjusted Term SOFR borrowings and from 0.50% — 1.25% for Base Rate borrowings, in each case depending on the rate we select and our defined net leverage ratio. Outstanding amounts under the Term B Loan bear interest at Term SOFR plus 1.75% or the Base Rate plus 0.75%, depending on the rate we select. At December 31, 2024, outstanding amounts under the Term A Loan bore interest at Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.75%; outstanding amounts under the Term B Loan bore interest at Term SOFR plus 1.75%; and no amounts were outstanding under the Revolver.

We have entered into interest rate swap agreements to hedge against our exposures to the interest rate variability on a portion of our Term Loans. See note 19 for further detail.

Prior to the June 2024 Amendment, the Initial Term Loan required quarterly principal repayments of \$0.875 (all repaid in prior years) and the Incremental Term Loan required quarterly principal repayments of \$4.5625. Subsequent to the June 2024 Amendment, the Term A Loan and the Term B Loan require quarterly principal repayments of \$3.125 and \$1.250, respectively (each of which commenced in September 2024), and both require a lump sum repayment of the remainder outstanding at maturity. Any outstanding amounts under the Revolver are due at maturity. Except under specified circumstances, and subject to the payment of breakage costs (if any), we are generally permitted to make voluntary prepayments of outstanding amounts under the Revolver and the New Term Loans without any other premium or penalty. Repaid amounts on the New Term Loans may not be re-borrowed. We are also required to make annual prepayments of outstanding obligations under the Credit Facility (applied first to the New Term Loans, then to the Revolver, in the manner set forth in the Credit Facility) ranging from 0% — 50% (based on a defined leverage ratio) of specified excess cash flow for the prior fiscal year. No prepayments based on excess cash flow were required in 2024, or will be required in 2025. In addition, prepayments of outstanding obligations under the Credit Facility (applied as described above) may also be required in the amount of specified net cash proceeds received above a specified annual threshold (including proceeds from the disposal of certain assets). No prepayments based on net cash proceeds were required in 2024, or will be required in 2025.

At December 31, 2024, the aggregate remaining mandatory principal repayments under the Credit Facility are as follows (assuming no further mandatory principal repayments are required based on excess cash flow or net cash proceeds):

_	2025	 2026	 2027	 2028	 2029	Т	hereafter	 Total
Term A Loan	12.5	\$ 12.5	\$ 12.5	\$ 12.5	\$ 193.7	\$		\$ 243.7
Term B Loan	5.0	\$ 5.0	\$ 5.0	\$ 5.0	\$ 5.0	\$	472.5	\$ 497.5

Under the June 2024 Amendment, the Credit Facility has an accordion feature that allows us to increase the New Term Loans and/or commitments under the Revolver by \$200.0, plus an unlimited amount to the extent that a defined leverage ratio on a pro forma basis does not exceed specified limits, in each case on an uncommitted basis and subject to the satisfaction of certain terms and conditions. The Revolver also includes a \$50.0 sub-limit for swingline loans, providing for short-term borrowings up to a maximum of ten business days, as well as a \$150.0 sub-limit for letters of credit (L/Cs), in each case subject to the overall Revolver credit limit. The Revolver permits us and certain designated subsidiaries to borrow funds (subject to specified conditions) for general corporate purposes, including for capital expenditures, certain acquisitions, and working capital needs.

We are required to comply with certain restrictive covenants under the Credit Facility, including those relating to the incurrence of certain indebtedness, the existence of certain liens, the sale of certain assets, specified investments and payments, sale and leaseback transactions, and certain financial covenants relating to a defined interest coverage ratio and leverage ratio that are tested on a quarterly basis. Our Credit Facility also limits share repurchases for cancellation if our consolidated secured leverage ratio (as defined in such facility) exceeds a specified amount (Repurchase Restriction). At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with all restrictive and financial covenants under the Credit Facility, and the Repurchase Restriction was not in effect.

The obligations under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by us and certain specified subsidiaries. Subject to specified exemptions and limitations, all assets of the guarantors are pledged as security for the obligations under the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility contains customary events of default. If an event of default occurs and is continuing (and is not waived),

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

the Administrative Agent may declare all amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility to be immediately due and payable, and may cancel the lenders' commitments to make further advances thereunder. In the event of a payment or other specified defaults, outstanding obligations accrue interest at a specified default rate. No such defaults occurred during 2022 to 2024. The obligations under the Credit Facility rank pari passu with other unsecured and unsubordinated creditors.

Activity under our Credit Facility for the periods indicated is set forth below:

	Revolver (excluding L/C)	Term loans
Outstanding balances at December 31, 2021	\$ —	\$ 660.4
Amount borrowed in Q1 2022	228.0	_
Amount repaid in Q1 2022	(228.0)	(4.5625) (1)
Amount borrowed in Q2 2022	348.0	
Amount repaid in Q2 2022	(348.0)	(4.5625) (1)
Amount borrowed in Q3 2022	359.0	_
Amount repaid in Q3 2022	(359.0)	(4.5625) (1)
Amount borrowed in Q4 2022	300.0	_
Amount repaid in Q4 2022	(300.0)	$(19.5625)^{(2)}$
Outstanding balances at December 31, 2022	<u> </u>	\$ 627.2
Amount borrowed in Q1 2023	281.0	_
Amount repaid in Q1 2023	(281.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q2 2023	200.0	_
Amount repaid in Q2 2023	(200.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q3 2023	140.0	_
Amount repaid in Q3 2023	(140.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q4 2023	270.0	_
Amount repaid in Q4 2023	(270.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Outstanding balances at December 31, 2023	<u> </u>	\$ 608.9
Amount borrowed in Q1 2024	285.0	_
Amount repaid in Q1 2024	(257.0)	$(4.5625)^{(1)}$
Amount borrowed in Q2 2024	180.0 (3)	750.0 (4)
Amount repaid in Q2 2024	(208.0)	$(604.3)^{(5)}$
Amount borrowed in Q3 2024	20.0	_
Amount repaid in Q3 2024	(20.0)	$(4.375)^{(6)}$
Amount borrowed in Q4 2024	313.0	_
Amount repaid in Q4 2024	(313.0)	$(4.375)^{(6)}$
Outstanding balances at December 31, 2024	\$	\$ 741.2

- (1) Represents the scheduled quarterly principal repayment under the Incremental Term Loan.
- (2) Represents the scheduled quarterly principal repayment under the Incremental Term Loan and a \$15.0 voluntary prepayment under the Initial Term Loan.
- (3) A portion was used to fund the NCS purchase price (see note 3).
- (4) Represents borrowings under the New Term Loans.
- (5) Represents the repayment and termination of the Initial Term Loan and Incremental Term Loan.
- (6) Represents scheduled quarterly principal repayments under the New Term Loans.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

The following table sets forth, at the dates shown: outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility, excluding ordinary course L/Cs; notional amounts under our interest rate swap agreements, outstanding finance lease obligations; and information regarding outstanding L/Cs, surety bonds and overdraft facilities:

Notional amounts under

	Outstanding borrowings				Notional amounts under interest rate swaps (note 19)				
	December 31 E 2024		De	cember 31 2023	December 31 2024		Do	ecember 31 2023	
Borrowings under the Revolver (i)	\$	_	\$		\$	_	\$	_	
Borrowings under the Term Loans (i)									
Initial Term Loan	. \$	_	\$	280.4	\$	_	\$	100.0	
Incremental Term Loan		_		328.5		_		230.0	
Term A Loan		243.7		_		130.0		_	
Term B Loan		497.5				200.0			
Total	. \$	741.2	\$	608.9	\$	330.0	\$	330.0	
Total borrowings under Credit Facility	. \$	741.2	\$	608.9					
Unamortized debt issuance costs related to Term Loans (i)		(6.2)		(1.6)					
Finance lease obligations (see note 7)		61.7		68.0					
	\$	796.7	\$	675.3					
Total Credit Facility and finance lease obligations:									
Current portion	. \$	26.5	\$	27.0					
Long-term portion		770.2		648.3					
	\$	796.7	\$	675.3					
L/Cs, guarantees, surety bonds and overdraft facilities:									
Outstanding L/Cs under the Revolver	. \$	11.1	\$	10.5					
Outstanding bank guarantees and surety bonds outside the Revolver		23.0		16.5					
Total	\$	34.1	\$	27.0					
Available uncommitted bank overdraft facilities	. \$	198.5	\$	198.5					
Amounts outstanding under available uncommitted bank overdraft facilities	\$	_	\$	_					

⁽i) We incur fees and expenses upon amendments to the Credit Facility. Third-party expenses and creditor fees incurred in 2024 totaling \$3.9 (2023 — nil; 2022 — nil) in connection with the Revolver were deferred as other assets on our consolidated balance sheet and are amortized on a straight line basis over the remaining term of the Revolver. Creditor fees incurred in 2024 totaling \$5.4 (2023 — nil; 2022 — nil) in connection with our Term Loans were deferred as long-term debt on our consolidated balance sheet and are amortized over their respective terms using the effective interest rate method.

12. CAPITAL STOCK:

We are authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares with no par value, which entitle the holder to one vote per share. We are also authorized to issue an unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series. No preferred shares have been issued to date.

Prior to April 25, 2024, we were authorized to issue unlimited number of multiple voting shares (MVS) with no par value, which entitled the holder to 25 votes per shares. At our April 25, 2024 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders, our shareholders approved Articles of Amendment to our Articles of Incorporation to remove the provisions relating to our

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

MVS (as such shares were no longer outstanding) and to re-designate our SVS as Common Shares, effective as of such date (see note 1).

(a) Capital transactions:

Secondary offerings by Onex Corporation (Onex):

In connection with two underwritten secondary public offerings by Onex, our then-controlling shareholder, completed in June 2023 (June Secondary Offering) and August 2023 (August Secondary Offering, and together with the June Secondary Offering, the Secondary Offerings), we issued an aggregate of approximately 18.6 million Common Shares, upon conversion of an equivalent number of our MVS. The Secondary Offerings had nil impact on our aggregate capital stock amount. Subsequent to the August Secondary Offering, we have no MVS outstanding.

Common Share repurchase plans:

We have repurchased Common Shares in the open market, or as otherwise permitted, for cancellation through normal course issuer bids (NCIBs), which allow us to repurchase a limited number of Common Shares during a specified period. The maximum number of Common Shares we are permitted to repurchase for cancellation under each NCIB is reduced by the number of Common Shares we arrange to be purchased by any non-independent broker in the open market during the term of such NCIB to satisfy delivery obligations under our SBC plans. We from time-to-time enter into automatic share purchase plans (ASPPs) with a broker, instructing the broker to purchase our Common Shares in the open market on our behalf, either for cancellation under an NCIB (NCIB ASPPs) or for delivery obligations under our SBC plans (SBC ASPPs), including during any applicable trading blackout periods, up to specified maximums (and subject to certain pricing and other conditions) through the term of each ASPP.

The TSX accepted our notice to launch an NCIB on December 8, 2022 (2022 NCIB), which allowed us to repurchase, at our discretion, from December 13, 2022 until the earlier of December 12, 2023 or the completion of purchases thereunder, up to approximately 8.8 million Common Shares in the open market, or as otherwise permitted, subject to the normal terms and limitations of such bids. We entered into several NCIB ASPPs and SBC ASPPs (each with independent brokers) during the term of the 2022 NCIB, all of which have expired. There were no accruals at December 31, 2022 in connection with any NCIB ASPP or SBC ASPP.

On December 12, 2023, the TSX accepted our notice to launch another NCIB (2023 NCIB), which allowed us to repurchase, at our discretion, from December 14, 2023 until the earlier of December 13, 2024 or the completion of purchases thereunder, up to approximately 11.8 million of our Common Shares in the open market, or as otherwise permitted, subject to the normal terms and limitations of such bids. We entered into several NCIB ASPPs and SBC ASPPs (each with independent brokers) during the term of the 2023 NCIB, all of which have expired. At December 31, 2023, we recorded an accrual of: (i) \$2.7, representing the estimated contractual maximum number of permitted Common Shares repurchases (Contractual Maximum Quantity) for cancellation (0.1 million Common Shares) under an NCIB ASPP we entered into in December 2023 (2023 NCIB Accrual); and (ii) \$7.5, representing the estimated Contractual Maximum Quantity (0.3 million Common Shares) under an SBC ASPP we entered into in September 2023 (2023 SBC Accrual). Both 2023 NCIB Accrual and 2023 SBC Accrual were reversed in 2024. The 2023 NCIB was early terminated on October 30, 2024.

On October 30, 2024, the TSX accepted our notice to launch a new NCIB (2024 NCIB), which allows us to repurchase, at our discretion, from November 1, 2024 until the earlier of October 31, 2025 or the completion of purchases thereunder, up to approximately 8.6 million of our Common Shares in the open market, or as otherwise permitted, subject to the normal terms and limitations of such bids. At December 31, 2024, approximately 8.3 million Common Shares remained available for repurchase under the 2024 NCIB either for cancellation or SBC delivery purposes. There were no accruals at December 31, 2024 in connection with any NCIB ASPP or SBC ASPP.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Activities of our capital stock for the periods included is set forth below:

Number of shares (in millions)	Common Shares	MVS
Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021	106.1	18.6
Issued from treasury(i)	0.07	_
Cancelled under NCIB	(3.14)	_
Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022	103.0	18.6
Issued from treasury(i)	0.05	_
Cancelled under NCIB	(2.7)	_
Conversion of MVS into Common Shares in connection with the Secondary Offerings	18.6	(18.6)
Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023	119.0	_
Issued from treasury(i)	0.34	_
Cancelled under NCIB	(3.2)	_
Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024	116.1	

(i) In 2024, 0.3 million Common Shares (2023 — 0.03 million; 2022 — 0.02 million) were issued from treasury upon the exercise of stock options for aggregate cash proceeds of \$3.9 (2023 — \$0.3; 2022 — \$0.2). In 2024, we issued 0.04 million (2023 — 0.02 million; 2022 — 0.05 million) Common Shares from treasury with an ascribed value of \$0.5 (2023 — \$0.2; 2022 — \$0.4) upon the vesting of certain RSUs. We settled other RSUs and PSUs with Common Shares purchased in the open market (described below).

Information regarding Common Shares purchases for cancellation for the years indicated is set forth below:

	Year ended December 31					
_	2024	2023	2022			
Aggregate cost (including transaction fees) of Common Shares repurchased for cancellation (1)	152.0	\$ 35.6	\$ 34.6			
Number of Common Shares repurchased for cancellation (in millions) (2)	3.2	2.6	3.4			
Weighted average price per share for repurchases	47.15	\$ 13.83	\$ 10.45			

- (1) For 2023, excludes the \$2.7 2023 NCIB Accrual. For 2024, excludes \$2.8 accrued at December 31, 2024 for share buyback taxes.
- (2) Includes 0.5 million, 0.9 million and 2.5 million repurchases of Common Shares for cancellation under NCIB ASPPs in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Activities of our treasury stock for the periods included is set forth below:

Number of shares for delivery under SBC plans (in millions)	Common Shares
Held by trustee at December 31, 2021	1.4
Repurchases in the open market through independent broker under SBC ASPPs (1)	3.9
Delivery under SBC plans	(3.8)
Held by trustee at December 31, 2022 (2)	1.5
Repurchases in the open market through independent broker under SBC ASPPs (1)	3.7
Delivery under SBC plans	(1.9)
Held by trustee at December 31, 2023 (2)	3.3
Repurchases in the open market through independent broker under SBC ASPPs (1)	3.0
Delivery under SBC plans	(3.8)
Held by trustee at December 31, 2024 (2)	2.5

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

- (1) Aggregated cost, including transaction fees, of Common Shares repurchased for delivery under SBC plans was \$119.6 in 2024 (2023 \$82.3; 2022 \$44.9).
- (2) The value of Common Shares held by trustee for delivery under SBC plans was \$92.9 at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023 \$72.6, excluding 2023 SBC accrual; December 31, 2022 \$16.7).

(b) Employee SBC:

LTIP:

Under the LTIP, we may grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, RSUs and PSUs (Awards) to eligible employees and consultants. Eligible directors may be granted Awards other than stock options. We may, at the time of grant, authorize the grantees to elect to settle these awards either in cash or in Common Shares. Absent such permitted election, we intend to settle vested grants under the LTIP in Common Shares (on a one-for-one basis), either with Common Shares purchased in the open market or issued from treasury (up to a maximum aggregate of 29.0 million Common Shares). At December 31, 2024, 9.6 million Common Shares remain reserved for issuance from treasury under the LTIP, covering potential issuances of Common Shares for outstanding awards and for potential future award grants.

CSUP:

Under the CSUP, we may grant RSUs and PSUs to directors and eligible employees. We have the option to settle vested RSUs and PSUs issued thereunder in Common Shares (on a one-for-one basis) purchased in the open market, or in cash. We intend to settle vested RSUs and PSUs with Common Shares.

Employee SBC Expense:

Employee SBC expense may fluctuate from period-to-period to account for, among other things, new grants, forfeitures resulting from employee terminations or resignations, and the recognition of accelerated SBC expense for employees eligible for retirement. The portion of employee SBC expense that relates to performance-based compensation is subject to adjustment in any period to reflect changes in the estimated level of achievement of pre-determined performance goals and financial targets.

We are party to the TRS Agreement to manage our cash flow requirements and exposure to fluctuations in the share price of our Common Shares in connection with the settlement of certain outstanding equity awards under our SBC plans. See notes 2(n) and 19 for further detail.

Information regarding employee SBC expense and TRS fair value adjustments (TRS FVAs, which represent changes in fair value of TRS) for the years indicated is set forth below:

	Year ended December 31				
		2024	2023	2022	
Employee SBC expense in cost of sales	.\$	24.8 \$	22.6 \$	20.3	
Employee SBC expense in SG&A		32.6	33.0	30.7	
Total employee SBC expense	\$	57.4 \$	55.6 \$	51.0	
TRS FVAs (gains) in cost of sales	. \$	(39.6) \$	— \$	_	
TRS FVAs (gains) in SG&A		(51.4)	_		
TRS FVAs (gains) in miscellaneous expense (income)			(45.6)		
Total TRS FVAs (gains)	. \$	(91.0) \$	(45.6) \$		
Combined effect of employee SBC expense and TRS FVAs	. \$	(33.6) \$	10.0 \$	51.0	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

For RSUs and DSUs issued to eligible directors under our Directors' Share Compensation Plan (DSC Plan), see paragraph (c) below.

(i) Stock options:

We are permitted to grant stock options under our LTIP. Stock options are granted at prices equal to the closing market price on the day prior to the grant date and are exercisable during a period not to exceed 10 years from the grant date. Stock option grants and exercises were as follows in 2024:

	Number of Options	Weighted Averag Exercise Price*			
	(in millions)				
Outstanding at December 31, 2023	0.37	\$	12.72		
Exercised by our Chief Executive Officer (CEO)	(0.30)	\$	13.00		
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 (1)	0.07	\$	10.58		

⁽¹⁾ The outstanding options at December 31, 2024 (0.05 million options exercisable) were awarded to one employee, with 6.8 years of remaining life and \$5.9 of intrinsic value.

(ii) Employee RSUs and PSUs:

We grant RSUs and PSUs to employees pursuant to our LTIP and CSUP. Each vested RSU and PSU generally entitles the holder to receive one Common Share. See note 2(*l*). We amortize the grant date fair value of RSUs and PSUs to expense over the vesting period. The grant date fair value of RSUs is based on the market value of our Common Shares at the time of grant. With respect to PSUs, employees are granted a target number of PSUs. The number of PSUs that will actually vest will vary from 0% to 200% of the target amount granted based on the level of achievement of the relevant performance conditions, including: (i) for 2022 grants, a pre-determined non-market performance measurement and modifier and a relative TSR modifier; and (ii) commencing in 2023, a different pre-determined non-market performance measurement and a relative TSR modifier (described in note 2(*l*)). The grant date fair value of the TSR modifier was based on a Monte Carlo simulation model and a premium of 120% for 2024 (2023 — 118%; 2022 — 116%). The grant date fair value of the non-TSR-based performance measurement and modifier (where applicable) was based on the market value of our Common Shares at the time of grant and is subject to adjustment to reflect changes in the estimated level of achievement related to the applicable performance condition.

The assumptions used in the measurement of the grant date fair values of PSUs were as follows:

	Year ended December 31					
	2024	2023	2022			
Expected volatility	41 %	53 %	52 %			
Expected life	3 years	3 years	3 years			
Risk-free interest rate (based on 3-year Treasury bonds)	4.1 %	3.9 %	1.4 %			

RSUs (excluding RSUs granted to directors, see (c) below) and PSUs activities in 2024 and information at December 31, 2024 were as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

	R	SUs	PSUs					
	Number of RSUs (in millions)	Weighted average grant date fair value	Number of PSUs (in millions)*	Weighted average grant date fair value				
Outstanding at December 31, 2023	3.2	\$ 12.64	4.6	\$ 12.19				
Granted	0.8	\$ 37.74	0.5	\$ 43.47				
Vested and exercised	(1.8)	\$ 12.32	(3.7)	\$ 9.20				
Forfeited	(0.1)	\$ 18.90	(0.1)	\$ 16.01				
Added by performance factor adjustment	_	\$ —	1.8	\$ 9.15				
Outstanding at December 31, 2024	2.1	\$ 21.63	3.1	\$ 19.02				
At December 31, 2024:								
Total remaining unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested awards (in millions)		\$10.2		\$21.3				
Weighted average remaining requisite service period		1.3 years		0.9 years				

^{*} For non-vested PSUs, includes 100% of target granted.

In 2024, the total fair value of RSUs vested during the year was \$90.3 (2023 — \$41.0; 2022 — \$28.1). In 2024, the total fair value of PSUs vested during the year was \$136.2 (2023 — \$39.2; 2022 — \$15.5).

In 2024, we made a cash payment of \$84.6 (2023 — \$7.7) for the withholding taxes in connection with the RSUs and PSUs that vested during the year. In 2023, we also settled a portion of RSUs and PSUs that vested during the year with a cash payment of \$49.8. See below for our cash settlement of Onex's DSUs in October 2023.

(c) Director SBC:

We grant DSUs to certain directors (and Onex prior to the termination of the Services Agreement on September 3, 2023) under our DSC Plan. DSUs granted to directors may be settled with Common Shares (on a one-for-one basis) purchased in the open market, or with cash (at the discretion of the Company). We also grant RSUs (under specified circumstances) to certain directors as compensation under the DSC Plan. RSUs granted to directors vest ratably over a three-year period and are governed by the terms of our LTIP. Each vested RSU entitles the holder thereof to one Common Share (see note 2(1)). In connection with the retirement of Dan DiMaggio and Deepak Chopra from our Board of Directors (Board), the 0.3 million DSUs held by Mr. DiMaggio and 0.1 million DSUs held by Mr. Chopra were settled in March 2024 and September 2024, respectively. In connection with the retirement of Carol Perry from our Board and the retirement of William A. Etherington from our Board and from the Onex Board, the 0.2 million DSUs held by Ms. Perry and the 0.5 million DSUs held by Mr. Etherington were settled in June 2023. In connection with the termination of the Services Agreement, we paid Onex approximately \$9.2 in cash in October 2023 to settle Onex's then-outstanding DSUs. In connection with the retirement of Eamon Ryan from our Board, 0.03 million RSUs and 0.3 million DSUs held by Mr. Ryan were settled in April 2022 and July 2022, respectively.

Information regarding director SBC expense and director RSUs activity for the periods indicated is set forth below:

	Year ended December 31					
·	2024	2023	2022			
Director SBC expense in SG&A (1)	\$ 2.4 \$	2.4 \$	2.2			
Director RSUs granted:						
Number of awards (in millions)	0.01	0.02	0.04			
Weighted average grant date fair value per unit	\$ 57.20 \$	18.15 \$	10.44			

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

(1) Expense consists of director compensation to be settled with Common Shares, or Common Shares and cash.

 $At \ December\ 31,\ 2024,\ number\ of\ director\ RSUs\ outstanding\ was\ 0.03\ million\ (December\ 31,\ 2023\ ---\ 0.1\ million).$

Information regarding DSUs activity for the periods indicated is set forth below:

	Number of DSUs (in millions)	Year ended eighted average
DSUs outstanding at December 31, 2023	1.1	\$ 9.45
Granted	0.02	\$ 56.07
Vested and exercised	(0.4)	\$ 9.50
DSUs outstanding at December 31, 2024	0.7	\$ 10.88

In 2024, the total fair value of DSUs vested during the year was \$16.9 (2023 — \$19.2; 2022 — \$2.6).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

13. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS), NET OF TAX:

	Year ended December 31					
		2024		2023		2022
Translation adjustments:						
Opening balance of foreign currency translation account	. \$	(28.1)	\$	(24.7)	\$	(18.0)
Foreign currency translation adjustments		(7.4)		(3.4)		(6.7)
Closing balance of foreign currency translation account	. \$	(35.5)	\$	(28.1)	\$	(24.7)
Foreign exchange derivatives (ii):						
Opening balance of unrealized net gain (loss) on currency forward cash flow hedges	. \$	_	\$	_	\$	_
Net loss on currency forward cash flow hedges ⁽ⁱ⁾		(27.1)		_		_
Reclassification of net loss on currency forward cash flow hedges to operations ⁽ⁱ⁾		17.7		_		_
Closing balance of unrealized net loss on currency forward cash flow hedges ⁽ⁱ⁾		(9.4)	\$	_	\$	
Interest rate swap derivatives (ii):						
Opening balance of unrealized net gain (loss) on interest rate swap cash flow hedges	. \$	_	\$	_	\$	_
Net gain on interest rate swap cash flow hedges ⁽ⁱ⁾		4.0		_		_
Reclassification of net gain on interest rate swap cash flow hedges to operations ⁽ⁱ⁾		(2.6)		_		_
Closing balance of unrealized net gain on interest rate swap cash flow hedges ⁽ⁱ⁾	. \$	1.4	\$		\$	_
Employment benefit:						
Opening balance of pension and non-pension post-employment benefit account ⁽ⁱ⁾	. \$	27.9	\$	36.8	\$	10.6
Net gain (loss) on pension and non-pension post-employment benefit plans ⁽ⁱ⁾		(1.0)		(5.9)		26.2
Amortization of net gain on pension and non-pension post-employment benefit plans ⁽ⁱ⁾		(1.0)		(3.0)		_
Closing balance of pension and non-pension post-employment benefit account ⁽ⁱ⁾	. \$	25.9	\$	27.9	\$	36.8
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	. \$	(17.6)	\$	(0.2)	\$	12.1

⁽i) Amounts were net of immaterial tax.

⁽ii) Our foreign exchange derivatives and interest rate swaps that we entered into prior to 2024 were not designated as effective cash flow hedges under GAAP until January 1, 2024. As a result, those derivatives and swaps did not qualify for hedge accounting in 2023 and 2022, such that changes in their fair values were marked-to-market through our consolidated statement of operations (as miscellaneous expense (income)) instead of being deferred in AOCI in 2023 and 2022. See note 19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

14. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES, NET OF RECOVERIES:

		Year ended December 31						
		2024		2023		2022		
Restructuring charges (a)	\$	11.6	\$	11.2	\$	8.4		
Transition Costs (Recoveries) (b)		4.3		0.8		(2.1)		
Acquisition costs (c)		2.5		1.0		0.4		
Other charges (recoveries) (d)		1.0		(0.9)		_		
	\$	19.4	\$	12.1	\$	6.7		
	3	19.4	3	12.1	3	6./		

In addition to the items set forth above, other charges, net of recoveries for 2022 included approximately \$95 in aggregate charges representing write-downs to inventories, a building and equipment resulting from a fire occurred in June 2022 at our Batam, Indonesia facility, as well as equivalent amounts in recoveries, as we expected to fully recover the written-down amounts pursuant to the terms and conditions of our insurance policies. As a result, such event had no net impact on other charges, net of recoveries during 2022. As of December 31, 2024, we have recovered substantially all of our tangible assets losses through insurance proceeds. We determined that this event did not constitute an impairment review triggering event for the applicable reporting unit, and no impairments to our intangibles or goodwill were recorded in connection therewith in 2022, 2023 or 2024.

(a) Restructuring charges:

Our restructuring activities consisted primarily of actions to adjust our cost base to address reduced levels of demand in certain of our businesses and geographies. In each of 2022, 2023 and 2024, our restructuring charges consist primarily of cash charges related to employee terminations. See notes 2(k) and 10 for further details regarding our restructuring provisions.

(b) Transition Costs (Recoveries):

Transition Costs consist of costs recorded in connection with: (i) the transfer of manufacturing lines from closed sites to other sites within our global network; (ii) the sale of real properties unrelated to restructuring actions (Property Dispositions); and (iii) specified charges or recoveries related to the Purchaser Lease (defined below). Transition Costs consist of direct relocation and duplicate costs (such as rent expense, utility costs, depreciation charges, and personnel costs) incurred during the transition periods, as well as cease-use and other costs incurred in connection with idle or vacated portions of the relevant premises that we would not have incurred but for these relocations, transfers and dispositions. Transition Recoveries consist of any gains recorded in connection with Property Dispositions.

In connection with our March 2019 Toronto real property sale, we treated associated relocation and duplicate costs as Transition Costs. As part of such sale, we entered into a 10-year lease with the purchaser of such property for our then-anticipated headquarters, to be built by such purchaser on the site of our former location (Purchaser Lease). Subsequently, we were informed that due to construction issues, the commencement date of the Purchaser Lease would be delayed beyond the prior target of May 2023. In November 2022, we extended (on a long-term basis) the lease on our current corporate headquarters and recorded the related ROU assets and lease liabilities. In the third quarter of 2023, we executed a sublease for a portion of the space under the Purchaser Lease. The Purchaser Lease commenced in June 2024 and related ROU assets and lease liabilities were recognized in our consolidated financial statements. Consistent with our prior treatment of duplicate costs incurred as a result of our 2019 Toronto real property sale, we recorded Transition Costs of \$4.3 in 2024 and \$0.8 in 2023 related to the sublet of the Purchaser Lease. We recorded nil Transition Recoveries in 2023 and 2024.

In 2022, we recorded \$1.5 of Transition Costs, related primarily to the disposal of assets reclassified as held for sale in the first quarter of 2022, and \$3.6 of Transition Recoveries, reflecting the gain on the subsequent disposal of such assets held for sale.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

(c) Acquisition costs:

We incur consulting, transaction and integration costs relating to potential and completed acquisitions. We recorded \$2.5 of acquisition costs in 2024, related to potential acquisitions and our acquisition of NCS (described in note 3). We recorded \$1.0 of acquisition costs in 2023, all related to potential acquisitions and \$0.4 of acquisition costs in 2022, all related to our PCI acquisition.

(d) Other charges (recoveries):

In 2024, we recorded other costs of \$2.3 related to our transition as a U.S. domestic filer, offset by other recoveries of \$1.3, consisting of legal recoveries in connection with the settlement of class action lawsuits (for component parts purchase in prior periods) in which were a plaintiff (parts recovery).

In 2023, we recorded Parts Recovery of \$2.7, offset in part by an aggregate of \$1.8 of costs, substantially all of which consisted of fees and expenses of the Secondary Offerings (see note 12).

15. MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE (INCOME):

The components of miscellaneous expense (income) for the periods indicated were as follows:

		Year ended December 31					
	Note		2024		2023		2022
Components of net periodic benefit cost other than the service cost	17	\$	1.0	\$		\$	3.1
Pension and non-pension post-employment benefit plans settlement loss	17		0.8		0.6		_
Equity investment fair value adjustments			(1.3)		_		_
Loss (gain) recognized on derivative instruments:	19						
Interest rate swaps			8.5		(3.6)		(23.0)
Foreign exchange forwards			6.0		2.0		18.4
TRS FVAs (1)					(45.6)		
		\$	15.0	\$	(46.6)	\$	(1.5)

⁽¹⁾ In 2024, TRS FVAs were recorded in cost of sales and SG&A. See note 19.

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS:

Prior to the completion of the August Secondary Offering, Onex beneficially owned, controlled, or directed, directly or indirectly, all of our issued and outstanding MVS. Accordingly, Onex had the ability to exercise significant influence over our business and affairs and generally had the power to determine all matters submitted to a vote of our shareholders where the SVS and MVS vote together as a single class. Mr. Gerald Schwartz, the Chairman of the Board of Onex, indirectly owns shares representing the majority of the voting rights of the shares of Onex. However, upon completion of the August Secondary Offering, we have no MVS outstanding and Onex is no longer our controlling shareholder.

Prior to September 3, 2023, we were a party to the Services Agreement with Onex for the services of Mr. Tawfiq Popatia, an officer of Onex, as a director of Celestica, pursuant to which Onex received compensation (payable in DSUs) for such services. Mr. Popatia resigned from our Board, and the Services Agreement terminated automatically on September 3, 2023. In accordance with the provisions of the Services Agreement, we paid Onex approximately \$9.2 in cash in October 2023 to settle Onex's then-outstanding DSUs.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

17. PENSION AND NON-PENSION POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS:

(a) Plan summaries:

We provide pension and non-pension post-employment benefit plans for our employees. At December 31, 2024, such plans included our pension plan for employees in the United Kingdom (U.K. pension plan), which generally provides participants with stated benefits on retirement based on their pensionable service, either in annuities and/or lump sum payments. The U.K. pension plan is closed to new members and none of such plan members are active employees of the Company. Defined contribution pension plans are offered to certain employees, mainly in Canada and the U.S. We provide non-pension post-employment benefits (under other benefit plans) to retired and terminated employees in Canada, the U.S., Mexico, Thailand, South Korea, Indonesia and the Philippines. These benefits may include one-time retirement and specified termination benefits, medical, surgical, hospitalization coverage, supplemental health, dental and/or group life insurance.

To mitigate the actuarial and investment risks of our defined benefit pension plans, we purchase annuities from time to time (using existing plan assets) from third party insurance companies for certain, or all, plan participants. The purchase of annuities by the pension plan substantially hedges the financial risks associated with the related pension obligations.

The overall governance of our pension plans is conducted by our Human Resources and Compensation Committee which, through annual reviews, approves material plan changes, reviews funding levels, compliance matters and plan assumptions, and ensures that the plans are administered in accordance with local statutory requirements. We have established a Canadian and a U.S. Pension Committee to govern our Canadian and U.S. pension plans respectively. The U.K. pension plan is governed by a Board of Trustees, composed of employee and company representation. Both the Canadian and U.S. Pension Committees, and the U.K. Board of Trustees review funding levels, investment performance and compliance matters for their respective plans. Our pension funding policy is to contribute amounts sufficient, at minimum, to meet local statutory funding requirements. For our defined benefit pension plans (primarily our U.K. pension plan), local regulatory bodies either define the minimum funding requirement or approve the funding plans submitted by us. We may make additional discretionary contributions taking into account actuarial assessments and other factors. The contributions that we make to support ongoing plan obligations are recorded in the respective asset or liability accounts on our consolidated balance sheet.

Our U.K. pension plan requires an actuarial valuation to be completed every three years. The most recent actuarial valuation used a measurement date of April 2022 and was duly completed in 2023.

We currently fund our non-pension post-employment benefit plans as we incur benefit payment obligations thereunder. Excluding our mandatory plans, the most recent actuarial measurements for our largest non-pension post-employment benefit plans were completed using valuation dates of May 2022 (Canada) and January 2024 (U.S.). The next actuarial measurements for these plans will have valuation dates of May 2025 and January 2026, respectively. We accrue the expected costs of providing non-pension post-employment benefits during the periods in which the employees render service. We used a measurement date of December 31, 2024 for the accounting valuation for pension and non-pension post-employment benefits.

Our pension plans are exposed to market risks such as changes in interest rates, inflation, and fluctuations in investment values, as well as financial risks including counterparty risks of financial institutions from which annuities have been purchased for specified plans. See note 19(d). Our plans are also exposed to non-financial risks, including the membership's mortality and demographic changes, as well as regulatory changes.

We manage the funding level risk of defined benefit pension plans through our asset allocation strategy for each plan. In the U.K., the majority of the obligations under our U.K. pension plan have been hedged with the purchase of annuities with insurance companies as described above, but do not qualify for designation as hedges for application of hedge accounting purposes.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Pension fund assets are invested primarily in fixed income and equity securities. Asset allocation between fixed income and equity securities is adjusted based on the expected life of the plan and the expected retirement dates of the plan participants. Our pension funds do not invest directly in our shares, but may invest indirectly as a result of the inclusion of our shares in certain investment funds. All of our plan assets are measured at their fair value using the fair value hierarchy inputs described in note 2(q). See the plan assets, by asset class table in (b) below. There were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy in 2024 or 2023. Approximately 95% of our plan assets consist of annuities purchased with insurance companies, and assets held with financial institutions with a Standard and Poor's long-term rating of A or above at December 31, 2024. The annuities purchased for our U.K. Main pension plan are held with financial institutions that are governed by local regulatory bodies. The remaining assets are held with financial institutions where ratings are not available. For these institutions, we monitor counterparty risk based on the diversification of plan assets. These plan assets are maintained in segregated accounts by a custodian that is independent from the fund managers. We believe that the counterparty risk is low.

(b) Plan financials:

The table below presents the fair value of our defined benefit pension plan and other benefit plan assets, by asset class:

	Fair V Decen			Actual Asset Alle at Decemb			
	2024	2023		2023		2024	2023
Quoted market prices (Level 1):							
Debt investment funds\$	8.3	\$	8.9	4%	4%		
Equity investment funds	5.8		5.9	3%	3%		
Other	17.0		16.1	9%	8%		
Non-quoted market prices (Level 3):							
Insurance annuities	160.0		182.6	84%	85%		
Total	191.1	\$	213.5	100%	100%		

The following tables provide a summary of the financial position of our defined benefit pension and other post-employment benefit plans:

Year	end	ed		Year	ded		
2024	2023			2024		2023	
211.2	\$	211.8	\$	2.3	\$	2.3	
(7.7)		0.1		0.1		0.1	
(0.3)		(0.4)		_		_	
1.9		1.3		0.4		0.6	
0.6		0.3		4.7		4.8	
(0.6)		(0.6)		(2.5)		(3.2)	
(10.1)		(10.2)		(0.4)			
(0.6)		(0.3)		(2.2)		(2.2)	
(5.4)		9.2		(0.3)		(0.1)	
189.0	\$	211.2	\$	2.1	\$	2.3	
	Year of Deceme 2024 211.2 (7.7) (0.3) 1.9 0.6 (0.6) (10.1) (0.6) (5.4)	Year endo December 2024 \$ (7.7) (0.3) 1.9 0.6 (0.6) (10.1) (0.6) (5.4)	211.2 \$ 211.8 (7.7) 0.1 (0.3) (0.4) 1.9 1.3 0.6 0.3 (0.6) (0.6) (10.1) (10.2) (0.6) (0.3) (5.4) 9.2	Year ended December 31 2024 2023 211.2 \$ 211.8 (7.7) 0.1 (0.3) (0.4) 1.9 1.3 0.6 0.3 (0.6) (0.6) (10.1) (10.2) (0.6) (0.3) (5.4) 9.2	Year ended December 31 Year of December 31 2024 2023 2024 211.2 \$ 211.8 \$ 2.3 (7.7) 0.1 0.1 (0.3) (0.4) — 1.9 1.3 0.4 0.6 0.3 4.7 (0.6) (0.6) (2.5) (10.1) (10.2) (0.4) (0.6) (0.3) (2.2) (5.4) 9.2 (0.3)	Year ended December 31 Year end December 31 2024 2023 2024 203 \$ 211.2 \$ 211.8 \$ 2.3 \$ (7.7) 0.1 0.1 0.1 (0.3) (0.4) — 0.4 1.9 1.3 0.4 0.4 0.6 0.3 4.7 0.6 (0.6) (0.6) (2.5) (10.1) (10.2) (0.4) (0.6) (0.3) (2.2) (5.4) 9.2 (0.3)	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

	Pension Year Decem	end	ed	Other Benefit Plans Year ended December 31				
	2024	2023		2024			2023	
Benefit obligation, beginning of year\$	219.3	\$	216.9	\$	74.4	\$	66.3	
Service costs	4.5		2.6		3.4		3.1	
Interest costs	9.6		10.2		3.1		3.2	
Administrative expenses paid	(0.3)		(0.4)		_		_	
Actuarial losses (gains)	(19.7)		(8.7)		1.8		5.5	
Settlement/curtailment payments from plan	(0.6)		(0.6)		(2.5)		(3.2)	
Benefit payments from plan	(10.1)		(10.2)		(0.4)		_	
Benefit payments from employer	(0.6)		(0.3)		(2.2)		(2.2)	
Foreign currency exchange rate changes and other	(5.5)		9.8		(5.3)		1.7	
Benefit obligation, end of year\$	196.6	\$	219.3	\$	72.3	\$	74.4	
= 1.1		Φ.	0.1	Φ.	50.0	Φ.	50.1	
Funded status at end of year\$	7.6	\$	8.1	\$	70.2	\$	72.1	
Weighted average duration of benefit obligations (in years)	12		13		10		10	

The following table outlines the information for our defined benefit pension plan and non-pension post-employment benefit plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:

	Pension Year en Decemb	ıded	Other Benefit Plans Year ended December 31			
_	2024	2023	2024	2023		
Accumulated benefit obligations	27.8	26.8	19.5	17.8		
Fair value of plan assets	10.2	10.8	_	_		

The following table outlines the information for our defined benefit pension plan and non-pension post-employment benefit plans with a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:

	Pension Year er Decemb	ıded	Other Bene Year ei Decemb	ıded
_	2024	2023	2024	2023
Projected benefit obligations	27.8	26.8	72.3	72.2
Fair value of plan assets	10.2	10.8	2.1	_

The following table outlines the plan balances as reported on our consolidated balance sheets:

	December 31, 2024						December 31, 2023							
		Pension Benefit Plans Plans			Pension Total Plans							Fotal		
Pension and non-pension post-employment benefit obligations	\$ (1	7.6)	\$	(66.2)	\$	(83.8)	\$	(16.0)	\$	(67.9)	\$	(83.9)		
Current other post-employment benefit obligations		_		(4.0)		(4.0)				(4.2)		(4.2)		
Non-current net pension assets (note 9)	1	0.0		_		10.0		7.9		_		7.9		
	\$ ((7.6)	\$	(70.2)	\$	(77.8)	\$	(8.1)	\$	(72.1)	\$	(80.2)		
			_=				_=		_		_			

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

The following table outlines the components of net periodic benefit cost recognized in our consolidated statement of operations for pension and non-pension post-employment benefit plans:

	Pension Plans Year ended December 31					Other Benefit Plan Year ended Decembe					31
	2024	2	2023	2022		2	024	2	023	23 202	
Service cost	\$ 4.5	\$	2.6	\$	0.9	\$	3.4	\$	3.1	\$	3.1
Interest cost	9.6		10.2		6.2		3.1		3.2		2.7
Expected return on plan assets	(9.1)		(9.6)		(5.8)		(0.1)		(0.1)		_
Amortization of net loss (gain)	(0.2)		(0.3)		_		(2.3)		(3.4)		_
Settlement loss (gain)	(0.1)		(0.1)		_		0.9		0.7		_
Net periodic benefit cost (1)	4.7		2.8		1.3		5.0		3.5		5.8
Defined contribution pension plan expense (see (c) below)	13.8		12.7		12.3		_		_		_
Total expense for the year	\$ 18.5	\$	15.5	\$	13.6	\$	5.0	\$	3.5	\$	5.8

⁽¹⁾ The components of net periodic benefit cost, other than the service cost component, are included in miscellaneous expense (income) in our consolidated statement of operations. See note 15. We generally record the service cost component in cost of sales and SG&A, depending on the nature of expenses.

The following table outlines the gain and loss recognized in OCI:

_	Year ended December 31							
		2024		2023	2022			
Net loss (gain), net of tax (see note 13)	\$	2.0	\$	8.9	\$	(26.2)		

Vanuandad Dasamban 21

The following table outlines the amounts recognized in AOCI:

_	De	ecember 31,	2024	December 31, 2023						
	Pension Plans	Other Benefit Plans	Total	Pensio Plans	Denent	Total				
Net gain, net of tax (see note 13)	\$ (9.7	(16.2)	\$ (25.9)	\$ (7	.7) \$ (20.2)	\$ (27.9)				

The following percentages and assumptions were used in measuring the plans for the years indicated:

	Pe	nsion Plan	S	Othe	ans	
_	2024	2023	2022	2024	2023	2022
Benefit obligations:						
Weighted average discount rate at December 31 (1)	5.4	4.6	4.9	4.3	4.5	4.9
Weighted average rate of compensation increase	3.0	2.9	1.1	4.6	4.6	4.6
Net benefit cost for the year ended:						
Weighted average discount rate (1)	4.6	4.9	1.8	4.5	4.9	3.2
Weighted average rate of compensation increase	2.9	1.1	1.1	4.6	4.6	4.6
Expected long-term return on plan assets (2)	4.4	4.6	1.8	3.2	3.7	2.3
Healthcare cost trend rates:						
Immediate trend	_	_	_	6.5	5.1	5.2
Ultimate trend	_	_	_	4.0	4.0	4.0
Year the ultimate trend rate is expected to be achieved		_	_	2040	2040	2040

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

- (1) The weighted average discount rate is determined using publicly available rates for highly-rated bonds by currency in countries where we have a pension or non-pension benefit plan. A higher discount rate would decrease the present value of the benefit obligation, and a lower discount rate would increase the present value of the benefit obligation.
- (2) The expected rate of return on plan assets is a management estimate reflecting the long-term average rate of earnings expected by asset class based on the plans' target asset allocation.

We evaluate these assumptions on a regular basis taking into consideration current market conditions and historical market data. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates and assumptions.

A one percentage-point increase or decrease in one of the following actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant in each case, would increase (decrease) our benefit obligations as follows:

	Pension	n Plans	Other Benefit Plans					
	Year o	ended r 31, 2024	Year ended December 31, 2024					
	1% Increase	1% Decrease	1% Increase	1% Decrease				
Discount rate	\$ (19.9)	\$ 24.2	\$ (6.4)	\$ 7.6				
Healthcare cost trend rate	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 3.4	\$ (2.9)				

(c) Plan contributions:

We made the following plan contributions for the years indicated below and estimate our contribution for 2025 to be as follows:

_	Year	Estimated Contribution*						
	2024	2024 2023		2022		2025		
Defined contribution plan	13.8	\$	12.7	\$	12.3	\$	13.8	
Defined benefit plan	2.5		1.6		4.1		1.8	
Total pension plans	16.3	\$	14.3	\$	16.4	\$	15.6	
Non-pension post-employment benefit plans\$	5.1	\$	5.4	\$	3.2	\$	4.4	

^{*} Our actual contributions could differ materially from these estimates.

(d) Estimated future benefit payments:

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

	Pension Plans	Other Benefit Plans		
2025\$	10.6	\$ 4.4		
2026	10.9	4.7		
2027	11.4	4.5		
2028	11.7	4.8		
2029	11.7	6.3		
Thereafter	61.6	37.8		
Total future benefit payments	117.9	\$ 62.5		

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

18. INCOME TAXES

The following is a geographical breakdown of income before the provision for income taxes:

	Year ended December 31								
		2024		2023		2022			
Domestic (Canada) income (loss)	\$	42.7	\$	7.4	\$	(6.2)			
Foreign income		489.5		298.6		245.3			
Income before income taxes	\$	532.2	\$	306.0	\$	239.1			

The provision for (recovery of) income taxes consisted of the following:

	Year ended December 31							
	2024	2023			2022			
Current income taxes (recoveries)								
Domestic (Canada)\$	1.5	\$	1.4	\$	1.0			
Foreign	134.6		63.8		85.9			
Total current income taxes (i) (ii)	136.1		65.2		86.9			
Deferred income taxes (recoveries)								
Domestic (Canada)			_		_			
Foreign	(31.9)		(3.6)		(27.9)			
Total deferred income taxes recoveries (i)	(31.9)		(3.6)		(27.9)			
Income tax expense	104.2	\$	61.6	\$	59.0			
	·		·					

A reconciliation of the expected income tax expense calculated using combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate with our income tax expense is as follows:

	Year ended December 31								
<u> </u>	2024		2023		2022				
Expected statutory rate	26.5 %		26.5 %		26.5 %				
Expected income tax expense calculated using expected statutory rate \$	141.0	\$	81.1	\$	63.4				
Effect of foreign tax rate differences	(73.9)		(45.7)		(34.9)				
Effect of foreign exchange	(10.7)		4.3		1.2				
Effect of other, including non-taxable/non-deductible items and changes									
to net provisions related to tax uncertainties (i) (ii)	26.6		(3.3)		5.0				
Change in valuation allowance (ii)	21.2		25.2		24.3				
Income tax expense \$	104.2	\$	61.6	\$	59.0				

- (i) These line items in the two tables above include: (i) for 2024, a \$22.3 withholding tax expense incurred to minimize the impact of the enactment of Pillar Two (global minimum tax) legislation in Canada, and a \$3.9 tax expense arising from taxable temporary differences associated with the anticipated repatriation of undistributed earnings (Repatriation Expense) from certain of our Asian subsidiaries (ii) for 2023, a \$11.3 tax expense arising from both the repatriation of undistributed earnings and taxable temporary differences associated with the anticipated repatriation of undistributed earnings from certain of our Asian subsidiaries; and (iii) for 2022, a \$3.3 Repatriation Expense related to certain of our Chinese subsidiaries (\$3.3 of which was paid in 2023 and realized as a current tax expense in 2023).
- (ii) These line items for 2022, 2023 and 2024 in the two tables above include tax benefits related to return-to-provision adjustments for changes in estimates related to prior years based on changes in facts or circumstances (RTP Adjustments), and net adjustments for tax liabilities and uncertainties (discussed below).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Our effective income tax rate can vary significantly period-to-period for various reasons, including as a result of the mix and volume of business in various tax jurisdictions within the Americas, Europe and Asia, in jurisdictions with tax holidays and tax incentives, and in jurisdictions for which no net deferred income tax assets have been recognized because management believes it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which tax losses and deductible temporary differences could be utilized. Our effective income tax rate can also vary due to the impact of restructuring charges, foreign exchange fluctuations, operating losses, cash repatriations, and changes in our provisions related to tax uncertainties.

During 2024, we recorded net income tax expense of \$104.2, which included a \$22.3 withholding tax expense incurred to minimize the impact of the enactment of Pillar Two (global minimum tax) legislation in Canada, \$14.0 tax expense for tax uncertainties relating to one of our Asian subsidiaries, and a \$3.9 Repatriation Expense related to certain of our Asian subsidiaries, offset in part by the recognition of \$23.8 of previously unrecognized deferred tax arising from both our NCS acquisition in our U.S. group of subsidiaries and deductible temporary differences in one of our Asian subsidiaries (DTA Recognition), and \$11.8 of reversals of tax uncertainties (Reversals) relating to certain of our Asian subsidiaries. Taxable foreign exchange impacts were not significant in 2024.

During 2023, we recorded net income tax expense of \$61.6, which included a \$11.3 tax expense arising from both the repatriation of undistributed earnings and taxable temporary differences associated with the anticipated repatriation of undistributed earnings from certain of our Asian subsidiaries, and a \$4.8 tax expense for tax uncertainties relating to one of our Asian subsidiaries, partially offset by the favorable impact of \$5.5 in reversals of previously-recorded tax uncertainties in another of our Asian subsidiaries. Taxable foreign exchange impacts were not significant in 2023. Withholding tax of \$5.8 associated with the repatriation of undistributed earnings from certain of our Asian subsidiaries in 2023 (realized as current tax) was fully offset by the reversal of previously accrued deferred taxes from the then-anticipated repatriation of such undistributed earnings.

During 2022, we recorded net income tax expense of \$59.0, which was favorably impacted by \$4.9 in reversals of tax uncertainties in one of our Asian subsidiaries, which was more than offset by an adverse \$3.5 taxable foreign exchange impact arising primarily from the weakening of the Chinese renminbi relative to the U.S. dollar, our functional currency, and a \$3.3 Repatriation Expense related to certain of our Chinese subsidiaries. Withholding tax of \$10.3 associated with the repatriation of undistributed earnings from certain of our Chinese subsidiaries in 2022 (realized as current tax) was fully offset by the reversal of previously accrued deferred taxes from the then-anticipated repatriation of such undistributed earnings.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

December 31

The components of the deferred income taxes are as follows:

	Decem	ber 31
2024		2023
Deferred tax assets		
Accounting provisions not currently deductible	\$ 65.1	\$ 30.4
Pensions and non-pension post-retirement benefits	7.6	5.1
Tax loss carryforwards	357.2	361.0
Other	60.8	77.9
Total gross deferred tax assets	490.7	474.4
Less: valuation allowance	(386.0)	(381.1)
Total net deferred tax assets	104.7	93.3
Deferred tax liabilities		
Unrealized foreign exchange gains	16.4	23.1
Property, plant and equipment and intangibles	50.0	55.4
Total deferred tax liabilities	66.4	78.5
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)	\$ 38.3	\$ 14.8
Comprised of:		
Non-current assets	87.7	57.0
Non-current liabilities	49.4	42.2
	\$ 38.3	\$ 14.8

The amount of tax loss carryforwards on hand at December 31, 2024 is \$1,632.9 (December 31, 2023 — \$1,658.3). We have applied a valuation allowance against these tax loss carryforwards to reflect management's best estimate of future taxable profit that will be available against which we can utilize these tax loss carryforwards. \$605.0 of these tax loss carryforwards expire between 2025 and 2044, and the remainder of the tax loss carryforwards have no expiry date.

At December 31, 2024, the aggregate amount of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which we have not recognized deferred tax liabilities is \$42.2 (December 31, 2023 — \$28.4). At December 31, 2024, we recorded aggregate deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance of nil relating to subsidiaries which realized losses. At December 31, 2023, we recorded aggregate deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance of \$0.7 for one of our Asian subsidiaries which realized losses in 2021 — 2023. At December 31, 2022, we recorded aggregate deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance of \$5.0 for one of our Asian subsidiaries and for our U.S. group of subsidiaries, each of which realized losses in 2021 and 2022. We recognize a valuation allowance against aggregate gross deferred tax assets based on our estimate of the future taxable profit we expect these subsidiaries to achieve based on our review of financial projections.

Certain countries in which we do business grant tax incentives to attract or retain our business. Our tax expense could increase if certain tax incentives from which we benefit are retracted or exhausted. A retraction could occur if we fail to satisfy the conditions on which these tax incentives are based, or if they are not renewed or replaced upon expiration. Our tax expense could also increase if tax rates applicable to us in such jurisdictions are otherwise increased, or due to changes in legislation or administrative practices. Changes in our outlook in any particular country could impact our ability to meet the required conditions.

Our tax incentives currently consist of tax exemptions for the profits of our Thailand and Laos subsidiaries. These tax exemptions are subject to certain conditions with which we intend to comply, and expire as described below.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

We have four income tax incentives in Thailand. One of these incentives allows for a 50% income tax exemption until its expiration in 2027. The second incentive allows for a 100% income tax and distribution tax exemption for eight years, and expires in 2028. The third incentive allows for a 100% income tax and distribution tax exemption for six years, and expires in 2028. The fourth incentive, a new incentive obtained in 2023 and expected to commence in 2024, allows for a 100% income tax and distribution tax exemption for six years. Our tax incentive in Laos allows for a 100% income tax exemption until 2025, and a reduced income tax rate of 8% thereafter. Upon full expiry of each of the incentives, taxable profits associated with such incentives become fully taxable. The aggregate tax benefit arising from all of our tax incentives was approximately \$44 for 2024 (2023 — \$40; 2022 — \$21).

See note 21 for contingencies regarding Romanian and Thai income and value-added tax matters.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

	Year ended December 31				
	2024		2023		
Balance, beginning of year	\$ 46.1	\$	44.4		
Additions, based on current year tax positions	0.2		1.4		
Additions, for prior years' tax positions (i)	23.0		9.2		
Reductions for prior years' tax positions	(2.7)		(2.9)		
Reductions for lapse of statute of limitations	(11.5)		(6.7)		
Reductions due to settlements (ii)	(2.4)		(0.2)		
Impact of foreign exchange fluctuation	(2.7)		0.9		
Balance, end of fiscal year	\$ 50.0	\$	46.1		

- (i) This line item in the table above include: (i) for 2024, a \$14.0 tax expense for tax uncertainties relating to one of our Asian subsidiaries, and a \$5.5 tax expense for tax uncertainties relating to one of our Mexican subsidiaries; and (ii) for 2023, a \$4.3 tax expense for tax uncertainties relating to one of our Mexican subsidiaries, and a \$3.8 tax expense relating to one of our Asian subsidiaries.
- (ii) This line item for 2024 includes a \$2.4 tax recovery relating to the settlement of a tax audit for one of our Asian subsidiaries.

We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits within our tax expense. During 2024, we recognized interest and penalties of approximately \$4.1 (2023 and 2022 — *de minimis*). We had approximately \$8.5 accrued for the payment of interest and penalties at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023 —\$4.5).

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT:

Our financial assets are comprised primarily of cash and cash equivalents, A/R, and derivatives used for hedging purposes. Our financial liabilities are comprised primarily of A/P, certain accrued and other liabilities, the Term Loans, borrowings under the Revolver, lease obligations, and derivatives used for hedging purposes. Subsequent to initial recognition, we record the majority of our financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost except for derivative assets and liabilities, which we measure at fair value.

As of December 31, 2024, we recorded accrued payroll and benefits of \$240.5 in accrued and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet (December 31, 2023 — \$207.4).

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following:

	December 31				
	2024		2023		
Cash	\$ 415.4	\$	366.8		
Cash equivalents	7.9		3.6		
	\$ 423.3	\$	370.4		

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Our current portfolio of cash and cash equivalents consists of bank deposits and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Financial risk management objectives:

We have exposures to a variety of financial risks through our operations. We regularly monitor these risks and have established policies and business practices that are intended to mitigate the adverse effects of these potential exposures, including the use of derivative financial instruments, such as foreign currency forward and swap contracts, the TRS Agreement and interest rate swap agreements. We do not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

(a) Currency risk:

Due to the global nature of our operations, we are exposed to exchange rate fluctuations on our financial instruments denominated in various currencies. The majority of our currency risk is driven by operational costs, including income tax expense, incurred in local currencies by our subsidiaries. As part of our risk management program, we attempt to mitigate currency risk through a hedging program using forecasts of our anticipated future cash flows and monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. We enter into foreign currency forward contracts and swaps, generally for periods of up to 12 months, to lock in the exchange rates for future foreign currency transactions, which are intended to reduce the foreign currency risk related to our operating costs and future cash flows denominated in local currencies. These derivatives when in effective hedge relationships are designated as cash flow hedging instruments and when the hedge relationship does not meet hedge accounting criteria, the derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. While these contracts are intended to reduce the effects of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on our operating costs and cash flows, our hedging strategy does not mitigate the longerterm impacts of changes to foreign exchange rates. Although our functional currency is the U.S. dollar, currency risk on our income tax expense arises as we are generally required to file our tax returns in the local currency for each particular country in which we have operations. While our hedging program is designed to mitigate currency risk vis-à-vis the U.S. dollar, we remain subject to taxable foreign exchange impacts in our translated local currency financial results relevant for tax reporting purposes.

We cannot predict changes in currency exchange rates, the impact of exchange rate changes on our operating results, nor the degree to which we will be able to manage the impact of currency exchange rate changes. Such changes could have a material effect on our business, financial performance and financial condition.

Our foreign currency forwards and swaps entered into prior to 2024 were not designated as effective cash flow hedges under GAAP. As such, the criteria for hedge accounting had not been met and changes in the fair value of those derivatives were marked-to-market through our consolidated statement of operations (miscellaneous expense (income)) instead of being deferred in AOCI. Starting in January 2024, foreign currency forward contracts and swaps were designated as cash flow hedges when the hedging relationship is effective and meets the hedge accounting criteria.

(b) Interest rate risk:

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at specified rates, plus specified margins. See note 11. Our borrowings under this facility at December 31, 2024 totaled \$741.2 (December 31, 2023 — \$608.9), comprised in each year of aggregate outstanding borrowings under the Term Loans, and other than ordinary course L/Cs (described below), nil amount outstanding under the Revolver. Such borrowings expose us to interest rate risk due to the potential variability of market interest rates. Without accounting for the interest rate swaps described below, a one-percentage point increase in these rates would increase interest expense, based on outstanding borrowings of \$741.2 as at December 31, 2024, by \$7.4 annually.

As part of our risk management program, we attempt to mitigate interest rate risk through interest rate swaps. In order to partially hedge against our exposure to interest rate variability on our Term Loans, we have entered into various

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

agreements with third-party banks to swap the variable interest rate with a fixed rate of interest for a portion of the borrowings under our Term Loans. At December 31, 2024, we had: (i) interest rate swaps hedging the interest rate risk associated with \$100.0 of our Initial Term Loan borrowings (and any subsequent term loans replacing the Initial Term Loan) that expire in December 2025 (Initial Swaps); (ii) interest rate swaps hedging the interest rate risk associated with \$100.0 of outstanding borrowings under the Incremental Term Loan that expire in December 2025 (Incremental Swaps); and (iii) interest rate swaps hedging the interest rate risk associated with an additional \$130.0 of our Incremental Term Loan borrowings that expire in December 2025 (Additional Incremental Swaps). The option to cancel up to \$50.0 of the notional amount of the Additional Incremental Swaps from January 2024 through October 2025 was terminated in January 2024. These derivatives when in effective hedge relationships are designated as cash flow hedging instruments.

At December 31, 2024, the interest rate risk related to \$411.2 of borrowings under the Credit Facility was unhedged, consisting of unhedged amounts outstanding under the Term Loans (\$297.5 under the Initial Term Loan and \$113.7 under the Incremental Term Loan), and no amounts outstanding (other than ordinary course L/Cs) under the Incremental Term Loan, and no amounts outstanding (other than ordinary course L/Cs) under the Revolver). A one-percentage point increase in applicable interest rates would increase interest expense, based on the outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility at December 31, 2024, and including the impact of our interest rate swap agreements, by \$4.1 annually. As we have swapped \$330.0 of our borrowings under the Term Loans from floating to fixed rates as at December 31, 2024, the financial impact of a 25 basis point increase in the floating market interest rate would increase the unrealized gain by \$0.8 and a 25 basis point decrease in the floating interest rate would decrease our unrealized gain on the interest rate swaps by \$0.8.

We amended our Credit Facility in June 2023 to replace LIBOR with Adjusted Term SOFR. See note 11. In June 2023, all of our interest rate swap agreements were similarly amended. None of these amendments (individually or in the aggregate) had a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements. All of our other contracts that were previously indexed to LIBOR transitioned to alternative benchmark rates in prior years. These transitions did not have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Our interest rate swap agreements entered into prior to 2024 were not designated as effective cash flow hedges under GAAP. As such, the criteria for hedge accounting had not been met and changes in the fair value of those derivatives were marked-to-market through our consolidated statement of operations (as miscellaneous expense (income)) instead of being deferred in AOCI. Starting in January 2024, interest rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedges when the hedge relationship is effective and meets GAAP hedge accounting criteria.

(c) Equity price risk:

We entered into TRS Agreement in December 2022 with a third-party bank with respect to an original notional amount of 3.0 million of our SVS (reduced to 1.25 million SVS after partial terminations in September 2023 and February 2024), to manage our cash flow requirements and exposure to fluctuations in the share price of the SVS in connection with the settlement of certain outstanding equity awards under our SBC plans. The counterparty under the TRS Agreement is obligated to make a payment to us upon its termination (in whole or in part) or expiration (Settlement) based on the increase (if any) in the value of the TRS (as defined in the TRS Agreement) over the TRS Agreement's term, in exchange for periodic payments made by us based on the counterparty's SVS purchase costs and SOFR plus a specified margin. Similarly, if the value of the TRS (as defined in the TRS Agreement) decreases over the term of the TRS Agreement, we are obligated to pay the counterparty the amount of such decrease upon Settlement. The change in value of the TRS is determined by comparing the average amount realized by the counterparty upon the disposition of purchased SVS to the average amount paid for such SVS. The TRS does not qualify for hedge accounting. The counterparty acquired the entire original notional amount at a weighted average price of \$12.73 per share. The TRS Agreement provides for automatic annual one-year extensions (subject to specified conditions), and may be terminated by either party (in whole or in part) at any time. In September 2023, we terminated a portion of the TRS Agreement by reducing the notional amount by 0.5 million Common Shares. In February 2024, we terminated a further portion of the TRS Agreement by reducing the notional amount by an additional 1.25 million Common Shares. In connection with the September 2023 and February 2024 partial terminations, we received \$5.0 and \$32.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

from the counterparty, respectively, each of which was recorded in cash provided by financing activities in our consolidated statement of cash flows.

(d) Credit risk:

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to us. We believe our credit risk of counterparty non-performance continues to be relatively low. We are in regular contact with our customers, suppliers and logistics providers, and have not experienced significant counterparty credit-related nonperformance in 2024 or 2023. However, if a key supplier (or any company within such supplier's supply chain) or customer fails to comply with their contractual obligations, this could result in a significant financial loss to us. We would also suffer a significant financial loss if an institution from which we purchased foreign currency exchange contracts or swaps, interest rate swaps, or annuities for our pension plans, or the counterparty to our TRS, defaults on their contractual obligations. With respect to our financial market activities, we have adopted a policy of dealing only with counterparties we deem to be creditworthy to help mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults. We monitor the credit risk of the counterparties with whom we conduct business, through a combined process of credit rating reviews and portfolio reviews. To attempt to mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults under our foreign currency forward contracts and swaps, our interest rate swaps and our TRS Agreement, our contracts are held by counterparty financial institutions, each of which had a Standard and Poor's rating of A-2 or above at December 31, 2024. In addition, we maintain cash and short-term investments in highly-rated investments or on deposit with major financial institutions. Each financial institution with which we had our A/R sales program and our SFPs had a Standard and Poor's short-term rating of A-1 or above and a long-term rating of A or above at December 31, 2024. The financial institutions from which annuities have been purchased for the defined benefit component of our U.K. Main pension plan are governed by local regulatory bodies.

We also provide unsecured credit to our customers in the normal course of business. Customer exposures that potentially subject us to credit risk include our A/R, inventory on hand, and non-cancellable purchase orders in support of customer demand. From time to time, we extend the payment terms applicable to certain customers, and/or provide longer payment terms when deemed commercially reasonable. Longer payment terms could adversely impact our working capital requirements, and increase our financial exposure and credit risk. We attempt to mitigate customer credit risk by monitoring our customers' financial condition and performing ongoing credit evaluations as appropriate. In certain instances, we obtain L/Cs or other forms of security from our customers. We may also purchase credit insurance from a financial institution to reduce our credit exposure to certain customers. We consider credit risk in determining our allowance for credit losses, and we believe that such allowance, as adjusted from time to time, is adequate. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in our consolidated financial statements, net of our allowance for credit losses, represents our estimate of maximum exposure to credit risk. No significant adjustments were made to our allowance for credit losses during 2024 in connection with our ongoing assessments and monitoring initiatives. At December 31, 2024, less than 1% of our gross A/R was over 90 days past due (December 31, 2023 — less than 1%).

(e) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that we may not have cash available to satisfy our financial obligations as they come due. We manage liquidity risk through maintenance of cash on hand and access to the various financing arrangements described in notes 4 and 11.

Fair values:

We estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument. The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, our A/R, A/P, accrued liabilities and provisions, and our borrowings under the Revolver approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The carrying value of the Term Loans approximates their fair value as they bear interest at a variable market rate. The fair values of foreign currency contracts are estimated using generally accepted valuation models based on a discounted cash flow analysis with inputs of observable market data, including currency rates and discount factors. Discount factors are adjusted by our own credit risk or the credit risk of the counterparty, depending on whether the fair values are in liability or asset positions, respectively. We obtained third-party valuations of the swaps under our interest rate swap

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

agreements and the TRS Agreement. The valuations of our interest rate swap agreements are primarily measured through various pricing models or discounted cash flow analyses that incorporate observable market parameters, such as interest rate yield curves and volatility, and credit risk adjustments. The valuation of the TRS is primarily measured by reference to observable market data, including movements in the price of our Common Shares over the valuation period and the volume weighted average price of counterparty's purchases of Common Shares, adjusted for required interest payments based on SOFR, the rate applicable to the TRS Agreement. The valuations of foreign currency contracts, interest rate swaps and the TRS Agreement are based on Level 2 data inputs of the fair value measurement hierarchy (described in note 2(q)). There were no transfers of fair value measurements between fair value hierarchies in 2024 or 2023.

See note 17 for the input levels used to measure the fair value of our pension assets. Foreign currency forward and swap contracts are valued using an income approach, by comparing the current quoted market forward rates to our contract rates and discounting the values with appropriate market observable credit risk adjusted rates.

Hedging activities:

At December 31, 2024, we had outstanding foreign currency forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges with a notional value of \$497.2 (December 31, 2023 — nil) and outstanding interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges with a notional value of \$330.0 (December 31, 2023 — nil). At December 31, 2024, we had additional outstanding foreign currency forward contracts not designated as cash flow hedges with a notional value of \$250.8 (December 31, 2023 — \$700.4) and outstanding interest rate swaps not designated as cash flow hedges with a notional value of nil (December 31, 2023 — \$330.0).

The tables below presented information regarding the fair values of derivative instruments and the effects of derivative instruments on our consolidated financial statements:

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments (economic hedges):

	I	Asset D	erivative	S		Lia	iability Derivatives				
•			Fair	Value				Fair V			
	Balance sheet classification		mber 31 2024	Dec	ember 31 2023	Balance sheet classification		mber 31 2024		ember 31 2023	
Foreign currency contracts	Other current assets	\$	8.9	\$	15.8	Other current liabilities	\$	13.1	\$	9.3	
TRS	Other current assets		99.4		40.6	Other current liabilities		_		_	
Interest rate swaps	Other current assets		_		2.2	Other current liabilities		_		_	
Interest rate swaps	Other non- current assets		_		11.0	Other non- current liabilities		_		_	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Location of Loss (Gain) Recognized

Amount of Loss (Gain) Recognized in Income

	Year ended December 31							
-		2024		2023	2022			
Foreign currency contracts								
Cost of sales	\$	(0.9)	\$	\$	_			
SG&A		1.0		_	_			
Miscellaneous expense (income)				2.0	18.4			
TRS								
Cost of sales		(39.6)		_	_			
SG&A		(51.4)		_	_			
Miscellaneous expense (income)				(45.6)	_			
Interest rate swaps								
Miscellaneous expense (income)		_		(3.6)	(23.0)			

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:

_	Asset	Derivatives		Liability Derivatives				
	Balance sheet classification Fair Value at December 31, 2024 (iii)		Balance sheet classification		· Value at er 31, 2024 (iii)			
Foreign currency contracts (i)	Other current assets	\$	3.5	Other current liabilities	\$	17.8		
Interest rate swaps (ii)	Other current assets		6.6	Other current liabilities		_		

- (i) In the next twelve months, we estimate that \$9.4 of existing losses, net of tax, will be reclassified from AOCI into our consolidated statement of operations, to offset transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The maximum length of time we hedge our exposure to the variability in future cash flows for forecasted foreign currency transactions is 12 months.
- (ii) In the next twelve months, we estimate that \$6.6 of existing gains, net of tax, will be reclassified from AOCI into our consolidated statement of operations, to offset interest payments. The maximum length of time that we hedge our exposure to the variability in future cash flows for forecasted interest payments is 12 months.
- (iii) Prior to 2024, we had no cash flow hedges using foreign currency contracts and interest rate swaps in designated accounting hedges. In January 2024, foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps were designated as cash flow hedges when the hedging relationship is effective and meets the hedge accounting criteria.

Loss (gain) reclassified from AOCI into income for 2024 (i)	Fo	reign currency contracts	Interest rate swaps		
Cost of sales	\$	11.2	\$	_	
SG&A		1.8		_	
Finance costs				(11.1)	
Miscellaneous expense (income)		6.0		8.5	

 Nil effects of cash flow hedges were recorded in cost of sales, SG&A and finance costs during 2023 and 2022 and hence were not presented.

See note 13 for activities we recorded in AOCI related to our interest rate swap cash flow hedges and foreign currency forward contracts cash flow hedges in 2024.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

20. EARNINGS PER SHARE:

Basic and diluted earnings per share for 2024, 2023 and 2022 are calculated by dividing net earnings by the following weighted average number of shares:

(in millions)	2024	2023	2022
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding	118.1	120.1	123.5
Dilutive effect of outstanding awards under SBC plans	0.6	0.2	0.1
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding	118.7	120.3	123.6

For 2024 and 2023, we excluded nil stock options from the diluted weighted average number of shares calculation. For 2022, we excluded 0.4 million stock options from the diluted weighted average number of shares calculation as they were out-of-the-money. References to shares in this note are to our Common Shares (applicable subsequent to April 2024) or to our MVS and SVS collectively (applicable prior to April 2024) (see note 12).

21. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES:

At December 31, 2024, we had commitments (not recognized as liabilities as of such date) under IT support agreements that require future minimum payments as follows:

2025	\$ 29.0
2026	21.6
2027	15.9
2028	10.0
2029	5.2
Thereafter	10.1
Total future minimum payments	\$ 91.8

As at December 31, 2024, management had approved \$74.6 for capital expenditures, primarily to increase manufacturing space at certain facilities and for machinery and equipment to support new customer programs, and issued \$49.2 of such amount in purchase orders to third-party vendors.

We have contingent liabilities in the form of L/Cs, letters of guarantee and surety bonds (collectively, Guarantees) which we have provided to various third parties. The Guarantees cover various payments, including customs and excise taxes, utility commitments and certain bank guarantees. At December 31, 2024, we had \$34.1 of Guarantees (December 31, 2023 — \$27.0), including \$11.1 (December 31, 2023 — \$10.5) of L/Cs outstanding under our Revolver.

We are required to make scheduled quarterly principal amortization payments under the New Term Loans, certain annual mandatory prepayments under the Credit Facility under specified circumstances, payments of outstanding amounts under the Credit Facility at maturity (see note 11), contractual payments under our lease obligations (described in note 7), and contributions to our pension and non-pension post-employment benefit plans (see note 17). We are also required to pay interest, fees and charges under our Credit Facility, A/R sales program and SFPs, interest rate swap agreements (the amounts thereunder are determined based on market rates at the time the interest payments are due) and the TRS Agreement, and may be required to make other payments under the TRS Agreement (see notes 4, 11 and 19). See note 19 for our obligations under the foreign exchange forward contracts we held at December 31, 2024. See note 7 for our real property lease commitments for a lease that has not yet commenced.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Indemnifications:

We provide routine indemnifications, the terms of which range in duration and scope, and often are not explicitly defined, including for third-party intellectual property infringement, certain negligence claims, and for our directors and officers. We have also provided indemnifications in connection with the sale of certain assets and each of the Secondary Offerings. The maximum potential liability from these indemnifications cannot be reasonably estimated. In some cases, we have recourse against other parties or insurance to mitigate our risk of loss from these indemnifications. Historically, we have not made significant payments relating to these types of indemnifications.

Litigation:

In the normal course of our operations, we may be subject to litigation, investigations and other claims, including legal, regulatory and tax proceedings. Management believes that adequate provisions have been recorded where required. Although it is not always possible to estimate the extent of potential costs, if any, management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such pending matters will not have a material adverse impact on our financial performance, financial position or liquidity.

Income taxes and other matters:

We are subject to tax audits in various jurisdictions. Reviews by tax authorities generally focus on, but are not limited to, the validity of our inter-company transactions, including financing and transfer pricing policies which may involve subjective areas of taxation and significant judgment.

The successful pursuit of assertions made by any government authority, including tax authorities, could result in our owing significant amounts of tax or other reimbursements, interest and possibly penalties. We believe we adequately accrue for any probable potential adverse ruling. However, there can be no assurance as to the final resolution of any claims and any resulting proceedings. If any claims and any ensuing proceedings are determined adversely to us, the amounts we may be required to pay could be material, and in excess of amounts accrued.

In 2021, the Romanian tax authorities issued a final assessment in the aggregate amount of approximately 31 million Romanian leu (approximately \$6 at December 31, 2024 exchange rates), for additional income and value-added taxes for one of our Romanian subsidiaries for the 2014 to 2018 tax years. In order to advance our case to the appeals phase and reduce or eliminate potential interest and penalties, we paid the Romanian tax authorities the full amount assessed in 2021 (without agreement to all or any portion of such assessment). We believe that our originally-filed tax return positions are in compliance with applicable Romanian tax laws and regulations, and intend to vigorously defend our position through all necessary appeals or other judicial processes.

In the fourth quarter of 2024, the Thailand tax authorities issued an assessment letter seeking to impose additional value-added taxes and surcharges in the aggregate amount of approximately 403 million Thai baht (approximately \$12 at 2024 year-end exchange rates) for our Thai subsidiary for the 2019 tax year. We believe that our original positions with respect to the value-added taxes are in compliance with applicable Thai tax laws and regulations, and intend to vigorously defend our position through all necessary appeals or other judicial processes.

22. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION:

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise that engage in business activities from which they may earn revenue and incur expenses; for which discrete financial information is available; and whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and to assess performance. No operating segments have been aggregated to determine our reportable segments.

Our CEO, as the chief operating decision maker (CODM), organizes our company, manages resource allocations and measures performance among our two operating and reportable segments: ATS and CCS. Our ATS segment consists of our

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

ATS end market, and is comprised of our Aerospace and Defense (A&D), Industrial, HealthTech, and Capital Equipment businesses. Our CCS segment consists of our Communications and Enterprise (servers and storage) end markets.

Factors considered in determining the two reportable segments include the nature of applicable business activities, management structure, market strategy and margin profiles. Products and services in our ATS segment are extensive and are often more regulated than in our CCS segment, and can include the following: government-certified and highly-specialized manufacturing, electronic and enclosure-related services for A&D customers; high-precision semiconductor and display equipment and integrated subsystems; a wide range of industrial automation, controls, test and measurement devices; engineering-focused engagements, including in the areas of telematics, human machine interface, Internet-of-Things and embedded systems; advanced solutions for surgical instruments, diagnostic imaging and patient monitoring; and efficiency products to help manage and monitor the energy and power industries. Our ATS segment businesses typically have higher margin profiles and margin volatility, higher working capital requirements, and longer product life cycles than the traditional businesses in our CCS segment. Products and services in our CCS segment consist predominantly of enterprise-level data communications and information processing infrastructure products and systems, and can include routers, switches, data center interconnects, edge solutions, and servers and storage-related products used by a wide range of businesses and cloudbased and other service providers to manage digital connectivity, commerce and social media applications. Our traditional CCS segment businesses typically have lower margin profiles, lower working capital requirements, and higher volumes than the businesses in our ATS segment. Within our CCS segment, however, our Hardware Platform Solutions (HPS) business (which includes firmware/software enablement across all primary IT infrastructure data center technologies, open source software offerings that complement our hardware platforms, and aftermarket services including IT asset management and disposition, typically has a higher margin profile than our traditional CCS businesses, but also requires specific investments (including research and development (R&D)) and higher working capital. Our CCS segment generally experiences a high degree of volatility in terms of revenue and product/service mix and as a result, our CCS segment margin can fluctuate from period to period.

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment revenue, segment income and segment margin (segment income as a percentage of segment revenue). Revenue is attributed to the segment in which the product is manufactured or the service is performed. Segment income is defined as a segment's revenue less its cost of sales and its allocatable portion of selling, general and administrative expenses and R&D expenses (collectively, Segment Costs). Identifiable Segment Costs are allocated directly to the applicable segment while other Segment Costs, including indirect costs and certain corporate charges, are allocated to our segments based on an analysis of the relative usage or benefit derived by each segment from such costs. Segment income excludes finance costs; employee SBC expense; commencing in 2023, TRS FVAs (defined in note 12(b); amortization of intangible assets (excluding computer software); restructuring and other charges, net of recoveries (the components of which are described in note 14); miscellaneous expense (income); and FCC Transitional ADJ (defined as adjustments due to our transition from International Financial Reporting Standards to GAAP related to foreign currency forward contracts recorded in earnings from operations), as these costs, charges/recoveries and adjustments are managed and reviewed by the CODM at the company level. Our segments do not record inter-segment revenue. Although segment income and segment margin are used to evaluate the performance of our segments, we may incur operating costs in one segment that may also benefit the other segment. The operating segment performance is not evaluated based on segment asset or liability information. Our accounting policies for segment reporting are the same as those applied to the Company as a whole.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

Information regarding each reportable segment for the periods indicated is set forth below:

Revenue by segment:		Year ended December 31						
-	2024		2023		2022			
-		% of Total		% of Total		% of Total		
ATS	\$ 3,155.5	33%	\$ 3,319.8	42%	\$ 2,979.0	41%		
CCS								
Communications	\$ 3,946.7	41%	\$ 2,675.6	33%	\$ 2,865.0	40%		
Enterprise	2,543.8	26%	1,965.6	25%	1,406.0	19%		
	\$ 6,490.5	67%	\$ 4,641.2	58%	\$ 4,271.0	59%		
Total revenue	\$ 9,646.0		\$ 7,961.0		\$ 7,250.0			

Segment Costs by segment:	Year ended December 31					
		2024	2023		2022	
ATS cost of sales	\$	2,894.9	\$	3,044.3	\$	2,735.1
ATS other Segment Costs		116.5		120.5		103.6
CCS cost of sales		5,732.1		4,136.4		3,860.0
CCS other Segment Costs		279.9		218.2		193.4
Total Segment Costs	\$	9,023.4	\$	7,519.4	\$	6,892.1

Segment income, segment margin, and

reconciliation of segment income to earnings Year ended December 31 before income taxes: Note 2024 2023 2022 Segment Segment Segment Margin Margin Margin ATS segment income and margin..... \$ 144.1 4.6% \$ 155.0 4.7% \$ 140.3 4.7% 6.2% CCS segment income and margin 478.5 7.4% 286.6 217.6 5.1% Total segment income..... 622.6 441.6 357.9 Reconciling items: Finance costs.... 52.1 78.9 51.7 15.0 (46.6)(1.5)FCC Transitional ADJ: (gains) (1.2)(26.1)(1.3)57.4 55.6 51.0 (91.0)Amortization of intangible assets (excluding 36.8 37.0 computer software) 38.8 Restructuring and other charges, net of recoveries 14 19.4 12.1 6.7 532.2 239.1 Earnings before income taxes..... 306.0

⁽¹⁾ Miscellaneous expense (income) for 2023 included a favorable TRS FVA of \$45.6. Commencing in 2024, TRS FVAs are reported in cost of sales and SG&A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentages and per share amounts)

The following table details our external revenue allocated by manufacturing location among countries that generated 10% or more of total revenue for the years indicated:

_	Year ended December 31				
	2024	2023	2022		
Thailand	53%	46%	44%		
Malaysia	*	11%	12%		
China	*	*	11%		

^{*} Less than 10%.

The following table details our allocation of PP&E and operating leases ROU assets among countries that represented 10% or more of total PP&E and operating leases ROU assets for the years indicated:

_	December 31		
_	2024	2023	
Thailand	30%	25%	
United States	22%	24%	
Malaysia	12%	*	
Mexico	10%	*	

^{*} Less than 10%.

Customers:

In 2024, two customers (each in our CCS segment) individually represented 10% or more of total revenue (28% and 11%, respectively). In 2023, one customer (in our CCS segment) individually represented 10% or more of total revenue (22%). In 2022, two customers (each in our CCS segment) individually represented 10% or more of total revenue (11% for each customer).

At December 31, 2024, we had one customer (in our CCS segment) that individually represented 10% or more of total A/R (December 31, 2023— two customers, one in our CCS segment and one in our ATS segment).